UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

In the matter of)	
Farancia Na diamenta Ni di	Docket	No. 9315
Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Corporation,) Public 1	Record
)	

RESPONDENT'S REPLIES TO COMPLAINT COUNSEL'S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

VOLUME IV of XI

WINSTON & STRAWN LLP

35 West Wacker Dr. Chicago, IL 60601-9703 (312) 558-5764

1700 K Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20006 (202) 282-5000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOLUME I

Abbi	reviatio	ons of T	erms Used in Respondent's Reply Findings of Factxxxiv						
I.	INT	RODU	CTION1						
П.	THE	THE MERGING PARTIES19							
	A.	Evar	iston Northwestern Healthcare19						
	В.	Lake	eland Health Services24						
	C.	The	North Shore29						
		1.	Location29						
		2.	Socio-Economic Demographics32						
		3.	Other Hospitals34						
III.	THE	MER	GER44						
IV.			RAL HISTORY50						
	A.		stigation and Complaint50						
		1.	Investigation50						
		2.	Counts of the Complaint51						
			a. Count I						
			b. Count II						
			c. Count III and the Count III Settlement						
	В.	The	Hearing 63						
		1.	Schedule						

		2.	Witnesses	63
		3.	Exhibits	64
V.	INT	ERSTA	TE COMMERCE	65
VI.	HEA	LTH (CARE INDUSTRY BACKGROUND	67
	A.	Qual	lifications of Deborah Haas-Wilson	67
	В.		tionships Between Employee, Employer, Health Plan Hospital	69
	C.	Gove Vers	ernment Payment System Versus Commercial Insurance sus Uninsured	79
	·	1.	Differences and Similarities Among the Three Payment Systems	79
		2.	Hospital Prices Under the Three Payment Systems	81
	D.	Туре	es of Commercial Health Plan Products	85
		1.	НМО	85
		2.	PPO	86
		3.	Other Products Offered by Health Plans	86
,		4.	Self Insurance	87
VII.	SEL	ECTIV	TE CONTRACTING	88
	A.	Com	petition in the Health Care Marketplace	88
		1.	Differences Between First and Second Stage Competition	88
		2.	The Process of Selective Contracting	88
		3.	Relative Bargaining Power in the Selective Contracting Process	90

		4.	Imp: Con	act of Hospital Mergers on the Selective tracting Dynamic	93
	В.	Heal	th Plan	ns' Perspectives on Selective Contracting	94
		1.	The	Bases for Competition Between Health Plans	94
		2.	Heal Netv	lth Plans' Criteria for Creating Hospital vorks	96
÷				VOLUME II	
	C.	Pre-I	Merger etwork	Competition By ENH and Highland Park k Inclusion	104
	D.	Impa Cont	ect of E racting	Evanston-Highland Park Merger on Selective g Process	110
		1.		Merger Reduced Viable Network Alternatives	
		2.		th Plans Were Unable to Exclude the -Merger ENH from Their Networks	113
VIII.	DIRE ELIM	ECT EV	VIDEN ION O	ICE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: OF A DIRECT COMPETITOR	125
	A.	Evan Befor	ston ar	nd Highland Park Were Direct Competitors Aerger	125
	В.	Abse a Via	nt the l ble Co	Merger, Highland Park Would Have Remained mpetitor	137
		1.	High	lland Park Could Have Continued As a d-Alone Competitor Without the Merger	
			a.	Respondents Dropped the Failing Firm Affirmative Defense	
			b.	Pre-Merger, HPH Had a Strong Balance Sheet and Was Backed by Its Foundation's Assets	
			c.	Foundation Assets Would Not Have Exited	,

				HPH Without The Merger	147
			d.	HPH's Management and Board Believed That HPH Was Financially Strong	
	<i>!</i> .			Pre-Merger	150
			e.	HPH's 1999 Operating Results Were	
				Distorted Due to Merger-Related Expenses	158
			f.	Highland Park Could Have Continued As	
				a Stand-Alone Competitor Without the Merger	160
		2	¥Y:_1		100
		2.	Oth	hland Park Was an Attractive Candidate for er Mergers	164
IX.	DID	Г <i>С</i> Т Г		NCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:	
L/ No	THE	E PRIC	ING O	F ENH TO HEALTH PLANS FOLLOWING	
	THE	E MER	GER W	VITH HIGHLAND PARK PROVIDES DIRECT	
	EVI	DENCI	E OF A	NTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	168
	A.	Intro	oductio	on to the Data Relied Upon by Dr. Haas-Wilson	168
		1.	Data	a from the IDPH Universal Dataset	169
		2.	Data	a Submitted by the Economic Consulting Firm	
			NEF	RA on Behalf of ENH	171
		3.	Data	a Submitted by ENH in Response to a Civil	
			Inve	estigative Demand Issued by the Federal Trade	
			Соп	amission	172
		4.	Clai	ms Data Submitted by Health Plans	173
	В.	The	re is No	Dispute That ENH Raised Prices to Health	
		Plan	s Follo	wing the Merger with Highland Park	174
		1.	The	Data from the IDPH Universal Dataset and	
			the l	Data from the Medicare Cost Reports Show	
				t ENH Raised Prices to Health Plans, Taken	
				Whole, Following the Merger with Highland	175
					1/3

	4.	Rais	ed Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the ger with Highland Park	181
	3.	The	Data Provided by ENH in Its Response to	
			Civil Investigative Demand Shows That ENH	
			ed Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the	
		Mer	ger with Highland Park	190
	4.	The	Commercial Payer Claims Data Provided by	
			na, Blue Cross, Humana, and United Shows	
			t ENH Raised Prices to Most Health Plans	
		Follo	owing the Merger with Highland Park	200
		a.	United	203
		b.	Aetna	206
	,	c.	Humana	207
		d.	Blue Cross/Blue Shield	209
	5.	Dr.]	Baker's Analysis Confirmed That Prices Went	
			at ENH After the Merger with Highland Park	210
			VOLUME III	
	٠	a.	Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase	
			When He Looked at Individual Payers	212
		b.	Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase	
			When He Combined All the Payers Examined	
			by Him	213
C.	There	e Is No	Dispute That, Following the Merger with	
	High	land P	ark, ENH Raised Prices to Managed Care	
			ons Relative to Other Hospitals in the Chicago	
	Area.			215
	1.		tive Price Changes, Not Relative Prices, Is the	
		Ann	ropriate Methodology to Test for Market Power	215

2.		ther ENH's Prices Increased Faster Than Other	
		oitals Is Determined by Using a Methodology ed Difference in Differences	217
3.	Reca	use Multiple Control Groups Assure That the	
		ilts Are Not Dependent Upon the Choice of the	
		trol Group, Dr. Haas-Wilson Used Three Control	
		ips	219
4.	Tests	s of Statistical Significance Allow the	
		ntification of the Amount of Confidence One	
	Hasi	in the Results	223
5.	The	IDPH Universal Dataset Shows That Prices to	
	Heal	th Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at Other	
		pitals After the Merger with Highland Park,	
		ardless of the Control Group Used and	
	Rega	ardless of the Patient Group Used	223
	a.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Hospitals,	
		Prices to Health Plans Went Up Faster at ENH	
		Than at the Control Group Hospitals After	
		the Merger with Highland Park	224
	b.	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago PMSA	
		Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group	
		Hospitals After the Merger with Highland	
		Park	227
	c.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Teaching	
		Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group	
		Hospitals After the Merger with Highland Park	229
	The		
6.		Commercial Payer Claims Data Shows That,	
		ept for Blue Cross, Prices to Most Health Plans	
		t Up Faster at ENH Than at Other Hospitals	
		r the Merger with Highland Park, Regardless e Control Group Used	231
	a.	The United Claims Data Shows That Prices	

(4)	
(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Hospitals, Prices to United Went Up
	Faster at ENH Than at the Control
	Group Hospitals After the Merger with Highland Park
	with Highland I alk
(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging
	Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to
	United Went Up Faster at ENH Than
	at the Control Group Hospitals After
	the Merger with Highland Park
(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Teaching Hospitals, Prices to United
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger with Highland Park
The .	Aetna Claims Data Shows That Prices
	Aetna Claims Data Shows That Prices etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at
to A	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at
to Ad Othe	·
to Ad Othe High	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Othe High	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups Compared to the Chicago PMSA
to Ad Othe High	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups Compared to the Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Aetna Went Up
to Ao Othe	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Othe High	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups Compared to the Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Aetna Went Up
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Othe High	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups
to Ad Other High (1)	tna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at r Hospitals After the Merger with land Park for All Control Groups

	Merger with Highland Park239
7	he Humana Claims Data Shows That Prices
	Humana Went Up Faster at ENH Than
а	t Other Hospitals After the Merger with
F	lighland Park for All Control Groups240
((1) Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Hospitals, Prices to Humana Went
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control
	Group Hospitals After the Merger
	with Highland Park240
(2) Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago
	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Humana
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger with Highland Park242
(.	B) Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Humana
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger with Highland Park243
T	he One Health Claims Data Shows That
P	rices to One Health Went Up Faster at ENH
T	han at Other Hospitals After the Merger
W	ith Highland Park for All Control Groups244
(1	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Hospitals, Prices to One Health Went
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control
	Group Hospitals After the Merger
	with Highland Park245
(2	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago
	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to One Health
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger With Highland Park247

			(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
				Teaching Hospitals, Prices to One	
				Health Went Up Faster at ENH Than	
				at the Control Group Hospitals After	
				the Merger with Highland Park	247
		e.	The	Plus Cross Claims Data Day N. 4 Cl	
		С.		Blue Cross Claims Data Does Not Show	
			T HAI	t Prices to Blue Cross Went Up Faster at	
				I Than at Other Hospitals After the	
			Mer	ger with Highland Park	248
	7.	Prof	essor B	aker's Analysis Confirms That Prices	
				ENH Relative to Other Hospitals	248
	•				
		a.		Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	
				Exceeded the Price Increases at His	
				trol Group for United, Aetna, and	
			Hum	iana	249
		b.	Dr. I	Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	
				Exceeded the Price Increases at His	
	•			trol Group for the Average Price of the	
			Four	Payers Analyzed by Him	251
	0	a			
	8.	Sum	mary		253
D.	Dr.	Haas-W	ilson C	Considered Eight Alternative Explanations	
	of th	e Price	Increas	ses Besides Increases in Market Power	
				lerger and Learning About Demand	253
		Ü		See and the see an	233
	1.	Price	Increa	ases Alone Do Not Establish the Exercise	
		of M	arket P	ower, As Alternative Explanations Must	
		Be R	ejected.	¥	253
	2.	The	- XX /	T 14 A14 (1 T)	
	4.	ner Deier	e were	Eight Alternative Explanations for the	
		Frice	псгеа	ase to Rule Out Besides Market Power	
		and 1	_earnin	ng About Demand	254
	3.	Dr. H	Iaas-W	ilson Was Able to Directly Rule Out	
		Five	of the F	Eight Alternative Explanations of the	
		Price	Increa	se at ENH	254
					عن الم

	a.	Cost Increases	256
	b.	Changes in Regulations	257
	c.	Changes in Consumer Demand	258
	d.	The Relative Price Increase at ENH,	
		Compared to Control Groups, Rules Out	
		Changes in Costs, Regulations, and Demand	
		As an Explanation of the Price Increase	259
	e. -	The Increases in Prices at ENH Relative to	
		Other Hospitals Cannot Be Explained by	
•		an Increase in Quality Relative to Other	
		Hospitals	261
	f.	Decreases in Prices of Outpatient Services	•
		at ENH Cannot Explain the Increase In Prices	•
		at ENH Relative to Control Group Hospitals	263
4.	Dr. H	laas-Wilson Was Not Able to Rule Out Three	
	of the	Eight Alternative Explanations of the Price	
		ase at ENH Without Additional Analysis	266
	a.	Changes in the Mix of Patients at ENH Cannot	
		Be Ruled Out As a Potential Explanation for	
		the Increase in Prices at ENH Without	
		Additional Analysis	267
		(1) Commercial Claims Data	268
		(2) The IDPH Universal Dataset	269
		(=) I To I T	207
	b.	Changes in the Mix of Customers at ENH	
		Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
		Explanation for the Increase in Prices at	
		ENH Without Additional Analysis	269
	c.	Changes in the Teaching Intensity at ENH	
	c.	Changes in the Teaching Intensity at ENH Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
	c.		

	5.		aas-Wilson Was Able to Eliminate Five of	
			Cight Alternative Causes of the Price Increase	272
E.			ression Analysis Ruled Out Changes in Patient	
			es in Customer Mix, and Changes in Teaching	
			Explanations for the Relative Price Increase	
	Obs	erved at	ENH After the Merger with Highland Park	272
	1.		ple Regression Analysis Allows the Researcher	
			easure Simultaneously the Impact of Multiple	
		Indep	endent Variables on a Dependent Variable	273
	2.		DPH Universal Dataset Shows That Changes	
			tient Mix, Changes in Customer Mix, and	
			ges in Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain the	
			ive Price Increase at ENH Following the Merger	
			Highland Park, Using Any Control Group and	
		Any (Grouping of Patients	274
		a.	For All Patients in the IDPH Universal	
			Dataset, Changes in Patient Mix, Customer	
			Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
			the Relative Price Increase at ENH Following	
			the Merger with Highland Park	275
		b.	For Commercially Insured and Self Pay	
			Patients in the IDPH Universal Dataset,	
			Changes in Patient Mix, Customer Mix,	
			and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
			the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
			Following the Merger with Highland Park	277
		c.	For Commercially Insured, Self Pay, HMO,	
			and Self-Administered Patients in the IDPH	
			Universal Dataset, Changes in Patient Mix,	
			Customer Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot	
			Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
			Following the Merger with Highland Park	278

	3.	Com	mmercial Payer Claims Data Shows That Changes	
		in Pa	atient Mix, Customer Mix, and Teaching Intensity	
		Can	not Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		Folio	owing the Merger with Highland Park	280
		a.	Aetna	283
		b.	Blue Cross	284
		c.	Humana	284
		d.	United	286
		e.	One Health (Great-West)	288
	4.	Dr. l	Baker's Regression Results Were Consistent with	
		Dr. 1	Haas-Wilson's Results Showing That Patient Mix	
		Can	not Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		Afte	r the Merger with Highland Park	289
	5.	Con	clusion	294
F.	The the l	Learni Price In	ng About Demand Theory Does Not Explain	295
	1.	The	Pre-Merger Payment Rates in the Highland	
		Park	Contracts with Commercial Payers Would	
		Not'	Teach ENH About the Demand by Payers for	
		Its S	ervices	296
	•			270
	2.	The	Academic Control Group, Developed by Dr.	
		Noet	ther and Used by Both Dr. Noether and Dr.	
		Bake	er, Is an Inappropriate Control Group to	
		Com	pare with ENH	300
		a.	ENH's Patient Mix Is Very Different from	
			the Patient Mix of Loyola University,	
			Northwestern Memorial, Rush Presbyterian-	
			St. Luke's, and the University of Chicago	301
		b.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group	
			Inappropriately Compares ENH to Hospitals	
			That Perform Quaternary Services	302
			A	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

/		c. Most of the Hospitals in Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Were Not Similar to ENH in Terms of the Overall Inpatient Services They Provide	304
		d. Teaching Intensity, Bed Size, and Public Perception Were All Factors That Cut Against Dr. Noether's Control Group Being an Appropriate Control Group	306
		e. The Testimony of ENH's Customers Undermines Dr. Noether's Control Group	308
		VOLUME IV	
	3.	Even If One Accepts Dr. Noether's Control Group, Dr. Baker's Analysis Shows That the Learning About Demand Claim Is Inconsistent with the Pricing Evidence	311
	4.	Changes in Information, One of the Potential Explanations for the Price Increase Observed at ENH After the Merger, Does Not Explain the Price Increase	320
G.	the l	nclusion - The Pricing of ENH to Health Plans Following Merger with Highland Park Provides Direct Evidence Anticompetitive Effects	321
	1.	Other Alternative Explanations Eliminated	323
	2.	Trial Testimony Supports This Conclusion	323
	3.	Contemporaneous Business Documents Support This Conclusion	325

X. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:

EXP	ERIEN	NCES C	OF HEALTH PLANS	327
A .	Ove	rview o	f 2000 Contract Negotiations and Price Increases	327
	1.	Chro Play	onology of Key Events and Identification of Key ers from ENH, Bain and Health Plans	327
	2.		Diem Versus Per Case Versus Discount Off rges	336
		a.	Definitions	
		b.	Pressure from Health Plans Generally Resulted in Fixed Rate Contracts in the Late 1990s in the Chicago Area	338
		c.	Pre-Merger, Health Plans Successfully Pressured Evanston and Highland Park Hospital for Various Fixed Rate Contracts	340
		d.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Fixed Rates Are Predictable	344
		e.	Health Plans Lose Predictability Under a Discount off Charges Arrangement	347
		f.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Health Plans Achieve Lower Rates Through Such Arrangements	351
		g.	Health Care Providers Prefer Discount off Charges Arrangements Because Such Arrangements Mean Less Risk and More Profit for the Providers	352
		h.	With Regard to the Merger, ENH Strategized to Move All Health Plan Contracts to a Discount off Charges Arrangement	354
		i.	ENH Achieved Discount off Charges Arrangements with Various Health Plans Through the Merger	256

With	the M	Ierger, ENH Demanded One Price for All Three	
Hosp	nais		359
1.	ENF	H Wanted All Three Hospitals to Be Put on	
	Whi	ichever Pre-Merger Contract for the Particular	
	Heal	lth Plan Had Higher Rates, Evanston's or	
	High	hland Park's	359
	a.	ENH Moved All Three Hospitals to the Same	
		Health Plan Contract	359
	b.	ENH Moved Health Plans to Whichever	
	ь.		*
		Contract Had Higher Rates, the Evanston	2.62
		Contract or the Highland Park Contract	363
	c.	Some Health Plans Disagreed with the	
		Automatic Assignment of the Higher-Rate	
		Contract to Cover All Three ENH Hospitals	368
2.	· In R	Re-Negotiating Contracts, ENH Demanded the	
	High	her of the Two Contract Rates Plus a Premium	371
	a.	ENH Went With the More Favorable	
		Contract and Then Added a Premium to	
		the Higher Rate	371
	b.	ENH Charged a Premium Over the Higher	
	٠.	Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger	
		Rate in Numerous Health Plan Contracts	250
		Nate in Numerous Health Flan Contracts	378
		(1) Aetna	378
		(2) Cigna	382
		(3) Humana	384
3.	ENH	I Set up One Chargemaster for All Three	
	Host	pitals, with the Price for Each Product and	
	Serv	vice Positioned at the Higher of the Two	
	Pre-	Merger Prices, Evanston's or Highland Park's	387
	a.	Chargemaster Definition	387

В.

		b.	ENH Adopted the Higher of the Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger Chargemaster	
			Rates Post-Merger	388
		c.	In Adopting the Higher of the Two Merging	
			Parties' Chargemaster Rates, ENH Raised Its	
			Prices to Health Plans with Discount Off Charges	
			Arrangements	391
	4.	Oth	er Hospital Systems Have Separate Prices for	
			h Hospital	396
		a.	It Is Unusual For a Hospital System to Charge	
			the Same Rates for All Hospitals in the System	306
			the System	370
		b.	The Advocate, Rush, Resurrection and Provena	
			Systems Charge Different Rates for Different	
			Hospitals in Their Systems	397
			- ww	
C.	ENI	I Instit	uted Major Chargemaster Price Increases in	
	2002	2 and 20	003	401
D.	The	First M	Iajor Chargemaster Increase in 2002 Is an	
			ENH's Ability to Increase Prices Dramatically	
	to H	ealth P	lans Without Needing to Re-Negotiate Their	
				404
	1.	Cha	rgemaster Changes Directly Affect Only	
			tracts Containing a Discount Off Charges	
			vision	405
	2.	ENI	I, in Deciding to Increase Its Chargemaster	
			es, Elected to Set the Prices at a Very High	
			e l	408
	3.	The	First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002	
•			sed ENH's Net Revenue by \$20 Million to \$26	
			ion Annually	410
				410
	4.	ENF	I Was Not Concerned That Health Plans	
			ald Switch to Other Hospitals Due to the 2002	
	,		rgemaster Price Increases	412
		~na	- Someonex I liet included	413
	5.	Beca	nuse of the Discount Off Charges Provisions	

		in Health Plan Contracts, ENH Can Unilaterally Institute Large Chargemaster Price Increases Without Even Giving Notice to Most of Its Health Plan Customers	414
E.	ENF	HExtracted a Significant Price Increase from United	417
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	417
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	417
	-	VOLUME V	
F.	ENI	H Extracted a Significant Price Increase from PHCS	448
•	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	448
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	451
G.		H Extracted a Significant Price Increase from One	479
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	479
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	481
H.	ENI	H Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Aetna	508
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	508
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	510
I.	ENI	H Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Unicare	526
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	526
		VOLUME VI	
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	531
J.		H Also Extracted a Significant Price Increase from	556

	K.	ENF to H	I's Price Increases Were Contrary to Market Trends old Pricing Flat or to Discount Further	559
	L.	ENF Min	H Increased Its Net Revenues from Health Plans by a imum of \$18 Million Annually Due Just to the 2000 taged Care Contract Re-Negotiations	
	M.	Whe	en Hospitals Increase Their Prices, Health Plans Pass Price Increases on to Their Customers	
XI.	DIRI PAR	ECT E	VIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: DMISSIONS	575
	A.	Part Pow	y Documents Regarding Merger Creating Market er	575
		1.	Evanston and Highland Park Sought Market Power Through the Merger	575
		2.	ENH Employed the Market Power of the Combined Evanston and Highland Park After the Merger	585
		3.	ENH Achieved Substantial Post-Merger Price Increases Through the Merger	592
	В.	Test Crea	imony of Present ENH Executives Regarding Merger ating Market Power	603
		1.	Assessments in Contemporaneous Documents of the Anticompetitive Consequences of the Merger Are a Reliable and Accurate Reflection of Discussions	603
		2.	ENH Executives Testified That Pre-Merger There Were Significant Pricing Pressures and the Threat of Increased Competition from Highland Park	605
		3.	Merger-Related Negotiations Headed by Jeff Hillebrand Were Successful for ENH	
		4.	ENH's Executives Affirmed Respondent's Documents' Assertions About Price Increases Related to Post-Merger Re-Negotiations with	

		Health Plans	618
	5.	ENH Executive After-the-Fact "Explanations" of	
		Leverage Are Factually Implausible	621
C.		timony of Former ENH Executives Regarding Merger ating Market Power	625
	1.	Background of the Two Former ENH Executives	627
	2.	Former ENH Executives Also Testified That	
		Highland Park and Evanston Faced Pricing Pressures Before the Merger	628
	3.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That Market	
	·	Power and Leverage over Health Plans Were	
		Attributable to the Merger	636
	4.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That a Merger	
		Plan Was to Use Power Attributable to the Merger to Increase Prices.	641
		VOLUME VII	
	5.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That ENH's	
		Plan to Use Power From the Merger to Increase Prices Succeeded	646
D.	Test	timony and Documents from ENH Consultants Regarding	
		rger Creating Market Power.	647
	1.	In 1999, ENH Engaged Bain to Provide Merger- Related Contracting Strategy	648
	2.	Bain Advised ENH to Use in Contracting the	
		Increased Market Leverage Due to the Addition of Highland Park	650
	3.	Following Bain's Advice, ENH Successfully Utilized	
		the Market Power Generated by the Merger to	
		Extract More Money from Health Plans	657
F	Prin	or to the Highland Park Margar Tyanston and	

	Ι	ngalana r	ark Sought Market Power	659
	. 1	. Nort	thwestern Healthcare Network	659
		a.	A Central Purpose of the Northwestern	
			Healthcare Network Was to Negotiate	
			Collectively and Eliminate Competition	
			Between Member Hospitals to Obtain Better	
			Contract Terms	661
		b.		
		υ.	Bain Recommended Joint Bargaining by	
,			Hospitals in the Northwestern Healthcare	
			Network	663
	·	c.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network	
			Failed for a Number of Reasons	664
	2	. Nort	thwestern Healthcare-North Proposed Merger	
	_		ighland Park, Evanston and Northwest	
			imunity	669
		a.	Background of NH-North	
		b.		
		D.	Increasing Market Share and Joint	
			Negotiations Were Important Goals of NH-North	671
		c.	Rain Advised Anticompatitive No.	
		C.	Bain Advised Anticompetitive Measures	
			for Contracting by NH-North	672
-		d.	The Proposed NH-North Merger Ultimately	
			Failed to Occur	675
	3	. Evar	ıston-Highland Park Merger	675
		a.	Viewpoint of Evanston	ā
		_		
		b.	Viewpoint of Highland Park	679
XII.	THE ST	RUCTUR	E OF THE MARKET GIVES RISE TO THE	
	LIKELI	HOOD OF	F ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	687
	A. Iı	ntroductio	n to Market Structure Anglesis	
	4.4. A.I	an vauciii	n to Market Structure Analysis	687

	1.	For a Consummated Merger Where Pricing Data	
		Exists, the Emphasis Is on Analysis of the Pricing Data, Not on Elzinga-Hogarty Type Analysis	687
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test to Identify Smallest	
		Relevant Product and Geographic Markets	600
		1010vane 110auet and Geographic Markets	070
В.	Proc	luct Market: In-Patient Hospital Services (Except	
		ternary) Sold to Health Plans	691
	1.	Documents and Testimony Support the Conclusion	
		That Inpatient Hospital Services (Except Quaternary)	
		Sold to Health Plans Is a Relevant Product Market	691
	•	And I'm and a control of the control	
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test Supports the	
		Conclusion That Inpatient Hospital Services	
		(Except Quaternary) Sold to Health Plans Is a	605
		Relevant Product Market	695
	3.	Quaternary Services Are Not in the Product Market	698
	4.	Outpatient Services Are Not a Substitute for	
		Inpatient Services	700
C.	Geo	graphic Market: Triangle Formed by Evanston,	•
·.	Gler	ibrook and Highland Park	702
			103
	1.	General Definition of the Triangle Area	705
	•	CONTRACT AND CONTRACT OF THE C	
	2.	SSNIP Test Supports the Conclusion That the	7 0.5
		Triangle Is a Relevant Geographic Market	707
	3.	Patient Flow Analysis and the Elzinga-Hogarty	
		Test Are Inappropriate Tools for Defining	
		Geographic Markets for General, Inpatient Acute	
		Care Hospital Services	709
	4.	Evidence from Dr. Haas-Wilson Regarding the	
	4.	Triangle Geographic Market	710
			/10
	5.	Consistent Evidence from Current and Former	
		ENH Executives	719

		6.	Consistent Evidence from Health Plans Regarding the Triangle Market	724
		7.	ENH's "Combined Core Service Area" As a Proxy for the Triangle Market	731
	D.	Mar	ket Shares and Concentration	733
		1.	Dr. Haas-Wilson's Calculations of Market Share and Concentration in the Triangle Market	733
		2.	Calculations Based on ENH Documents and Testimony for the Combined Core Service Area	733
		3.	Dr. Noether's Calculations for the Market As Defined by Her	
	E.	Com Guio	nparison of ENH HHIs to HHIs in the Merger delines and Prior Case Law	736
		1.	HHIs for the Triangle Market	736
		2.	HHIs from Noether	737
·		3.	Comparison With Past Hospital Merger Cases in Seventh Circuit Where Enforcement Action Was Successful	738
XIII.	ENH	'S PRI	ICE INCREASES HAVE NOT BEEN CONSTRAINED	
	DIE	1 11 K I	VOLUME VIII	740
XIV.	DR. I	BAKEI	R LACKS CREDIBILITY	746
	A.		Baker's Compensation	
	В.		Baker's First Report	
	C.		Ashenfelter's Rebuttal Report	
	D.		Baker's Second Report	

	E.	Dr. Baker's Testimony	756
XV.		LEARNING ABOUT DEMAND EXCUSE IS WITHOUT	759
	A.	Introduction to What the Alleged Defense Is	759
	В.	ENH Repeatedly and Vigorously Attempted to Re-Negotiate Contracts Throughout the 1990s	760
	C.	There Is No Contemporaneous Evidence Showing That ENH Changed Its Pricing Strategy to Price at the Level of "Academic" Hospitals	765
		1. Absence of Contemporaneous Business Records	765
		2. Testimony of Health Plans Regarding Learning About Demand	769
	D.	Evanston Could Not Have Learned Anything Significant About Demand from Highland Park	773
		1. Evanston Could Have Learned Little About the Demand for Its Own Services by Learning About the Demand for Highland Park's Services Because They Were Not Identical Hospitals	773
		2. Pre-Merger, Highland Park Charged Lower Actual Prices Than Evanston	776
-		3. Dr. Noether's Rate Comparisons Cannot Be Taken at Face Value	779
	E.	Respondent's Experts' Comparisons to Dr. Noether's Control Groups Are Biased and Inappropriate	780
		1. Dr. Noether Began with an Arbitrary Group of 20 Hospitals	783
		2. Dr. Noether's Division of Her Hospitals into an Academic Hospital Group and a Community Hospital Group Is Arbitrary	700

3.	Dr.	Dr. Noether Left Hospitals off of Her List of 20							
		pitals That Met the Criteria for Inclusion in							
	Her	Academic Control Group If She Had Included							
	The	m in Her Original List	791						
4.	Dr	Noether's Criteria Evoluded from Hen Comm							
7.	of"	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group							
		Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her							
		of 20 Hospitals) That Are Considered Major							
		ching Hospitals and That Had Lower							
	TUST	t-Merger Prices Than Northwestern Memorial							
		pital, University of Chicago Hospital, Rush-							
		sbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola							
	Univ	versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	793						
	a.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	702						
			193						
	b.	St. Francis Hospital	794						
5.	D.,	Noothon's Criteria Early 16 VI G	•						
J.	Dr.	Dr. Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group							
	01 °	of "Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her							
	List	List of 20 Hospitals) That Treated, on Average,							
		More Complex Cases Than ENH and That Had							
		Lower Post-Merger Prices Than Northwestern							
		norial Hospital, University of Chicago Hospital,							
		h-Presbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola							
	Univ	versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	795						
	a.	Alexian Brothers Medical Center	796						
	b.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	798						
	c.	Northwest Community Hospital	700						
	••	1 to the community Hospital	199						
	d.	Resurrection Medical Center	801						
	e.	Rush North Shore Medical Center	802						
	f.	St. Francis Hospital	804						
6.	Dr.	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group							
		Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals That Were							
		uded in Her 20 Hospital List and That Treated,							
		Verage. More Complex Cases Than Another							

		Control Group	805
	7.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Is Not an	
		Appropriate Control Group.	807
•		a. Case Mix and Services Provided	807
		b. Teaching Intensity	811
		c. National Recognition	811
	8.	Health Plans Do Not Consider ENH to Be	
		Comparable to Northwestern Memorial Hospital,	
		Rush-Presbyterian-St. Luke's, or the University of	
		Chicago	812
		a. PHCS	812
		b. One Health	813
		c. United	816
	9.	ENH's Pricing History to Blue Cross Showed No	
		Trend Toward the Prices Charged by the Academic	
		Control Group	816
	10.	Dr. Noether Treated Highland Park Hospital	
		Inappropriately in Her Comparisons	817
F.	ENH	I Flunked the Learning About Demand Test	821
	1.	United	829
	2.	Humana	830
	3.	Blue Cross	831
G.	The	Learning About Demand Excuse Is Implausible	833
	1.	There Is No Dispute That ENH Had Market Power	
		After the Merger with Highland Park	833

		2.	Clai	Theory of Learning About Demand Is Just a m That ENH Did Not Know How Much Market er It Had Prior to the Merger	834
		3.		I Had Substantial Market Power Post-Merger	
	•		a.	Rush North Shore Medical Center	837
			b.	St. Francis Hospital	838
			c.	Advocate Lutheran General Hospital	839
,			d.	Resurrection Medical Center	841
			e.	Lake Forest Hospital	842
			f.	Condell Medical Center	843
			g.	ENH Was Able to Raise Prices Without Losing Managed Care Business	844
	٠	4.	That	Learning About Demand Theory Implies t ENH Could Have Charged the Post-Merger es Pre-Merger, Which It Could Not	844
		5.	in D Plan	Implausible That ENH Could Have Remained isequilibrium Pre-Merger Because Health is Would Have Known Their Own Demand for inston's Services Pre-Merger	847
				VOLUME IX	
XVI.	The	Quality	of Ca	re Changes Do Not Excuse the Merger	849
	A.	Resp	onden	t Failed to Prove That Quality Improved	850
		1.	ENF	pondent Did Not Even Attempt to Show That I's Quality Improved Compared to Other pitals	850
			a.	No Analysis of Control Group or Other Hospitals Outside ENH	

	b.			Quality Improvements Limited to ets of One of Three Hospitals in
				n 853
	c.	Resp	onden	Failed to Prove That Quality
				utweigh the Anticompetitive
				ne Merger and Even Failed to
				thodology for Making Such a
		Com	pariso	n 855
2.	Con	aplaint (Counse	l Presented the Only Quantitative
	Ana	lysis of	Quality	y, and the Results Prove That
				nprove in All of the Areas Where
	Obj	ective D	ata Wa	as Available858
	a.	Dr. I	Roman	o Is Complaint Counsel's Expert
		Witn	ess for	Quality of Care Issues858
	b.	Dr. I	Roman	o's Analysis of Outcomes861
		(1)	Dr. l	Romano Found No Discernible
			Imp	rovement in Quality of Care at
			High	nland Park After the Merger864
			(a)	There Was No Improvement
		•		in Heart Attack Care After the
				Merger 867
			(b)	ENH's Opening of a Cardiac
			()	Surgery Program at Highland
		•		Park Hospital May Have
				Worsened the Quality of Cardiac
				Surgery at ENH 879
			(c)	There Was No Improvement in
				Interventional Cardiology at
				Highland Park Hospital or at
				ENH As a Whole After the Merger887
			(d)	There Was No Improvement in
				the Quality of Obstetrics and
				Gynecology Care at Highland

			Park Hospital or at ENH As a				
			Whole After the Merger889				
		(e)	There Was No Significant				
			Improvement in the Quality				
			of Nursing Services at Highland				
			Park Hospital or ENH After				
			the Merger895				
		(f)	Highland Park Hospital Does				
			Not Perform As Well As				
			Academic Hospitals in Key				
			Outcome Measures898				
٠	(2)	The	Validity of Dr. Romano's Analysis900				
	(3)		erts in the Field of Quality				
			surement, As Well As ENH Itself,				
			Principally on Outcome and				
		Proc	ess Measures916				
c.	Dr. Romano's Analysis of Patient Satisfaction Data924						
	(1)	Dr. I	Romano's Findings Based on				
		Data	from Press-Ganey923				
		(a)	Patient Satisfaction with				
			Nursing Services Declined at				
			Highland Park and Evanston				
	,		Hospitals After the Merger926				
:		(b)	There Was No Improvement				
	*		in Patient Satisfaction with				
			Cancer Care Services at				
			Highland Park Hospital After				
			the Merger927				
		(c)	There Was No Improvement				
	-		in Patient Satisfaction with				
			Obstetrics and Gynecology				
			at Highland Park Hospital				
			After the Merger929				

				(d) There Was No Improvement In Patient Satisfaction at Highland Park Hospital in Other Areas After the Merger930
			(2)	ENH Uses Press-Ganey Data to Measure Patient Satisfaction
В.	Qua	lity Ch	anges A	Are Exaggerated932
	1.	Dr. (Chassin	n's Qualitative Analysis Was Inadequate932
				VOLUME X
	2.	The at H	re Was ighland	No Significant Quality Improvement d Park Hospital Due to the Merger941
		a.	Imp	re Was No Significant Quality Provement in Nursing Services at hland Park Hospital Due to the Merger942
		b.	Imp	re Was No Significant Quality rovement in Obstetrics and Gynecology lighland Park Hospital Due to the Merger957
		c.	High	re Was No Significant Improvement in hland Park Hospital's Quality Assurance vities Due to the Merger
		d.	High	re Was No Significant Improvement in hand Park Hospital's Quality rovement Activities Due to the Merger
		e.	Impi	re Was No Significant Quality rovement in Laboratory Medicine and nology Services Due to the Merger
		f.	Ther Impi	re Was No Significant Quality rovement in Oncology at Highland Park pital Due to the Merger1000
		g.	Ther	re Was No Significant Quality rovement in Emergency Care at Highland

			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1004
		h.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement in Intensive Care at Highland	
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1007
		i.	There Was No Significant Quality	
		1.	There Was No Significant Quality Improvement in Pharmacy Services at	
			Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1010
			inguland I aik Hospital Due to the Merger	1010
		j.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement in Psychiatric Care at Highland	
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1012
		k.	The Merger Did Not Significantly Improve	
		M.	the Quality of Care at Highland Park Hospital	
			Because of the So-Called Clinical	
			"Rationalization"	1012
				1013
		l.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement at Highland Park Hospital	
			by Virtue of Academic Affiliation	1016
C.	The C	Quality	Changes Are Not Merger Specific Because	
			ark, on Its Own Or with Others, Could Have	
			e Same Quality Changes	1018
	1.	High	lland Park Hospital Was Already a Good	
	1.		pital Before the Merger	1010
		Hosp	star before the Merger	1019
			VOLUME XI	
		a.	Highland Park Hospital Offered Leading	
			Edge and Innovative Clinical Programs	
			Before the Merger	1030
		b.	Highland Davk Hamital Carting the Add 1	
		IJ.	Highland Park Hospital Continually Added New Clinical Services and Made Improvements	
			Before the Merger	1020
			Deter one microsoft	1039
	2.		lland Park Hospital Already Had Plans to	
		Impl	ement Some of the Changes Before the Merger	1041

	a.	Highland Park Hospital Had Decided to Develop a Cardiac Surgery Program Before	
		the Merger	1045
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Was Actively	
		Pursuing a Joint Cancer Care Program	
		with Other Hospitals, Including Evanston,	
		Before the Merger	1054
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Was Already	
		Planning to Renovate and Expand Its	
		Emergency Department Before the Merger	1057
3.		ne of the Changes Were Part of a General	
	Nati	ionwide Trend of Improvement	1059
	a.	Subsequent to the Merger, There Has Been	
•		an Increase in the Use of Intensivists by	
		Hospitals	1064
	b.	There Has Been An Increase in the Use of	
		Information Technology by Hospitals to	
		Improve the Quality of Care	1067
4.		hland Park Could Have Continued to	
		rove and Expand Other Clinical Services	
	Wit	hout the Merger	1072
	a.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
		Implemented the Changes in Its Obstetrics	
		and Gynecology Department Without the	
		Merger	1073
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	•
		Implemented the Changes in Its Quality	
		Assurance and Quality Improvement	
		Activities Without the Merger	1076
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
		Improved Its Physical Plant Without the	
		Merger	1077
	đ.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	

				Implemented the Changes in Its Laboratory Without the Merger	1078
			e.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Pharmacy	
				Services Without the Merger	1079
			f.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Radiology	
				Department Without the Merger	1080
		5.	Higl	hland Park Hospital Possessed the Financial	
				ets to Implement Quality Changes on Its Own	1080
	D.	Virt	ually A	ll of the Alleged Quality Improvements	•
				After Health Care Contracts Were	
				ted	1082
	E.	ENE	I Did N	ot Negotiate Price Increases with Health	
				e Basis of Quality Improvements	1087
XVII.	ENH	l'S NO	N-PRO	OFIT STATUS DID NOT RESTRAIN ITS	
				IARKET POWER.	1099
	A.	ENE	I's Not	-For-Profit Status Did Not Affect Its Approach	
				rger Price Increases	1099
	В.	The	Hospit	al Boards Did Not Get Involved in Pricing Issues	1102
	C.	The	Interes	sts of Evanston, Highland Park, and ENH	
		Man	ageme	nt Did Not Align with the Interests of Consumers	
		in T	erms o	of Pricing and in Terms of Passing on Increased	
		Revo	enues F	Resulting from the Merger	1104
	D.	Eco	omic S	Studies Support the View That Non-Profit	
		Hos	pitals E	Exercise Market Power	1108
XVIII	.ENH			SHIP IN THE NORTHWESTERN CARE NETWORK DOES NOT ELIMINATE	
				ABILITY UNDER SECTION 7 OF THE	
				VACTVACT	1112
		~ === :		7	111/

	Α.		Northwestern Healthcare Network Did Not Exercise tral Control	1112		
1	В.	Evanston and Highland Park Were Two Separate Entities Prior to the Merger				
		1.	Separate Administrations.	1114		
		2.	Separate Staffs	1116		
		3.	Separate Services	1117		
		4.	Financial Independence	1118		
	C.		Northwestern Healthcare Network Disbanded Before Evanston-Highland Park Merger Occurred	1120		
XIX.	REM	1122				
٠	A.		Proposed Remedy Is Practicable and Will Restore retition	1122		
	B.		estiture Would Not Have a Significant Impact on lity at Highland Park Hospital	1124		

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2715, in camera, citing Neary, Tr.

Tr. 621).

Response to Finding No. 723:

This proposed finding is misleading because his testimony was inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1933, 723). According to MedPAC, the federal body that defines such terms, ENH is a "major teaching hospital." (RFF ¶ 8, 559, 2168). Also, Neary admitted that he had no idea how many discharges at Chicago hospitals were for organ transplants and burns. (Neary, Tr. 640-43). Neary was not even aware that Evanston Hospital had a burn unit for four of the years he worked in Chicago. (Neary, Tr. 643). Neary further admitted that ENH competed with, and was an alternative to, Northwestern Memorial. (Neary, Tr. 631).

Moreover, Neary has no clinical degree in medicine, so is ill-equipped to make the determination referenced in this proposed finding. (Neary, Tr. 630).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2715, in camera).

724.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2716-17, in camera, citing Dorsey, Tr. 1443-44).

Response to Finding No. 724:

This proposed finding is misleading because his testimony was inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1934-1935). ENH is affiliated with the medical school at Northwestern University. (RFF ¶¶ 1, 8-9, 12, 18, 34, 297, 431, 2318). ENH's residents per day figure are consistent with the

MedPAC definition of a "major teaching hospital." (RFF ¶ 2168). MedPAC, a federal body that defines academic medical center and major academic hospital categories, characterizes an academic hospital as a hospital that has at least a 0.25 resident-to-bed ratio. (RFF ¶ 2168). ENH has a 0.29 ratio. (RFF ¶ 2168). In terms of the breadth and complexity of services offered, as measured by DRGs, Evanston Hospital ranks among the other academic hospitals. (RFF ¶ 540-549).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2716-17, in camera).

725.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2718-20, in camera, citing Foucre, Tr. 935-36).

Response to Finding No. 725:

This proposed finding is misleading because her testimony was inaccurate.

(RFF

¶ 456).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1112, in camera).

REDACTED

; (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2718-20, in camera).

726.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2720, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 726:

This proposed finding is false. Using bed size, teaching intensity and breadth of service, Dr. Noether identified a representative group of academic hospitals for comparison with ENH. Dr. Haas-Wilson's criticisms on the basis of case mix, quaternary services, teaching intensity, bed size, public perception and customer documents and testimony are unfounded. (RFF-Reply 705-725).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2868-69, in

camera).

727.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2698, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 727:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 726).

3. Even If One Accepts Dr. Noether's Control Group, Dr. Baker's Analysis Shows That the Learning About Demand Claim Is Inconsistent with the Pricing Evidence

728.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2721 (referring to DX 7046, in camera), in

Response to Finding No. 728:

camera).

This proposed finding is incorrect.

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4686-87, in camera).

} (Baker, Tr. 4663, 4685, in

camera).

729.

REDACTED

} (Haas-Wilson,

Tr. 2727-28, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 729:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that it has been stricken from the record.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson 2727-32, in

camera). The parties agreed, before trial, that two of Complaint Counsel's expert witnesses, Dr. Orley Ashenfelter and Dr. Haas-Wilson, could prepare supplemented rebuttal reports in response to Dr. Baker's second report. Dr. Ashenfelter produced a supplemented rebuttal report on January 17, 2005. Dr. Haas-Wilson, however, did not produce any supplemented rebuttal report. (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2936-38).

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2727-29, 2731, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2729, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson,

Tr. 2731, in camera). On March 3, 2005, Respondent again objected to Dr. Haas-Wilson testifying about matters addressed in Dr. Baker's second report and, this time, specifically moved that "all testimony that has been given in this case from Dr. Haas-Wilson responding to anything in Dr. Baker's second report should be stricken." (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2938). The Court sustained Respondent's objection on that that basis – and ruled that Complaint Counsel must "confine" its questions to matters addressed in Dr. Haas-Wilson's reports. (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2938). This proposed finding was clearly based on testimony from Dr. Haas-Wilson regarding Professor

Baker's second report, and as such, was stricken on March 3, 2005.⁷ Complaint Counsel decided not to call Dr. Ashenfelter to testify at trial, and it must live with that decision.

To the extent that Respondent needs to reply substantively to this proposed finding, however, that proposed finding is inaccurate.

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4663, 4685, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4759, 4699-70, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4699-70, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4757-59, 4761-

62, 4812, in camera; Noether, Tr. 6072-73, in camera; Sirabian, Tr. 5708).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4658, 4671, 4811, in camera; RFF-

Reply ¶ 1952).

730.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2728, in camera).

⁷ Respondent also objects to Complaint Counsel's Proposed Findings of Fact ¶¶ 730-736 for the same reason. Each such finding is based solely on testimony by Dr. Haas-Wilson regarding Professor Baker's second report.

Response to Finding No. 730:

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 734, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 729, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 729, in camera).

731.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2728 (discussing DX 7062 at 1, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 731:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent must reply to this proposed finding, it is incorrect.

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4758, *in camera*). Jack Sirabian, Evanston Hospital's primary MCO contract negotiator before the Merger, testified that, during the 1990s, he focused most of his attention on the Blue Cross contracts and made sure that the Blue Cross contracts were always current and up-to-date. (Sirabian, Tr. 5707).

732.

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2728 (discussing DX 7062 at 1, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 732:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent must reply to this proposed finding, it is incomplete and incorrect.

(RFF-Reply ¶

REDACTED

728, in camera).

(RFF-Reply

 \P 729, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 729, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4695-96, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4695-96, 4742-43, in camera).

733.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2728-29

(discussing DX 7062 at 2, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 733:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the ground that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent needs to reply substantively to this proposed finding, it is incomplete, misleading and irrelevant.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 728-729, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4663, 4685, in camera).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6079-80, in camera).

(RFF-Reply ¶ 690, in

REDACTED

camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4674, 4682-83, in camera).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6075, in camera; RFF ¶ 1125-30).

734.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2728-29

(discussing DX 7062 at 2, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 734:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent needs to reply substantively to this proposed finding, it is inaccurate.

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4671, 4811, in

camera). !

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4669-71, in camera).

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr. 4677-4800, in camera (explaining DX 8047);

Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2706, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 729, 1952, in camera).

735.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2731-32

(discussing DX 7062 at 3, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 735:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent must reply to this proposed finding, it is misleading and irrelevant to Professor Baker's conclusion that ENH learned about its demand coincident with the Merger. As discussed above,

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 728-729, in

camera).

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 691, 734, in camera).

(Baker, Tr. 4674, in camera).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6081, in

camera; see also RFF $\P\P$ 1131-1136).

736.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2731-32 (discussing DX 7062 at 3, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 736:

Respondent objects to this proposed finding on the grounds that the cited testimony has been stricken from the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 729). To the extent that Respondent needs to reply substantively to this proposed finding, it is inaccurate.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 728-729, in

camera).

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 691, 734, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 729, 734, 1952).

4. Changes in Information, One of the Potential Explanations for the Price Increase Observed at ENH After the Merger, Does Not Explain the Price Increase

737.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2644, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 737:

This proposed finding accurately summarized Dr. Haas-Wilson's conclusions. However, her conclusions are not consistent with the evidence or economic theory.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2823-24,

REDACTED

in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2832-33, in camera; Noether, 5989).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2644-45, in camera)

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2645, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 656-923).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2697, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2732, in camera). 8 Consequently, there is no basis for Dr. Haas-Wilson's assertion that she was able to rule out the learning about demand explanation.

738.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2732-33 (referring to DX 7046), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 738:

This proposed finding is misleading. Dr. Haas-Wilson had no basis, empirical or otherwise, to reject the learning about demand theory. (Reply-RFF ¶ 737).

- G. Conclusion The Pricing of ENH to Health Plans Following the Merger with Highland Park Provides Direct Evidence of Anticompetitive Effects
- 739. The merger on January 1, 2000 between Evanston Hospital and Highland Park Hospital enhanced the market power of ENH, the merged entity, and, after the merger, ENH exercised its market power. (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2657-58).

In one colloquy at trial, Dr. Haas-Wilson purports to criticize Professor Baker's results from his second report. However, since Dr. Haas-Wilson did not write a supplemented rebuttal report to respond to Professor Baker – which she was given the opportunity to do – the Court ruled that "all testimony that has been given in this case from Dr. Haas-Wilson responding to anything in Dr. Baker's second report should be stricken." (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2938; RFF ¶ 729).

Response to Finding No. 739:

This proposed finding is completely false. Dr. Haas-Wilson failed to rule out all potential explanations for the price increase, both the nine she identified and those she did not consider. Nor was she able to explain away the evidence demonstrating that the price increases could be explained by pro-competitive forces. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel did not meet its ultimate burden in this case through Dr. Haas-Wilson's testimony (or otherwise) of showing that the Merger resulted in the enhancement and exercise of market power. (Noether, Tr. 6216; RFF ¶¶ 656-923; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 740).

740.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2733, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2734, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 740:

This proposed finding is incorrect. Dr. Haas-Wilson was not able to rule out the nine potential explanations she identified. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 594-595, 597-599, 602-608). In particular, she was not able to rule out learning about demand or quality. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 597-599, 737). This proposed finding is also misleading to the extent it suggests that the nine potential explanations identified by Dr. Haas-Wilson are the only potential explanations for the price increase.

(Haas-

REDACTED

Wilson, Tr. 2762-63, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2763-64, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2765-66, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2766, in camera). In addition, this proposed finding

is misleading because

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2778, in camera). For example,

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 170; Mendonsa, Tr. 562-63, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1593-94, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1470-71, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2788-89 (Preferred Plan); Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2796-98, in camera (Humana)).

743

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2942, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 743:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. Indeed, it is directly contradicted by

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2762-63, *in camera*; RFF-Reply ¶ 742). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that Great West's termination was evidence of market power. Great West believed it could still have a sellable network after the

termination. (Neary, Tr. 615). At the time Great West accepted the termination, Lake Forest Hospital, Northwest Community, Advocate Lutheran General, Rush North Shore and St. Francis were all part of the Great West network. (Neary, Tr. 611). Significantly, neither of Complaint Counsel's Great West witnesses could identify a single Great West customer that was lost during the period in which the relationship between Great West and ENH was terminated. (Neary, Tr. 635; Dorsey, Tr. 1479-80, 1481). Neary never saw any letter from any Great West customer complaining about the ENH termination. (Neary, Tr. 635). And Dorsey could not identify any sales that were lost to any specific customer. (Dorsey, Tr. 1481). Nor could Neary quantify the revenue purportedly lost by Great West as a result of the termination. (Neary, Tr. 635). Neary could not even testify whether the purportedly lost customers were large or small customers. (Neary, Tr. 635). Neary's only knowledge of lost customers from the termination came from the sales manager, Don Manno. (Neary, Tr. 636). Great West actually demoted Manno after the Merger. (Neary, Tr. 636-39).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6104, in camera).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6102, *in camera*). Neither Dorsey nor Neary was responsible for the marketing or sale of Great West's network to its customers and, therefore, their testimony about marketing issues should be given little or no weight. (Neary, Tr. 630; Dorsey, Tr. 1467-68).

3. Contemporaneous Business Documents Support This Conclusion

REDACTED

744.

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2738-39 (referring to CX 13), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 744:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6107-08, in camera). As

Hillebrand testified, ENH achieved the price increases noted in these documents precisely because, in 1999-2000, Evanston Hospital/ENH realized it was not being fairly compensated by many purchasers of care for its clinical services. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2026).

745.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2739-40 (referring to CX 17), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 745:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent

DEBACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 744).

X. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: EXPERIENCES OF HEALTH PLANS

- A. Overview of 2000 Contract Negotiations and Price Increases
 - 1. Chronology of Key Events and Identification of Key Players from ENH, Bain and Health Plans
- 746. In July 1999, Evanston and Highland Park Hospital signed the letter of intent to merge. (RX 567 at ENH MN 001365, ENH MN 001390).

Response to Finding No. 746:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 259).

747.

REDACTED

(Chan,

Tr. 833-34, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1868-69; Hillebrand 1707).

Response to Finding No. 747:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and vague. ENH's 1999-2000 managed care contract renegotiations took nearly a year and lasted into late summer or early fall2000. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1707). The citation to Chan's testimony does not support this proposed finding. Chan merely agreed that personnel from both HPH and Evanston Hospital discussed strategy pertaining to a particular negotiation shortly before the Merger. (Chan, Tr. 833-34).

748. The merger was consummated on January 1, 2000. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1702; Harris, Tr. 4208).

Response to Finding No. 748:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 301).

749. The president and chief executive officer of ENH is Mark Neaman. Mr. Neaman became the CEO of Evanston in 1992 and remained CEO of the merged entity after 2000. As CEO, he oversees the development of corporate strategy and also oversees the overall development ENH's relationship and strategy with managed care companies. (Neaman, Tr. 953-54).

Response to Finding No. 749:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF § 6).

750. The chief operating officer of ENH is Jeffrey Hillebrand is the chief operating officer for ENH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1699). Mr. Hillebrand began supervising contract negotiations for ENH in the mid-80s and became the COO for Evanston in 1998. Mr. Sirabian, who handled the day-to-day contracting duties, reported directly to Mr. Hillebrand on health plan contracting issues. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1699-700). During negotiations with "larger health plans," Mr. Hillebrand became directly involved in face-to-face negotiations. After becoming COO in 1998, he maintained supervisory responsibility for ENH's health plan contracting. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1700-02).

Response to Finding No. 750:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 6, 600-604).

751. Jack Sirabian was responsible for ENH's managed care contracting negotiations from approximately 1990 to 2000. (Sirabian, Tr. 5697-98). During this time, Mr. Sirabian reported to Mr. Hillebrand with respect to managed care contracting. (Sirabian, Tr. 5728-29; Hillebrand, Tr. 1700).

Response to Finding No. 751:

Respondent has no specific response except to clarify that Sirabian ceased to be responsible for contracting in January 2000. (RFF ¶¶ 600, 603).

752. In 1999, ENH retained Bain to provide consulting advice related to the Highland Park merger. (Neaman, Tr. 1159-61). The focus of Bain's 1999 merger consulting work for ENH was "growing net income by leveraging contracting and service line opportunities created by the Highland Park merger." (CX 74 at 3). Bain assisted ENH to create a "unified contracting strategy reflecting the combined entities" of Highland Park and ENH. (CX 66 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 752:

This proposed finding is misleading. Evanston Hospital engaged Bain for consulting advice at the time of the Merger. (Neaman, Tr. 1159; RFF ¶ 670). Bain, which was hired to review Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital's contracting in the Summer of 1999, recommended rate increases regardless of whether the Merger ultimately would be consummated. (Neaman, Tr. 1347; Hillebrand, Tr. 1847; RX 2047 at 24-25 (Ogden, Dep.); RFF

- ¶ 705). ENH asked Bain to assist it with: (1) managed care contracting and (2) "rationalization of clinical services." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1846; RX 2047 at 10 (Ogden Dep.); RFF ¶ 673). Bain brought more rigor and data to the managed care contracting process. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1846-47; RFF ¶ 710).
- 753. Bain's merger-related engagement began in the fall of 1999. Charles Farkas and Kim Ogden led the Bain team. (CX 2072 at 3). Bain provided contracting strategy advice for ENH's negotiations with health plans, including individualized plans for each health plan. (CX 67 at 32-44).

Response to Finding No. 753:

This proposed finding is misleading. Ogden, who was an operating Vice President at Bain, oversaw the Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital project. Portions of her deposition testimony were admitted into evidence. (RX 2047 at 6 (Ogden, Dep.); RFF ¶ 671). While Bain certainly analyzed Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital's managed care contracts in making its recommendations, it did not create "individualized plans for each health plan" as asserted by Complaint Counsel. (CCFF ¶ 753). Instead, the evidence shows that Bain addressed certain MCOs in detail, such as HMO Illinois and PHCS, but did not provide strategy advice pertaining to every MCO. (CX 67 at 32-44).

754. Bain representatives themselves helped negotiate certain of ENH's managed care contracts in the renegotiations relating to the Highland Park merger. (Neaman, Tr. 1217-18). Bain issued its final report in the merger project on February 1, 2000. (CX 67 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 754:

Respondent has no specific response.

755. **REDACTED** (Chan, Tr. 834, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1868-69).

Response to Finding No. 755:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. As a result of Bain's extensive analysis of Evanston Hospital's and HPH's pre-Merger contracts, Evanston Hospital learned that its contract with United was outdated and under-market and thus pressed for immediate renegotiations with this MCO. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1868-69; CX 75 at 10; RFF ¶ 704, 707). In November 1999, ENH learned that United reimbursed Evanston Hospital 45 to 50% less than it paid HPH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1869; RX 684 at BAIN 43; RFF ¶ 680).

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1870; Neaman, Tr. 1340-41; RX

684 at BAIN 73; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2851-52, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 681, 884, in camera). Evanston Hospital was "beyond surprised" and "shocked" to learn that HPH's rates with United were so much more favorable. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1871; Neaman, Tr. 1342, 1344-45; RFF ¶¶ 682-683).

756. In late 1999, United and ENH reached agreement on the new hospital rates with a contract effective date of January 1, 2000. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1875).

Response to Finding No. 756:

Respondent has no specific response.

757. Representing United at trial in this proceeding was Jillian Foucre, regional vice-president for United for the Central Region. Ms. Foucre served as vice-president of operations from 1999 to 2001 and then as chief operating officer from 2001 to 2004. As chief operating officer, she had responsibility for all components of network management. (Foucre, Tr. 877-80). During her tenure as COO, she oversaw the negotiation of 30 to 35 hospital contracts annually. (Foucre, Tr. 883-84).

Response to Finding No. 757:

This proposed finding is incomplete, incorrect and very misleading. Foucre was not hired by United until March 1999. (Foucre, Tr. 878). In that initial role, she was responsible for claims, customer service, grievance and appeals, provider data management and regulatory

compliance. (Foucre, Tr. 878).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 878; Foucre, Tr. 1118, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr.

1900; RFF ¶ 887, in camera). ;

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1118, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1900; see also RFF ¶ 887, in camera). Moreover, even as COO, Foucre has been personally involved in only four managed care contract negotiations in addition to the ENH renegotiation. (Foucre, Tr. 882-884).

758. In December 1999, PHCS began renegotiations with ENH. (Ballengee, Tr. 173-4; CX 171 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 758:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5070 at 9; RX 718 at 7,

in camera; RFF ¶ 838, in camera). As a result of Bain's contract analysis, Evanston Hospital learned that, like its rates for United and others, HPH received higher reimbursement from PHCS than ENH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1892; RX 684 at BAIN 43; RFF ¶ 685). PHCS paid HPH 30 to 35% more than it paid Evanston Hospital. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1893; RX 684 at BAIN 43; RFF ¶ 685).

759. PHCS's renegotiated contract with ENH went into effect on April 1, 2000. (Ballengee, Tr. 188; CX 5071 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 759:

This proposed finding of fact is incorrect and inconsistent with the record.

(CX 5072 at 1, 5, 15, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 249-50, 258,

269, in camera).

760. Representing PHCS at trial was Jane Ballengee, regional vice-president for PHCS. Ms. Ballengee was the Chicago territory director for PHCS from 1999 to 2004. As territory director, she was responsible for the contractors that handled the PHCS-provider contract negotiations. (Ballengee, Tr. 146). During most of her employment at PHCS, Ms. Ballengee had direct or supervisory responsibility for negotiations with Highland Park and ENH. (Ballengee, Tr. 165).

Response to Finding No. 760:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 256-57, in camera; CX 5068, in camera;

CX 5070). For approximately two years, 1997 to 1999, Ballengee worked in PHCS's national office and did not even have any responsibilities pertaining to Chicago area hospitals.

(Ballengee, Tr. 146-47). Ballengee had never met Hillebrand before the post-Merger negotiations and, even during those discussions, only met face-to-face with him on one occasion. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1893-94; Ballengee, Tr. 210).

761. In December 1999, ENH contacted One Health to request renegotiation of its hospital contract. (Neary, Tr. 595).

Response to Finding No. 761:

Respondent has no specific response.

762. After negotiations failed and after initially accepting ENH's contract termination, One Health accepted a new agreement with an effective date of January 1, 2001. (Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42; Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08, 1898; CX 5067 at 4; CX 266 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 762:

This proposed finding is convoluted and incomplete. ENH informed One Health that it wanted to renegotiate at or about the time of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 796). More than five months later, ENH sent a notice of termination giving the parties another three months to negotiate a new contract. (RFF ¶ 799). One Health, however, decided to allow its contract with ENH to lapse. (Neary, Tr. 611). Even when the contract was no longer in effect, the parties reached an interim arrangement. (RFF ¶ 800). The parties ultimately reached a new agreement effective January 1, 2001. (CX 5067 at 4, in camera).

763. Representing One Health at trial was Kevin Dorsey, former vice president at One Health. Mr. Dorsey was responsible for developing provider networks during his tenure at One Health. (Dorsey, Tr. 1428-30). Mr. Dorsey was involved in the renegotiations rounds between ENH and One Health in 2000 and 2001. (Dorsey, Tr. 1441-43).

Response to Finding No. 763:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Importantly, Dorsey was not involved in pre-Merger negotiations with either HPH or Evanston Hospital. (Dorsey, Tr. 1469-70). Dorsey had no responsibilities in either advertising or sales at One Health. (Dorsey, Tr. 1467-68). Currently, Dorsey works for a hospital that competes with the ENH hospitals in the Chicago area. (Dorsey, Tr. 1432).

764. Also representing One Health at trial was Patrick Neary, former director of network development and provider relations at One Health. (Neary, Tr. 581-83). He was responsible for State of Illinois contract negotiations from 1999 onwards. (Neary, Tr. 582-83).

Response to Finding No. 764:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Like Dorsey, Neary (who reported to Dorsey) was not involved in pre-Merger HPH or Evanston Hospital contracts. (Neary, Tr. 631; Dorsey, Tr. 1469-70). Neary was largely unfamiliar with the market at the time of the

Merger. And he had no responsibilities for contracting in the Chicago area for One Health until October 1999. (Neary, Tr. 582-83). Also like Dorsey, Neary had no responsibilities in either advertising or sales at One Health. (Neary, Tr. 629-30).

765. Aetna's renegotiated contract with ENH became effective June 1, 2000. (CX 5008 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 765:

Respondent has no specific response.

766. Representing Aetna at trial was Robert Mendonsa, general manager at Aetna's Chicago office. He had responsibility for network contracting and provider maintenance from the time he began in the Chicago office in 1997. (Mendonsa, Tr. 475-76).

(Mendonsa, Tr. 521, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 766:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Before May 1997, Mendonsa worked in Aetna's corporate offices hundreds of miles from Chicago, in Connecticut.

(Mendonsa, Tr. 475, 477). {

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 556, in

camera). After 2000, Mendonsa's job responsibilities changed such that he has not been involved in managed care contracting in the Chicago area. (Mendonsa, Tr. 476-77). Mendonsa was responsible for contracting in the Chicago area only for a brief window of time.

767. {
REDACTED
} (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, in camera; CX 124 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 767:

This proposed finding is misleading. ENH did open renegotiations with Unicare on March 24, 2000. (RFF ¶ 862).

Response to Finding No. 769:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1584, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1584, in camera).

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1584, in camera).

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1584, in camera). As a result, Holt-Darcy's speculations as to the demands of customers should be given little or no weight.

- 2. Per Diem Versus Per Case Versus Discount Off Charges
 - a. Definitions

770.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1521, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 524-25, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 228, in camera; Sirabian, Tr. 5740; Chan, Tr. 667).

Response to Finding No. 770:

Respondent has no specific response.

771. For example, in 1999 Aetna reimbursed Evanston Hospital \$1,010 per day for Medical and Surgical services. (CX 5007 at 4).

Response to Finding No. 771:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

REDACTED

(CX 5007 at 1, 4; RFF ¶¶ 744, 754, in camera). Further, the Aetna contract included a stop loss provision. (CX 5007 at 5). Under the stop loss provision, if a patient's bill exceeded \$50,000,

Aetna reimbursed Evanston Hospital at 75% of billed charges for the patient's services. (CX 5007 at 5; RFF ¶ 93).

772.

REDACTED

Ballengee, Tr. 229, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 772:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 96).

773. For example, under the 1998 PHCS contract, the health plan reimbursed Evanston Hospital \$2,652 per case for normal child birth deliveries. (CX 5070 at 30).

Response to Finding No. 773:

This proposed finding is misleading. The PHCS contract with ENH effective February 1, 1998, included an exclusion on the normal delivery case rate of \$2,652. (CX 5070 at 30). As indicated by the asterisk on the contract, there are certain exclusions that would be reimbursed on discount-off-charges for normal deliveries. (CX 5070 at 30-31).

774.

ı

REDACTED

} (Ballengee, Tr. 227, in camera; Chan, Tr. 667).

Response to Finding No. 774:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶¶ 80-85).

775. A chargemaster is a list of 15,000 to 20,000 charges showing a hospital's gross charges for all of its services line-by-line. (Neaman, Tr. 1349; Hillebrand, Tr. 1710; Chan, Tr. 674; D. Jones, Tr. 4143).

Response to Finding No. 775:

This proposed finding is incomplete, incorrect and misleading. Not all hospitals have a chargemaster of 15,000 to 20,000 charges. (RFF ¶ 925). A hospital such as ENH that provides the most complex services would have 15,000 or more line items, whereas a community hospital would have fewer charges. (Porn, Tr. 5647; RFF ¶ 925). A chargemaster is a "fluid document"

that changes monthly as a result of changes instituted by Medicare. (RFF ¶ 927). As Hillebrand explained in the cited testimony, a single line item on the chargemaster, such as "Drugs," could have thousands of variable prices for that single line item. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1710). A chargemaster includes all of the services offered by a hospital, including both inpatient and outpatient care. (Porn, Tr. 5646). Finally, the citation to "D. Jones, Tr. 4143" should read "H. Jones, Tr. 4142-43" as it is taken from the testimony of Harry Jones. (H. Jones, Tr. 4143).

776.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1711; Ballengee, Tr. 227, in camera;

Chan, Tr. 667).

Response to Finding No. 776:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 80).

777.

REDACTED

} (CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 777:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

REDACTED

REDACTED

} (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1600, in camera; RFF ¶ 87).

b. Pressure from Health Plans Generally Resulted in Fixed Rate Contracts in the Late 1990s in the Chicago Area

778.

REDACTED

(Sirabian,

Tr. 5739, 5704; Chan, Tr. 671; Chan Tr. 795-96, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 778:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record. While there was a shift towards per diem and case rates as a reimbursement methodology during the 1990s for inpatient services, Complaint Counsel's attempt to attribute it to "pricing pressure" is unfounded. (RFF ¶ 83).

REDACTED

(Sirabian, Tr. 5704, 5739; Chan, Tr. 671; Chan Tr. 795-96, *in camera*). Additionally, since neither of the witnesses were qualified as expert witnesses, neither has the necessary foundation to testify with respect to global trends in managed care contracting. Chan was employed by HPH for sixteen years and ENH for eight months after the Merger. (Chan, Tr. 650-51, 652-53). Similarly, Sirabian only worked at Evanston Hospital. (Sirabian, Tr. 5691-92). As a result, the witnesses are only competent to testify with respect to those experiences.

Across the country, MCOs had, and continue to have, discount-off-charges arrangements for inpatient services. (RFF ¶ 82, 84). Second, trial witnesses from Great West, Aetna and Unicare agreed that discount-off-charges have become increasingly popular since the late 1990s. (RFF ¶ 83, 86). Third, the primary payment methodology for outpatient services is the discount-off-charges method. (RFF ¶ 91). Simply because some MCOs asked for per diem or per case rates and hospitals mutually agreed to such an arrangement does not imply that "pricing pressure" was the proximate cause of the shift.

REDACTED

(RX 1393 at ENHL BW

3680, in camera).

779.

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1521-22, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 779:

This proposed finding is not supported by reliable evidence.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1521-22, in camera).

780. According to Ms. Schelling who worked for the Northwestern Healthcare Network from 1991 to 1997, the existing contracts for that period between hospitals and payers were predominantly per diem contracts. (CX 6307 at 13-14 (Schelling, Dep.)).

Response to Finding No. 780:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply \P 778). Discount-off-charges is the standard reimbursement method for outpatient services. (RFF \P 91).

REDACTED

'RFF ¶ 82, 84, in

camera). Moreover, discount-off-charges contracts for inpatient services have become increasingly popular since the late 1990s. (RFF ¶¶ 83, 86).

c. Pre-Merger, Health Plans Successfully Pressured Evanston and Highland Park Hospital for Various Fixed Rate Contracts

781.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 782-83, 823-24, in

camera; CX 1095).

Response to Finding No. 781:

This proposed finding is false, not supported by the record and misleading. There is no evidence that "pressure" from MCOs alone caused MCOs and hospitals to agree to fixed-rate reimbursement. (RFF-Reply ¶ 778).

(RX 1393 at ENHL BW 3680, in camera).

782.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785, 787, in camera; CX 1095 at 6).

Response to Finding No. 782:

This proposed finding is irrelevant, misquoted and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 85, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF 84).

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 787, in camera (emphasis added); RFF ¶ 86 (adding that since

2000, as a general matter, Chicago area hospitals have negotiated even more aggressively for discounts off charges for inpatient services)).

783.

REDACTED

(Chan,

Tr. 673; Chan, Tr. 787, in camera; CX 1095 at 6).

Response to Finding No. 783:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply $\P\P$ 781-782).

784. Health plan pressure to renegotiate contracts to per diem arrangements did not diminish as time passed. (CX 439 at 8). In a June 1998 report for the Board's finance committee, Ms. Chan repeated the exact same message regarding "continued pressure from payors." (CX 439 at 8; CX 1095 at 6).

Response to Finding No. 784:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 781-783). Complaint Counsel relies on a cut-and-pasted annual report that has almost entirely identical text as the previous year. (Compare CX 439 at 8 with CX 1095 at 6). Instead of representing a continued analysis, the repetition demonstrates that the documents are an unreliable pro forma recitation of platitudes. 785.

(Chan, Tr. 794. in amera: CX 439 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 785:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. In making her report on managed care contracts, Chan did write that the underlying assumption was that there would be no increase in average per diems and discounts would increase a mere .6%. (CX 439 at 8). This estimated change (.6%) is immaterial.

786.

1

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 794, in camera; CX 439 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 786:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF-Reply ¶ 785).

787. Prior to the merger, Evanston also "stayed within the standards that were being followed" in the industry as pricing for health plans evolved into per diem and per case pricing. (Sirabian, Tr. 5725).

Response to Finding No. 787:

Respondent has no specific response.

788.

Tr. 786, in camera; CX 5091 at 1, Neary, Tr. 775, in camera; CX 5059 at 17; CX 5065 at 17; Ballengee, Tr. 253-54, in camera; CX 5068 at 27, in camera; CX 5070 at 28).

Response to Finding No. 788:

This proposed finding is misleading. The proposed finding ignores that discount-off-charges pricing was, and still is, the standard methodology for reimbursement for outpatient services. (RFF \P 91).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 85, in camera).

(Neary, Tr. 775, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785-86, 853, in camera; CX 5068 at 27, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 786, in camera).

789. { REDACTED

camera).

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1526, in camera; Noether, Tr. 6090, in

Response to Finding No. 789:

This proposed finding is misleading, incomplete and not supported by the cited evidence. As noted above, discount-off-charges is, and always has been, the standard reimbursement for outpatient services. (RFF ¶ 91; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 778, 780, 788).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 86;

Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1573, *in camera*; Ballengee, Tr. 270-71, *in camera*; Mendonsa, Tr. 526-27, 558-59, *in camera*). The citation to Dr. Noether's testimony does not relate to, nor support, the proposed finding. (Noether, Tr. 6090, *in camera*).

d. Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Fixed Rates Are Predictable

790.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 523-25, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 234-35, 255, in camera. See RX 1414 at PHCS 000102, RX 1615 at 4 (In its annual reports, PHCS tells its customers that "Fixed costs, such as per diem and per case, are the most advantageous because they allow customers to predict claims costs.")).

Response to Finding No. 790:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1573, *in camera*; Ballengee, Tr. 270-71, *in camera*; Mendonsa, Tr. 526-27, 558-59, *in camera*). For outpatient services, discount-off-charges are standard. (RFF ¶ 91). Moreover, MCOs can, and do, negotiate terms into contracts that provide stability under a discount-off-charges reimbursement methodology. (RFF ¶¶ 87-89). The very next sentence of the duplicate PHCS 2003 annual reports cited by Complaint Counsel states that Providers...often request straight discounts or discount off billed charges." (RX 1414 at PHCS 102; RX 1615 at 4).

In sum, PHCS and other MCOs confirmed both at trial and in their documents that requesting, or even securing, discount-off-charges for inpatient services is simply not indicia of anticompetitive effects.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1571, in camera).

791. Per diem arrangements protect health plans from unexpected increases in the hospital's chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5669-70). Generally, an increase to chargemaster prices will only impact a health care provider's contracts containing a discount-off-charges provision. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 791:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited testimony and misleading. By its very nature, per diem arrangements do not reflect changes in a hospital's chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5669-70). The cited testimony does not support the argument that per diems "protect health plans." (Porn, Tr. 5669-70). In fact, most per diem arrangements include stop loss provisions that revert to discount-off-charges above a certain level. (RFF ¶ 93-95). Moreover, discount-off-charges contracts sometimes have escalator clauses or similar provisions that would minimize the impact of adjustments to a chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5670-71; RFF ¶ 87-90).

792. **REDACTED**(Ballengee, Tr. 234-35, 255, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 524-25; in camera).

Response to Finding No. 792:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, *in camera*). Since outpatient services are always reimbursed on a discount-off-charges arrangement, MCOs have experience in budgeting and setting premiums under such methodology. (RFF ¶ 91).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 524, 527-28, in

camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 488-89).

Response to Finding No. 793:

This proposed finding is misleading and is based on unreliable hearsay. Mendonsa never worked for an employer and, therefore, lacks adequate foundation to testify about what employer groups purported "want[.]" Such testimony, therefore, should be given no weight.

794. For health plans such as Aetna, the ability to accurately predict expenses is "extremely important" because "about 65-70 percent of the business renews in January," which locks in a health plan's revenue stream "for a whole year." (Mendonsa, Tr. 482-83).

Response to Finding No. 794:

Respondent has no specific response except to note that this proposed finding should be limited to Aetna because Mendonsa did not purport to testify on behalf of any other MCO.

795. Once a health plan's revenue stream from contract renewals in January is "locked in," that health plan "really can't . . . go back [to employer groups] in the middle of the year and say, oops, we need more premium." (Mendonsa, Tr. 482-83).

Response to Finding No. 795:

Respondent has no specific response except to note that this proposed finding should be limited to Aetna because Mendonsa did not purport to testify on behalf of any other MCO.

796. In fact, in its 2001 and 2004 SEC statements to the public, Aetna marketed itself as a health plan that "typically enters into contracts that provide for all-inclusive per diem and per case rates." (RX 1047 at 9; RX 1650 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 796:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. The very next sentence of the exhibits reads: "The Company has some hospital contracts that pay a percentage of billed charges." (RX 1047 at 9; RX 1650 at 9). Since Aetna has been able to grow its net income seven-fold from 2000 until 2003, it is clear that having such contracts has not affected its bottom line. (RFF ¶ 123; Mendonsa, Tr. 483).

797. During Evanston contract negotiations pre-merger, Evanston knew that health plans requested per diem and per case rates so that they could fix their costs and price their products accordingly for the coming year. (Sirabian, Tr. 5740).

Response to Finding No. 797:

This proposed finding is misleading. Just as some health plans requested per diem or per case rate structures, some hospitals requested discount-off-charges because that reimbursement methodology offers less risk to the hospital. (Chan, Tr. 673). From the hospitals' perspectives, discount-off-charges contracts also are easier to administer. (RFF ¶ 81).

e. Health Plans Lose Predictability Under a Discount off Charges Arrangement

798.

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 525-27, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 798:

This proposed finding is incorrect, irrelevant and misleading.

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF \P 751, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

526-27, 558, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 558, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 86; Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1573, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 270-71, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 526-27, 558-59, in camera).

799.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 524-28, in camera. See Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1522 (

REDACTED

), in camera. See also Sirabian, Tr. 5740-41 (It is "hard for [health plans] to forecast their own costs" under a discount off charges arrangement.); Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2647-48, in camera; RX 1414 at PHCS 000102; RX 1615 at 4).

Response to Finding No. 799:

The proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. Since discount-off-charges are the standard reimbursement methodology for outpatient services, this proposed finding's implication that discount-off-charges contracts, by their very nature, are unmanageable is facially misplaced. (RFF ¶ 91). In fact, every single one of the cited MCOs had discount-off-charges arrangements with Evanston Hospital for outpatient services before the Merger. (CX 216 at 15, *in camera* (Unicare); CX 5070 at 36-37 (PHCS); CX 5007 at 4, 7, 10 (Aetna)). And outpatient services account for an increasing proportion of the care delivered by hospitals. (RFF ¶ 73-74).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera). On the other hand, when per diem or case rates are negotiated, hospitals assume the risk of treating MCOs' members. (RFF ¶ 81). Even PHCS's annual reports, cited by Complaint Counsel, recognize that "Providers...often request straight discounts or discount off billed charges." (RX 1414 at PHCS 102; RX 1615 at 4).

(Mendonsa, Tr. 558-59, in camera). Finally, MCOs can, and do, use escalator clauses to protect themselves against increasing hospital chargemasters. (RFF-Reply ¶ 800). 800. REDACTED Neary, Tr. 609; Newton, Tr. 366; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1522, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 889. See Mendonsa, Tr. 524-28 (REDACTED __), in camera). Response to Finding No. 800: This proposed finding is false, incomplete, not supported by the record and misleading. (RFF ¶ 87-90, in camera). For example, in some negotiations, MCOs negotiate escalator clauses. (RFF ¶ 88). . (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1526, in camera). (RFF ¶ 89). (RFF ¶ 90; Hillebrand, Tr. 1938-39, in camera). REDACTED (Mendonsa, Tr. 566-67, in camera). REDACTED (Mendonsa, Tr. 558-59, in camera; RFF

¶¶ 750-751).

To the extent this proposed finding relies upon Newton, it should be accorded no weight. Newton was never primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2284).

Newton was involved in some HPH managed care activities, specifically with HPH's medical service organization and the IPA, but was not involved with the contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2285).

801. Under a discount off charges contract, the higher the chargemaster list price, the more health plans have to pay to the hospital. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 801:

This proposed finding is very misleading. Porn immediately clarified that discount-off-charges contracts often have "ceilings," such that increases in chargemasters beyond the ceiling have no impact. (Porn, Tr. 5670). The referenced testimony explicitly discusses the types of protections MCOs are familiar with and use to control the impact of the discount-off-charges contracts they sign. (RFF ¶ 87-89; RFF-Reply ¶ 800).

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 802:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent that it ignores that outpatient services are almost always discount-off-charges reimbursement, so the "build[ing] in assumptions for increased costs" is a common and typical endeavor of a MCO. (RFF ¶ 91; RFF-Reply ¶ 799). 803.

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1522, in camera; Neary, Tr. 609. See RX 1414 at PHCS 000102 (Under a discount off charges arrangement, health plan customers become "susceptible to unpredictable increases in costs."); RX 1615 at 4).

Response to Finding No. 803:

This proposed finding is vague, confusing and not supported by the record. First, Complaint Counsel did not call a single employer or customer to testify in this case. Second, discount-off-charges contracts place the risk with the MCO – in many cases, the *insurer* – as opposed to the hospital charged with providing care to every patient who walks through the door. (Chan, Tr. 673; Hillebrand, Tr. 1866-67 (explaining how fixed rates expose hospitals to the risk for treating the sickest patients)). Third, MCOs have always engaged in the practice of estimating the costs associated with discount-off-charges for outpatient services. (RFF ¶ 91; RFF-Reply ¶ 799). Fourth, the most common payment methodology for both inpatient and outpatient services used to be discount-off-charges in the Chicago area. (RFF ¶ 83). Fifth, MCOs, including PHCS, can and do negotiate provisions that provide protection to any charge increases, such as escalator clauses. (RFF ¶ 87-90; RFF-Reply ¶ 800-801).

- f. Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Health Plans Achieve Lower Rates Through Such Arrangements
- 804. Per diem rates are beneficial to health plans in part because they result in greater discounts "up to 50%" for services than do discount off charges arrangements. (Chan, Tr. 675-76).

Response to Finding No. 804:

This proposed finding is incorrect, not supported by the record and misleading. Chan did not testify as indicated in this proposed finding. (Chan, Tr. 675-76). Chan stated only that, as a general matter, some per diem contracts resulted in greater discounts than discount-off-charges arrangements. (Chan, Tr. 675). Chan further testified that if a per diem contract were only generating a 20% effective discount, HPH would initiate renegotiations to try to "reduce the loss to the hospital." (Chan, Tr. 676).

camera).

805. Pre-merger, Evanston and Highland Park's fixed rate contracts gave health plans "much higher" discounts than the contracts that were structured in a discount off charges arrangement. (Chan, Tr. 675-76).

Response to Finding No. 805:

Respondent has no specific response.

- g. Health Care Providers Prefer Discount off Charges
 Arrangements Because Such Arrangements Mean Less Risk
 and More Profit for the Providers
- 806. Discount off charges arrangements represent "less risk" for a provider and are therefore preferable for the provider over per diem and per case arrangements. (Chan, Tr. 673).

Response to Finding No. 806:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF \P 81).

807. Fixed rate contracts with per diem or per case rates limit the amount that the hospital can be reimbursed when a patient is "very sick and incur[s] a lot more charges." (Chan, Tr. 673).

Response to Finding No. 807:

This proposed finding is incomplete. Fixed rate agreements (without a stop loss) throw all of the risk of a sick patient needing health care on the hospital. (Chan, Tr. 673; Hillebrand, Tr. 1866-67 (explaining how fixed rates expose hospitals to the risk for treating the sickest patients)).

808. A discount off charges contract is also beneficial to a hospital because it reduces the overall discount that a provider gives health plans and represents an opportunity to increase net revenue. (Chan, Tr. 675-76; Newton, Tr. 366).

Response to Finding No. 808:

This finding is based on untrue assumptions and misleading. As Chan explained in the referenced testimony, if a contract's effective discount were greater than approximately 20%, she

would initiate contract renegotiations on behalf of HPH with the MCO to increase rates. (Chan, Tr. 675-76). There is no support for the proposition that, as a general matter, discount-off-charges agreements universally offer lower discounts than per diem arrangements. To the extent that this proposed finding relies to any extent upon the testimony of Newton, it should be disregarded entirely. Newton was never primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2284). Newton was involved in some HPH managed care activities, specifically with HPH's medical service organization and the IPA, but was not involved with the contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2285).

809. Once a contract's reimbursement rate is negotiated as a certain percent discount off charges, a hospital can simply "raise [its] gross charges," to increase its net revenue. (Newton, Tr. 366). "There's no limit" on a hospital's ability to "raise gross prices" under a discount-from-charges arrangement. (Newton, Tr. 366).

Response to Finding No. 809:

The proposed finding is incorrect.

REDACTED

REDACTED

 \mathbb{R} (RFF ¶ 88, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 89, in camera).

(Ballengee, Tr. 260-61, in camera).

REDACTED

(Porn, Tr. 5670; Mendonsa, Tr. 558, 566-67, in

camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1938-39; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1523, 1525-26, in camera (

REDACTED

This proposed finding also is not supported by reliable evidence. Newton has never been employed by a managed care company. (Newton, Tr. 452-53). In his early years at HPH,

Newton was aware of, but not directly involved with negotiations with managed care companies. (Newton, Tr. 453-54). Newton was never primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (RFF-Reply ¶ 800).

810. The rates that health plans pay through a discount off charges arrangement are linked to the hospital's chargemaster list pricing. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 810:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 80). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent that it ignores the fact that rates in a discount off charges arrangement may not be linked to the chargemaster list price under some circumstances such as the presence of an escalator clause. (RFF-Reply ¶ 896).

811. There is "no restraint on a hospital's ability to raise its list pricing." (Newton, Tr. 366).

Response to Finding No. 811:

This proposed finding is repetitive, incorrect and not supported by reliable evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶ 809).

812. The more discount-off-charges contracts a provider has, the more impact a chargemaster increase will have. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 812:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Many discount-off-charges contracts include provisions that limit the effect of changes to a chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5670; RFF ¶¶ 87-89; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 800, 809).

h. With Regard to the Merger, ENH Strategized to Move All Health Plan Contracts to a Discount off Charges Arrangement

813.

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 14, in camera; RX 2047 at 204-05 (Ogden, Dep.), in

camera. See also CX 67 at 49; (Bain advised ENH to "Lead with Percent of Charges"); CX 75 at 16).

Response to Finding No. 813:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence. (RFF ¶ 666).

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 14, in camera; CX 67 at 49; CX 75 at 16).

REDACTED

(RX 2047, in camera).

814.

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 14, in camera;

Chan, Tr. 673-74, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 814:

This proposed finding is misleading. Chan admitted that she expected Evanston Hospital's chargemaster to be higher than HPH's chargemaster because Evanston Hospital was a tertiary care center. But she had no "experience really reviewing those charges." (Chan, Tr. 674). She also never did any work on ENH's chargemaster. (Chan, Tr. 744). The reliable evidence at trial was that ENH's chargemaster was "well below the marketplace." (RFF ¶¶ 932-964).

815. In order to "better the terms" of health plan contracts during the post-merger renegotiations, ENH representatives strategized to "shif[t], whenever possible, to a discount from charges from a per diem." (Newton, Tr. 366; Hillebrand, Tr. 1855. See Hillebrand, Tr. 1705-06 (Mr. Hillebrand's "first negotiating step" with health plans in 2000 was to "move to discount off charges.")).

Response to Finding No. 815:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable evidence. Newton was never primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (RFF-Reply ¶ 800). On the advice of Bain, Hillebrand testified that Evanston Hospital sought to propose discount-off-charges rates in

opening offers with the hope that such initial offers would result in agreements on those terms or "having better case rates, per diems, and/or other methodology as [ENH and the MCO] finalized negotiation." (Hillebrand, 1855; RFF ¶ 713). "Some health plans agreed to [move to discount-off-charges]; others did not." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706; RFF ¶ 713).

816. By switching from a per diem arrangement to a discount off charges arrangement, ENH ensured that it would be reimbursed based upon its chargemaster list prices. (Porn, Tr. 5670; Chan, Tr. 743-44. See CCFF 791).

Response to Finding No. 816:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 791). Some MCOs negotiated with ENH for per diems and case rates for inpatient services in 2000. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706). Moreover, many discount-off-charges contracts include provisions such as escalator clauses. (Porn, Tr. 5670; RFF ¶¶ 87-89). And again, discount-off-charges arrangements are universally accepted for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799; RFF ¶ 91).

- i. ENH Achieved Discount off Charges Arrangements with Various Health Plans Through the Merger
- 817. ENH successfully moved a number of health plans to discount off charges arrangements after the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706).

Response to Finding No. 817:

This proposed finding is misleading. As Hillebrand testified, "[s]ome health plans agreed to [discount-off-charges]; others did not." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706).

818. **REDACTED**(Ballengee, Tr. 252, 255, in camera;
Hillebrand, Tr. 1893; compare CX 116 at 2, in camera, CX 117 at 1, in camera, and CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 818:

This proposed finding is and misleading. {

REDACTED

(CX 117 at 1, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

Ballengee, Tr. 258-61, in

camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258-59, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

(Ballengee, Tr. 258, in camera;

CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 259-60, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 117 at 1, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 258-61, in camera; CX 5072 at

23, in camera).

819.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr.

1947, in camera; compare CX 5067 at 15, in camera, CX 5059 at 17, and CX 5065 at 17).

Response to Finding No. 819:

This proposed finding is incorrect, incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5059 at 18; CX 5065 at 19).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 73-74).

820.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536,

1539, 1563, in camera; CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 820:

This proposed finding is incomplete, and misleading.

(CX

REDACTED

216 at 15, in camera).

(RFF ¶¶ 73-74)

REDACTED

(CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541-42, in camera; (testifying

); RFF ¶¶ 870-871, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 871, in camera).

821.

REDACTED

Y.} (CX 1373 at 14,

in camera. See CCFF 898, 901, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 821:

This proposed finding is misleading and incomplete. Discount-off-charges arrangements tend to be "more favorable" to and preferred by hospitals, as a general matter, because they shift the risk of health care services to the health insurer. (RFF ¶ 81; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 797, 803, 806-807).

- B. With the Merger, ENH Demanded One Price for All Three Hospitals
 - 1. ENH Wanted All Three Hospitals to Be Put on Whichever Pre-Merger Contract for the Particular Health Plan Had Higher Rates, Evanston's or Highland Park's
 - a. ENH Moved All Three Hospitals to the Same Health Plan Contract
- 822. During the winter of 1999, ENH senior management met to discuss strategies for integrating the health plan contracts of the merging parties. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703; Newton, Tr. 363-65).

Response to Finding No. 822:

Respondent has no specific response.

823. Senior management decided that the merged entity would put the three ENH facilities on the same contract and charge the same rate for all three facilities. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703; Newton, Tr. 365. See CX 75 at 12 (Bain advised ENH to "[s]et high targets and preferred structure" for health plan contracts.)).

Response to Finding No. 823:

This proposed finding is misleading. Since one of the principles of the Merger was to create an integrated health care delivery system, ENH decided to cover all three hospitals on the same contract for each MCO at the same prices. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703; RFF ¶¶ 1, 7, 289, 296, 761, 840).

The testimony of Newton cited by Complaint Counsel does not relate to or support the proposed finding. (Newton, Tr. 365). Further, the quotation from CX 75 does not support or

relate to the text of the proposed finding and, as a result, is confusing and misleading. (CX 75 at 12).

824.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1561, in camera;

Foucre, Tr. 890; Ballengee, Tr. 176; Neary, Tr. 602; Neary, Tr. 756, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1447; CX 262 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 824:

This proposed finding is misleading. Beginning in the 1970s, Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals were the first "multi-campus healthcare system" in the United States to have one Medicare identification number. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1840-41). Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals were also unique because the two hospitals shared a single medical staff. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1840-41). After the Merger, ENH brought to bear these same principles and established a single "medical staff with privileges at all three hospital campuses." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1840). Since the hospitals were all one system and had the same medical staff, it did not make any sense for the rates to be any different across the three campuses. (RFF ¶ 11). Indeed, over time, as ENH was able to bring the higher quality of care and expanded services to HPH, such an approach made even less sense. The unified pricing structure represents one of the cost-saving efficiencies of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 2539-2541 (noting that the unified pricing structure and single Medicare provider number accounts for at least \$5.2 million in annual cost savings)).

Finally, one citation to Holt-Darcy's testimony does not support nor relate to the proposed finding. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1561, *in camera*).

REDACTED

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1118, in camera).

825. Under ENH's proposed billing system, health plans "can't distinguish between services at the three hospitals" to determine which services were rendered at a particular hospital in the system. (Foucre, Tr. 890-92).

Response to Finding No. 825:

This proposed finding is misleading. The Health Care Financing Administration has granted the integrated ENH system a single Medicare identification number. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1840-41). Since April 3, 1977, when this system was established, MCOs have *never* complained about the single Medicare number. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1843). The only evidence offered by Complaint Counsel on this issue is Fourier's summary testimony that this situation was "challenging" – testimony without any further explanation. (Fourier, Tr. 891).

826. United found ENH's insistence on one tax identification number and identical rates for all three hospitals to be "challenging" under the 2000 renegotiated contract. (Foucre, Tr. 890-92).

Response to Finding No. 826:

This proposed finding is misleading and should be afforded no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 825).

827. Evanston Hospital, Glenbrook Hospital, and Highland Park hospital did not merit equal reimbursement rates. (Dorsey, Tr. 1446-47).

Response to Finding No. 827:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record and misleading. Since 1977, Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals have had a single Medicare identification number. (RFF-Reply ¶ 825). Not a single MCO has ever complained, either before or after the Merger, about paying Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals a single rate because of the unified Medicare identification. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 825, 828; RFF ¶ 11).

828. Glenbrook Hospital did not have "the same level of service or the same requirement of service . . . as other hospitals within the ENH network." (Dorsey, Tr. 1447).

Reponses to Finding No. 828:

This proposed finding is unsupported by the record. Before the Merger, every MCO reimbursed Glenbrook Hospital at the same rates as Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 11; CX 5065 at 17-20 (proving Great West reimburses Glenbrook at same rates); CX 5007 at 4-12 (same for Aetna); CX 5070 at 10 (same for PHCS)).

829. Evanston Hospital did not "warran[t] the same reimbursement structure as [the health plan was] giving to Highland Park prior to the merger." (Dorsey, Tr. 1447).

Response to Finding No. 829:

Respondent agrees that Evanston Hospital did not warrant the same reimbursement structure as MCOs gave to HPH before the Merger. Nevertheless, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that HPH warranted higher rates than Evanston Hospital before the Merger. It was established at trial that Evanston Hospital was (and still is) one of the top academic tertiary hospitals in the country. (RFF ¶¶ 3, 8, 30-32).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa,

Tr. 565, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 102-103, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 565-66, in camera).

830. None of the disagreements that health plans had with ENH's proposed contract structure stopped the merged entity from successfully moving all three facilities to the same health plan contract and equalizing the charges for all three sites post-merger. (See, e.g., CX 5174 at 11 (in camera; CX 5064 at 15, 17 (in camera; CX 5067 at 15 (REDACTED), in camera. See Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08, 1875 (Except for losing One Health for a short period of time, ENH lost no health plan customers over the course of the 2000 renegotiations.); Noether, Tr. 6192-93; CX 5008 at 5 (in camera; CX 5075 at 17 (in camera; CX 5046 () REDACTED

Response to Finding No. 830:

This proposed finding is misleading. As noted earlier, since 1977, no MCO ever complained about contracting and administering claims to the ENH campuses under the same rates and Medicare identification number. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 823-825, 827-829). The cited evidence shows only that ENH and its MCO customers were able to agree to terms and execute mutually beneficial contracts at or around the time of the Merger. Citations to the executed contracts do not support the proposed finding that MCOs had any disagreements whatsoever that were not mutually resolved through the negotiation process.

831. In December 1999, Evanston's rates were assigned to all three facilities for Aetna, Blue Cross PPO, and CCN health plans. (CX 5940 at 15-16).

Response to Finding No. 831:

Respondent has no specific response except to note that Evanston Hospital requested to assign HPH's rates to Aetna and CCN, but after those MCOs refused, Evanston Hospital's rates were adopted. (RFF ¶ 747, 787; RX 779 at ENH JL 2817).

Further, Complaint Counsel relies only on Respondent's interrogatory answers in this proposed finding. However, Respondent's answer to the interrogatory contains several fundamental objections to the interrogatory question and only identifies documents from which the answer may be "derived or ascertained." (CX 5940 at 15).

832. In December 1999, Highland Park's rates were assigned to all three facilties for Preferred Plan, Multiplan PPO, Formost, Admar, Health Marketing, and Beech Street/CAPP Care health plans. (CX 5900 at 1-7; CX 5901 at 1-2; CX 5940 at 15).

Response to Finding No. 832:

The proposed finding is irrelevant and incomplete. Complaint Counsel's case did not focus on these MCOs. Moreover, soon after Preferred Plan's HPH rates were assigned to Evanston Hospital, Preferred Plan renegotiated larger discounts in its favor. (RFF ¶ 849-852).

Complaint Counsel relies on Respondent's interrogatory answers in this proposed finding. However, Respondent's answer to the interrogatory contains several fundamental objections to the interrogatory question and only identifies documents from which the answer may be "derived or ascertained." (CX 5940 at 15).

- b. ENH Moved Health Plans to Whichever Contract Had Higher Rates, the Evanston Contract or the Highland Park Contract
- 833. In addition to placing all three facilities on the same contract with the same rate structure, ENH senior management also planned to "use the better of the two [hospital] contracts" for health plans post-merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1856, 1705; Neaman, Tr. 1031, 1346-47).

Response to Finding No. 833:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF ¶ 715). Moreover, this proposed finding ignores that MCOs used the very same practice after their mergers.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1547-48, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1548, in camera).

834. ENH decided to take whichever was the higher of the two hospital contracts and apply those rates across the board for the post-merger entity. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705. See CX 75 at 8 (Bain advised ENH to "Identify Superior Contracts" between the two hospital contracts and "notify [health plans] that HP is now assigned to ENH" for those contracts in which "HP [rate] is superior.")).

Response to Finding No. 834:

This proposed finding is misleading. ENH used the higher of the two hospital contracts as the starting point in its negotiations. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1856). However, MCOs negotiated different terms and modified rates from ENH's initial proposals, such as escalator clauses, per diem or per case rates and stop loss terms. (RFF ¶ 750-752, 783, 788-789, 841, 846-847, 851-852, 871-872, 889-892).

REDACTED

· (RFF ¶¶

846-847). Moreover, MCOs like United indicated that it was their preference to use the better of the two contracts as a benchmark in negotiations. (CX 111 at 1). Similarly, after Unicare acquired Rush Prudential, it sought to use the better of its two contracts with hospitals. (RFF-Reply ¶ 833).

835.

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 15, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 835:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 15, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1705).

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 15, in camera). It was this realization in the pre-Merger due diligence that has become known as "learning about demand" in this litigation. (RFF \P 656-669).

836.

REDACTED

(CX

5900 at 2-7; CX 5901; CX 5902, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1705).

Response to Finding No. 836:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. During the negotiations, United even suggested that the parties "utilize the better of [the] existing contracts." (CX 111 at 1). 837.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5900 at 1

REDACTED

and CX 1373 at 14, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 837:

This proposed finding is vague, confusing, immaterial and misleading.

REDACTED

, (RFF ¶¶

831-832, 834, 836, in camera).

838. "Conver[ting] all payer contracts to the most favorable rates" was an "Opportunity Ite[m]" for the merged entity that Ernst and Young projected could provide anywhere from \$500,000 to \$1,000,000 in possible revenue enhancements. (CX 2386 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 838:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. During the due diligence, Ernst & Young recognized dozens of "Opportunity Items" and "Expense Reductions." (CX 2386 at 2). For instance, by dissolving Consolidated Medical Laboratories ("CML") and using ENH's laboratories, the merged entity anticipated saving up to \$1.2 million in annual savings (not to mention the value of the quality improvements in laboratory functions). (CX 2386 at 4; RFF ¶¶ 1791, 1793-1865). Several Merger efficiencies would lead to annual savings and revenue enhancements. (RFF ¶¶ 2539-2541).

839. In fact, as of March 2000, converting the payer contracts to the more favorable rates had exceeded ENH's opportunity targets seven-fold. (CX 2386 at 2). Ernst & Young's March 2000 update showed that ENH had enhanced its revenue by \$7 million dollars, a figure that was "ongoing." (CX 2386 at 2. See CX 2234 at 2 (An April 2000 Ernst & Young update also showed revenue enhancement achievements from converting the payer contracts to the most favorable rates to be \$6 million more than the \$1 million target figure.)).

Response to Finding No. 839:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. The fact that by simply moving contracts to the more favorable contract resulted in \$7 million in additional revenue highlights how far below market Evanston Hospital's prices were before the Merger. (CX 2386 at 2). As was proven at trial, HPH had more favorable rates and terms than Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶¶ 677-693, 701-703, 734).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 681, in

camera). The evidence at trial convincingly showed that post-Merger revenue increases were attributable to ENH's learning about the demand for its services and, as a result, pricing accordingly at competitive rates. (RFF ¶ 656-893, 1110-1064).

One month later, in May 2000, Ernst and Young reported that converting the payer contracts to the more favorable of the Highland Park or Evanston contract had increased ENH's revenue *another* \$3 million dollars, for a total of \$10 million in revenue enhancements. (CX 23 at 2 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 840:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 839).

841. The \$10 million revenue enhancement that ENH gained by converting all payer contracts to the most favorable rates was "ongoing" as of May, 2000. (CX 23 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 841:

Respondent has no specific response.

842. The question of whether Highland Park should be put on the Evanston pre-merger contract for a particular health plan or whether Evanston should be put on the Highland Park pre-merger contract for that health plan arose because of the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703-05; CX 30 at 1, 3; Neaman, Tr. 1031). In short, the shift of all three hospitals to one of the two pre-merger contracts for each health plan and the price increases resulting from the shift to the more favorable contract were both due to the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703-05; CX 30 at 3; Neaman, Tr. 1031).

Response to Finding No. 842:

This proposed finding is vague and confusing. If there were no Merger, there would be no choice as to which contracts to assign to the merged entity. However, as was shown at trial, renegotiation of the rates with MCOs would have occurred even in the absence of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 724, 733). The Merger served as a catalyst for ENH to renegotiate its outdated and under-market contracts. (RFF ¶ 728).

c. Some Health Plans Disagreed with the Automatic Assignment of the Higher-Rate Contract to Cover All Three ENH Hospitals

843.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 603, 606; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1560-61, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 843:

This proposed finding is incorrect, not supported by reliable evidence and misleading. The cited testimony of Neary omits the fact that One Health had always paid a single rate for Glenbrook and Evanston Hospitals. (CX 5065 at 17-20).

DEDACTED

(CX 5085 at 1-3; CX 5091 at 1-3; CX 216 at 14-16, in camera).

844.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 603, 644; Neary, Tr. 761, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 844:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence and is based wholly on unreliable lay opinion – especially to the extent it asserts that Evanston Hospital's rates were not below

market before the Merger.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 603, 644; Neary, Tr.

761, in camera). This admission is consistent with the learning about demand theory.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 101, in camera; Neary, Tr. 622).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 30-33, 41-42, 103, in camera). \P

REDACTED

(RFF \P 103, in camera).

The fact that the negotiated rates charged by Evanston Hospital (an academic hospital) were below those charged by pre-Merger HPH (a community hospital) shows that Evanston Hospital's rates were, in fact, below market. (RFF ¶¶ 796-97). As Neary admitted, ENH emphasized in the One Health negotiations during 2000 that ENH needed a corrective increase to catch-up with its competitors. (Neary, Tr. 634). Neary further conceded that "it had been several years since the contracts had been renegotiated and that it was appropriate to – to increase some of the rates." (Neary, Tr. 608 (emphasis added)).

One Health also deemed it inappropriate to increase One Health's rates at Evanston to the level of Highland Park's rates because "the other hospitals that were in Evanston's community were not at that same level [of contract rates] as Highland Park." (Neary, Tr. 606).

Response to Finding No. 845:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 844).

846.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1560, in camera. See Holt-Darcy,

Tr. 1536, 1560-61, (

REDACTED

;), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 846:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. Before the Merger, Unicare did not have a contract with HPH. (CX 114 at 1; RFF 861). Therefore, this proposed finding is factually inaccurate.

Assuming that Complaint Counsel intended to refer to Rush Prudential's pre-Merger contracts with HPH, the proposed finding is still incomplete and misleading. HPH's HMO contract with Rush Prudential became effective on May 1, 1994. (CX 5076 at 1).

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

REDACTED

1503, in camera ('

847.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1705-06; Ballengee, Tr. 174-75; Neary, Tr. 763-64, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1563, in camera; CX 5900 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 847:

This proposed finding is vague, incomplete and misleading.

).

TED

 $(RFF \P 831-837, in$

camera).

(RFF ¶ 841). After lengthy negotiations, PHCS negotiated for rates that were only an increase for Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals, not HPH. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76; RFF ¶¶ 716, 841-843).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 846, in

camera).

For Great West, Neary testified that the prices on the executed contract were not the same as what had been offered by ENH. (Neary, Tr. 763-64).

The citations to the testimony of Hillebrand and Dorsey do not support this proposed finding. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705-06).

- 2. In Re-Negotiating Contracts, ENH Demanded the Higher of the Two Contract Rates Plus a Premium
 - a. ENH Went With the More Favorable Contract and Then Added a Premium to the Higher Rate
- 848. Using the more favorable of the two hospital contract rates was only ENH's "starting point" in health plan renegotiations after the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1856, 1705).

Response to Finding No. 848:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 715).

849. In fact, during the winter of 1999 ENH senior management had decided that "the combined entity would use the better of the Highland Park or Evanston [contract rate] and then add a premium to that." (Newton, Tr. 364 (emphasis added). See Hillebrand, Tr. 1705).

Response to Finding No. 849:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Bain advised ENH that "Targeting 10 percent above the best contract from either hospital" was ENH's "aggressive goal." (RFF ¶ 715). This proposed finding ignores the fact that several contracts, even the better of the two, were outdated or expired. For instance, Aetna's contract with HPH (the better of the two contracts) was from 1996. (CX 5001 at 1-2).

(CX 5068 at 5, in camera). HPH's contracts with Great West and HFN dated from 1996, as well. (RFF ¶ 794, 810-812). CCN's contract with HPH, which was better than Evanston Hospital's contract with this MCO, was executed in 1992. (CX 5222 at 1). As a result, the strategy to seek an improvement over the better of the

two contracts merely was consistent with the goal of bringing ENH's contracts up to an appropriate market level.

850. As one of the "benefits of the merger," senior management recognized "the additional negotiating power and leverage with the payors." (Newton, Tr. 365; Chan, Tr. 709-10).

Response to Finding No. 850:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and mischaracterizes the cited testimony. As an initial matter, the testimony of both Newton and Chan relating to the reasons for the Merger should be disregarded.

Newton was never more than a vice president of "business affairs" at HPH. He left ENH soon after the Merger and is now Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor of ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83, Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29; Newton, Tr. 294-95, 279). Moreover, Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, he did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, and he was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283-84; Newton, Tr. 436, 452-53, 512-13).

This explains why Newton's testimony, which is quoted in the proposed finding, is distinctly limited to his own beliefs, not the representations or beliefs of "senior management." The question to which Newton responds is prefaced with "in your mind" and "what do you mean by that." (Newton, Tr. 365). In response, Newton limited his answers with "in my mind" and, therefore, did not purport to speak on behalf of "senior management" (a term that is undefined in this proposed finding). (Newton, Tr. 365).

Chan's involvement with Merger discussions was even more limited, consisting merely of attending a "couple of [Merger] integration meetings." (Chan, Tr. 659). **REDACTED**

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 840, in camera).

The citation to the testimony of Chan does not support the proposed finding. Chan testified that ENH's competition came from Northwestern Memorial and Advocate Lutheran General more so than HPH. (Chan, Tr. 706-10). Most important, she testified that "Highland Park really could not replace Evanston for all their services." (Chan, Tr. 706).

Instead, this Court should rely on Bain's extensive analysis, which concluded that Evanston Hospital provided services that HPH did not and that, overall, HPH was "too small" to be important to MCOs during negotiations. (RFF ¶ 720).

851. ENH Negotiators would use this additional leverage to "seek additional price from the health plans" and to "increase the revenue to the combined entity." (Newton, Tr. 364-65. See CX 67 at 49 (ENH strove to "Justify premium pricing (i.e., above the competitive average.")).

Response to Finding No. 851:

This proposed finding is false and not supported by the evidence. Nor is this proposed finding based upon reliable testimony. Newton was never more than a Vice President of "business affairs" at HPH, left ENH soon after the Merger and is now Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor to ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83; Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29, Newton, Tr. 279, 294-95; RFF-Reply ¶ 1465). Moreover, Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, he did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, and he was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283-84, Newton, Tr. 436, 452-53, 512-13).

Moreover, Bain advised ENH to ask for a price higher than what it might ultimately be satisfied with. (RFF ¶ 715).

REDACTED

732; RFF ¶¶ 30-32, in camera).

Finally, this proposed finding ignores that ENH renegotiated some rates even lower than what was in place at HPH before the Merger. (RFF \P 735-736).

852. ENH admitted that the merged entity was successful in 2000 in negotiating prices above the pre-merger rates of either Evanston or Highland Park for numerous payors. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705).

Response to Finding No. 852:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. Hillebrand testified on the cited page that ENH only negotiated rates higher than either of the pre-Merger hospitals' rates "in some cases." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705).

The record reflects that, for several MCOs – including PHCS, United's PPO and POS plans, CCN, Health Network, Preferred Plan and First Health – ENH ultimately agreed to rates that were *lower* than what HPH had in place before the Merger. This was the case even though pre-Merger HPH had higher rates than Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 716, 735-736, 785, 789, 852).

853. In an October 2000 "Sequential Listing of Accomplishments," Mr. Neaman reported that the merged entity had successfully achieved an additional \$18 million per year through managed care contract renegotiations. (CX 17 at 5-8. See also CX 13 at 1 (In July, 2000, Mr. Neaman reported an additional \$16 million per year in total managed care re-negotiation benefits to the board); plus CX 17 at 8 (September, 2000, Humana contract renegotiation resulted in \$2 million annualized economic revenue). See CCFF 855).

Response to Finding No. 853:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading because the cited revenue enhancements were not a result of market power but, instead, a result of ENH bringing its rates to market through the Merger integration process. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376,

1378, 1395-1397). Moreover, the rate negotiations with Humana were completely unrelated to the Merger. (RFF ¶ 816-819, 822-825).

854. Among ENH's "accomplishments" were the re-negotiations of the United, PHCS, Aetna, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, and Cigna contracts, which collectively resulted in an annualized economic value of \$15 million for ENH (\$3 million per health plan). (CX 17 at 5-8). ENH realized an additional \$3 million annually from the renegotiation of the Humana contract and from the re-negotiation of other smaller PPO contracts combined (\$2 million for Humana and \$1 million for some "smaller" PPO contracts combined). (CX 17 at 5, 8).

Response to Finding No. 854:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. ENH negotiated improved rates with MCOs not by exercise of market power, but by bringing its rates up to competitive market levels. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397). Moreover, ENH's rate negotiations with Humana had nothing to do with the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 853).

With respect to United, the evidence showed that the pre-Merger contract was outdated, under-market and below ENH's costs. (RFF ¶ 877-878, 883-893).

REDACTED

(RFF

¶¶ 738-756).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 827-848). With respect to Cigna, Complaint Counsel failed to prove anything at all with respect to those negotiations. ENH and Cigna's contract negotiation yielded a mutually beneficial contract that was renewed in 2003. (RFF ¶¶ 778-784).

855. Using Mr. Hillebrand's figure of \$3.5 million in annualized economic benefit from the re-negotiation of the United contract instead of Mr. Neaman's \$3 million figure increases ENH's total annualized economic revenue from the re-negotiation of managed care contracts to \$18.5 million. (CX 5 at 5. See CX 17 at 5-8 (1/00 "Other (smaller) PPO agreement re-negotiations" (\$1 million), 3/00 "Private Healthcare re-negotiation" (\$3 million), 5/00 "Renegotiated Aetna contract" (\$3 million), 6/00 "Blue Cross Contract re-negotiation" (\$3 million), 6/00 "Cigna Contract re-negotiation" (\$3 million), and 9/00 "Humana Contract Re-negotiations" (\$2 million)).

Response to Finding No. 855:

This proposed finding is repetitive, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 854).

Evanston "had never achieved" a price increase as high as \$18 million before the merger. 856. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1722).

Response to Finding No. 856:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. As proved at trial, it was not until after the passage of the Balanced Budget Act and a convergence of economic factors that Evanston Hospital began to focus upon revenue growth from managed care negotiations. (RFF ¶ 105-110, 624-645). Also, before the Merger, Sirabian, who was in charge of managed care contracting at Evanston Hospital, did not have the necessary support staff, did not use aggressive tactics, and did not diligently renegotiate lapsed contracts. (RFF ¶ 600-615). As a result, many contracts had not been renegotiated in five or even six years. (RFF ¶¶ 616-623). 857.

REDACTED

(Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42, 57; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708, 1898; Sirabian, Tr. 5717; CX 5067 at 4, in camera; CX 266 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 857:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 854; RFF ¶¶ 757-784, 814-826). Additionally, Complaint Counsel's contention that the estimate includes any other contracts in addition to One Health is unsupported by any evidence.

(Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42, 57; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708, 1898; Sirabian, Tr. 5717; CX 5067 at 4, in camera; CX 266 at 1).

858. This \$18 - \$18.5 million in additional annualized revenue does not take into account additional annualized revenue that ENH achieved through the shifting of health plans to the contract with the highest rate (between Evanston and Highland Park), the adoption of the higher of the Highland Park or Evanston pre-merger chargemaster rates post-merger, or the chargemaster increases in 2002 and later. (CX 17 at 5-8; CX 5 at 5; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 858:

This proposed finding is unsupported by the record evidence. There is no evidence suggesting that the adoption of the higher contract is not represented in CX 17. Moreover, the impact of merging the chargemaster is specifically listed on the cited pages. (CX 17 at 5). The listing specifically enumerates "Unified Pricing Structure – 12,000 items." (CX 17 at 5; RFF ¶¶ 928-931). Obviously, the 2000 estimates could not possibly include any additional revenue earned two years later when the chargemaster was brought up to market levels. (RFF ¶¶ 932-964).

859. Evanston and Highland Park could not have accomplished these annualized revenue increases absent the merger. (CX 17 at 2 ("As stated previously, none of this could have been achieved by either Evanston or Highland Park alone."); CX 13 at 1 ("Neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results.")).

Response to Finding No. 859:

This proposed finding is misleading. Evanston Hospital would have renegotiated its managed care contracts in the absence of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 677, 679-693, 705).

This proposed finding also is misleading because it implies that ENH's minutes demonstrate market power. CX 13 merely reflects how ENH learned about its value in the marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374, 1375). By definition, Evanston Hospital alone could not have secured appropriate rates from MCOs without the Merger because Evanston Hospital would not have learned that its rates were lower than those of a community hospital (HPH). And, by definition, Evanston Hospital and HPH alone could not have achieved many of the other benefits of Merger integration – such as expanding and enhancing services at

HPH, generating significant cost savings, expanding Evanston Hospital's academic base to HPH and clinical rationalization. (CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶ 291-294). When the statements cited by Complaint Counsel are read within the context of the entire document, it is clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman, as the CEO of the organization, to boost morale and emphasize teambuilding by thanking everyone who participated in the Merger integration. (CX 13 at 1).

- b. ENH Charged a Premium Over the Higher Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger Rate in Numerous Health Plan Contracts
 - (1) Aetna

860.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5001 (Highland Park pre-merger contract with Aetna), CX 5007 (Pre-merger Evanston contract with Aetna), and CX 5008 (REDACTED), in camera. See CCFF 863, 865, 868, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 860:

This proposed finding is incorrect, not supported by the evidence and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ \P 753-754, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, 564, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 744, in camera; CX 5007 at 1; CX 5001 at 2).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 753, in camera). The 2000 negotiations with Aetna were not anticompetitive. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197; RFF ¶¶ 746-756).

Response to Finding No. 863:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague and misleading.

REDACTED

⟨FF-Reply ¶ 860, in camera).

This proposed finding, however, appears to suggest that ENH should have been locked into those outdated and under-market rates – a suggestion that makes no logical sense.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, 564, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 754, in camera).

864. For Aetna's POS product, rates at Highland Park and Evanston for Medical, Surgical, Intensive Care Unit, Coronary Care Unit, OB-Normal, OB-C-section, and Boarder Baby did not differ by more than 50 dollars. (*Compare* CX 5001 at 6 and CX 5007 at 7).

Response to Finding No. 864:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. This proposed finding suffers from the same flaws as the earlier finding with respect to Aetna's HMO rates. (RFF-Reply ¶ 862). Additionally, it is important to note that pre-Merger HPH, a community hospital, had higher rates than Evanston Hospital, the well-regarded, high-quality academic medical center. (Compare CX 5001 at 6 with CX 5007 at 7). Specifically, HPH's rates were higher for medical, surgical, intensive care, coronary care and OB-normal delivery categories. (Compare CX 5001 at 6 with CX 5007 at 7).

DENACTED

Mendonsa, Tr. 565-66, in camera; RFF ¶ 103, in camera).

Additionally, whereas Evanston Hospital had fixed rates for outpatient surgery, HPH had a

higher discount-off-charges arrangement encompassing all outpatient services. (*Compare* CX 5001 at 6-7 with CX 5007 at 7).

865.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5001 at 6, CX 5007 at 7 and

CX 5008 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 865:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 863).

866. Prior to the merger, both Highland Park and Evanston's PPO rates to Aetna for Intensive Care, Coronary Care, OB-C-section and Boarder Baby were identical. (*Compare* CX 5001 at 8 and CX 5007 at 10).

Response to Finding No. 866:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. This proposed finding suffers from the same flaws as the earlier findings with respect to Aetna's HMO and POS rates. (RFF-Reply ¶ 862, 864).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5001 at 8 with CX 5007 at 10; Mendonsa,

Tr. 565-66, in camera). This proposed finding also ignores that HPH had a discount-off-charges arrangement at 90% of charges in place for Emergency Room visits, whereas Evanston Hospital had case rates. (Compare CX 5001 at 8 with CX 5007 at 10). Again, for outpatient services, HPH had a more favorable discount-off-charges arrangement. (Compare CX 5001 at 8 with CX 5007 at 10-11; RFF-Reply ¶ 864). Evanston Hospital offered Aetna fixed rates for outpatient services. (Compare CX 5001 at 8 with CX 5007 at 10-11).

867. Pre-merger rates at Highland Park and Evanston for Medical and Surgical services under the PPO product differed by only 40 dollars. (*Compare* CX 5001 at 8 and CX 5007 at 10).

Response to Finding No. 867:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. For both medical and surgical services, HPH had higher rates than Evanston Hospital. (*Compare* CX 5001 at 8 with CX 5007 at 10).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 103-104, in camera).

868.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5001 at 8, CX 5007 at 10, and CX 5008 at 5-6, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 868:

This proposed finding is speculative, immaterial, confusing, nonsensical and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 863-865).

869.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1952, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 869:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague and misleading.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1952, in camera).

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF \P 753, in camera).

(2) Cigna

870. Beginning in 2000, ENH also charged rates that were above both the Highland Park and Evanston pre-merger contract rates for numerous service categories in the post-merger Cigna contract. (CX 5011; CX 5013; CX 5015. See also CCFF 872, 874).

Response to Finding No. 870:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and not supported by the evidence.

Complaint Counsel called no witness to testify at trial about ENH's contract renegotiation with Cigna. The Cigna documents do not support Complaint Counsel's cause. (RFF ¶¶ 778-784).

871. Prior to the merger, Cigna's reimbursement rate for Medical and Surgical services was \$1,320 per day to Highland Park and \$1,270 per day to Evanston. (CX 5011 at 1; CX 5013 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 871:

This proposed finding is incomplete. As reflected in the proposed finding, HPH had higher medical and surgical rates than Evanston Hospital, an academic tertiary center, before the Merger. (Compare CX 5011 at 1 with CX 5013 at 2; RFF ¶ 779-780).

REDACTED (RFF ¶ 781). This proposed finding reinforces what ENH learned from Bain – namely, that HPH's Cigna contract was superior to Evanston Hospital's, even though HPH's contract was negotiated years before Evanston Hospital's. (CX 75 at 6; RFF-Reply ¶ 870; RFF ¶ 679).

872. Instead of simply adopting the higher of Cigna's two hospital rates, ENH sought a per diem that was \$77 more than either hospital's pre-merger rate, and contracted with Cigna to be reimbursed at \$1,397 per day. (CX 5015 at 18).

Response to Finding No. 872:

This proposed finding is misleading. ENH and Cigna renegotiated and executed a contract at mutually agreeable rates and terms. (RFF ¶¶ 782-784). The fact that the inpatient per diem increased only \$77 after nearly seven years highlights the reasonableness of the parties' negotiated contract. (RFF ¶¶ 782-784).

873. Similarly, Evanston's rates pre-merger were higher than Highland Park's for ICU services. (*Compare* CX 5013 at 2 (Evanston's ICU per diem of \$1,765) with CX 5011 at 1 (Highland Park's ICU per diem of \$1,320)).

Response to Finding No. 873:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

, (Chan, Tr. 786, in camera)

REDACTED

(RFF \P 781, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 781, in camera).

874. Post-merger, ENH adopted an ICU rate of \$1,942 per day, a rate \$177 more than Evanston's pre-merger per diem and \$622 more than Highland Park's pre-merger per diem. (Compare CX 5015 at 18, CX 5013 at 2, and CX 5011 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 874:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading in that

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 871, 873; CX 1099 at 12, in

camera; CX 5011 at 1). Therefore, the figures calculated by Complaint Counsel are incorrect, irrelevant and meaningless.

Moreover, it is unclear what Complaint Counsel means when it claims in this proposed finding that ENH "adopted" a particular contract rate. This rate was the result of contract negotiations. (RFF ¶¶ 782-784; CX 5015 at 15).

(3) Humana

875.

REDACTED

(CX

5019, in camera; CX 5027, in camera; CX 5029. See also CCFF 876-878, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 875:

This proposed finding is incomplete, immaterial and misleading. Complaint Counsel called no witness to testify at trial about ENH's contract renegotiation with Humana. As explained during trial, ENH and Humana have a long and complicated relationship. (RFF ¶¶

814-819; Hillebrand, Tr. 1837-38, 1863-67). The evidence demonstrated that the contract renegotiations with Humana had nothing to do with the Merger. (RFF ¶ 822).

Moreover, it was established at trial that HPH did not participate in all products with Humana. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1804; RFF ¶ 820).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 1024, 1026).

876.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5019 at 2-4, in camera, CX

5027 at 1, in camera, and CX 5029 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 876:

This proposed finding is incomplete, immaterial and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 875). Hillebrand testified that where Evanston Hospital and HPH did have products with Humana in common, HPH's rates were higher. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1804; CX 75 at 6).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5027 at 1, in camera with CX 5019 at 2-4, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶

821, in camera; CX 5019 at 2-4, in camera).

877.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5019 at 2-4, in camera, CX 5027 at 1, in camera, and CX 5029 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 877:

This proposed finding is incomplete, immaterial and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 876).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 876, in camera). REDACTED

REDACTED

(CX

5027 at 4, in camera). Accordingly, Evanston Hospital was due for a rate increase in 2000.

878.

(Compare CX 5019 at 2-4, in camera, CX 5027

at 1, in camera, and CX 5029 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 878:

This proposed finding is incomplete, immaterial and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 876. Again, the rate increases with Humana had absolutely nothing to do with the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 875-877; RFF ¶ 822).

879. Post-merger, the increase in Humana's rates over those charged by either Evanston or Highland Park was consistent with ENH's "premium pricing" strategy. (CX 67 at 49. See CCFF 849, 852).

Response to Finding No. 879:

This proposed finding is unsupported by the evidence, incomplete and misleading. The unrebutted evidence at trial is that the rate increases with Humana had absolutely nothing to do with the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 875-877).

880. ENH was only able to impose a premium over pre-merger Evanston and Highland Park contract rates as a result of the merger. (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77, 194-95. See CX 13 at 1 (In referring to managed care renegotiations, Mark Neaman told the ENH board of directors that "neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results.")).

Response to Finding No. 880:

This proposed finding is misleading. The proposed finding does not rely on reliable evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1067-1069, 1927). This proposed finding is extremely misleading because it makes the repeated mistake of implying that ENH's minutes demonstrate market power. But again, CX 13 is just another reflection of ENH learning about its value in the

marketplace. (FF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374, 1375). By definition, Evanston Hospital alone could not have secured appropriate rates from MCOs without the Merger because Evanston Hospital would have never learned its true market value as an academic hospital. And by definition, Evanston Hospital and HPH alone could not have achieved many of the other benefits of Merger integration – such as expanding and enhancing services at HPH, generating significant cost savings, expanding Evanston Hospital's academic base to HPH, and clinical rationalization. (CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶¶ 291-294). When the statement cited by Complaint Counsel is read within the context of the entire document, it is clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman, as the CEO of the organization, to boost morale and emphasize team building by thanking everyone who participated in the Merger integration. (CX 13 at 1).

- 3. ENH Set up One Chargemaster for All Three Hospitals, with the Price for Each Product and Service Positioned at the Higher of the Two Pre-Merger Prices, Evanston's or Highland Park's
 - a. Chargemaster Definition
- 881. A chargemaster is a line-by-line listing of 15,000 to 20,000 line items showing a hospital's gross charges (i.e. list price) for all of its services. (Neaman, Tr. 1349; Chan, Tr. 674; H. Jones, Tr. 4143; Hillebrand, Tr. 1710-11).

Response to Finding No. 881:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶¶ 924-927; RFF-Reply ¶ 775).

882.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1711; Ballengee, Tr. 227, in camera;

Chan, Tr. 667).

Response to Finding No. 882:

Respondent has no specific response.

883.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 766, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 883:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(Neary,

Tr. 766-67, in camera; Chan, Tr. 785-86, in camera; RFF ¶ 93-95).

- b. ENH Adopted the Higher of the Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger Chargemaster Rates Post-Merger
- 884. As part of the merger integration process, ENH consolidated the Highland Park and Evanston chargemasters in 2000. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1710; Porn, Tr. 5643).

Response to Finding No. 884:

The proposed finding is incomplete. The proposed finding omits that a single, consolidated chargemaster is the usual and best practice for a hospital system. (Porn, Tr. 5646-

- 47). ENH did not hire outside consultants when it merged the chargemasters. (RFF \P 929).
- 885. In keeping with ENH's goal to move all three facilities to the same rates, ENH set out to conform the chargemaster rates for all three hospitals. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1704; Porn, Tr. 5643).

Response to Finding No. 885:

The proposed finding is incomplete. Consolidation of the ENH chargemaster was necessary to maximize Merger-related cost efficiencies. (RFF ¶¶ 928-931). The citation to the testimony of Lou Porn does not support the text of the proposed finding. (Porn, Tr. 5643).

886. Mr. Hillebrand was the "principal person" in charge of the chargemaster transition team. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1713).

Response to Finding No. 886:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 929).

887. Led by Mr. Hillebrand, ENH's transition team set out to "[e]qualize charges at all three sites," regardless of the different cost-structures at the three ENH hospitals. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1713; CX 2239 at 1). The work began in 1999 and was largely done in January 2000. (See CX 2237 at 1; CX 42 at 2; CX 2462 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 887:

This proposed finding is misleading. Complaint Counsel editorializes that the transition team performed its task "regardless of the different cost-structures at the three hospitals." But the term "cost-structures" is undefined. There is no evidence that the three hospitals had different "cost-structures." By extension, there is no evidence that, even if there were different "cost-structures," that the transition team did not take them into account.

The cited evidence does not support the fact that either the work began in 1999, nor that it was "largely done in January 2000." (CX 2237 at 1; CX 42 at 2; CX 2462 at 1). For instance, by January 28, 2000, ENH had not yet completed the "mapping" required for billing to be performed by the computer system. (CX 2237 at 1).

888. In a "fairly simplistic analysis," ENH examined the chargemasters at the two hospitals and adopted the higher of the Highland Park or Evanston chargemaster rates across the board for each line item. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1711, 1714-15; Noether, Tr. 6193. See CX 2240 at 11).

Response to Finding No. 888:

Respondent has no specific response.

889. For example, in universalizing the Intensive Care Unit line-item rate on the chargemaster, the merged entity chose Evanston's rate of \$1,900 over Highland Park's lower rate of \$1,828. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1715; CX 2240 at 11).

Response to Finding No. 889:

This proposed finding is irrelevant because it discusses only 1 of 15,000 to 20,000 charges. (CCFF ¶ 881; RFF ¶ 926).

890. Similarly, for a Semi-Private Room, ENH chose Highland Park's chargemaster rate of \$711 over Evanston's lower rate of \$588. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1715; CX 2240 at 11).

Response to Finding No. 890:

This proposed finding is irrelevant because it discusses only 1 of 15,000 to 20,000 charges. (CCFF ¶ 881; RFF ¶ 926).

891. For service line-items that only existed at one hospital and not the other, ENH automatically adopted the existing price. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1715; CX 2240 at 11).

Response to Finding No. 891:

Respondent has no specific response except to note that this proposed finding is based on common sense. When faced with a choice between an existing price and a non-existing price, ENH picked an existing price. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1715).

892. Upon completion of merging the chargemaster items related to renal dialysis, that transition team's report reflected ENH's objective: "Highest charge comparing those of EH and HPH utilized on new Charge Master." (CX 2383 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 892:

This proposed finding is irrelevant because it discusses only 1 of 15,000 to 20,000 charges. (CCFF ¶ 881; RFF ¶ 926).

893. For renal dialysis alone, ENH's finance department estimated a \$1,324,497 "revenue enhancement" from selecting the higher of the Highland Park and Evanston rates. (CX 2383 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 893:

This proposed finding is misleading. Considering the whole chargemaster, Deloitte discovered that ENH's pricing on a weighted basis was at the 63rd percentile in the Chicago area. (RX 1170 at DC 2009; Porn, Tr. 5653; RFF ¶ 956). Deloitte recommended an increase to ENH's chargemaster even if there were no Merger. (RFF ¶ 964).

894. In January 2000, ENH's transition team projected the overall increase in gross revenue from equalizing the charges at the three hospitals to be at least \$100,000,000. (CX 2237 at 1; CX 42 at 2; CX 2462 at 1). Later ENH documents also estimated the overall increase in gross revenues at \$100 million(CX 2238 at 1 (May); CX 2239 at 1 (June); CX 2384 at 2 (July)).

Response to Finding No. 894:

The proposed finding is immaterial and misleading. Changes to a chargemaster have absolutely no impact on patients covered by Medicare, which represent nearly half of ENH's volume. (RFF ¶¶ 13, 963). As a result, in terms of actual net revenue resulting from changes in a chargemaster are a fraction of its estimates in gross revenue. (RFF-Reply ¶ 895).

A significant portion of the revenue increase is a result of adding HPH's volume of patients, not adjustments to prices. The goal of the 2000 chargemaster transition was to "equalize the charges" at all three sites, not to increase revenue. (RFF ¶ 930). Also, ENH did not increase the price over what had already been in place at either HPH or Evanston Hospital before the Merger. (RFF ¶ 930).

With regard to net revenue, as of September 30, 2000, only nine months after the merger, Mr. Neaman reported to ENH's board of directors that ENH's "Unified Pricing Structure" for the chargemaster had already resulted in \$5 million of Annualized Economic Value. (CX 2382 at 6).

Response to Finding No. 895:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. The "Unified Pricing Structure" resulted in \$5 million in cost savings of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 2540). This is a Merger efficiency – a value realized as a result of the Merger.

- c. In Adopting the Higher of the Two Merging Parties'
 Chargemaster Rates, ENH Raised Its Prices to Health Plans
 with Discount Off Charges Arrangements
- 896. Under a discount off charges contract, the price that the health plan must pay to the hospital increases as the chargemaster list price increases. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 896:

This proposed finding is misleading and incomplete. On the cited page of testimony,

Porn clarified that discount-off-charges contracts absorb changes to a chargemaster only to the

extent that the MCO does not negotiate a "ceiling," such as a maximum or escalator clause.

(Porn, Tr. 5670).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 87-88, in camera).

897.

(Neary, Tr. 609; Newton, Tr. 366; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1522, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 898, 889; Mendonsa, Tr. 524-28, in camera. See CCFF 799, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 897:

Although it is technically true that MCOs are not consulted with respect to every change made to a chargemaster, this proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Chargemaster increases do not necessarily have an adverse effect on MCOs.

REDACTED

(Dorsey, Tr. 1485; Mendonsa, Tr. 558, 566-67, in camera; Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1600-01, in camera; CX 5174 at 7, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1524, in camera). MCOs are really only

limited by their creativity as to what sort of protection they seek.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 892, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 89, 847, in camera).

The citations to Foucre's testimony do not support the text of the proposed finding. (Foucre, Tr. 889, 898). To the extent this proposed finding relies upon Newton, it should be disregarded. Newton was never more than a Vice President of "business affairs" at HPH, left ENH soon after the Merger and is now Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor to ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83; Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29; Newton, Tr.

279, 294-95). Moreover, Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, he did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, and he was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1465).

898.

REDACTED

(CX 1373 at 14, in

camera; CX 75 at 16; CX 2047 at 61-62 (Ogden, Dep.), in camera. See CX 67 at 49 (Bain advised ENH to "Lead with Percent of Charges")).

Response to Finding No. 898:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 81, 713-714).

899.

REDACTED

(CX 1373

at 14, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 899:

This proposed finding is false and is not based on any reliable evidence. In Court, the author of the cited memorandum, Chan, admitted that she had no personal knowledge about this matter, and she never did any work whatsoever with ENH's chargemaster. (Chan, Tr. 744). In short, Chan had no idea as to whether ENH or HPH had a higher chargemaster when viewed on the whole. Moreover, Complaint Counsel's own findings recognize that, for some items, HPH had the higher price on its chargemaster. (CCFF ¶ 890).

900. After the merger, ENH's "first negotiating step" with every health plan was to "move to discount off charges" arrangements. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706; Newton, Tr. 366. See CCFF 815).

Response to Finding No. 900:

This proposed finding is incorrect, incomplete and misleading. Bain advised ENH to ask for discount-off-charges, even though it had no expectation that they would "end up there." (RX

2047 at 62 (Ogden Dep.); RFF ¶ 713). As Hillebrand testified, some MCOs agreed to this arrangement, yet others did not. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706).

To the extent that this proposed finding relies upon the testimony of Newton, it should be accorded no weight. Newton left ENH soon after the Merger and is at present, the Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor to ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83; Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29; Newton, Tr. 279, 294-95). Moreover, Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, he did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, and he was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1465).

901.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1706, 1893; Hillebrand, Tr. 1947, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 252, 255, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, 1539, 1563, in camera; CX 5075-017, in camera; compare CX 116 at 2, in camera, CX 117 at 1, in camera, and CX 5072 at 23, in camera; compare CX 5067 at 15, in camera, CX 5059 at 17, and CX 5065 at 17).

Response to Finding No. 901:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. After negotiations, some MCOs agreed to move to discount-off-charges arrangements for inpatient services, while others did not. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706, 1896).

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1896; Mendonsa, Tr.

540, in camera; CX 2447, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 874, in camera). Several MCOs agreed

to discount-off-charges arrangements for some of their products, but ended up with per diems on other products.

REDACTED

(RFF $\P\P$ 870-872, 874, 889; CX 5174 at 11-12, in camera;

CX 5046 at 2, in camera; CX 5050 at 1, in camera; CX 5057 at 1-2).

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF \P 846, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF¶

87-90, 847, in camera).

902. By switching from a per diem to a discount off charges arrangement and adopting the higher of the two hospitals' chargemaster rates, ENH ensured that health plans would have to reimburse the hospital system at a higher rate. (Porn, Tr. 5670; Chan, Tr. 743-44).

Response to Finding No. 902:

This proposed finding is vague, incomplete, misleading and not supported by the cited evidence. Porn's cited testimony is only that chargemaster prices only apply to contracts with discount-off-charges methodologies. (Porn, Tr. 5670). He clarified that even those effects can be limited by the terms of the contract such as "ceilings" or escalator clauses. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Chan never worked with ENH's chargemaster. (RFF-Reply ¶ 889). Chan's involvement with Merger consisted merely of attending a "couple of [Merger] integration meetings." (Chan, Tr. 659).

903. The question of whether Highland Park should be put on the Evanston chargemaster for a particular product or service or whether Evanston should be put on the Highland park chargemaster for that product or service arose because of the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1704). In short, the shift of all three hospitals to one of the two chargemasters for that product or service and the price increases resulting from the shift to the higher of the two chargemaster rates were both due to the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1704).

Response to Finding No. 903:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. To the extent this proposed finding states the truism that a hospital cannot consolidate chargemasters with another hospital if there is no merger between them, it is true. However, this proposed finding ignores that it is regarded as best practice for *any* hospital system to have a single chargemaster. (RFF \P 928).

- 4. Other Hospital Systems Have Separate Prices for Each Hospital
 - a. It Is Unusual For a Hospital System to Charge the Same Rates for All Hospitals in the System
- 904. The ENH system consists of Evanston, Highland Park, and Glenbrook Hospitals. (Neaman, Tr. 954).

Response to Finding No. 904:

Respondent has no specific response.

905. Highland Park and Glenbrook are community hospitals, while ENH claimed in this litigation to be an academic medical center. (Neaman, Tr. 1286-87).

Response to Finding No. 905:

This proposed finding is false. The evidence in this case overwhelmingly showed that ENH is an academic medical center. MedPAC defines an academic medical center and major academic hospital categories, characterizes an academic hospital as a hospital that has at least a 0.25 resident-to-bed ratio. (RFF ¶ 8, 2168; O'Brien, Tr. 3541-42). ENH has a 0.29 ratio. (RFF ¶ 8, 2168; O'Brien, Tr. 3542).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 101). ENH – including all three

hospital campuses – is affiliated with Northwestern Medical School. (RFF ¶¶ 1, 8).

906. After the merger, ENH senior management renegotiated health plan contracts so that all three of its facilities would be reimbursed at the same rate. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703. See CCFF 824).

Response to Finding No. 906:

This proposed finding is repetitive. (RFF-Reply ¶ 824).

907. REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 890-92; See Foucre, Tr. 891-92 (Other than ENH, there are no other systems in United's Chicago network that demand the same rate and contract for all the hospitals in the system.); Ballengee, Tr. 163-65; Dorsey, Tr. 1445-46; RX 1503, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 907:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals always were covered by a single contract with one set of rates. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 824, 827-828, 830). The ENH system is unique in several respects from the other hospital systems in Chicago. For instance, ENH is the only system that has a single medical staff, single Medicare identification, and single tax identification number. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 824, 915-916).

(Foucre, Tr. 890-92; Ballengee, Tr. 163-65; Dorsey, Tr. 1446-47; RX 1503, in camera. See Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528 (1)

), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 908:

This proposed finding is misleading. Since ENH is a fully-integrated hospital system that operates as a single entity, it contracts for a single rate. (RFF ¶¶ 11-12). There is no reason to negotiate different rates because a patient can see his or her doctor at any of the three hospitals—thus receiving the same product, so to speak. (RFF ¶ 12). As indicated above, ENH is unique in this regard, which justifies its single-rate posture in negotiations with MCOs. (RFF-Reply ¶ 907).

- b. The Advocate, Rush, Resurrection and Provena Systems
 Charge Different Rates for Different Hospitals in Their
 Systems
- 909. The Advocate System consists of eight hospitals, all in the Chicago area. (Foucre, Tr. 934; Neaman, Tr. 1297). Advocate Lutheran General is the flagship hospital of the Advocate system. (Neaman, Tr. 1296).

Response to Finding No. 909:

This proposed finding is misleading. The referenced citations do not support the proposed finding that Lutheran General is a "flagship hospital." Lutheran General, however, is the largest hospital in the Advocate System. (RFF ¶¶ 411, 414).

910.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 163-64; RX 1503 at PHCS

003649-66, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 910:

This proposed finding is incomplete and not supported by the cited evidence. Systemwide contracts are becoming increasingly common in the Chicago area. (RFF ¶ 187-188).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 163; Ballengee, Tr. 226, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1443 at PHCS 4587; RX 1503, in camera). Aside from that, the details of those negotiations are not in evidence.

(Ballengee, Tr. 227, 270-71, in camera; RX 1503 at PHCS 3649).

REDACTED

(RX 1503 at PHCS 3649-66, in camera; Ballengee, Tr.

163-64). The cited evidence relates to the PHCS contract with the Rush System for Health hospitals, not Advocate. (Ballengee, Tr. 163-64).

911.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 890-91; Ballengee, Tr. 163-65; Dorsey, Tr. 1446. See e.g. RX 1503, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 911:

This proposed finding is incorrect and not supported by the evidence. The citations to the testimony of Ballengee and Dorsey relate to PHCS and Great West's relationships with the Rush System, not the Advocate System. (Ballengee, Tr. 163-65; Dorsey, Tr. 1446). The testimony of Foucre, at least, relates to United's relationship with Advocate. (Foucre, 890-91). However, that testimony does not support the proposed finding. (Foucre, Tr. 890-91).

912. Five hospitals make up the Rush system, with Rush Presbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center as the flagship hospital for the system. (Foucre, Tr. 933).

Response to Finding No. 912:

Respondent has no specific response.

913. As the academic facility in the system, Rush Presbyterian-St. Luke's is reimbursed at a higher rate than other hospitals in the system that offer a narrower breadth of services. (Dorsey, Tr. 1445-46; Ballengee, Tr. 163-64).

Response to Finding No. 913:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and immaterial. The Rush System is not a fully-integrated hospital system like ENH. ENH is unique in that it has merged and consolidated all of its administrative functions and business offices, uses a single medical staff, and has single tax and Medicare identification numbers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1839-41).

914. One Health and PHCS pay different rates for the hospitals in the Rush system based upon hospital service offerings. (Ballengee, Tr. 163-65; Dorsey, Tr. 1446).

Response to Finding No. 914:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and immaterial. The Rush System is not a fully-integrated hospital system like ENH. ENH is unique in that it has merged and consolidated all of its administrative functions and business offices, uses a single medical staff, and has single tax and Medicare identification numbers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1839-41).

915. When United's attempts to renew a business relationship with the entire Rush System failed in August 2003, the Rush System even allowed United to contract independently with Rush North Shore, only one of the five hospitals in the System. (Foucre, Tr. 935).

Response to Finding No. 915:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and immaterial. The Rush System is not a fully-integrated hospital system like ENH. ENH is unique in that it has merged and consolidated all of its administrative functions and business offices, uses a single medical staff, and has single tax and Medicare identification numbers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1839-41).

916.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 890-91; Ballengee, Tr. 263, in camera; RX 1854 at ENHE F16 000426; RX 722, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 916:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading, immaterial and is not supported by the cited evidence. Like the Rush System, the Resurrection System is not a fully-integrated hospital system like ENH. (RFF-Reply ¶ 915).

The citation to the testimony of Foucre does not support the proposed finding. While she testified that the rates differed between the hospitals, Foucre did not testify as to why the rates are different. (Foucre, Tr. 890-91). In addition, Ballengee – who is from PHCS – has no personal knowledge from which to testify on the contracts held or negotiated by United. (Ballengee, Tr. 141, 145-49, 193-94). Therefore, the Court should ignore the citation to her testimony.

917.

REDACTED

(See CCFF 1303, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 917:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague, incorrect and is not based on any evidence. Accordingly, it should be disregarded in its entirety. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1303).

C. ENH Instituted Major Chargemaster Price Increases in 2002 and 2003

918.

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, in camera;

CX 44 at 1; CX 43 at 1; CX 45 at 8).

(Newton, Tr.

364-65; Neaman, Tr. 1036, 39; Hillebrand, Tr. 1790, 1801-02, 1811-12; CX 68 at 11, 13; CX 86 at 2-3; CX 69 at 1; CX 19; CX 2070 at 3; CX 75 at 12).

Response to Finding No. 918:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. A chargemaster is a fluid document that is constantly being updated and changed. (RFF ¶ 927). The evidence demonstrated that ENH's adjustments to its chargemaster were unrelated to the Merger and the 2000 MCO contract negotiations. (RFF ¶ 935, 948-950, 956-959, 963-964). Rather, a team from Deloitte, led by Porn, who testified at trial, informed ENH that many prices on the chargemaster were undermarket. (RFF ¶ 932, 943, 951, 956-959).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because it ignores the fact that, after the "catch up adjustment," the next two increases were less than .9%. (CX 45 at 8).

This finding also is misleading to the extent it relies on Newton's testimony. Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, he did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, and he was not responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283-84; Newton, Tr. 436, 452-454, 512-513; RFF-Reply ¶ 1387). Moreover, the citations to Neaman's testimony do not support what Complaint Counsel calls a "premium pricing" approach, but merely acknowledge that ENH sought to

negotiate competitive rates with MCOs. (Neaman, Tr. 1036). Therefore, to the extent this proposed finding relies to any extent on Newton's testimony, it should be disregarded.

Finally, some citations to Hillebrand's testimony have absolutely nothing to do with the text of the proposed finding. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1790, 1801-02).

REDACTED

(CX 44 at 3; CX

45 at 8; RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, *in camera*). ENH expected that the April 2002 charge increase would yield ENH between \$20 to \$26 million in net revenue annually (which is roughly 20% net of the gross increase). (CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 919:

This proposed finding is misleading. This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that Deloitte recommended an 11% increase to the chargemaster. Although ENH accepted Deloitte's general recommendation to increase its chargemaster, ENH opted only to implement chargemaster changes that resulted in an 8.5% gross increase to fair market levels. (RFF ¶¶ 958-961).

This proposed finding is also misleading because it misconstrues the significance of the 31.9% figure in ENH's documents. The average increase required to bring these 2,065 line items up to market level was 31.9% – proving that ENH's prices were significantly under-priced before the adjustment. (CX 44 at 3; CX 45 at 8). The prices were raised to the level recommended by Deloitte after its extensive analysis and comparison to other hospitals in the market of comparable reputation and breadth of service. (RFF ¶ 952-953, 958-959).

Finally, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it is based on "gross charges."

Since over half of ENH's volume is from government rates, projected effects on gross charges are nearly meaningless. (RFF ¶ 13). Moreover, where MCOs have negotiated per diems or case

rates, the chargemaster is uninvolved in that reimbursement. (Porn, Tr. 5670; CX 45 at 8 (indicating that only \$20 million would be realized from gross changes of \$102.2 million)). 920.

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 920:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 919).

REDACTED.

(RX

1687 at ENHL BW 27653, in camera).

921.

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 921:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 919).

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 27653, in camera).

922.

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 922:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 919).

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW

27653, in camera).

923.

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653, in camera. See also CCFF

1394, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 923:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 920-922).

924.

REDACTED

(See CCFF 817-821, 930, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 924:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 918-919). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because revenues earned by bringing ENH's chargemaster up to *market* levels do not evidence market power. (RFF ¶¶ 935, 948-950, 956-959, 963-964).

- D. The First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002 Is an Example of ENH's Ability to Increase Prices Dramatically to Health Plans Without Needing to Re-Negotiate Their Contracts
- 925. In the spring and summer of 2002, ENH substantially raised prices on its chargemaster, resulting in an overall sustained, net price increase of over 8% to healthcare plans. (Porn, Tr. 5681-82, 85; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 925:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. This proposed finding is misleading because it calls the 8% *gross* percentage increase – a "net price increase." (CX 45 at 8; Porn, Tr. 5685). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores that some MCOs did negotiate, and all of them could have negotiated, protections into the discount-off-charges arrangements that governed the impact of changes to a chargemaster. (RFF-Reply ¶ 897).

REDACTED

(Dorsey, Tr. 1485; Mendonsa, Tr. 558, 566-67, in

camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1600, in camera; CX 5174 at 7, in camera). REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

REDACTED

1523, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 892).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 89, 847). Therefore, it is

misleading to suggest – as this proposed finding does – that MCOs have no control over the impact of chargemaster increases. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799).

926. There was little analysis on the part of ENH management as to the extent or magnitude of these substantial price increases or ENH's ability to raise prices to health plans. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1718 (decision to raise prices to 90th percentile target based on less than one hour deliberation with business consultant); Porn, Tr. 5681).

Response to Finding No. 926:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that amount of time spent in making the decision about ENH's chargemaster increase is evidence of the reasonableness of the decision. ENH relied on its consultant's recommendation to decide the price level. (RFF ¶ 959). The level price increases were reasonable based on ENH's substantial reputation and prestige in the market. (RFF ¶ 959).

927. These price increases resulted in a projected net impact of \$20 million to \$26 million annually. (Porn, Tr. 5685-86; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 927:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 918-919).

- 1. Chargemaster Changes Directly Affect Only Contracts Containing a Discount Off Charges Provision
- 928. An increase to chargemaster prices will only directly impact a health care provider's contracts containing a discount-off-charges provision. Chargemaster changes will not directly impact payments made under fixed rate contracts. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 928:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF \P 80).

929. Chargemaster changes can also indirectly affect payment under fixed rate contracts.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2647-48, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 929:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence. (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2647-48, *in camera*). The cited evidence does not support the proposition that changes to a chargemaster indirectly affect payment under fixed rate contracts. (Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2647-48, *in camera*).

930. The more discount off charges contracts a healthcare provider has, the more impact a chargemaster increase will have on net revenue realized by the provider. (Porn, Tr. 5670).

Response to Finding No. 930:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. Nearly all contracts, to some extent, are discount-off-charges contracts. At the very least, outpatient services are reimbursed on discount-off-charges. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799).

(RFF ¶ 846; Ballengee, Tr. 258-60, in

camera). Consequently, it is impossible to generalize about the impact of a chargemaster increase on the net revenue realized by the provider in this manner.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 87-89, in camera).

931. Health plans prefer fixed rate contracts, rather than discount off charges, because fixed rate contracts are predictable. (See CCFF 790-797).

Response to Finding No. 931:

Respondent has no specific response.

With discount off charges arrangements, hospitals can set their own prices, and the health 932. plans have little control over costs. (See Mendonsa, Tr. 526,

REDACTED
), in camera. See CCFF 799-800).

Response to Finding No. 932:

This proposed finding is misleading. Discount-off-charges are the standard reimbursement methodology for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 82-85, in camera). Since 2000, Chicago area

hospitals have pressed more aggressively for discount-off-charges provisions for inpatient services. (RFF ¶ 86).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 87-89, in camera).

933. In post-merger renegotiations with health plans, ENH strategized "to move to discount off charges as [its] first negotiating step." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706; Newton, Tr. 366. See CCFF 799).

Response to Finding No. 933:

This proposed finding is duplicative, not based on reliable evidence, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 815, 900).

934. ENH was successful in moving multiple fixed rate contracts to discount-off-charges arrangements. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706. See CCFF 817-821).

Response to Finding No. 934:

This proposed finding is duplicative, incorrect, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 817-821).

935. In shifting health plan contract arrangements to discount off charges, ENH ensured that health plans would have to reimburse ENH at a higher rate as the ENH increased its chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5670; Chan, Tr. 743-44).

Response to Finding No. 935:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 897).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 750-751; CX 5046 at 2, in camera; CX 5050 at 1, in camera; CX 5057 at 1-2, in camera).

(RFF \P 892, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 89, 846-847, in camera). All of these contractual arrangements limited the effect of any changes to ENH's chargemaster on reimbursement.

- 2. ENH, in Deciding to Increase Its Chargemaster Prices, Elected to Set the Prices at a Very High Level
- 936. In 2001, ENH hired Deloitte to merge and update the ENH and HPH chargemasters. (Porn, Tr. 5643-44).

Response to Finding No. 936:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. ENH did not hire outside consultants when it combined the chargemasters of HPH and Evanston Hospital after the Merger. (RFF ¶ 929). ENH hired Deloitte in late 2000 to perform a revenue cycle analysis, which involved a review of the chargemaster. (RFF ¶ 933-934, 938). During this project, Deloitte discovered that ENH's chargemaster needed further review and was under-market. (RFF ¶ 948-949). It

was not until March 8, 2002, that ENH retained Deloitte to perform the comprehensive chargemaster pricing project. (RFF ¶ 950).

This proposed finding is also misleading to the extent it ignores that Deloitte would have made the same recommendations to ENH even without the Merger. (RFF ¶¶ 935, 963-964).

937. As an outgrowth of the technical chargemaster project, in March 2002, ENH engaged Deloitte to "identify and implement" targeted price increases to ENH's chargemaster. (Porn, Tr. 5668-69; CX 43 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 937:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 950).

938. This Deloitte 2002 chargemaster engagement was known as the "strategic pricing project." (CX 45 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 938:

Respondent has no specific response.

939. Although the strategic pricing project officially began in March 2002, Deloitte on its own initiative made some preliminary findings as early as November 2001. (Porn, Tr. 5688).

Response to Finding No. 939:

Respondent has no specific response.

940.

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at

ENHL BW 027652, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 940:

This proposed finding is misleading. Porn testified, subject to cross-examination, that ENH's increase was warranted, reasonable and brought ENH to a level in the market commensurate with its reputation and prestige. (RFF ¶ 959).

941.

REDACTED

(CX 2070 at 3; RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027652, in camera). ENH

planned to achieve this goal through its "growth initiatives," including the merger with Highland Park. (CX 2070 at 3; Hillebrand, Tr. 1811-12; Newton, Tr. 364). Likewise, this "aggressive" stance was consistent with Bain's negotiating strategy advice for ENH to obtain "premium pricing (i.e., above the competitive average)" after the merger. (CX 75 at 16).

Response to Finding No. 941:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. After preparing a detailed comparison between ENH and 10 peer group hospitals, Deloitte determined that the catch-up increase of the chargemaster up to competitive levels was reasonable. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 926, 940; RFF ¶¶ 958-959). Deloitte would have made the same recommendations even in the absence of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 964).

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it relies on CX 2070, a document written over two years before the chargemaster study, to explain the chargemaster study. (CX 2070 at 3; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1459, 1569).

Finally, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it is based on Newton's testimony. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387).

- 3. The First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002 Raised ENH's Net Revenue by \$20 Million to \$26 Million Annually
- 942. There were two major chargemaster increases in 2002. (See CCFF 1393-1394, in camera). The first major 2002 chargemaster price increase resulted in a projected net revenue increase of \$20 million to \$26 million annually. (Porn, Tr. 5685-86; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 942:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 918-919).

943. By April 2002, ENH had raised 2,065 chargemaster prices. (Porn, Tr. 5684-85; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 943:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that ENH's chargemaster contains 15,000 to 20,000 codes. Deloitte recommended corrections to only 2,065 of them. (RFF ¶¶ 960-961).

944. ENH raised prices an average of 31.9% for these 2,065 listings. (Porn, Tr. 5685; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 944:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 919, 956-959).

945. The first major chargemaster increase in 2002 raised the overall chargemaster pricing by 8.5%. (Porn, Tr. 5685; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 945:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 961; RFF-Reply ¶ 919).

946. This 2002 chargemaster price increase resulted in a projected gross charge impact of \$102.2 million annually, and a net impact of \$20 million to \$26 million annually. (Porn, Tr. 5685-86; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 946:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 918-919).

947. The lower range did not include self-pay revenue increases, and the higher range did. (CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 947:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 918-919).

948. Thus, ENH expected to realize, on a net basis, at a minimum, \$20 million in additional revenue from health plans due to the 2002 chargemaster increases every year on a going forward basis. (Porn, Tr. 5686; CX 45 at 8). Coupled with the \$18 million in additional annualized revenue from the 2000 managed care contract re-negotiations – an increase that was unprecedented for ENH – ENH realized an additional \$38 million in annualized revenue for these two price increase strategies alone. ((Hillebrand, Tr. 1721-22; Porn, Tr. 5686; CX 45 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 948:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 853-857, 859). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because the changes to ENH's chargemaster mostly affected commercial indemnity contracts, not all MCOs. (Porn, Tr. 5686-87). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it relies on Deloitte's projections of net revenue. The projected net revenue "does not make any adjustments for underpayments," which at comparable institutions was as much as 25%. (CX 45 at 8). As a result, Deloitte advised ENH Finance to monitor potential variations over the coming 4-6 months. (CX 45 at 8).

Finally, Complaint Counsel's reference to the \$18 million figure is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-76, 1378, 1395-1397).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson,

Tr. 2537-38, in camera; compare CX 6279 at 4, in camera, and CX 6279 at 5, in camera).

Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2538, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 949:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that an analysis of ENH-only data has any independent relevance or significance. These data contain only price information for the ENH hospitals and, therefore, cannot provide a basis for relative price calculations.

(CCFF ¶ 385, 386). Only relative price changes, not absolute price changes, are relevant to the analysis in this case.

(Baker, Tr. 4702, 4644, 4649-50, 4653, in

camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2677 in camera; Noether, Tr. 5904; RFF ¶ 315, 519). To conclude

that price increases have any competitive relevance, it is necessary first to compare the price increases at the merged hospitals with price increases, during the same time period, at comparable hospitals. (Baker, Tr. 4639-43, *in camera*).

REDACTED

(Haas-

Wilson, Tr. 2677-78; Elzinga, Tr. 2404; Baker, Tr. 4649-50, in camera; Noether, Tr. 5903-04; RFF ¶¶ 316-317, 319, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 521-522).

This finding is also misleading to the extent it considers only price changes. Dr. Haas-Wilson admitted that

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2834-36, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 1053, 1059-1061; RFF ¶¶ 1054-1058, 1062-1064, in camera). Consequently, it is impossible to conclude that the post-Merger price changes were anticompetitive based on a simple examination of price changes, without a consideration of competitive price levels.

Finally, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent that it suggests that ENH's 2002 chargemaster increases were anticompetitive. (RFF ¶ 924-964).

950.

REDACTED

(CX

6279 at 4, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2537-38).

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 5, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2537).

Response to Finding No. 950:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 949).

(CX 6279 at 4-5, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 951:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 949).

- 4. ENH Was Not Concerned That Health Plans Would Switch to Other Hospitals Due to the 2002 Chargemaster Price Increases
- 952. ENH management did not anticipate any problems in implementing the chargemaster price increase nor did management fear that health plans would leave and switch to other hospitals due to the price increase. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1718-19).

Response to Finding No. 952:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that MCOs never before requested to see ENH's chargemaster, nor had they shown an interest in the chargemaster before the 2002 increase. (RFF ¶ 962). As a result, ENH did not anticipate any resistance from MCOs to bringing its chargemaster up to market levels. (RFF ¶¶ 956-959, 962).

953. Deloitte recognized that certain health plans might have a negative reaction to the 2002 chargemaster price increases. (Porn, Tr. 5683; CX 43 at 2). However, during the course of the 2002 chargemaster project, Deloitte did not have discussions with ENH management about adverse health plans' reactions to the price increases, and Deloitte was unaware of any issues between health plans and ENH due to the chargemaster increases. (Porn, Tr. 5683-84).

Response to Finding No. 953:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 952).

954. ENH management also did not factor the reactions of other hospitals into its decision to implement the 2002 chargemaster increase. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1751).

Response to Finding No. 954:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that ENH had no way of knowing how its competitor hospitals, such as Advocate Lutheran General, would react to any change in

ENH's chargemaster. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1751). Based on Deloitte's extensive analysis, ENH learned that it was severely under-valuing its services as compared to its competitors. (RFF ¶¶ 952-959). ENH simply attempted to address that discrepancy. (RFF ¶¶ 959, 961).

- 5. Because of the Discount Off Charges Provisions in Health Plan
 Contracts, ENH Can Unilaterally Institute Large Chargemaster Price
 Increases Without Even Giving Notice to Most of Its Health Plan
 Customers
- 955. After ENH raised its chargemaster prices in April 2002, Tom Hodges, ENH's executive vice-president for finance, wrote to ENH managers that "[f]or a number of reasons we want to be as quiet as possible and there are relatively few people who have seen the scope of the changes." (CX 44 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 955:

This proposed finding is misleading because it mischaracterizes the evidence. The e-mail cited in this proposed finding, CX 44, makes it specifically clear that the chargemaster changes were intended to correct ENH "significantly undercharging in some areas." (CX 44 at 1; RFF ¶¶ 956-959). The stated purpose of this e-mail was to share the "larger picture" so that ENH's personnel could act accordingly. (CX 44 at 1). In this proper context, the quotation cited by Complaint Counsel is consistent with ENH and Deloitte's objective of correcting the undervaluation in the chargemaster.

956.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1523, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 956:

This proposed finding is misleading because

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1523, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1523, in camera).

REDACTED

1523, in camera).

957. According to Mr. Hillebrand, for chargemaster increases, "the only notification we make is to Blue Cross." Mr. Hillebrand added, "We should not notify anyone beyond those we have a contractual obligation to do so." (CX 54 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 957:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores that the common industry practice is for hospitals to notify "only those [MCOs] they are obligated to notify per their contract." (CX 54 at 1). Further, Deloitte noted that "[u]sually clients opt to take the same communication approach they use when doing annual price increases." (CX 54 at 1). In response to this advice, Hillebrand acknowledged that Sirabian and ENH Finance usually handled this notification, and that be believed that ENH was only obligated to notify Blue Cross. (CX 54 at 1).

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1939; CX 5072 at 18-19, in camera).

958. **REDACTED** (see, e.g., Foucre, Tr. 1091, 1093, 1096, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera; CX 6277 at 3, in camera), but they needed ENH in their network (see, e.g., Foucre, Tr. 903, 905).

Response to Finding No. 958:

This proposed finding is misleading. It ignores that, outside of these proceedings, not a single MCO expressed concerns to either ENH or Deloitte regarding the chargemaster. (RFF ¶ 962). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because it relies on Foucre's testimony.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1118, in camera).

REDACTED

REDACTED (RFF ¶ 892, in camera; CX 111 at 1-4).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 892, in camera; CX 5174 at 7, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 899-900).

Finally, this finding is misleading because the documents cited are not reliable.

REDACTED

(Compare RX 424 at UHCENH 3324, in camera, with CX 2381

at 4, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1879-81).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 905, in camera;

RFF ¶ 906; RX 424 at UHCENH 3324, *in camera*; Hillebrand, Tr. 1879-80 (defining "case mix" as the "federal standard that measures the intensity of service")).

PERACTED

(RFF ¶ 905).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 905, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 905, in

camera). At the time, ENH asserted that this data was unreliable and inaccurate. From that point, United ceased attempting to rely on this inaccurate information in the negotiations. (RFF ¶ 903-906).

E. ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from United

1. Pre-Merger Experience

959. United – the second largest health plan in the Chicago area – contracted with Highland Park Hospital throughout the 1990s under the names of the health plan's affiliates, including MetLife, Metropolitan Life, Chicago HMO, Travelers, and MetraHealth. (CX 5910 at 36-38; Hillebrand, Tr. 1868).

Response to Finding No. 959:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶¶ 170, 177, 880).

960. United also had various contracts throughout the 1990s with Evanston Hospital under the names of United affiliates including Share, Metlife, Metropolitan Life, Chicago HMO, Travelers, and MetraHealth. (CX 5910 at 38-42).

Response to Finding No. 960:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 170, 177, 880).

2. Post-Merger Experience

2000 Negotiation Experience - ENH Demanded a Price Increase from United

961.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1873-74; Chan, Tr. 834, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 961:

This proposed finding is duplicative, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 755).

962. Bain targeted the United contract as a "1st Priority" contract with "upside revenue potential" for which the merged entity had "enough leverage to improve terms." (CX 75 at 9-10; CX 74 at 10).

Response to Finding No. 962:

This proposed finding is misleading. Bain identified the United contract as of the utmost importance because: (1) it was outdated, as it was nearly 6 years old; (2) Evanston Hospital was being reimbursed at less than a fair rate; and (3) there was a substantial difference between Evanston Hospital and HPH's contract rates with United. (RFF ¶ 680-684, 704; CX 75 at 9-10). Bain's analysis revealed that United was paying Evanston Hospital 45 to 50% of what it was paying HPH. (RFF ¶ 680).

REDACTED

(RFF¶

681). ENH's executives were "beyond surprised" and "shocked" because United had given

Evanston Hospital the impression that it was being fairly and appropriately compensated. (RFF ¶ 682-83, 885). United's contract was of the highest priority because it represented a large book of business, had poor performance, was expired or outdated, and there was a substantial difference between Evanston Hospital and HPH. (RFF ¶ 704; CX 75 at 9-10).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 681).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent that it suggests that the use of the word "leverage" implies market power. "Leverage" simply means that ENH should not be afraid to ask to be paid fair market value. (RFF ¶¶ 995-1000).

963. In October 1999, Evanston contacted United on behalf of both merging parties to renegotiate their hospital contracts. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1740, 1852).

Response to Finding No. 963:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 709).

964. While ENH did not know specifically what price targets it would be seeking for the new contract, ENH did know that the price targets it would set would be "high." (CX 75 at 12; Hillebrand, Tr., 1743).

Response to Finding No. 964:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that the use of the word "high" in Bain documents implies market power. Bain advised ENH to ask for a price higher than it might ultimately be satisfied with as a starting point for negotiations with the clear understanding that ENH's initial offer would not be the ultimate contract price. (RFF ¶ 715; CX 75 at 12). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because it mischaracterizes Hillebrand's testimony. Hillebrand testified that he did not recall the specific targets for each contract while on the stand – not that no one at ENH knew what they were at the time, as this proposed finding suggests. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1743).

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

In the matter of)	
)	Docket No. 9315
Evanston Northwestern Healthcare)	
Corporation,)	Public Record
)	
)	

RESPONDENT'S REPLIES TO COMPLAINT COUNSEL'S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

VOLUME V of XI

WINSTON & STRAWN LLP

35 West Wacker Dr. Chicago, IL 60601-9703 (312) 558-5764

1700 K Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20006 (202) 282-5000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOLUME I

Abbi	reviatio	ons of T	erms Used in Respondent's Reply Findings of Factx	xxiv
I.	INT	RODU	CTION	1
II.	THE	E MERO	GING PARTIES	19
	A.	Evai	nston Northwestern Healthcare	19
	В.	Lak	eland Health Services	24
	C.	The	North Shore	29
		1.	Location	29
		2.	Socio-Economic Demographics	32
		3.	Other Hospitals	34
III.	THE	E MER	GER	44
IV.	PRC	CEDU	RAL HISTORY	50
	A.	Inve	stigation and Complaint	50
		1.	Investigation	50
		2.	Counts of the Complaint.	51
			a. Count I	51
			b. Count II	55
			c. Count III and the Count III Settlement	62
	В.	The	Hearing	63
		1.	Schedule	63

		2.	Witnesses	63
		3.	Exhibits	64
V.	INT	ERSTA	TE COMMERCE	65
VI.	HEA	LTH (CARE INDUSTRY BACKGROUND	67
	A.	Qual	lifications of Deborah Haas-Wilson	67
	В.		tionships Between Employee, Employer, Health Plan Hospital	69
	C.	Gove Ver	ernment Payment System Versus Commercial Insurance sus Uninsured	79
		1.	Differences and Similarities Among the Three Payment Systems	79
		2.	Hospital Prices Under the Three Payment Systems	81
	D.	Турс	es of Commercial Health Plan Products	85
		1.	НМО	85
		2.	PPO	86
		3.	Other Products Offered by Health Plans	86
		4.	Self Insurance	87
VII.	SEL	ECTIV	TE CONTRACTING	88
	A.	Com	petition in the Health Care Marketplace	88
		1.	Differences Between First and Second Stage Competition	88
		2.	The Process of Selective Contracting	88
		3.	Relative Bargaining Power in the Selective Contracting Process	90

		4.		act of Hospital Mergers on the Selective tracting Dynamic	93
	В.	Healt	th Plan	s' Perspectives on Selective Contracting	94
		1.	The	Bases for Competition Between Health Plans	94
		2.		th Plans' Criteria for Creating Hospital vorks	96
				VOLUME II	
	C.	Pre-N for N	Aerger etwork	Competition By ENH and Highland Park Inclusion	104
	D.	Impa Cont	ct of E	vanston-Highland Park Merger on Selective Process	110
		1.	The l	Merger Reduced Viable Network Alternatives	110
		2.		th Plans Were Unable to Exclude the -Merger ENH from Their Networks	113
VIII.	DIRE ELIM	CT EV	/IDEN ION O	CE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: F A DIRECT COMPETITOR	125
	A.	Evan Befor	ston ar	nd Highland Park Were Direct Competitors Aerger	125
•	В.	Abser a Via	nt the I ble Cor	Merger, Highland Park Would Have Remained mpetitor	137
		1.		lland Park Could Have Continued As a d-Alone Competitor Without the Merger	137
			a.	Respondents Dropped the Failing Firm Affirmative Defense	137
·			b.	Pre-Merger, HPH Had a Strong Balance Sheet and Was Backed by Its Foundation's Assets	137
			c.	Foundation Assets Would Not Have Exited	

			HPH Without The Merger	147
			d. HPH's Management and Board Believed	
			That HPH Was Financially Strong	
			Pre-Merger	150
			e. HPH's 1999 Operating Results Were	
			Distorted Due to Merger-Related Expenses	158
			f. Highland Park Could Have Continued As	
			a Stand-Alone Competitor Without the	•
			Merger	160
		2.	Highland Park Was an Attractive Candidate for	
			Other Mergers	164
X.	DIR	ECT E	VIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:	
	THE	PRIC	ING OF ENH TO HEALTH PLANS FOLLOWING	
	THE	MER	GER WITH HIGHLAND PARK PROVIDES DIRECT	
	EVI	DENCE	E OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	168
	A.	Intro	oduction to the Data Relied Upon by Dr. Haas-Wilson	168
		1.	Data from the IDPH Universal Dataset	169
		2.	Data Submitted by the Economic Consulting Firm	
			NERA on Behalf of ENH.	171
		3.	Data Submitted by ENH in Response to a Civil	
			Investigative Demand Issued by the Federal Trade	
			Commission	172
		4.	Claims Data Submitted by Health Plans	173
	В.	The	re is No Dispute That ENH Raised Prices to Health	
			s Following the Merger with Highland Park	174
,		1.	The Data from the IDPH Universal Dataset and	
			the Data from the Medicare Cost Reports Show	
			That ENH Raised Prices to Health Plans, Taken	
			As a Whole, Following the Merger with Highland	
			Park	175

	2.	Raise	data Provided by NEKA Shows That ENH d Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the er with Highland Park	181
	3.	the Ci Raise	Data Provided by ENH in Its Response to ivil Investigative Demand Shows That ENH d Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the er with Highland Park	190
	4.	Aetna That	Commercial Payer Claims Data Provided by a, Blue Cross, Humana, and United Shows ENH Raised Prices to Most Health Plans wing the Merger with Highland Park	200
		a.	United	203
		b.	Aetna	206
		c.	Humana	207
		d.	Blue Cross/Blue Shield	209
	5.		Baker's Analysis Confirmed That Prices Went t ENH After the Merger with Highland Park	210
			VOLUME III	
		a.	Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase When He Looked at Individual Payers	212
·		b.	Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase When He Combined All the Payers Examined by Him	213
C.	Higl Org	hland Pa anizatio	Dispute That, Following the Merger with ark, ENH Raised Prices to Managed Care ons Relative to Other Hospitals in the Chicago	.
	Are			215
	1.		tive Price Changes, Not Relative Prices, Is the ropriate Methodology to Test for Market Power	215

2.	Hospi	ner ENH's Prices Increased Faster Than Other tals Is Determined by Using a Methodology l Difference in Differences	217
3.	Result Contr	ise Multiple Control Groups Assure That the ts Are Not Dependent Upon the Choice of the rol Group, Dr. Haas-Wilson Used Three Control ps	219
4.	Quan	of Statistical Significance Allow the tification of the Amount of Confidence One the Results	223
5.	Healt Hospi Regai	DPH Universal Dataset Shows That Prices to h Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at Other itals After the Merger with Highland Park, rdless of the Control Group Used and rdless of the Patient Group Used	223
	a.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group Hospitals After the Merger with Highland Park	224
	b.	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group Hospitals After the Merger with Highland Park	227
	c.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group Hospitals After the Merger with Highland Park	229
6.	Exce Went After	Commercial Payer Claims Data Shows That, pt for Blue Cross, Prices to Most Health Plans t Up Faster at ENH Than at Other Hospitals the Merger with Highland Park, Regardless e Control Group Used	231
	a.	The United Claims Data Shows That Prices	

	Othe	nted Went Up Faster at ENH I han at or Hospitals After the Merger with dand Park for All Control Groups	221
	ıngıı	nand I ark for An Control Groups	231
	(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
	. ,	Hospitals, Prices to United Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control	
		Group Hospitals After the Merger	
	,	with Highland Park	231
	(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging	
	• •	Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to	
		United Went Up Faster at ENH Than	
		at the Control Group Hospitals After	
		the Merger with Highland Park	234
	(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
		Teaching Hospitals, Prices to United	
		Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the	
		Control Group Hospitals After the	
		Merger with Highland Park	235
b.	The	Aetna Claims Data Shows That Prices	
	to A	etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at	
	Oth	er Hospitals After the Merger with	
	High	hland Park for All Control Groups	236
	(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
		Hospitals, Prices to Aetna Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control	
		Group Hospitals After the Merger	
		with Highland Park	236
	(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging	
		Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to	
		Aetna Went Up Faster at ENH Than	
		at the Control Group Hospitals After	
		the Merger with Highland Park	238
	(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
		Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Aetna	
		Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the	
		Control Group Hospitals After the	

	Merger with Highland Park	.239			
The Humana Claims Data Shows That Prices					
	ımana Went Up Faster at ENH Than				
	her Hospitals After the Merger with				
	land Park for All Control Groups	.240			
(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA				
(-)	Hospitals, Prices to Humana Went				
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control				
	Group Hospitals After the Merger				
	with Highland Park	.240			
(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago				
	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Humana				
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the				
	Control Group Hospitals After the				
	Merger with Highland Park	.242			
(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA				
	Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Humana				
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the				
	Control Group Hospitals After the				
	Merger with Highland Park	.243			
The C	One Health Claims Data Shows That				
Price	s to One Health Went Up Faster at ENH				
Than	at Other Hospitals After the Merger				
with	Highland Park for All Control Groups	244			
(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA				
	Hospitals, Prices to One Health Went				
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control				
	Group Hospitals After the Merger				
	with Highland Park	.245			
(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago				
	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to One Health				
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the				
	Control Group Hospitals After the				
	3.5	.247			

			(3) Compared to the Chicago PMSA Teaching Hospitals, Prices to One Health Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group Hospitals After	
			the Merger with Highland Park	247
÷	•	e.	The Blue Cross Claims Data Does Not Show	
			That Prices to Blue Cross Went Up Faster at	
			ENH Than at Other Hospitals After the	
			Merger with Highland Park	248
	7.	Profess	sor Baker's Analysis Confirms That Prices	•
		Went U	Up at ENH Relative to Other Hospitals	248
		. a.	Dr. Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	
			That Exceeded the Price Increases at His	
			Control Group for United, Aetna, and	
			Humana	249
		b.	Dr. Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	
			That Exceeded the Price Increases at His	
			Control Group for the Average Price of the	
			Four Payers Analyzed by Him	251
	8.	Summ	ary	253
D.	Dr.	Haas-Wil	son Considered Eight Alternative Explanations	
			ncreases Besides Increases in Market Power	
	Aris	ing from	the Merger and Learning About Demand	253
	1.	Price I	Increases Alone Do Not Establish the Exercise	
			rket Power, As Alternative Explanations Must	
		Be Rej	ected	253
	, 2.	There	Were Eight Alternative Explanations for the	
	₹		Increase to Rule Out Besides Market Power	
			earning About Demand	254
	3.	Dr. Ha	aas-Wilson Was Able to Directly Rule Out	
			f the Eight Alternative Explanations of the	•
			ncrease at ENH.	256

	a.	Cost Increases	256
	b.	Changes in Regulations	257
	c.	Changes in Consumer Demand	258
	d.	The Relative Price Increase at ENH,	
		Compared to Control Groups, Rules Out	
		Changes in Costs, Regulations, and Demand	
		As an Explanation of the Price Increase	259
	e.	The Increases in Prices at ENH Relative to	
		Other Hospitals Cannot Be Explained by	
		an Increase in Quality Relative to Other	
		Hospitals	261
	f.	Decreases in Prices of Outpatient Services	
		at ENH Cannot Explain the Increase In Prices	
	٠	at ENH Relative to Control Group Hospitals	263
4.	Dr.	Haas-Wilson Was Not Able to Rule Out Three	
	of th	ne Eight Alternative Explanations of the Price	
	Incr	rease at ENH Without Additional Analysis	266
	a.	Changes in the Mix of Patients at ENH Cannot	
		Be Ruled Out As a Potential Explanation for	
		the Increase in Prices at ENH Without	
		Additional Analysis	267
		(1) Commercial Claims Data	268
		(2) The IDPH Universal Dataset	269
	b.	Changes in the Mix of Customers at ENH	
		Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
		Explanation for the Increase in Prices at	
		ENH Without Additional Analysis	269
	c.	Changes in the Teaching Intensity at ENH	
		Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
		Explanation for the Increase in Prices at	
		ENH Without Additional Analysis	270

	5.	Her I	Laas-Wilson Was Able to Eliminate Five of Eight Alternative Causes of the Price Increase H	272
E.	Mix	, Chang	gression Analysis Ruled Out Changes in Patient es in Customer Mix, and Changes in Teaching Explanations for the Relative Price Increase	
	Obs	erved at	ENH After the Merger with Highland Park	272
	1.	Mult	iple Regression Analysis Allows the Researcher	
			easure Simultaneously the Impact of Multiple	
			pendent Variables on a Dependent Variable	273
	· 2.	The]	IDPH Universal Dataset Shows That Changes	
			atient Mix, Changes in Customer Mix, and	
			nges in Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain the	
			tive Price Increase at ENH Following the Merger	
		with	Highland Park, Using Any Control Group and	
			Grouping of Patients	274
		a.	For All Patients in the IDPH Universal	
			Dataset, Changes in Patient Mix, Customer	
			Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
			the Relative Price Increase at ENH Following	
			the Merger with Highland Park	275
		b.	For Commercially Insured and Self Pay	
			Patients in the IDPH Universal Dataset,	
			Changes in Patient Mix, Customer Mix,	
		-	and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
			the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
			Following the Merger with Highland Park	277
		c.	For Commercially Insured, Self Pay, HMO,	
			and Self-Administered Patients in the IDPH	
			Universal Dataset, Changes in Patient Mix,	
			Customer Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot	
			Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
			Following the Mongar with Highland Park	278

	3.	Commercial Payer Claims Data Shows That Changes in Patient Mix, Customer Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH					
		Follo	owing the Merger with Highland Park	280			
		a.	Aetna	283			
		b.	Blue Cross	284			
		c.	Humana	284			
		d.	United	286			
		e.	One Health (Great-West)	288			
	4.	Dr. I	Baker's Regression Results Were Consistent with Haas-Wilson's Results Showing That Patient Mix not Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH				
			r the Merger with Highland Park	289			
	5.	Conc	clusion	294			
F.		The Learning About Demand Theory Does Not Explain the Price Increases at ENH					
	1.	Park Not T	Pre-Merger Payment Rates in the Highland Contracts with Commercial Payers Would Teach ENH About the Demand by Payers for ervices	296			
	2.	The A Noet Bake	Academic Control Group, Developed by Dr. Ther and Used by Both Dr. Noether and Dr. Ther, Is an Inappropriate Control Group to The pare with ENH				
		a.	ENH's Patient Mix Is Very Different from the Patient Mix of Loyola University, Northwestern Memorial, Rush Presbyterian- St. Luke's, and the University of Chicago	301			
		b.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Inappropriately Compares ENH to Hospitals That Perform Quaternary Services	302			

		c. Most of the Hospitals in Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Were Not Similar to ENH in Terms of the Overall Inpatient Services They Provide	304
		d. Teaching Intensity, Bed Size, and Public Perception Were All Factors That Cut Against Dr. Noether's Control Group Being an Appropriate Control Group	306
		e. The Testimony of ENH's Customers Undermines Dr. Noether's Control Group	308
		VOLUME IV	
	3.	Even If One Accepts Dr. Noether's Control Group, Dr. Baker's Analysis Shows That the Learning About Demand Claim Is Inconsistent with the Pricing Evidence	311
	4.	Changes in Information, One of the Potential Explanations for the Price Increase Observed at ENH After the Merger, Does Not Explain the Price Increase	320
G.	the I	nclusion - The Pricing of ENH to Health Plans Following Merger with Highland Park Provides Direct Evidence Anticompetitive Effects	321
	1.	Other Alternative Explanations Eliminated	323
	2.	Trial Testimony Supports This Conclusion	323
	3.	Contemporaneous Business Documents Support This Conclusion	325

X. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:

EXP	ERIEN	NCES (OF HEALTH PLANS	327
A.	Ove	rview o	of 2000 Contract Negotiations and Price Increases	327
	1.	Chr Play	onology of Key Events and Identification of Key ers from ENH, Bain and Health Plans	327
	2.	Per	Diem Versus Per Case Versus Discount Off	
		a.	Definitions	336
		b.	Pressure from Health Plans Generally Resulted in Fixed Rate Contracts in the Late 1990s in the Chicago Area	338
		c.	Pre-Merger, Health Plans Successfully Pressured Evanston and Highland Park Hospital for Various Fixed Rate Contracts	340
		d.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Fixed Rates Are Predictable	344
		e.	Health Plans Lose Predictability Under a Discount off Charges Arrangement	347
		f.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Health Plans Achieve Lower Rates Through Such Arrangements	351
		g.	Health Care Providers Prefer Discount off Charges Arrangements Because Such Arrangements Mean Less Risk and More Profit for the Providers	352
		h.	With Regard to the Merger, ENH Strategized to Move All Health Plan Contracts to a Discount off Charges Arrangement	354
		i.	ENH Achieved Discount off Charges Arrangements with Various Health Plans Through the Merger	356

Hosp	oitais		359			
1.	ENE	I Wanted All Three Hospitals to Be Put on				
	Whi	chever Pre-Merger Contract for the Particular				
	Heal	lth Plan Had Higher Rates, Evanston's or				
	High	nland Park's	359			
	a.	ENH Moved All Three Hospitals to the Same				
		Health Plan Contract	359			
	b.	ENH Moved Health Plans to Whichever				
		Contract Had Higher Rates, the Evanston				
	•	Contract or the Highland Park Contract	363			
	c.	Some Health Plans Disagreed with the				
		Automatic Assignment of the Higher-Rate				
		Contract to Cover All Three ENH Hospitals	368			
2.	· In Re-Negotiating Contracts, ENH Demanded the					
	High	ner of the Two Contract Rates Plus a Premium	371			
	a. .	ENH Went With the More Favorable				
		Contract and Then Added a Premium to				
		the Higher Rate	371			
	b.	ENH Charged a Premium Over the Higher				
		Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger				
		Rate in Numerous Health Plan Contracts	378			
		(1) Aetna	378			
		(2) Cigna	382			
		(3) Humana	384			
3.	ENH	I Set up One Chargemaster for All Three				
	Hos	pitals, with the Price for Each Product and				
		ice Positioned at the Higher of the Two				
		Merger Prices, Evanston's or Highland Park's	387			
	a.	Chargemaster Definition	387			

B.

		b. ENH Adopted the Higher of the Evanston or	,
		Highland Park Pre-Merger Chargemaster	
		Rates Post-Merger	388
		c. In Adopting the Higher of the Two Merging	,
		Parties' Chargemaster Rates, ENH Raised Its	
		Prices to Health Plans with Discount Off Charges	
		Arrangements	391
	4.	Other Hospital Systems Have Separate Prices for	
		Each Hospital	396
		•	
		a. It Is Unusual For a Hospital System to Charge	
		the Same Rates for All Hospitals in the System	396
		one sume research in the System	
		b. The Advocate, Rush, Resurrection and Provena	
		Systems Charge Different Rates for Different	
		Hospitals in Their Systems.	397
C.	ENI	H Instituted Major Chargemaster Price Increases in	
•		2 and 2003.	401
D.	The	First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002 Is an	
		imple of ENH's Ability to Increase Prices Dramatically	
		lealth Plans Without Needing to Re-Negotiate Their	
		itracts	404
	COL	**************************************	
	1.	Chargemaster Changes Directly Affect Only	
	1.	Contracts Containing a Discount Off Charges	
		Provision	105
		1 1 UV 151UH	403
	2.	ENH, in Deciding to Increase Its Chargemaster	
	4.		
		Prices, Elected to Set the Prices at a Very High Level	400
•		Level	408
	2	The First Maior Champanastan Income in 2002	
	3.	The First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002	
		Raised ENH's Net Revenue by \$20 Million to \$26	440
		Million Annually	410
	4	TORIET SALL BLACK COMMENT OF THE AREA TO THE	
	4.	ENH Was Not Concerned That Health Plans	
		Would Switch to Other Hospitals Due to the 2002	
		Chargemaster Price Increases	413
	_	B 43 B4 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	
	5.	Because of the Discount Off Charges Provisions	

	in Health Plan Contracts, ENH Can Unilaterally Institute Large Chargemaster Price Increases Without Even Giving Notice to Most of Its Health	
	Plan Customers.	414
E.	ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from United	417
	1. Pre-Merger Experience	417
	2. Post-Merger Experience	417
	VOLUME V	
F.	ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from PHCS	448
	1. Pre-Merger Experience	448
	2. Post-Merger Experience	451
G.	ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from One Health/Great-West	479
	1. Pre-Merger Experience	479
	2. Post-Merger Experience	481
H.	ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Aetna	508
	1. Pre-Merger Experience	508
	2. Post-Merger Experience	510
I.	ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Unicare	526
	1. Pre-Merger Experience	526
	VOLUME VI	,
	2. Post-Merger Experience	531
J.	ENH Also Extracted a Significant Price Increase from	. 554

	K.	ENH to Ho	I's Price Increases Were Contrary to Market Trends old Pricing Flat or to Discount Further	559
	L.	ENH Mini	I Increased Its Net Revenues from Health Plans by a imum of \$18 Million Annually Due Just to the 2000 aged Care Contract Re-Negotiations	
	M.	Whe	en Hospitals Increase Their Prices, Health Plans Pass Price Increases on to Their Customers	
XI.		ECT E	VIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: DMISSIONS	
	A.	Part	y Documents Regarding Merger Creating Market er	•
		1.	Evanston and Highland Park Sought Market Power Through the Merger	
		2.	ENH Employed the Market Power of the Combined Evanston and Highland Park After the Merger	
		3.	ENH Achieved Substantial Post-Merger Price Increases Through the Merger	
	В.	Testi Crea	imony of Present ENH Executives Regarding Merger	
		1.	Assessments in Contemporaneous Documents of the Anticompetitive Consequences of the Merger	
		2.	Are a Reliable and Accurate Reflection of Discussions ENH Executives Testified That Pre-Merger There	603
			Were Significant Pricing Pressures and the Threat of Increased Competition from Highland Park	605
		3.	Merger-Related Negotiations Headed by Jeff Hillebrand Were Successful for ENH	613
		4.	ENH's Executives Affirmed Respondent's Documents' Assertions About Price Increases Related to Post-Merger Re-Negotiations with	
			INVESTIGATE AND ENDING OF THE INTERPRETATION	

		Health Plans6	518
	5.	ENH Executive After-the-Fact "Explanations" of Leverage Are Factually Implausible	21
C.		imony of Former ENH Executives Regarding Merger ating Market Power6	525
	1.	Background of the Two Former ENH Executives6	27
	2.	Former ENH Executives Also Testified That Highland Park and Evanston Faced Pricing Pressures Before the Merger	528
	3.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That Market Power and Leverage over Health Plans Were Attributable to the Merger	536
	4.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That a Merger Plan Was to Use Power Attributable to the Merger to Increase Prices	541
		VOLUME VII	
	5.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That ENH's Plan to Use Power From the Merger to Increase Prices Succeeded	546
D.		timony and Documents from ENH Consultants Regarding rger Creating Market Power6	547
	1.	In 1999, ENH Engaged Bain to Provide Merger- Related Contracting Strategy	548
	2.	Bain Advised ENH to Use in Contracting the Increased Market Leverage Due to the Addition of Highland Park	650
	3.	Following Bain's Advice, ENH Successfully Utilized the Market Power Generated by the Merger to Extract More Money from Health Plans	557
IF.	Pric	or to the Highland Park Margar Evanstan and	

		mgu	HAHU I	ark Sought Market Power	659
		1.	Nor	thwestern Healthcare Network	659
			a.	A Central Purpose of the Northwestern	
				Healthcare Network Was to Negotiate	
				Collectively and Eliminate Competition	
				Between Member Hospitals to Obtain Better	
				Contract Terms.	661
			b.	Bain Recommended Joint Bargaining by	
				Hospitals in the Northwestern Healthcare	
				Network	663
			c.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network	
				Failed for a Number of Reasons	664
		2.	Nor	thwestern Healthcare-North Proposed Merger	
			of H	lighland Park, Evanston and Northwest	
			Com	amunity	669
			a.	Background of NH-North	670
			b.	Increasing Market Share and Joint	
				Negotiations Were Important Goals of	
				NH-North	671
			c.	Bain Advised Anticompetitive Measures	
				for Contracting by NH-North	672
			d.	The Proposed NH-North Merger Ultimately	
				Failed to Occur	675
		3.	Evai	nston-Highland Park Merger	675
			a.	Viewpoint of Evanston	675
			b.	Viewpoint of Highland Park	679
XII.	THE	STRU	CTUR	E OF THE MARKET GIVES RISE TO THE	
	LIKE	LIHO	OD O	F ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	687
	A.			on to Market Structure Analysis	
				The state of the s	∪ŏ/

	1.	For a Consummated Merger Where Pricing Data						
		Exists, the Emphasis Is on Analysis of the Pricing						
		Data, Not on Elzinga-Hogarty Type Analysis	687					
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test to Identify Smallest						
		Relevant Product and Geographic Markets	690					
В.	Proc Qua	duct Market: In-Patient Hospital Services (Except sternary) Sold to Health Plans	691					
	1.	Documents and Testimony Support the Conclusion						
		That Inpatient Hospital Services (Except Quaternary)						
		Sold to Health Plans Is a Relevant Product Market	691					
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test Supports the						
		Conclusion That Inpatient Hospital Services						
		(Except Quaternary) Sold to Health Plans Is a						
		Relevant Product Market	695					
	3.	Quaternary Services Are Not in the Product Market	698					
	4.	Outpatient Services Are Not a Substitute for Inpatient Services	700					
C.	Geo	Geographic Market: Triangle Formed by Evanston, Glenbrook and Highland Park703						
	Glei	nbrook and Highland Park	703					
	1.	General Definition of the Triangle Area	705					
	2.	SSNIP Test Supports the Conclusion That the						
		Triangle Is a Relevant Geographic Market	707					
	3.	Patient Flow Analysis and the Elzinga-Hogarty						
		Test Are Inappropriate Tools for Defining						
		Geographic Markets for General, Inpatient Acute						
		Care Hospital Services	709					
	4.	Evidence from Dr. Haas-Wilson Regarding the						
		Triangle Geographic Market	718					
	5.	Consistent Evidence from Current and Former						
		ENH Executives	710					

		6.	Consistent Evidence from Health Plans Regarding the Triangle Market	724
		7.	ENH's "Combined Core Service Area" As a Proxy for the Triangle Market	731
	D.	Mar	rket Shares and Concentration	733
		1.	Dr. Haas-Wilson's Calculations of Market Share and Concentration in the Triangle Market	733
		2.	Calculations Based on ENH Documents and Testimony for the Combined Core Service Area	733
		3.	Dr. Noether's Calculations for the Market As Defined by Her	736
	E.	Con Gui	aparison of ENH HHIs to HHIs in the Merger delines and Prior Case Law	736
	*	1.	HHIs for the Triangle Market	736
		2.	HHIs from Noether	737
		3.	Comparison With Past Hospital Merger Cases in Seventh Circuit Where Enforcement Action Was Successful	738
XIII.	ENH BY F	I'S PRI ENTRY	ICE INCREASES HAVE NOT BEEN CONSTRAINED	
			VOLUME VIII	
XIV.	DR.	BAKE	R LACKS CREDIBILITY	746
	A.	Dr.	Baker's Compensation	746
	B.	Dr. 1	Baker's First Report	746
	C.	Dr.	Ashenfelter's Rebuttal Report	750
	D.	Dr. 1	Baker's Second Report	752

	E.	Dr. Baker's Testimony	756
XV.		LEARNING ABOUT DEMAND EXCUSE IS WITHOUT	759
	A.	Introduction to What the Alleged Defense Is	759
,	В.	ENH Repeatedly and Vigorously Attempted to Re-Negotiate Contracts Throughout the 1990s	760
	C.	There Is No Contemporaneous Evidence Showing That ENH Changed Its Pricing Strategy to Price at the Level of "Academic" Hospitals	765
		1. Absence of Contemporaneous Business Records	765
		2. Testimony of Health Plans Regarding Learning About Demand	769
	D.	Evanston Could Not Have Learned Anything Significant About Demand from Highland Park	773
		1. Evanston Could Have Learned Little About the Demand for Its Own Services by Learning About the Demand for Highland Park's Services Because They Were Not Identical Hospitals	773
		2. Pre-Merger, Highland Park Charged Lower Actual Prices Than Evanston	776
		3. Dr. Noether's Rate Comparisons Cannot Be Taken at Face Value	779
	E.	Respondent's Experts' Comparisons to Dr. Noether's Control Groups Are Biased and Inappropriate	78 0
		1. Dr. Noether Began with an Arbitrary Group of 20 Hospitals	783
		2. Dr. Noether's Division of Her Hospitals into an Academic Hospital Group and a Community Hospital	700

3.	Hos _j Her	Noether Left Hospitals off of Her List of 20 pitals That Met the Criteria for Inclusion in Academic Control Group If She Had Included m in Her Original List	701					
4.			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,					
4.	Dr. I	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group						
		Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her						
		of 20 Hospitals) That Are Considered Major						
		ching Hospitals and That Had Lower						
	Post	-Merger Prices Than Northwestern Memorial						
		pital, University of Chicago Hospital, Rush-						
		byterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola						
	Univ	versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	793					
	a.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	793					
	b.	St. Francis Hospital	794					
5.		Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her						
	List	List of 20 Hospitals) That Treated, on Average,						
		e Complex Cases Than ENH and That Had						
		ver Post-Merger Prices Than Northwestern						
		norial Hospital, University of Chicago Hospital,						
		h-Presbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola						
		versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	795					
	a.	Alexian Brothers Medical Center						
	b.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	798					
	c.	Northwest Community Hospital	799					
	d.	Resurrection Medical Center	801					
	e.	Rush North Shore Medical Center	802					
	f.	St. Francis Hospital	804					
6.	of "A Inch	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals That Were uded in Her 20 Hospital List and That Treated, Average, More Complex Cases Than Another						

		Control Group	805
	7.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Is Not an	
		Appropriate Control Group	807
		a. Case Mix and Services Provided	807
		b. Teaching Intensity	811
		c. National Recognition	811
	8.	Health Plans Do Not Consider ENH to Be	·
		Comparable to Northwestern Memorial Hospital,	
		Rush-Presbyterian-St. Luke's, or the University of	
		Chicago	812
		a. PHCS	812
		b. One Health	813
		c. United	816
	9.	ENH's Pricing History to Blue Cross Showed No	
		Trend Toward the Prices Charged by the Academic	
		Control Group	816
	10.	Dr. Noether Treated Highland Park Hospital	
	10.	Inappropriately in Her Comparisons	817
F.	ENH	Here I Flunked the Learning About Demand Test	821
	1.	United	829
	2.	Humana	830
	3.	Blue Cross	831
G.	The	Learning About Demand Excuse Is Implausible	
		6	
	1.	There Is No Dispute That ENH Had Market Power	
		After the Merger with Highland Park	833

		2.	The Theory of Learning About Demand Is Just a Claim That ENH Did Not Know How Much Market	
			Power It Had Prior to the Merger	834
		3.	ENH Had Substantial Market Power Post-Merger	836
			a. Rush North Shore Medical Center	837
			b. St. Francis Hospital	838
			c. Advocate Lutheran General Hospital	839
			d. Resurrection Medical Center	841
			e. Lake Forest Hospital	842
			f. Condell Medical Center	843
			g. ENH Was Able to Raise Prices Without Losing Managed Care Business	844
		4.	The Learning About Demand Theory Implies That ENH Could Have Charged the Post-Merger Prices Pre-Merger, Which It Could Not	844
		5.	It Is Implausible That ENH Could Have Remained in Disequilibrium Pre-Merger Because Health Plans Would Have Known Their Own Demand for Evanston's Services Pre-Merger	847
			VOLUME IX	
XVI.	The	Quality	y of Care Changes Do Not Excuse the Merger	849
	A.	Resp	pondent Failed to Prove That Quality Improved	850
		1.	Respondent Did Not Even Attempt to Show That ENH's Quality Improved Compared to Other Hospitals	850
			a. No Analysis of Control Group or Other Hospitals Outside ENH	850

b.		-	uality Improvements Limited to
		_	ts of One of Three Hospitals in
		,	
c.	-		Failed to Prove That Quality
		-	tweigh the Anticompetitive
•			e Merger and Even Failed to
			hodology for Making Such a
	Com	parison	1855
	_		l Presented the Only Quantitative
	-	-	, and the Results Prove That
			aprove in All of the Areas Where
Obj	ective D	ata Wa	s Available858
a.			Is Complaint Counsel's Expert
	Witn	ess for	Quality of Care Issues858
b.	Dr. F	Romano	o's Analysis of Outcomes861
	(1)	Dr. I	Romano Found No Discernible
		Imp	rovement in Quality of Care at
		High	aland Park After the Merger864
		(a)	There Was No Improvement
		• •	in Heart Attack Care After the
ſ			Merger867
		(b)	ENH's Opening of a Cardiac
		• •	Surgery Program at Highland
			Park Hospital May Have
			Worsened the Quality of Cardiac
			Surgery at ENH879
		(c)	There Was No Improvement in
		,	Interventional Cardiology at
			Highland Park Hospital or at
			ENH As a Whole After the Merger887
		(d)	There Was No Improvement in
		\ <i>/</i>	the Quality of Obstetrics and
			Gynecology Care at Highland
			A STATE OF THE PROPERTY.

		Park Hospital or at ENH As a
		Whole After the Merger889
	(e)	There Was No Significant
		Improvement in the Quality
		of Nursing Services at Highland
		Park Hospital or ENH After
		the Merger895
	(f)	Highland Park Hospital Does
		Not Perform As Well As
		Academic Hospitals in Key
		Outcome Measures898
(2)	The '	Validity of Dr. Romano's Analysis900
(3)		erts in the Field of Quality
		surement, As Well As ENH Itself,
		Principally on Outcome and
	Proc	ess Measures916
Dr. I	Romano	o's Analysis of Patient Satisfaction Data924
(1)	Dr. I	Romano's Findings Based on
	Data	from Press-Ganey923
	(a)	Patient Satisfaction with
		Nursing Services Declined at
		Highland Park and Evanston
		Hospitals After the Merger926
	(b)	There Was No Improvement
		in Patient Satisfaction with
		Cancer Care Services at
		Highland Park Hospital After
		the Merger927
	(c)	There Was No Improvement
		in Patient Satisfaction with
		Obstetrics and Gynecology
		at Highland Park Hospital
		After the Merger929

			(d) There Was No Improvement
			In Patient Satisfaction at
			Highland Park Hospital in
			Other Areas After the Merger930
			(2) ENH Uses Press-Ganey Data to
			Measure Patient Satisfaction931
B.	Qua	lity Cha	anges Are Exaggerated932
	1.	Dr. O	Chassin's Qualitative Analysis Was Inadequate932
			VOLUME X
	. 2.	Ther	e Was No Significant Quality Improvement
			ighland Park Hospital Due to the Merger941
		a.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement in Nursing Services at
			Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger942
		b.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement in Obstetrics and Gynecology at Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger957
		c.	There Was No Significant Improvement in
-			Highland Park Hospital's Quality Assurance
			Activities Due to the Merger972
		d.	There Was No Significant Improvement in
			Highland Park Hospital's Quality
			Improvement Activities Due to the Merger990
		e.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement in Laboratory Medicine and
			Pathology Services Due to the Merger998
		f.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement in Oncology at Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger1000
		g.	There Was No Significant Quality
		5 •	Improvement in Emergency Care at Highland

			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1004
		h.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement in Intensive Care at Highland	
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1007
		i.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement in Pharmacy Services at	
			Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1010
		j.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement in Psychiatric Care at Highland	
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger	1012
		k.	The Merger Did Not Significantly Improve	
			the Quality of Care at Highland Park Hospital	
			Because of the So-Called Clinical	
			"Rationalization"	1013
		l.	There Was No Significant Quality	
			Improvement at Highland Park Hospital	
			by Virtue of Academic Affiliation	1016
C.			Changes Are Not Merger Specific Because	
			ark, on Its Own Or with Others, Could Have	
	Achi	ieved th	ne Same Quality Changes	1018
	1.		nland Park Hospital Was Already a Good	
		Hosp	pital Before the Merger	1019
			VOLUME XI	
	,	a.	Highland Park Hospital Offered Leading	
			Edge and Innovative Clinical Programs	
			Before the Merger	1030
		b.	Highland Park Hospital Continually Added	
			New Clinical Services and Made Improvements	
			Before the Merger	1039
	2.		nland Park Hospital Already Had Plans to	
		Imp	lement Some of the Changes Before the Merger	1041

	a.	Highland Park Hospital Had Decided to Develop a Cardiac Surgery Program Before	
		the Merger	1045
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Was Actively	
		Pursuing a Joint Cancer Care Program	
		with Other Hospitals, Including Evanston,	
		Before the Merger	1054
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Was Already	
		Planning to Renovate and Expand Its	
		Emergency Department Before the Merger	1057
3.	Som	ne of the Changes Were Part of a General	
		ionwide Trend of Improvement	1059
	a.	Subsequent to the Merger, There Has Been	
		an Increase in the Use of Intensivists by	
		Hospitals	1064
	b.	There Has Been An Increase in the Use of	
		Information Technology by Hospitals to	
		Improve the Quality of Care	1067
4.	Higl	hland Park Could Have Continued to	
		prove and Expand Other Clinical Services	
		hout the Merger	1072
	a.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	•
		Implemented the Changes in Its Obstetrics	
		and Gynecology Department Without the	
		Merger	1073
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
		Implemented the Changes in Its Quality	
		Assurance and Quality Improvement	
		Activities Without the Merger	1076
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
		Improved Its Physical Plant Without the	
		Merger	1077
	d.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	

				Implemented the Changes in Its Laboratory Without the Merger	
			e.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Pharmacy Services Without the Merger	1079
			f.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Radiology Department Without the Merger	1080
		5.	Hig	hland Park Hospital Possessed the Financial	
			Asso	ets to Implement Quality Changes on Its Own	1080
	D.	Virt	ually A	all of the Alleged Quality Improvements	
				After Health Care Contracts Were ted	1082
	E.	ENI	I Did N	Not Negotiate Price Increases with Health ne Basis of Quality Improvements	
XVII.				OFIT STATUS DID NOT RESTRAIN ITS IARKET POWER	1099
	A.	ENI to P	I's Not ost-Me	-For-Profit Status Did Not Affect Its Approach rger Price Increases	1099
	В.	The	Hospit	tal Boards Did Not Get Involved in Pricing Issues	1102
	C.	Mar	ageme	sts of Evanston, Highland Park, and ENH ant Did Not Align with the Interests of Consumers	
		Revo	erms o enues F	of Pricing and in Terms of Passing on Increased Resulting from the Merger	1104
	D.	Ecoi Hos _j	omic S pitals E	Studies Support the View That Non-Profit Exercise Market Power	1108
XVIII	.ENH	'S ME	MBER	SHIP IN THE NORTHWESTERN	
		HEA	LTHO	CARE NETWORK DOES NOT ELIMINATE ABILITY UNDER SECTION 7 OF THE	
		CLA	YTON	VACT	1112

	A.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network Did Not Exercise Central Control.	1112
	В.	Evanston and Highland Park Were Two Separate Entities Prior to the Merger	1114
		1. Separate Administrations	1114
		2. Separate Staffs	1116
		3. Separate Services	1117
		4. Financial Independence	1118
	C.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network Disbanded Before the Evanston-Highland Park Merger Occurred	1120
XIX.	REM	EDY	1122
	A.	The Proposed Remedy Is Practicable and Will Restore Competition	1122
	В.	Divestiture Would Not Have a Significant Impact on Quality at Highland Park Hospital	1124

REDACTED

(CX 1607 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 965:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores the fact that the market share referenced in the proposed finding likely represents ENH's rough share of its "core," the submarket that is too small to sustain ENH's business and, therefore, is of little relevance to the hospital. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 49, 57).

REDACTED

(RX 1331 at ENHE DL 11883, in camera; RFF-Reply ¶ 65).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 839, in camera).

Bain's comment regarding ENH being the "preferred provider" underscores ENH's reputation and prestige in the relevant market. (RFF ¶¶ 3, 10, 30-32, 34, 701-702, 718). Bain marshaled this value in an articulated way and advised ENH to bring that value to the negotiating table.

966. In terms of geography, ENH also knew that it had negotiating leverage due to the fact that "with the Highland Park merger, ENH offers the largest regional network for more convenient access." (CX 75 at 37).

Response to Finding No. 966:

This proposed finding is misleading because the cited Bain quotation relates to the number of physicians associated with ENH, not to the hospital network. The explanatory note in the Bain document reads: "Over 900 IPA physicians with a high degree of exclusivity." (CX 75 at 37). This statement simply reflects that the surrounding area physicians have more convenient access to hospital resources after the Merger to care for their patients.

967.

REDACTED

, (CX 21 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 967:

This proposed finding is misleading because

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1111, in

camera). ____

REDACTED

(CX 21, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 1111-

12, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 21 at 5 with CX 5174 at 1-2;

RFF ¶¶ 709, 888).

This proposed finding is also misleading to the extent it suggests that the ultimate rates agreed on by ENH and United were above-market.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 1131-1136). In addition, this

proposed finding ignores that

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 184-186).

Finally, this proposed finding is inaccurate because, far from being "non-negotiable," as this proposed finding suggests, the evidence demonstrated that several of the contract terms between ENH and United were the subject of negotiation. On December 3, 1999, ENH sent a proposal to United. (CX 111 at 1). United's negotiators indicated that the parties should use the better of the existing Evanston Hospital or HPH contracts as the basis for the new contract. (CX 111 at 1). Therefore, ENH proposed a series of rates consistent with HPH's contract. (CX 111

at 2-4). This proposal, however, bears almost no resemblance to the deal that the parties executed.

ENH proposed medical, surgical and pediatric per diems of \$1650 per day for HMO

patients. (CX 111 at 2).

REDACTED

(CX 5174 at 11, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 111 at 2 with CX 5174 at 11, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 111 at 2 with CX 5174 at

12, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 111 at 2-3).

REDACTED

(CX 5174 at 11-12; RFF ¶¶ 889-890).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 111 at 2 with CX 5174 at 12, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 111 at 4 with

CX 5174 at 7, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 892; CX 111; CX 5174

at 7, in camera).

968. During the United renegotiations, representatives from the health plan never threatened to redirect their patients to other hospitals as a result of the price increase. (Chan, Tr. 703).

Response to Finding No. 968:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that while selective contracting has historically been a tool of managed care, it has not played a role in managed care in the

Chicago area. (RFF ¶¶ 75-76). Therefore, it is unlikely that any MCO would make a threat to exclude any area hospital. In recent years, patients and employees in Chicago have demanded broad provider networks with few restrictions. (RFF ¶¶ 58-60).

969.

REDACTED

(CX 21 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 969:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 967).

970. In late 1999, United and ENH reached agreement on the new hospital rates with a contract effective date of January 1, 2000 (the date of the merger). (Hillebrand, Tr. 1875).

Response to Finding No. 970:

Respondent has no specific response.

ENH Obtained a Significant Price Increase from United

971.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 890; CX 5174 at 11-12, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 971:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores the fact that, at United's behest, the 2000 contract negotiations began with a proposal that was "consistent" with the rates and structure of HPH's contract, which was a discount-off-charges arrangement. (CX 111 at 1). Both Bain's and Chan's analysis revealed to ENH that HPH's agreement with United was far superior to Evanston Hospital's in many respects. (RFF ¶ 664, 679-684, 707-709, 882-885, 888).

This proposed finding is also misleading because it suggests that United's Open Access plan contracts with ENH were discount-off-charges arrangements. As is clear in the contract, for

many inpatient services Open Access had the same fixed rates as United's HMO. (CX 5174 at 11-12, in camera)

Finally, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it relies on Fourie's testimony.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr.

1118, in camera).

ł

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1119-20, in camera).

972. The 2000 contract between United and ENH also required United to pay the same rates for each of ENH's three hospitals. (Foucre, Tr. 890). ENH's insistence on one tax ID number and identical rates for all three hospitals was "challenging" (Foucre, Tr. 891).

Response to Finding No. 972:

This proposed finding is repetitive, misleading and should be afforded no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 825-826).

973. Ms. Chan, a negotiator for ENH, knew that, after the contract renegotiation, United "did poorly" and had to pay a lot more. (Chan, Tr. 696).

Response to Finding No. 973:

This proposed finding is misleading because it misconstrues the cited testimony. Chan testified only with regards to United's success in negotiations with ENH relative to some other MCOs. (Chan, Tr. 696). Moreover, this proposed finding ignores that,

REDACTED

(Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1589, *in camera*). Poor negotiation on United's part is not evidence of the exercise of market power by ENH.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 890, in camera). United successfully negotiated a number of terms into the finalized contract. (RFF-Reply ¶ 967).

(RFF ¶¶ 681-684).

974. After the renegotiated contract went into effect, Mr. Hillebrand reported to ENH's board of directors that the United contract renegotiation resulted in an "additional 3.5 million dollar benefit" for ENH. (CX 5 at 5; Hillebrand, Tr. 1820).

Response to Finding No. 974:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores that Evanston Hospital had not renegotiated its contract with United since 1994, and that contract was severely undermarket. (RFF ¶ 680-684, 694-695, 877-878). Earning increased revenue from bringing rates up to competitive market levels is not anticompetitive. (RFF ¶ 1131-1136).

975. Mr. Neaman further noted that the renegotiated United contract would bring in \$3 million of annualized economic value for the merged entity. (CX 17 at 1, 5).

Response to Finding No. 975:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397).

976.

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 19, in camera. See also CCFF 672-677, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 976:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 672-677).

977.

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 19, *in camera*; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2563, 2612-13, 2627-28, *in camera*).

Response to Finding No. 977:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 672-677).

2002 Renegotiation Experience of United

978.

REDACTED

(CX 21 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 978:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 967, 969). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because the evidence demonstrated that there were many other hospitals in the Chicago area that exercised competitive constraint on ENH.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1115, in camera; RX

1208 at UHCENH 3380, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre,

Tr. 1115, in camera; RX 1208 at UHCENH 3380, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1208 at UHCENH 3380, in camera).

Moreover, Foucre admitted that ENH competes with other hospitals in the North Shore. Foucre agreed that ENH competes with Advocate Lutheran General, St. Francis, Rush North Shore, and that HPH "primarily" competes with Condell and Lake Forest Hospitals. (Foucre, Tr. 941-42, 944 (emphasis added)). Foucre further testified that Advocate Lutheran General is "the most comparable facility from type of services, quality of services, and size of facility" to

Evanston Hospital. (Foucre, Tr. 943-44; RFF ¶ 565; RFF ¶¶ 563-564, 566-567, 569 (confirming that other MCOs also viewed Advocate Lutheran General as Evanston Hospital's closest competitor)).

979. In August 2002, United's COO, Jillian Foucre, requested a renegotiation of United's contract with ENH because, since the 2000 contract, ENH had been an "outlier" hospital with "much higher than the average reimbursement." (Foucre, Tr. 888).

Response to Finding No. 979:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 971).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 907-908).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 907-

908).

980. United was concerned in part because the 2000 contract relied primarily on a discount off charges payment methodology, resulting in higher and higher reimbursements from United as it witnessed "alarmin[g] escalating costs in [ENH's] billed charges" that were "outside of the norms for the market." (Foucre, Tr. 898, 889).

Response to Finding No. 980:

This proposed finding is misleading. First, the United contract with ENH included many fixed rates for important categories of service.

REDACTED

(CX 5174 at 11-12, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 892).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1118, in camera).

981.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1078, in camera; CX 21 at 8, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 981:

This proposed finding inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 967, 969, 978). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores expert empirical analysis of price levels demonstrating that

(RFF ¶¶ 1131-1136, 1154).

982.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1078, in camera; CX

21 at 8, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 982:

This proposed inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 967, 969, 978, 981).

983. In 2002, United's objectives in the renegotiation talks were to move the hospital to a new contract template, to move to more fixed rates with ENH, and to achieve a reduction in the total reimbursement under the contract so that United 's rates would be in line with Blue Cross/Blue Shield, United's primary competitor. (Foucre, Tr. 892-93).

Response to Finding No. 983:

This proposed finding is incomplete and not based on reliable evidence. (RFF ¶ 896).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 898-900; Foucre, Tr.

894, 896; Foucre, Tr. 1107, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1882).

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1880-81; RX 424 at UHCENH 3326, *in camera*). Those calculations simply "did not make any sense." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1879-81). Ultimately, ENH questioned the validity and reliability of this data and, "it never again resurfaced." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1881-82).

984. Mr. Hillebrand knew that United's renegotiation objectives in August 2002 were to get a "fair deal" and a "price reduction." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1877).

Response to Finding No. 984:

This proposed finding is misleading. United's initial proposal sought a \$20 million reduction on a \$50 million book of business, which failed to recognize the quality of service ENH provided to United's customers. (RFF ¶ 901-902). ENH had never before, and has never since, been presented with a proposal requesting such a significant reduction. (RFF ¶ 902). In addition, this finding is misleading because Complaint Counsel mischaracterizes Hillebrand's testimony. Hillebrand only related his understanding of the terminology used by United in justifying its unique proposal – "fair deal" and "price reduction." Hillebrand did not personally characterize United's proposal in this manner. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1877). To the contrary, Hillebrand clarified that he was "upset" about United's proposal and felt it was "demeaning" and "inadequate." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1878-79).

985. The face-to-face renegotiations between United's CEO, Bill Moeller, Ms. Foucre, Mr. Hillebrand, and Mr. Golbus came to a standstill as ENH refused to consider any of United's requests. (Foucre, Tr. 893).

Response to Finding No. 985:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. The evidence cited by Complaint Counsel does not support the proposed finding. (Foucre, Tr. 893). Foucre herself noted that ENH responded to each of United's concerns. Foucre testified that ENH responded that it felt fixed rates put too much risk on the hospitals rather than United, the "organization responsible for taking risk." (Foucre, Tr. 893). The fact is that ENH approached the United renegotiations hoping to accommodate United's concerns and reach a new agreement. (RFF ¶ 894-923). Moreover, at the end of the negotiations, both sides negotiated a deal that was mutually acceptable. (RFF ¶ 917-922).

Foucre,

Tr. 894-96, 898; CX 2381 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 986:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF ¶¶ 897-906; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 985). In addition, the evidence showed that United used this litigation and Complaint Counsel's investigation to improve its bargaining position in the contract renegotiation. (RFF-Reply ¶ 967).

(Foucre, Tr. 1109-11, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1208 at UHCENH 3383 to 3384, *in camera*). In fact, the evidence showed that United tried to play both sides. William Moeller, the president and CEO of United, pulled Hillebrand into a private caucus during a negotiation meeting and offered to help ENH with respect to the investigation. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1886-89; Foucre, Tr. 892, 922-23). As a result, the testimony of Foucre should be considered with the highest degree of caution, and the United evidence viewed with the highest order of skepticism.

987.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1081-82, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 987:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 979, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 905-906; RX 424 at UHCENH

3324, *in camera*; Hillebrand, Tr. 1879-80 (defining "case mix" as the "federal standard that measures the intensity of service")).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 905, in camera). As a result, the cited evidence is unreliable and should be disregarded.

988.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 936; Foucre, Tr. 1083, in camera;

CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 988

This proposed finding is misleading. Fourre defined academic hospitals as hospitals that have an association with a medical school. (Fourre, Tr. 935; Fourre, Tr. 1112, *in camera*).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1112, *in camera*; RFF ¶ 1, 8-11, 30). By United's own definition, therefore, ENH is an academic hospital. This status is confirmed by MedPAC, a federal regulatory body. (RFF ¶ 8, 559).

989.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1082, in camera).

Response to Finding 989:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 958; RFF ¶¶ 904-906, 987-988).

990.

REDACTED

(CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr.

1082-84, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 990:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 987-989).

991.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1084, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1084-85, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1084-85, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 991:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 958). REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P ¶ 987-990).

REDACTED

(RX 1208 at

UHCENH 3378, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 1116-18, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 907-908, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1208 at UHCENH 3378, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1208 at UHCENH 3378, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 908; Foucre, Tr. 1117-18, in camera).

To further demonstrate that ENH was at reasonable market levels, Foucre testified that

Advocate Lutheran General, REDACTED was the most comparable hospital to Evanston Hospital in terms of breadth of service, quality of service and size of facility. (RFF ¶ 565). United also admitted that Evanston Hospital and Northwestern Memorial were competitors for some services. (RFF ¶ 565).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1098-99, in camera; CX 6277 at 7, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 992:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 967, 969, 978, 981-982, 987, 990-991). This proposed finding is also misleading because the document relied on by Complaint Counsel for this proposed finding is unreliable.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1108-09, in camera; RFF ¶

909). However, none of these customers felt adversely affected by the Merger. (Foucre, Tr. 948).

993.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1081, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1081, in camera; CX 2381 at 3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 993:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores expert empirical analysis of price levels. (RFF ¶ 987, 990-991).

REDACTED (RFF ¶ 1135). REDACTED

(RFF \P 1135, in camera).

This proposed finding is also misleading because United specifically negotiated a provision into its 2000 contract with ENH to address increases in the hospital's standard charges. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 967, 980; RFF ¶ 892).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 87-90,

750-51, 846-847, 892).

994.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1081, in camera; CX 2381 at 3, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 994:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 987, 990-991, 993).

995.

REDACTE

(Foucre, Tr.

1096, in camera; CX 6277 at 6, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 995:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply $\P\P$ 992-993).

996.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 897; CX 57 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 996:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. Since ENH had learned about demand and knew that its rates were competitively priced, it refused to reduce its rates by 40% as requested by United. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1878-79). United's request for reduction was not

reasonable and did not recognize the care ENH was providing to its members and was inadequate compensation for the services. (RFF ¶¶ 901-902).

This proposed finding is also misleading because ENH rejected United's data because it was "nonsensical," "invalid," "extremely flawed," "didn't make any sense," and resembled "junior graduate school level work." (RFF ¶ 904; Hillebrand, Tr. 1879, 1881-82; Foucre, Tr. 896). In fact, after ENH criticized the data, United never again attempted to use it again during the negotiations. (RFF ¶ 906).

997.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 897;

CX 57 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 997:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that,

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 921).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶

883-884, 907-908, 921-922, 1131-1136, 1154).

998. In 2002, after exchanging proposals and counter-proposals a second time, United had made no progress towards achieving any of its business goals and considered terminating its existing contract with ENH. (Fourre, Tr. 898-900).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 899-900; CX 5174 at 7, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 998:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate because it ignores that,

REDACTED

(CX 5174 at 7, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 5174 at 7, in camera). REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 892).

According to United, Excluding ENH from Its Network Was Not a Viable Choice

999. Nonetheless, United could not terminate its contract with ENH because United "could not have a viable network that would support our sales and growth objectives without the Evanston Northwestern Healthcare system." (Foucre, Tr. 901-02, 925-26).

Response to Finding No. 999:

This proposed finding relies on unreliable hearsay evidence and also is inaccurate and misleading. At trial, Respondent objected to Foucre's unfounded characterization of out-of-court statements by United's customers. (Foucre, Tr. 901-902, 905-906). The Court allowed the testimony into the record, but it should be accorded little or no weight.

Also, the impetus for Foucre's conversations with employer groups regarding ENH was to coordinate with Complaint Counsel and use this litigation as leverage in its contract negotiation.

(Foucre, Tr. 1110-11, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 909; Foucre, Tr. 1110-11, in

camera). The Merger was not even discussed at that meeting. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1883-84).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because it ignores evidence suggesting that many hospitals could have served as network alternatives to ENH. At trial, Foucre admitted that ENH has a number of competitors that could serve as alternatives to the ENH hospitals. (RFF-Reply ¶ 978).

1000. A network comprised of United's other participating hospitals – Lake Forest, Condell, Northwest Community, Advocate Lutheran General and St. Francis Hospitals – would not be viable without ENH. (Foure, Tr. 900-01, 925-26).

Response to Finding No. 1000:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 978-999). Moreover, this proposed finding ignores that a significant nearby competitor of ENH had terminated from United's network in the post-Merger period. Rush North Shore, which is located a mere 3.7 miles from Evanston Hospital, was not in United's network from 2000 until August 2003. (Foucre, Tr. 932; RFF ¶ 389(b)). Importantly, Rush North Shore is closer to HPH than Evanston Hospital is to HPH. (RFF ¶ 390(c)).

Then, just as United contracted with Rush North Shore, ENH's closest competitor, Advocate Lutheran General, could not agree to terms with United and terminated from the network. (Foucre, Tr. 933-34; RFF ¶ 414, 563-569, 915). As a result of United's inability to reach agreements with ENH's competitors, it had less ability to use the alternative network. Therefore, the Merger had no effect on United's ability to field an appropriate network to its customers. United cannot credibly complain it has no substitutes when it failed to negotiate contracts with ENH's alternatives.

1001. United knew a network without Evanston Northwestern Healthcare would not provide adequate service to the "very heavily populated," area surrounding the three hospitals because "there are no other facilities" within the geographic triangle formed by the three hospitals. (Foucre, Tr. 902, 933).

Response to Finding No. 1001:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 285). In particular, the North Shore is not a "very heavily populated" area. (Foucre, Tr. 902). The North Shore is composed of "bedroom communities" for people who work in the city, with single-family homes and a fair amount of land, and a limited retail environment. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2030-31). Moreover, Foucre,

admitted that she did not live in the North Shore and did not "have a sense of the geography." (Foucre, Tr. 941).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it ignores the evidence demonstrating that the properly defined geographic market, in which to assess the competitive effects of the Merger, is much larger than the "triangle" advanced in this proposed finding. (RFF ¶ 383-498).

United's Employer Groups Would Not Accept a Network Without ENH

1002. Although United did not want to involve its employer groups in the negotiations with ENH ("they pay [United] to manage the network. They have businesses of their own to run"), United decided in early 2003 that "the situation was extreme enough" that it was time to contact representatives of some of its largest employer groups. (Foucre, Tr. 904-05).

Response to Finding 1002:

This proposed finding is misleading. As of January 2003, not a single United customer was adversely affected by the Merger. (Foucre, Tr. 948).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 999; Foucre, Tr. 1108-11, in camera).

Although employer representatives met with United and ENH, the Merger was never discussed at this meeting. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1884-85). Rather, this meeting focused on the general trends of health care costs, tort reform and the evolution of new types of health plans. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1884-85).

1003.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr.

903-05; Foucre, Tr. 1085-86, in camera; CX 6277 at 4, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1003:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1002).

1004.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr.

1089-92, in camera; CX 6277 at 3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1004:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 992, 995).

1005.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1086, in camera; CX 6277 at 4, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1005:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 992, 995).

1006.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1095, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1006:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 992, 995).

1007.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1097, in camera; CX 6277 at 8, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr.

1097, in camera; CX 6277 at 8, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1007:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 958, 992, 995). ENH's prices with United were not anticompetitive after the Merger. (RFF ¶ 1132-1136, 1154).

(RFF-Reply ¶ 991).

(Foucre, Tr. 1091, 1096, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1093, in camera; CX 2381 at 4, in camera; CX 6277 at 3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1008:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 992, 995).

Deloitte's chargemaster study was, in fact, a one-time adjustment to bring ENH's prices up to market levels. (RFF ¶¶ 956-959).

1009. Despite having learned of ENH's escalating rates, United's largest employer groups, comprising the "largest number of dollars flowing through Evanston Northwestern Healthcare," informed United that they did not view a network without ENH as a viable alternative (Foucre, Tr. 903, 905).

Response to Finding No. 1009:

This proposed finding is misleading and not based on reliable evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 978, 996, 1000). This proposed finding is based only on hearsay (admitted over the objection of Respondent) and should be afforded no evidentiary weight. (Foucre, Tr. 906-07). Complaint Counsel could have brought, but did not bring, any employers to testify at trial. As a result, Respondent had no right to effectively cross-examine any employers. Instead, Complaint Counsel relied on unreliable rumors and insinuations.

1010. United could have had a network that did not include certain hospitals (such as hospitals in the Rush or Advocate system that are spread out over a larger geographic area), but United could not market a network without ENH, a system that "is not geographically dispersed." (Foucre, Tr. 931-34).

Response to Finding No. 1010:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 978, 996, 1000). In addition, as Foucre testified, there are "a lot of hospitals in the North Chicagoland area." (Foucre, Tr. 934).

- REDACTED (RFF ¶ 456). Of those nineteen, two were from the Rush System (Rush Presbyterian and Rush North Shore) and one belongs to the Advocate System (Advocate Lutheran General). (RFF ¶ 456). Of course, since 2000, hospitals in the Rush System have been out of United's network. (RFF-Reply ¶ 958, 978, 996). Since the end of 2003, Advocate Lutheran General, one of Evanston Hospital's closest competitors also terminated from United's network. (RFF-Reply ¶ 958, 978, 996). In fact, there is significant and important overlap between the three ENH hospitals and the Rush and Advocate Systems. As United burned bridges to ENH's competitors, ENH became more important not because of the Merger.
 - 1011. Faced with the knowledge that it would not be able to market a network to its largest employer groups without including the three ENH facilities, United decided to abandon its objective of receiving a reduction in reimbursement from ENH in favor of a contract structured with fixed rates. (Fourre, Tr. 907).

Response to Finding No. 1011:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. United did not, and could not, impose a rate reduction because ENH's rates were appropriate for the market and competitive.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 907-

908, 1131-1136, 1154).

1012. United contacted ENH with its new written proposal in the hopes that, with more fixed rates, United would be better able to protect itself from ENH's escalating chargemaster. (Foucre, Tr. 907-08).

Response to Finding No. 1012:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores that,

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶

925, 935, 958, 967, 980). United secured protection from chargemaster updates in its 2000 contract.

In addition, this proposed finding ignores that

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 879-880, 912-

913).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶

913).

Finally, this proposed finding is misleading because, ultimately, ENH became the first hospital to agree to United's new methodology in its template contract. (RFF ¶ 919).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 920). Only months into that new

contract, ENH discovered significant problems resulting in mispaid claims under that payment structure. (RFF ¶ 923).

1013. On May 13, 2003, United held a meeting involving both ENH and its largest employer groups. (Foucre, Tr. 906). Kraft representatives "question[ed] the current reimbursement structure that was at percentage of charges" and "supported [United's] desire for more predictability on fixed rates." (Foucre, Tr. 909).

Response to Finding No. 1013:

This proposed finding is based on hearsay and is misleading. Complaint Counsel refused to call a single employer to testify regarding any alleged effect of the Merger. The cited testimony was admitted over Respondent's objection. Although it is part of the record, it should be given little weight. (Foucre, Tr. 906). At no time during the meeting with employers was the subject of the Merger even discussed. (RFF ¶ 909; Hillebrand, Tr. 1884).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent ignores that the data provided to Kraft by United was inaccurate and unreliable. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 992, 995).

Finally, of the at least seven employers that were approached by Foucre, by her own admission, only two even supported United's position on the matter. (Foucre, Tr. 909; RFF ¶ 909).

1014. Kraft representatives in particular were "pretty vocal about their . . . concern about the increasing trend" in ENH's chargemaster rates and the discount off charges structure of the current contract. (Foucre, Tr. 908).

Response to Finding No. 1014:

This proposed finding is based on hearsay and is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1013).

1015. ENH and United did not resolve the issue of contract structure at the May 13, 2003 meeting. (Foucre, Tr. 921-23).

Response to Finding No. 1015:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 917, 919-920).

ENH Compromised with United Only After Learning of the FTC's Scrutiny of the Matter

1016. Over the summer of 2003, the tone of the negotiations between ENH and United changed (Foucre, Tr. 912). New negotiators took over for both ENH and United, and ENH approached United to request a health plan for its employees and to become a customer of United for network services. (Foucre, Tr. 912-14).

Response to Finding No. 1016:

This proposed finding is misleading. The tone of negotiations certainly changed when new personalities from both sides took over the negotiations. (RFF ¶ 910). Washa from ENH had previously worked with United's new negotiator, Kurt Janavitz, and the contract negotiations between these two negotiators were more effective. (RFF ¶ 910).

This proposed finding implies that there is an inappropriate connection between ENH's annual renewal of its benefit plans for its employees and the contract negotiations. There is no

evidence that there was anything unusual about ENH considering United as its health insurer for its employees. (Foucre, Tr. 914). All employers compete in the labor markets and try to maximize "choice" for the employees to satisfy health care needs. (RFF ¶ 56-57). United is the second largest insurer in the Chicago area serving nearly 875,000 employees and families. (RFF ¶ 170). Naturally, as ENH sought a health insurer for its employees, United would be among the choices available.

1017. During a meeting at ENH to discuss the possible employee-benefit plan, Mr. Hillebrand requested that United representatives "contact the FTC and have a conversation with them about whether—about whether [United] believed that [it] had been . . . financially harmed by the merger of the Evanston hospitals with Highland Park." (Foucre, Tr. 914-15). Mr. Hillebrand also requested that United representatives contact ENH's counsel, Mr. Sibarium, at Winston & Strawn to make a statement that United was "not unreasonably harmed by the merger," and gave Mr. Sibarium's phone number to United representative William Moeller. (Foucre, Tr. 918-19; CX 6283 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1017:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it relies only on unreliable testimony by Foucre. Foucre was not even a party to the private caucus between Moeller, CEO of United, and Hillebrand referenced in this proposed finding. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1886; Foucre, Tr. 914-15 (confirming a private meeting between Moeller and Hillebrand took place)). During this private caucus, Moeller offered to assist ENH with respect to the FTC investigation. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1887). In particular, Moeller offered to support the hospitals' position during that meeting. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1887; RFF-Reply ¶ 978). Accordingly, Moeller asked Hillebrand for Sibarium's contact information. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1887).

1018. Believing that United, in fact, had been financially harmed by the merger, United did not assist ENH or its counsel. (Fourre, Tr. 919, 927).

Response to Finding No. 1018:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1017).

1019. Having made some progress on the renegotiation of the hospital contract from spring 2003, United representatives and ENH met again on September 2, 2003. (Foucre, Tr. 921).

(Foucre, Tr. 921-23; Hillebrand, Tr. 1928, in camera; CX 6284 at 1). Mr. Hillebrand told United representatives that ENH and its attorneys had "taken the liberty of drafting [a] letter pursuant to his conversation that he had had with Bill [Moeller] several weeks earlier." (Foucre, Tr. 923).

Response to Finding No. 1019:

This proposed finding is misleading. It is undisputed that Moeller requested the draft letter and, pursuant to that request, Hillebrand provided it. (Foucre, Tr. 923; Hillebrand, Tr. 1887.) Foucre was not a party to the discussions between Moeller and Hillebrand. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1017). Accordingly, Foucre's testimony concerning this issue should be accorded no weight. (Foucre, Tr. 928 (ruling that the Court will be mindful of CX 6284's due weight)).

1020. Mr. Hillebrand requested that United "consider sending [the] letter or some version of it that [they] were comfortable with" to the Director of the Bureau of Competition at the FTC. (Fourre, Tr. 922-23; CX 6284 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1020:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1019).

1021. Disagreeing with the substance of the letter drafted by counsel for ENH, United did not sign it or send it to the FTC. (Foucre, Tr. 924-25, 927).

Response to Finding No. 1021:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1019).

1022. While the letter drafted by ENH's counsel claimed that "the combination of ENH and HPH has not had any adverse impact on competition for hospital services in the Chicagoland area," United's "own data and information would indicate that there had been an adverse impact to United Healthcare." (Foucre, Tr. 924-25; CX 6284 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1022:

992).

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply $\P\P$ 967, 969, 978, 981-982, 987, 990-

1023. United could not adopt the language of ENH's letter in part because, as of September 2003, Ms. Foucre did not know whether or not the ENH/HPH merger had created an "improved and expanded integrated healthcare delivery system" or whether quality of care had been enhanced at each of the hospitals (as ENH's letter claimed) because she had not been given any information by ENH regarding "re-admission rates, complication rates, [or] average length of stay." (Foucre, Tr. 926-27).

Response to Finding No. 1023:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 905;

CX 2381 at 4, in camera; CX 6277 at 12, in camera).

1024.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 921-23; Foucre, Tr.

1101, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1024:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and misleading. A "fair amount" of negotiations occurred between the summer of 2003 and the date the new contract was executed in April 2004. (RFF ¶ 910).

(RFF-Reply ¶

1012).

1025.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 921-23; Foucre, Tr. 1101, in camera; CX 6284 at 1; CX 426 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1025:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. As an initial matter, Moeller from United *offered* to assist ENH in the FTC investigation. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1017-1018). Secondly, the private caucus in which Moeller offered to support ENH's position in this matter occurred

before the September 2, 2003, meeting. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1017, 1019). Pursuant to that meeting, ENH prepared the draft letter referenced by this proposed finding. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1017, 1019).

REDACTED

(CX 426 at 1, in camera (1

REDACTED

J).

1026. The Complaint in this matter was issued by the Commission on February 10, 2004. (Administrative Complaint, In the Matter of *Evanston Northwestern Healthcare*, February 10, 2004).

Response to Finding No. 1026:

Respondent has no specific response.

1027.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 887-88; CX 5176 at 1, 12, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1027:

Respondent has no specific response.

1028.

992).

REDACTED

(Foucre,

Tr. 1103, in camera).

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1103-04, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1028:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply $\P 967, 969, 978, 981-982, 987, 990-$

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶

979, 987, 991).

1029. Mr. Hillebrand admitted that the 2004 negotiation with United did not result in an overall price reduction to the health plan. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1890).

Response to Finding No. 1029:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 921, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 921; see CX 5176 at

33-34, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 921).

1030.

REDACTED

(Foucre, Tr. 1103, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 931-32).

Response to Finding No. 1030:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 958, 967, 971, 978, 981, 988, 996, 1000, 1002-1003, 1009-1010).

F. ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from PHCS

1. Pre-Merger Experience

1031. Prior to the merger, PHCS considered Highland Park and Evanston to be "competitors." (Ballengee, Tr. 166).

Response to Finding No. 1031:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. PHCS recognized that both HPH and Evanston Hospital had numerous competitors. PHCS listed St. Francis, Lake Forest Hospital, Advocate Lutheran General, Rush North Shore, and Holy Family Hospital as alternatives to the ENH hospitals. (RFF ¶ 457).

(RFF ¶ 457). PHCS characterized

Advocate Lutheran General, St. Francis, and Rush North Shore as significant competitors to

Evanston Hospital. (Ballengee, Tr. 211-12). Similarly, PHCS identified Lake Forest Hospital as HPH's most significant competitor. (Ballengee, Tr. 212).

1032. PHCS was able to get more competitive pricing from both hospitals when they were separate entities because "if, in fact, the negotiation and the rates were not going well at one hospital . . . we had the alternative." (Ballengee, Tr. 167).

Response to Finding No. 1032:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. First, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it is based on Ballengee's testimony.

(Ballengee,

Tr. 257-58, in camera). From 1997 through 1999, Ballengee did not have any responsibility for contracting in the Chicago area for PHCS. (Ballengee, Tr. 146-47). Consequently, Ballengee has absolutely no reliable basis to comment upon the negotiations of the pre-Merger contracts in effect at the time of the Merger.

Second, Ballengee and PHCS never explicitly used the existence of HPH in negotiations with Evanston Hospital, or vice versa. That is, PHCS did not play one hospital off of the other before the Merger. (Ballengee, Tr. 170; RFF ¶¶ 974-976).

1033. PHCS understood that it "could choose between the two [hospitals] and work them against each other." (Ballengee, Tr. 167).

Response to Finding No. 1033:

This proposed finding in accurate and misleading. Ballengee has no foundation for this speculation. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1032). Moreover, PHCS never played HPH off of Evanston Hospital before the Merger, or vice versa. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1032).

1034. During contract renegotiations prior to the merger, PHCS was able to get Evanston to lower its proposed rate increases to "4-8 percent" due to the "competitive nature of the two hospitals, one with the other." (Ballengee, Tr. 168-71).

Response to Finding No. 1034:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. In 1995, PHCS boasted to its customers that it was able to negotiate decreases in rates with Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 828-829).

(RFF \P 3, RFF \P 16, 30-32, 831-837, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶

685, RFF ¶ 686-688, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 685,

840; RFF ¶ 686-688, 831-837, in camera).

1035. Keeping the rate increases down during contract renegotiations was always important to PHCS because "rate increases at any price [for either Evanston or Highland Park] would have a direct impact on the customer's premium pricing that they had to pass on to the employers and on to – downstream to the employees." (Ballengee, Tr. 171-72, 179).

Response to Finding No. 1035:

This proposed finding is misleading. A MCO does not pass along the effects of all cost changes to its consumers.

REDACTED

(RX 1346 at BCBSI-ENH

5536; RX 1393 at ENHL BW 3691, in camera). Second, PHCS does not pass along all savings to its customers. PHCS's earnings exploded by an "astounding 50%" in 2003. (RFF ¶ 160).

2. Post-Merger Experience

2000 Negotiation Experience - ENH Demanded a Price Increase from PHCS

1036. In November of 1999, Bain identified ENH's contract with PHCS as a "1st priority" opportunity for which ENH had "enough leverage to improve terms." (CX 75 at 9-10; Neaman, Tr. 1171-72; CX 1998 at 40, 43)

Response to Finding No. 1036:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 1998 at 40; RFF ¶¶ 685-688, 838, in camera). This proposed finding insinuates that the word "leverage" as used by Bain is synonymous with market power. However, as was shown at trial, this word is benign. Ogden defined "leverage" as simply recognizing one's "position and not be[ing] afraid to ask to be paid fair market value." (RFF ¶ 996).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 997-998, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 999-1000).

1037. Although the PHCS contract was already ENH's "most profitable contract" in October of 1999, Bain advised ENH that it could be more profitable if the merged entity were to "achieve [a] more favorable contract structure." (CX 74 at 22).

Response to Finding No. 1037:

j

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. Evanston Hospital's contract with PHCS was not profitable.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 686, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 686, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 686, in camera).

In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it attempts to attribute a "for-profit" motive to ENH. ENH is a Not-for-Profit entity. (RFF ¶ 1). As a non-profit entity, ENH does not try to maximize profits in the same manner as a for-profit entity. (RFF ¶ 2414-2424).

1038. The combination of the three hospitals would give Evanston a powerful bargaining position with PHCS in particular because, as Bain reported, "ENH has significant leverage in negotiations with PHCS as they have strong North Shore presence and need us in their network." (CX 1998 at 44; Neaman, Tr. 1179; CX 67 at 39).

Response to Finding No. 1038:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1036). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading because Bain identified numerous factors that contributed to ENH's strategy to acquire fair market rates. Bain noted that the Evanston Hospital contract expired in February 2000, that its terms were less attractive than Evanston Hospital had in place with smaller MCOs, and that HPH's contract was more attractive than Evanston Hospital's. (CX 1998 at 44).

1039. Bain projected that ENH could use its "significant leverage" to extract "\$3M in net revenue improvement" from PHCS. (CX 1998 at 44; Neaman, Tr. 1178-79; CX 67 at 39).

Response to Finding No. 1039:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1036). In addition, this proposed finding ignores the fact that Evanston Hospital was significantly under-market with respect to PHCS before the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 686-88; CX 67 at 39 (identifying the "significant disparity" between Evanston Hospital and HPH rates).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 688, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 773 at 2, in camera).

Therefore, the net revenue increases negotiated by ENH were not anticompetitive.

Rather, they were appropriate market rates resulting from learning about demand for its services.

(RFF ¶ 827, 831-837). ENH's targeted outcome of the negotiation was simply to "bring discount in line with current HP contract." (CX 1998 at 44).

1040. Upon first hearing about the merger in December 1999, PHCS was "concern[ed]" because the merger would "elimina[te PHCS'] ability to have more of a competitive environment between the two hospitals." (Ballengee, Tr. 172-73).

Response to Finding No. 1040:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1032).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 566; RFF ¶¶ 570, 577-578, in camera).

1041. Later in December 1999, ENH representatives contacted PHCS to request a renegotiation of its hospital facility agreement. (Ballengee, Tr. 173-74; CX 171 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1041:

This proposed misleading because it is not supported by the evidence cited. On December 1, 1999, ENH notified PHCS of the impending Merger and sought to assign HPH's rates. (CX 171 at 1). As the text of the letter indicates, ENH did not request renegotiation of the hospital facility agreement. (CX 171 at 1).

(RFF \P 841, in camera).

1042. ENH informed PHCS that it would "assign" Highland Park's contract and rates to the merged entity. (Ballengee, Tr. 174-75; Ballengee, Tr. 232, *in camera*; CX 171 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1042:

This proposed finding mischaracterizes the cited evidence and is misleading. ENH merely sought PHCS's consent to assignment. (CX 171 at 1-2). The proposed finding suggests that it was ENH's decision alone as to whether the rates would be assigned.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 841, in

camera).

1043.

REDACTED

(CX 1539 at 2, in camera; CX 172 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1043:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 1539 at 2, in camera). PHCS

presumably knew, at that point, that Evanston Hospital had discovered that it had been significantly underpaid in its then-existing contract.

REDACTED

(CX 172 at 1, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 831, 1071).

1044.

REDACTED

(CX

1539 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1044:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 840-842, in

camera; CX 5068 at 5, in camera). REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 841, 843, in camera).

1045.

REDACTED

(CX 172 at 1, in camera; Ballengee, Tr.

233, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1045:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 172 at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 102, 104, in camera). Indeed, other MCOs agreed that an appropriate starting point was to look at the better of the existing contracts. (RFF ¶ 881). 1046.

REDACTED

(CX 172 at 2, in

camera; Ballengee, Tr. 253-54, in camera; compare CX 5068 at 27, in camera, and CX 5070 at 28).

Response to Finding No. 1046:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 94, in camera). This proposed finding is also misleading to the extent it implies that the Evanston Hospital contract was similar to the HPH

contract.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶

686 (

REDACTED

), 833-834 (

REDACTED

), 835, in camera (-

REDACTED

).

(Ballengee, Tr.

234-35, 255, in camera. See RX 1414 at PHCS 000102 ("Fixed costs, such as per diem and per case, are the most advantageous because they allow customers to predict claims costs.")).

Response to Finding No. 1047:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 790).

REDACTED

(CX 5068 at 35, in camera;

CX 5070 at 36-37). PHCS also recognized that more hospitals across the nation are requesting discount-off-charges reimbursement. (RX 1414 at PHCS 102).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

REDACTED ..

(RFF ¶ 87-89, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 89, 846-847, in camera).

1048.

REDACTED

(CX 113 at 1, in camera; Ballengee, Tr.

234, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1048:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1045, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 113 at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 113 at 2, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 94, 835, in camera).

1049.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 234, in camera; CX 113 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1049:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RX 279, in camera; RFF \P 835, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX

279, in camera; RFF ¶ 835, in camera). \

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 835-836, in camera).

1050.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1050:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 87-89, in

camera).

1

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 89, 846-847, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 846, in camera).

1051.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

Response the Finding No. 1051:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. The evidence showed that MCOs have never even requested to see ENH's chargemaster. (RFF ¶ 962). Further, PHCS receives annual notice of changes to ENH's chargemaster pursuant to its contract with ENH. Each year, by November 15, ENH must notify PHCS of the exact percentage change in its chargemaster. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1995-96).

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1047, 1050, in camera; RFF

¶¶ 89, 846-847, in camera).

1052.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1052:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1047). Every year, MCOs make assumptions when making their budgets and pricing their products. (Mendonsa, Tr. 482-83). MCOs estimate and predict their costs based on two elements: cost per unit and utilization. (Mendonsa, Tr. 482).

(Ballengee, Tr. 235, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 5068 at 35, in camera; CX 5070 at 36-

37).

1053.

REDACTED

(CX 115 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1053:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 115

at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1046, 1048-1049).

1054.

REDACTED

(CX 116 at 1, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 236,

in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1054:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 845, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 846-847, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 113 at 2, in camera, with CX 116 at 2, in camera (

REDACTED

;).

1055.

REDACTED

(Ballengee,

Tr. 236, in camera; CX 116 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1055:

Respondent has no specific response.

1056.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 237, in camera; CX 176 at 2, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1056:

This proposed is incomplete and misleading. For PHCS, renegotiation of a contract under a notice of termination is common in the Chicago area. (RX 1530; RX 927; RX 965; RX 1443; RX 1528; RX 1615 at 4).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 239-40, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1057:

This proposed finding is incorrect, incomplete and misleading. PHCS is not an insurance company, it is an alliance formed by independent insurance companies to collectively negotiate rates with hospitals. (RFF ¶¶ 156-157). Consequently, Trustmark Insurance Company is not an employer but, rather, as the name suggests, another insurance company. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel's bracketed addition is twice-removed from any actual employer's premium. Complaint Counsel did not call any witnesses from any employers. Instead, it relied on hearsay with little indicia of reliability that is entitled to little or no weight. (Ballengee, Tr. 180, 183 (objecting to the hearsay)).

This proposed finding is also incomplete because

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 660-661, 685-688, 832; Ballengee, Tr.

240, in camera).

Eliminating ENH from Its Network Would Have Been Cheaper for PHCS

1058.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 184; Ballengee, Tr. 242, in camera; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1058:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(Ballengee,

Tr. 261-62, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 262, in

camera). Consequently, any conclusions allegedly reached by PHCS cannot be verified and should not be afforded any weight.

1059.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 184,

242; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1059:

Respondent has no specific response.

1060.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 244-45, in camera; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1060:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1058).

REDACTED

(RFF_¶ 833-834, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 833-834, in camera; CX 46, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 833-834, in

camera; CX 46, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 833-834, in camera).

These figures indicate that Evanston Hospital's rates were far below the "Chicago Territory" average represented in this proposed finding.

1061.

REDACTED

(CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1061:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1058). Further, this proposed finding is misleading because it does not provide APPD for Evanston Hospital's academic hospital-competitors such as Northwestern Memorial, Rush Presbyterian, or Advocate Lutheran General.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 658, 685; RFF ¶ 686-688, 716, 832, in camera).

Achieving that outcome would be unreasonable and below-market.

1062.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 246-7,

in camera; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 246-47, in camera; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1062:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1058).

1063.

REDACTED

(Ballengee,

Tr. 246, in camera; CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1063:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply § 1062).

1064.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 246, 248, in camera;

CX 46 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1064:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1062).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 246, in camera). Accordingly, this proposed finding should be afforded no weight.

1065. Overall, PHCS's calculations showed that "the elimination of Evanston and Highland Park financially would be the best overall in impacting [PHCS's] costs," and that scenarios eliminating other hospitals and keeping the ENH system did not show "as significant" cost savings as eliminating the ENH system altogether. (Ballengee, Tr. 185).

Response to Finding No. 1065:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1062).

ENH Would Not Compromise with PHCS on Rates

1066.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 175; CX 116 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1066:

Respondent has no specific response.

1067. Mr. Hillebrand demanded higher rates from PHCS because the three hospitals were "now one system" that "controlled the marketplace." (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77, 194).

Response to Finding No. 1067:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. This proposed finding is directly contradicted by Hillebrand's testimony. Hillebrand never referenced ENH's market share in his conversations with Ballengee. Hillebrand never said that ENH had 60% market share and, as a result, PHCS had to agree to its terms. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1894). Further, Ballengee admitted that ENH's proposal did not even represent an increase over the pre-Merger contract at HPH. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1049, 1053). PHCS's contemporaneous documents confirm that ENH's proposal had a rate structure similar to HPH's pre-Merger contract. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1053).

Moreover, this proposed finding mischaracterizes Ballengee's testimony. Ballengee testified that she was not relating the substance of the conversation, as suggested above, but, rather, was recounting her own editorialized version. Ballengee repeatedly qualifies the cited testimony with "basically." (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77). This proposed finding, therefore, is entitled to little weight.

1068. As evidence of ENH's "control" over the marketplace, Mr. Hillebrand cited market share figures, noting that the three hospitals combined "already had the market share for these [North Shore] communities." (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77, 194).

Response to Finding No. 1068:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1067). Moreover, this proposed finding is contradicted by PHCS's own documents.

REDACTED

(RX 773 at 1, in camera).

1069. Mr. Hillebrand informed Ms. Ballengee that ENH's market share in the North Shore area was 60%. (Ballengee, Tr. 177).

Response to Finding No. 1069:

1070.

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1067-1068).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 164, 76; Ballengee, Tr. 225, in camera; RX 1503 at PHCS 003654-65, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1070:

This proposed finding is misleading. Since one of the goals of the Merger was to create an integrated health care delivery system, ENH decided to cover all three hospitals on the same contract for each MCO at the same prices. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 823, 908). As a consequence of having a single medical staff, there is no reason for ENH to negotiate different rates because a patient can see his or her doctor at any of the three hospitals – receiving the same product, so to speak. (RFF ¶ 12). ENH is unique in this regard among the hospital systems in Chicago, and this unique policy preceded the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 907). PHCS's pre-Merger contract with Evanston Hospital covered both Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital. (CX 5070 at 40). Now, the trend in Chicago is for hospital systems to have one contract covering all of their hospitals. (RFF ¶ 187-189).

Moreover, '

REDACTED

(RX 1503 at PHCS

3648, in camera).

Finally, the citation to Ballengee's testimony does not support the text of the proposed finding. (Ballengee, Tr. 76).

1071. ENH assured PHCS that all of the other health plans would also have to acquiesce to ENH's pricing demands. (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77 ("these were the rates, everybody was going to do it.")).

Response to Finding No. 1071:

This proposed finding is misleading. PHCS did not "acquiesce" to ENH's rate proposals.

(RFF \P 846, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 846, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 847, in camera).

1072. In a "take it or leave it type – type [sic] presentation," Mr. Hillebrand told Ms. Ballengee that the PHCS representatives should "go down the hall for 15 minutes," that Ms. Ballengee should "talk it over with [her] boss," and that when the ENH representatives returned, "they wanted a decision at that time." (Ballengee, Tr. 177, 194).

Response to Finding No. 1072:

This proposed finding is misleading. The negotiations between ENH and PHCS were not "take it or leave it." Rather, PHCS specifically negotiated for several key terms of the agreement to suit its requirements and desires. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1071).

Also, Bain advised ENH that it should not be afraid to ask for fair rates for its services. (RFF \P 996). To secure fair rates, Bain also advised ENH to bring a more aggressive negotiating style to the table. (RFF \P 717).

Finally, Ballengee admitted that PHCS did not agree one way or the other at the face-to-face meeting. (Ballengee, Tr. 178). There were several negotiations and counter-proposals thereafter. (Ballengee, Tr. 178).

1073. Ms. Ballengee was "concerned" about the impact that the price increase was going to have on PHCS and its customers. (Ballengee, Tr. 178).

Response to Finding No. 1073:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5072 at 15, in camera).

1074. Feeling the "heavy responsibility" of "having some sort of arrangement that would work in a beneficial way for our customers," PHCS did not immediately agree to ENH's demands on the price increases. (Ballengee, Tr. 178).

Response to Finding No. 1074:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1073).

1075. Instead, PHCS focused on finding terms that would persuade ENH to lower its rates to PHCS. (Ballengee, Tr. 178-79).

Response to Finding No. 1075:

Respondent has no specific response.

1076. PHCS offered to "eliminat[e] competitive hospitals" in exchange for "more enhanced rates." (Ballengee, Tr. 178). Identifying St. Francis, Rush North Shore, and Condell as "competitive hospitals" to ENH, PHCS prepared scenarios in which it would eliminate those hospitals from its network in the hopes that it would prompt ENH to lower its hospital contract rates. (Ballengee, Tr. 178-79, 181-82).

Response to Finding No. 1076:

This proposed finding is misleading. First, when Ballengee made the offer to exclude hospitals referenced in this proposed finding, she did not even have the authority to make the offer. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1894). The offer was not supported by the "decision-makers" at PHCS. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1894). Moreover, ENH was skeptical of the offer because PPOs simply do not have the mechanisms nor the ability to steer volume. (RFF ¶ 69, 844). Generally, selective contracting has not played a role in managed care contracting in Chicago. (RFF ¶ 75-76).

1077. Mr. Hillebrand rejected PHCS's offer on the grounds that he did not view St. Francis, Rush North Shore, or Condell as "competitors that would be worth any additional rates." (Ballengee, Tr. 182; Hillebrand, Tr. 1746-47).

Response to Finding No. 1077:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1076). Every MCO, including PHCS, agreed that ENH competes with St. Francis, Rush North Shore and Condell. (RFF ¶¶ 455-459; Ballengee, Tr. 163). In addition, ENH viewed Advocate Lutheran General as its closest, most comparable competitor that might be worth an extra discount to PHCS. (RFF ¶ 566; Ballengee, Tr. 181-82).

1078. The only hospital that Mr. Hillebrand "considered possibly might be worth something" in lower ENH rates was Advocate Lutheran General. In exchange for eliminating that hospital from PHCS's network, ENH was willing to lower PHCS's rate "only . . . five points." (Ballengee, Tr. 182).

Response to Finding No. 1078:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1076). In addition, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that an additional 5% discount was not substantial. An additional 5% discount for all hospital services is substantial where the MCOs has significant volume.

(CX 5176 at 34-35, in camera).

1079. ENH and PHCS did not reach an agreement on rates at the February 2000 meeting. (Ballengee, Tr. 179).

Response to Finding No. 1079:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1072).

PHCS Found that Alternative Networks Excluding ENH Were Not Viable

1080. PHCS next consulted its customers about the possibility of eliminating ENH from its network, but found that the insurance companies, third party administrators, and direct employers that contracted with PHCS "would not find it acceptable" to redirect enrollees to hospitals outside of the geographic triangle formed by the three ENH facilities. (Ballengee, Tr. 183-84). Those customers "made it very clear . . . that they didn't believe that they could have a marketable network . . . without having the new ENH entity in it." (Ballengee, Tr. 180-81, 183-84).

Response to Finding No. 1080:

This proposed finding misleading. Complaint Counsel did not call a single employer or customer of an insurance company in these proceedings. This proposed finding, however, relies on purported hearsay statements filtered through Ballengee and/or pure speculation as to what third parties would or would not find acceptable. (Ballengee, Tr. 171, 180, 183 (objecting to the hearsay)). The testimony underlying this proposed finding is suspect given PHCS's interest in this litigation. PHCS, like other MCOs, has an incentive to use this litigation as a bargaining chip in its continuing relationship with ENH. (RFF-Reply ¶ 967, 978). In addition, Ballengee, the only witness Complaint Counsel relied on for this proposed finding, has *never* had any responsibility for marketing PHCS's plans. (Ballengee, Tr. 204). Therefore, her testimony with respect to what may or may not constitute a "marketable network" should be wholly disregarded.

Finally, this proposed finding conflicts with PHCS contemporaneous documents. In its frank communication with its customers, PHCS identified several hospitals in the "same geographical area" as alternatives to the ENH facilities. (RFF ¶ 457). PHCS knew, and told its customers in December 1999, where to send members in the event it could not reach an

agreement with ENH. (RFF ¶ 457). As a result, Ballengee's mention of a "triangle" reveals nothing about a market of any economic or legal significance to PHCS. (RFF-Reply ¶ 285).

1081. Eliminating the ENH system from PHCS's network would have left "a large area that would be uncovered." (Ballengee, Tr. 181).

Response to Finding No. 1081:

This proposed finding is misleading. In December 1999, at the time of the Merger, PHCS indicated to its customers that the potential termination of the ENH hospitals would have no impact on its network because "there are other contracted providers in the same geographical area." (RX 712 at PHCS 891). PHCS identified a series of alternatives including, St. Francis, Lake Forest Hospital, Advocate Lutheran General, Rush North Shore, and Holy Family Hospital. (RFF ¶ 457).

1082. Other hospitals in PHCS's network, such as Rush North Shore, Lake Forest or Lutheran General Hospitals, were not considered to be "viable alternatives" to ENH because "there would be a large area that would be not served by the community hospitals." (Ballengee, Tr. 181, 183-84).

Response to Finding No. 1082:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1080-1081). In its internal study of the Chicago market, PHCS specifically identified Lake Forest Hospital as a "viable" substitute for HPH. (RFF ¶ 578). For Evanston Hospital, Advocate Lutheran General was a "significant competitor" with comparable services. (RFF ¶ 566). PHCS also identified St. Francis as an alternative to Evanston Hospital, since it is right down the street. (RFF ¶ 570). Rush North Shore is also a "significant competitor" to Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 570).

Complaint Counsel contends that, before the Merger, a network of Evanston Hospital and Lake Forest Hospital, without HPH, could have served the geography adequately. (CCFF ¶ 1297). Also, before the Merger, an alternate network excluding Evanston Hospital, but including

HPH, Rush North Shore, St. Francis and Advocate Lutheran General, could have served the geography. (CCFF ¶ 1298). Yet, even though PHCS's documents prove that Lake Forest was a "viable" alternative for HPH, this proposed finding suggests that an alternative network of Rush North Shore, St. Francis, Advocate Lutheran General and Lake Forest Hospital would not be viable. That suggestion is not credible, especially in light of PHCS correspondence to its clients at the time of the Merger stating that this precise alternative network was, in fact, viable. (RFF ¶ 457).

PHCS Could Not Walk Away from ENH

1083. Notwithstanding the "significantly higher" rates proposed by ENH, the fact that "the elimination of Evanston and Highland Park financially would be the best overall in impacting [PHCS's] costs," and the fact that PHCS had 72 other hospitals in its network, PHCS reached the conclusion that it "needed to finalize some rates" and "go on with our contract with Evanston." (Ballengee, Tr. 154, 179, 185).

Response to Finding No. 1083:

This proposed finding is misleading. First, ENH's proposal matched the rates already in place at HPH before the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1048-1049, 1053-1054). Ballengee admitted that the proposal only represented an increase for Evanston Hospital. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76). This proves ENH's learning about demand theory, and confirms that ENH acted accordingly to achieve fair market rates. (RFF ¶¶ 661, 685-688, 827).

Second, PHCS's calculations, which purport to suggest that eliminating the ENH facilities would decrease the average payment per day, are not based on reliable claims data. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1060-1065).

Finally, PHCS did not "go on with its contract" with ENH as suggested in this proposed finding.

REDACTED

¶ 1071; RFF ¶¶ 846-847, in camera).

1084.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr.

155, 180; Ballengee, Tr. 249, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1084:

This proposed finding of fact is inaccurate, based on unreliable hearsay and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1071, 1080-1083).

ENH's Price Increase to PHCS Resulted in "Significantly Higher" Rates for PHCS

1085. After the February meeting, PHCS and ENH came to agreement on rates that were "significantly higher" than what PHCS had been paying pre-merger. (Ballengee, Tr. 179).

Response to Finding No. 1085:

This proposed finding is misleading. The new contract rates only represented an increase over PHCS's pre-Merger contract with Evanston Hospital. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P ¶ 1034, 1039, 1067, 1083, in camera; RFF \P 715-716, in camera).

1086.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 252, 255, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1893; CX 116 at 2, in camera, CX 117 at 1, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1086:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 818).

REDACTED

(CX 117 at 1, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258-

61, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258-59, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258,

in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 259-60, in camera; CX 5072 at 23, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 117 at 1, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 258-61, in camera; CX 5072 at

23, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 116 at

2, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 94, 686, 716, 835, *in camera*; RFF ¶ 664). By negotiating the discount to 20% off charges (80% of charges), PHCS negotiated more favorable terms than it had with HPH before the Merger. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76)

1087. ·

REDACTED

(CX 5072 at 23, in camera; CX 1998 at

44).

Response to Finding No. 1087:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1086). Bain advised ENH to seek discount-

off-charges terms, but acknowledged, and predicted (correctly), that MCOs would counter with

per diems and that the contracts would likely end up on fixed rates. (RFF ¶ 713-714).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 89, 846-847, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 260-61, in camera).

1088.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 252, in camera; compare CX 5068 at 27, in camera, and CX 5070 at 28).

Response to Finding No. 1088:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1086, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1086, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 1047, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 94, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 252, in camera).

1089.

REDACTED

(CX 5072 at 23, in

camera; RX 1414 at PHCS 000102).

Response to Finding No. 1089:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258-60). In any event, PHCS,

in its annual report, recognized that "[p]roviders, on the other hand, often request straight

discounts or discount off billed charges." (RX 1414 at PHCS 102).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1050, in camera).

1090. If ENH increases its chargemaster rates, "the amount the customer pays also increases, based on the discount percentage." (RX 1414 at PHCS 000102).

Response to Finding No. 1090:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

, (RFF ¶¶

88-89, 846-847, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF

¶ 89, in camera). Therefore, the amount the "customer pays," in the case of the ENH/PHCS contract, stays exactly the same as it would if medical CPI applied to the contract.

1091.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 268-70, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1091:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 258-60, in camera; RFF-Reply ¶ 1086).

Second, given that the pre-Merger rates with Evanston Hospital dated back to 1998, PHCS should have expected the rates to increase. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 863, 865, 868, 872). Moreover, as compared to HPH's pre-Merger rates, PHCS negotiated a more favorable discount. (Ballengee, Tr. 175-76).

1092.

REDACTED

(CX 5070 at 28; Ballengee, Tr. 268, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 5068 at 27, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 269, in camera). **REDACTED**

(Ballengee, Tr. 269-70, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1092:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF

¶¶ 661, 685-688, 827, 832, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 93-94, in camera). PHCS kept its preferred

methodology, but ENH was able to put fair market rates in place in the 2000 negotiations.

1093. While PHCS's average rate increases prior to the merger ranged from 4-8%, post-merger, PHCS showed a 60% increase in the rates that it had to pay under the new contract. (Ballengee, Tr. 179, 196).

Response to Finding No. 1093:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1034, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 661, 685-688, 827, 832, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 179). That information is useful because it demonstrated that Evanston Hospital was undercompensated given its reputation, quality and breadth of service.

Moreover, PHCS's calculation is not supported by reliable or credible evidence.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply $\P\P$ 1058-1065, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 1058, in camera).

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1058, in camera).

Additionally, 4

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 261-62, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 261-62, in camera).

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr.

261-62, in camera).

1094. The new rates for ENH's contract with PHCS went into effect April 1, 2000. (Ballengee, Tr. 188; CX 5071 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1094:

This proposed finding is incorrect, and inconsistent with the record. (RFF-Reply ¶ 759).

1095. ENH's victory in imposing higher rates on PHCS was large, as PHCS represents "a significant part of [ENH's] business." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1891-92).

Response to Finding No. 1095:

This proposed finding is misleading. The cited testimony states only that PHCS one of ENH's four largest managed care customers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1891-92). The remainder of this proposed finding constitutes unsupported argument.

1096. In October 2000, Mr. Neaman told ENH's board of directors that he estimated the annualized economic value of the renegotiation of the PHCS contract to be 3 million dollars. (CX 17 at 6). In achieving an annualized economic value of 3 million dollars, ENH had met the net revenue target set by Bain nine months earlier. (Compare CX 17 at 6 and CX 1998 at 44).

Response to Finding No. 1096:

This proposed finding is misleading and incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 827, 828-848, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 832-838, in

camera).

(RFF \P 847, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 716; Ballengee, Tr. 175-76; CX 5068 at 27-28, in

camera).

1097. After the rate increases went into effect, PHCS learned the downstream effect of ENH's price increases on employer premiums. (Ballengee, Tr. 197). PHCS's customers "had to raise their rates significantly in – the premiums to accommodate the increased rates at Evanston." (Ballengee, Tr. 197).

Response to Finding No. 1097:

This proposed finding is misleading (RFF-Reply ¶ 1080). Complaint Counsel offered no evidence to support the proposition that any of PHCS's insurance company-clients increased their premiums because of this Merger.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2765-2766, in camera).

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2765-2766,

in camera).

1098.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2535-36, in camera. See also CCFF 424-425, 453-454, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1098:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply \P 406-431, 435-463).

1099.

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 4-5 (

REDACTED

), in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr.

2522, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1099:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 454, 424).

1100.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2522, in camera; CX 6279 at 4-5, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 196).

Response to Finding No. 1100:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1099). In addition, this finding is misleading to the extent it implies that the calculations done by Ballengee were based on accurate and complete data.

REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr. 261-62, in camera).

G. ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from One Health/Great-West

1. Pre-Merger Experience

1101. Prior to the merger, One Health considered Highland Park Hospital, the "next hospital to the north" of Evanston, to be Evanston's "main competitor." (Neary, Tr. 600-02).

Response to Finding No. 1101:

This proposed finding is misleading. One Health identified several hospitals that were alternatives for the ENH hospitals. (RFF ¶ 458). The list of alternatives included: Lake Forest Hospital, St. Therese and Victory Memorial as alternatives to HPH; and St. Francis and Advocate Lutheran General as alternatives to Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 458). One Health also considered Northwestern Memorial and Condell as alternatives to ENH. (RFF ¶ 458).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 538-540, 542-547, 550-559; RFF ¶ 541, 548-549, in camera).

1102. Both hospitals "drew patients from the same general area" in the affluent communities between the two hospitals. (Neary, Tr. 601-02).

Response to Finding No. 1102:

This proposed finding is misleading. Both hospitals, along with numerous other hospitals, draw patients from the North Shore. (RFF ¶ 395-404, 454-61).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 397, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 397, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 398, in camera).

1103. Highland Park Hospital was also Evanston's "main competitor" pre-merger because the two hospitals offered "comparable" services. (Neary, Tr. 601-02).

Response to Finding No. 1103:

This proposed finding is incorrect. Neary demonstrated at trial that he has no knowledge of the services offered at these hospitals, nor the frequency of those services at Chicago hospitals. (Neary, Tr. 641-43). In addition, Neary has no clinical degree in medicine and, therefore, lacked the foundation to compare adequately the services provided by Evanston Hospital and HPH. (Neary, Tr. 630).

The evidence showed that Evanston Hospital offered far more services than HPH. In fact, out of twenty hospitals studied, Evanston Hospital offered the fourth most DRGs, whereas HPH offered the fewest. (RFF ¶¶ 543-544). Evanston Hospital compared favorably with University of Chicago, Loyola, Advocate Northside, Northwestern Memorial, Advocate

(RFF ¶ 548).

1104. The area surrounding Highland Park Hospital was especially important to One Health prior to the merger because the hospital was located in "a more affluent" neighborhood with a "number of leaders from the business community." (Neary, Tr. 604). These leaders are the purchasers of care for their own businesses, and they "would want to have the hospital that's in their community in the network." (Neary, Tr. 604-05).

Response to Finding No. 1104:

This proposed finding is misleading and is not based on reliable evidence. (RFF ¶ 228-229). There is no direct evidence that a "number of leaders from the business community" live in the area surrounding HPH. Indeed, not one such leader testified at trial or, for that matter, was even identified at trial. This proposed finding is pure speculation. There also is no evidence that "leaders from the business community" would elevate their own self-interests at the expense of its employees. To the extent that this proposed finding suggests that employers would place greater priority upon assuring themselves access, it is not supported by the evidence. Employers compete in labor markets based upon employee benefits offered. (RFF ¶ 56-57).

2. Post-Merger Experience

2000 Negotiation Experience - ENH Demanded a Price Increase from One Health

1105. In December of 1999, ENH contacted One Health to request the renegotiation of its hospital contract – a contract that Bain had identified as one with "significant upside potential." (Neary, Tr. 595; CX 75 at 9-10).

Response to Finding No. 1105:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Evanston Hospital's One Health contract was characterized by its "poor performance," "weak structure" and "weak terms." (CX 75 at 9). There was also a "substantial difference" between HPH and Evanston Hospital's rates. (RFF ¶ 790-794; CX 75 at 9-10; Neary, Tr. 604). In addition, the existing contract had not been

renegotiated since 1996. (RFF ¶ 791). As a result, Bain identified the One Health contract as a priority for renegotiating fair market rates. (CX 75 at 10; RFF ¶ 704). In December 1999, ENH sought to open renegotiations.

1106. Bain instructed ENH to "Achieve HP terms or better" in its negotiations with One Health. (CX 1998 at 43).

Response to Finding No. 1106:

This proposed finding is incomplete. Bain advised ENH that, at the very least, ENH had to achieve the market rates in place with HPH since 1996. (RFF ¶ 790-794). In addition, ENH targeted a price that properly accounted for the time since both the HPH and Evanston Hospital contracts were negotiated by seeking HPH's terms "or better." (CX 1998 at 43).

1107. One Health knew that "[they] were not in a strong negotiating position" because "Evanston had purchased their main competitor," Highland Park. (Neary, Tr. 600-01).

Response to Finding No. 1107:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. HPH was not Evanston Hospital's "main competitor" in either a geographic or product market. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1101-1103).

1108. ENH's initial demand was to convert "every single service" to a discount-off-charges basis. (Neary, Tr. 607-08).

Response to Finding No. 1108:

This proposed finding is misleading. Discount-off-charges is the standard reimbursement methodology for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799). One Health had discount-off-charges arrangements with both Evanston Hospital and HPH for outpatient services before the Merger. (CX 5059 at 18; CX 5065 at 19). Therefore, this proposed finding is misleading in that it claims all of the service categories were converted to discount-off-charges, when, in fact, roughly half of all of the service categories were always reimbursed on discount-off-charges. (RFF ¶ 73-74).

Additionally,

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 82-85). Since 2000,

Chicago area hospitals have pressed more aggressively for discount-off-charges provisions for inpatient services. (RFF ¶ 86).

1109. Knowing that One Health would "have less control... over what will ultimately be paid" to the hospital under a percent of charges arrangement, Mr. Neary resisted changing the structure of the contract. (Neary, Tr. 609).

Response to Finding No. 1109:

This proposed finding is misleading. For outpatient services, discount-off-charges are standard. (RFF ¶ 91). Moreover, MCOs can, and do, negotiate terms into contracts that provide stability under a discount-off-charges reimbursement methodology. (RFF ¶ 87-89).

1110. If One Health were to accept ENH's proposal, the health plan would lose the ability to accurately predict hospital charges because, under a discount-off-charges contract, "a hospital could potentially raise their rates as they saw fit, which would ultimately increase the payments that went out the door." (Neary, Tr. 609).

Response to Finding No. 1110:

This proposed finding is misleading. One Health admitted that there are "industry standard methodologies" for addressing the ability of a hospital to adjust its charges. (Dorsey, Tr. 1485). Other MCOs obtained escalator clauses or other such standard methodologies in their negotiations with ENH. (RFF ¶ 89). Indeed, while One Health did not seek escalator clauses at the time of the ENH negotiations, seeking such protections later became One Health's general strategy. (Dorsey, Tr. 1485-86 (stating that that strategy was not "in place at the time of [the ENH] negotiations")).

1111.

1436-37).

REDACTED

(CX 262 at 1, in camera; Neary, Tr. 756, in camera; Dorsey, Tr.

Response to Finding No. 1111:

This proposed finding is misleading and incomplete. After nearly four months of negotiation, ENH made a final proposal. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1105).

1112.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 602; Neary, Tr. 757, in

camera; CX 262 at 2-3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1112:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. ENH sought an increase in reimbursement rates because its contracts with One Health were outdated and under-market. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1106). One Health acknowledged that since it had been several years since the contracts had been renegotiated, it was appropriate to increase the rates. (RFF ¶ 796). ENH also sought to establish discount-off-charges inpatient rates consistent with its outpatient rates. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1108).

1113.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 757, in camera; CX 262

at 2-3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1113:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. One Health already had discount-off-charges methodology for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1108). ENH did not unilaterally change, and could not have unilaterally changed, the reimbursement structure for inpatient services.

REDACTED

(CX 5064 at 17, in camera).

1114.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr.

757-58, in camera; CX 5064 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1114:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Before the Merger, HPH's rates for medical and surgical were far higher than the rates presented in this proposed finding.

REDACTED

, (RFF ¶ 794).

1115.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 758-59, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1115:

Respondent has no specific response.

1116.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 759, in

camera; CX 262 at 2-3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1116:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence. There is no evidence supporting Complaint Counsel's assertion that switching to discount-off-charges was a "significant contract structure change." One Health always had discount-off-charges arrangements for outpatient services with hospitals before the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1108).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 759, in camera).

1117.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 756, in camera; CX 262 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1117:

This proposed finding is immaterial. Even before the Merger, Evanston Hospital had a single rate structure with One Health that included both Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals. (CX 5065 at 17-20). ENH simply proposed to extend the principle and efficiencies of a single rate to HPH after the Merger.

1118.

REDACTED

(CX 262 at 1, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1118:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 184-

186). 4

REDACTED

(RFF \P 804, in camera).

1119. Having last renegotiated the Highland Park and Evanston contracts in 1996 and 1995, One Health "agreed that it had been several years since the contracts had been renegotiated and that it was appropriate to – to increase some of the rates." (Neary, Tr. 596, 608).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 763, in camera; CX 2085 at 1, 6, in camera. See CCFF 1188, 1194, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1119:

This proposed finding is incomplete. First, this proposed finding accurately indicates that both HPH and Evanston Hospital's contracts were outdated and required significant increase in rates. (RFF ¶ 790-796). However, it does not recognize that Evanston Hospital's rates were below the rates of HPH, a community hospital, and thus required a one-time corrective adjustment to bring the rates to fair market levels. (RFF ¶ 790-796). Neary agreed with ENH

that it had been "several years since the contracts had been renegotiated and it was appropriate to...increase some of the rates." (RFF ¶ 796).

Medical CPI only tracks inflation over the value of time. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1194, 1212). As a result, benchmarking to Medical CPI does not account for the fact that Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger rates were below market and below costs. (RFF ¶ 790-796). Indeed, One Health recognized that ENH's proposal was simply not "that shocking" under the circumstances. (RFF ¶ 797).

ENH's Proposed Price Increase to One Health Was "Excessive"

1120.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 762, in camera; Neary, Tr. 609).

Response to Finding No. 1120:

This proposed finding is vague and incorrect.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 762, in

camera).

1121. One Health's analysis of ENH's best and final offer showed "excessive" price increases. (Neary, Tr. 609).

Response to Finding No. 1121:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record. Dorsey, Neary's boss, testified that the proposed rates were not "that shocking" – all things considered. (Dorsey, Tr. 1437; RFF ¶ 797).

1122.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 762, in

camera; CX 2085 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1122:

This proposed finding is imprecise, incomplete, misleading and immaterial.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 763-64, *in camera*). As a result, to the extent the figures in this proposed finding are based on proposed numbers rather than the rates ultimately agreed to by the parties, they are of little value. Even so, One Health admitted that the proposal was not "that shocking" and that ENH was due for an increase in rates because the contract had not been renegotiated in several years. (RFF ¶ 796-797).

ENH Rejected One Health's Counter-Proposal

1123. One Health believed that ENH was "shooting for the stars" with its "extreme" reimbursement request and viewed ENH's proposal as "an opportunity to counter and an opportunity to begin negotiations of a final agreement." (Dorsey, Tr. 1437-38).

Response to Finding No. 1123:

This proposed finding is incomplete. Dorsey testified that it was typical to receive a proposal where a hospital "more or less shoot[s] for the stars of what they would like to receive." (Dorsey, Tr. 1437-38). Accordingly, the ENH proposal did not "shock" him. (Dorsey, Tr. 1437-38).

1124.

REDACTED

Neary, Tr. 609; Neary, Tr. 760, 763, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1438; CX 2085 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1124:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. One Health's counter-proposal was not a reasonable offer.

(RFF ¶ 798). Despite the rhetoric

that One Health used to characterize ENH's proposal as a "drastic increase," ENH's proposal was not "that shocking." (RFF-Reply ¶ 1122-1123).

1125.

REDACTED

(CX 2085 at 2, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1125:

This proposed finding is incorrect.

REDACTED

(CX 2085 at 3, in camera).

1126. Because it had been paying higher rates to Highland Park prior to the merger, One Health also proposed a "fair increase to both hospitals," but wanted to assign a separate rate to Highland Park from the rates for Evanston and Glenbrook. (Neary, Tr. 603; Neary, Tr. 760, *in camera*; Dorsey, Tr. 1446-47).

Response to Finding No. 1126:

This proposed finding is consistent with the learning about demand theory. Complaint Counsel concedes in this proposed finding that HPH, a community hospital, had higher rates than Evanston Hospital, an academic hospital. (RFF ¶ 790). One Health may have desired to prevent Evanston Hospital from learning about its demand, but such desire has nothing to due with antitrust law.

REDACTED

(CX

2085 at 2-3, in camera).

1127. For other hospitals systems such as Rush and Advocate, One Health typically paid different rates for hospitals based upon varying levels of service. (Dorséy, Tr. 1446). Academic facilities, such as Rush Presbyterian-St. Lukes, were reimbursed at a higher rate than a smaller community or tertiary facility in the same system. (Dorsey, Tr. 1466).

Response to Finding No. 1127:

This proposed finding is not supported by reliable evidence.

REDACTED (Dorsey, Tr. 1445-46; Mendonsa, Tr.

543, in camera; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 913-914).

1128. Glenbrook Hospital did not have "the same level of service or the same requirement of service from [One Health's] members as other hospitals within the ENH network." (Dorsey, Tr. 1447).

Response to Finding No. 1128:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and suspect given One Health's actions in negotiations. Since 1977, Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals have had a single Medicare identification number. (RFF-Reply ¶ 825). Not a single MCO ever complained – either before or after the Merger – about paying Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals a single rate because of the unified Medicare identification. (RFF-Reply ¶ 825, 828; RFF ¶ 11).

1129. Moreover, One Health "didn't see that [ENH's] facility and that list of services warranted the same reimbursement structure as we were giving in the Highland Park system." (Dorsey, Tr. 1447).

Response to Finding No. 1129:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and suspect given One Health's actions in negotiations. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1128).

1130. One Health also "didn't think it was appropriate" to bring the rates at Evanston up to the level of the rates at Highland Park because the other hospitals in the Evanston community did not have rates as high as Highland Park's rates. (Neary, Tr. 606).

Response to Finding No. 1130:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 565, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 102-

103, *in camera*). Moreover, Neary conceded that Evanston Hospital competes with the downtown Chicago academic hospitals as well as Advocate Lutheran General. (Neary, Tr. 630-31). Indeed, it was established at trial that Evanston Hospital was (and still is) one of the top academic tertiary hospitals in the country. (RFF ¶¶ 3, 8, 30-32). Accordingly, there is no basis for Neary to conclude that HPH warranted higher rates than Evanston Hospital before the Merger.

1131. Automatically increasing Evanston's level of reimbursement to that of Highland Park "would represent what [One Health] deemed to be an excessive increase in the rates" for a hospital whose rates were not below market prior to the merger. (Neary, Tr. 603, 644; Neary, Tr. 761, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1131:

This proposed finding is incorrect and contradicted by the evidence. Evanston Hospital's rates were justified in being higher than HPH's. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1130). This is especially true given that HPH's rates were last negotiated in 1996. (RFF ¶ 794). Even Neary admitted that contracts that have not been renegotiated in several years are due an increase. (RFF ¶ 796).

1132. ENH dismissed One Health's proposal and demanded that all three hospitals be reimbursed at the same rate. (Neary, Tr. 602).

Response to Finding No. 1132:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record.

REDACTED (RFF-Reply ¶ 1126, in camera). Second, the cited testimony does not support the proposition that Great West even raised the issue of separate rates to ENH, much less that they "dismissed" it. (Neary, Tr. 602). Neary only stated "his position" on the subject. (Neary, Tr. 602).

One Health Dropped ENH from Its Network for a Short Period of Time

1133. In the first half of 2000, ENH and One Health did not reach agreement on the renegotiation of the PPO and HMO contracts, and ENH invoked the termination clause in its contract. (Neary, Tr. 598, 609-10; Dorsey, Tr. 1438).

Response to Finding No. 1133:

This proposed finding is misleading. One Health accepted ENH's notice of termination and allowed the agreement to lapse. (RFF ¶ 799).

1134. On May 23, 2000, One Health received a letter from ENH stating that the PPO and HMO contracts would terminate on August 31, 2000, if an agreement on rates could not be reached. (CX 5062 at 1; Neary, Tr. 609-10; Dorsey, Tr. 1438-39, 1441-42).

Response to Finding No. 1134:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading because it fails to note that the parties had been negotiating for nearly six months. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1105).

1135. One Health knew that terminating the ENH contract could mean "los[ing] the employer groups because we didn't have [ENH] in the network." (Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1135:

This proposed finding is based on speculation and contradicted by the facts. Neary did not have responsibility for marketing at One Health. (Neary, Tr. 629). As a result, his speculation as to the effect of termination on the marketing of the network is entitled to little or no weight. Even if he were competent to testify on the subject, Neary's judgment was that the company could have a "sellable network" without the ENH hospitals. (Neary, Tr. 615). Lake Forest Hospital, Northwest Community, Advocate Lutheran General, Rush North Shore and St. Francis were all part of One Health's network at the time. (RFF ¶ 801).

Even after termination, One Health witnesses could not identify a single employer that left One Health as a result of the termination. (RFF \P 802-803). Dorsey could not identify any sales that were lost to any specific customer. (RFF \P 802).

1136. On the other hand, if One Health were to acquiesce to ENH's higher prices, One Health would "lose the employer groups because they couldn't afford to continue to pay the high cost in their overall medical cost ratio." (Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1136:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable evidence. Any complaints from employer groups came through One Health's sales and marketing person, Scott Barnett. (Dorsey, Tr.

- 1451). Since this proposed finding is based solely on unreliable hearsay, it should be accorded no weight. (Dorsey, Tr. 1452, 1454, 1456 (objecting to hearsay)).
- 1137. One Health decided to explore the strength of its "alternative networks" before accepting the termination of the ENH contract. (Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1137:

Respondent has no specific response.

1138. Mr. Neary met with his sales staff to "determine whether or not we would have a network that would be sellable" without the merged entity. (Neary, Tr. 613).

Response to Finding No. 1138:

This proposed finding highlights the fact that this witness relies on unreliable hearsay evidence. (Neary, Tr. 613-14).

1139. While Mr. Neary knew that "it would be risky" to terminate the ENH system from One Health's network, he "thought that it perhaps could be done... the company would have a sellable network, that was my judgment." (Neary, Tr. 615).

Response to Finding No. 1139:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 801).

1140. As a final response to ENH's May 23, 2000, termination letter, Patricia Moldovan, the president of One Health's Midwest region placed a call to Jeffrey Hillebrand to make a "last-ditch effort to try and salvage the relationship." (Dorsey, Tr. 1449).

Response to Finding No. 1140:

This proposed finding is incomplete. Dorsey testified that it was not uncommon for Moldovan to make a call to the "decision-maker for that terminating entity." (Dorsey, Tr. 1449).

1141. One Health explained to Mr. Hillebrand that "the price increases were just too high for [One Health] to pass on to the employer groups." (Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1141:

Respondent has no specific response.

1142. At the conclusion of the call, One Health realized that its "last-ditch effort" to "salvage the relationship" had failed and that the termination would proceed. (Dorsey, Tr. 1449-50).

Response to Finding No. 1142:

Respondent has no specific response.

1143. After giving the matter careful consideration and sending the issue "up through the entire organization," the collective decision of Mr. Neary, Kevin Dorsey, the regional president of One Health, and Pat Moldovan, the vice president of sales for the region, was to accept ENH's termination and allow the contract to lapse. (Neary, Tr. 611, 616; Dorsey, Tr. 1449-50).

Response to Finding No. 1143:

Respondent has no specific response.

1144. In July 2000, One Health accepted ENH's termination. (CX 266 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1144:

Respondent has no specific response.

ENH Raised Its Rates for Pregnant Women Soon to Give Birth and Refused to Deal with Transitioning Other One Health Customers After the Termination

1145. In order to ensure a smooth transition for its employer groups away from ENH, One Health "tried to arrange a meeting with utilization management staff at ENH... to come up with a plan for members who were going to be in the hospital as of the termination date." (Neary, Tr. 619).

Response to Finding No. 1145:

This proposed finding is misleading. One Health did not make efforts to "ensure a smooth transition for its employer groups." One Health failed to even notify a large number of its members that it had allowed the contract to lapse with the ENH hospitals. (RX 993 at ENHL JL 22377). As a result, ENH fielded a number of phone calls from members upset with One Health's failure to communicate with them. (RX 993 at ENHL JL 22377).

1146. ENH disregarded One Health's request and would not agree to meet with the health plan's medical director. (Neary, Tr. 619). In other words, One Health patients whose stay in the hospital went past the contract termination would not have their post-termination charges limited by EHN [sic] to the amount specified on the One Health Contract. (Neary, Tr. 619).

Response to Finding No. 1146:

This proposed finding is misleading because ENH and One Health negotiated an interim agreement that would apply to certain patients after the effective date of termination.

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1898; Neary, Tr. 637).

1147. One Health also tried to make provisions for women "who were in the third trimester of pregnancy" at the time of the contract termination. (Neary, Tr. 619-20).

Response to Finding No. 1147:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies that ENH was not a willing participant in negotiating provisions for these pregnant women. (Neary, Tr. 637 (clarifying that ENH negotiated terms with One Health to cover the pregnant women affected by One Health's decision to let the parties' contract lapse)).

1148. These expecting mothers "would need to have their babies at one of the ENH hospitals regardless of whether or not they were in network" because "if their OB had only admitting privileges to one of those hospitals, the mother could not switch OBs in the third trimester of her pregnancy. Another OB would not take that person as a patient." (Neary, Tr. 619-20).

Response to Finding No. 1148:

This proposed finding is based solely on Neary's speculation and does not even attempt to quantify how many of the affected women had obstetricians with admitting privileges only at the ENH hospitals. Rather, because ENH had 1200 non-employed, private practice physicians, many of whom had privileges at other hospitals, the number of affected women was likely to be very small. (Neaman, Tr. 1282; RFF-Reply ¶ 1149).

1149. Knowing that One Health had no other provider options for those expecting mothers, ENH used its negotiating leverage to increase One Health's prices to a 10% discount-off-charges arrangement for those OB services. (Neary, Tr. 620, 637; CX 5063 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1149:

This proposed finding is misleading because, again, it fails to detail how many women were affected by the termination. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1148). Moreover, this proposed finding does not explain whether a 10% discount-off charges for OB services was unusual or different from the OB rates negotiated with other academic hospitals.

Further, the negotiating power ENH allegedly had with One Health would have been a function of a handful of obstetricians' admitting privileges, not the Merger with HPH. Neary conceded that, even though One Health decided to terminate with ENH, ENH granted One Health's members a discount-off-charges of 10% for their care. (Neary, Tr. 637). If ENH had not granted that courtesy, One Health would have been responsible for paying actual charges. (Neary, Tr. 637).

1150. While One Health was able to negotiate a continuation of benefits for those expecting mothers, ENH charged the health plan rates that were even "higher" than contract rates that were in place under the pre-merger One Health contract. (Neary, Tr. 620, 37; CX 5063 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1150:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to explain that Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger One Health contract had been in place since 1996 and was also less favorable than HPH's. (Neary, Tr. 604-05; CX 5065 at 4; RFF ¶ 790-795). It therefore is hardly surprising that after having seen HPH's contract, ENH was able to negotiate a "higher" price for a very small volume of a particular type of service.

(RFF ¶ 798). Then, One Health decided to allow the contract to lapse, leaving its members with the prospect of losing their doctors in the midst of a pregnancy. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1149). Nevertheless, ENH provided One Health with a 10% discount despite One Health's failure to even adequately notify its own customers. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1145, 1147, 1149)

1151. One Health's contract with ENH terminated on August 31, 2000. (Neary, Tr. 610-11; Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08, 1898; CX 5062 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1151:

Respondent has no specific response.

One Health Lost Membership and Could Not Market a Network Without ENH After Its Contract with ENH Terminated

1152. Shortly after the termination of the ENH contract went into effect, Mr. Neary realized that he "was wrong" in thinking that One Health could market and sell a network without the three ENH facilities. (Neary, Tr. 617).

Response to Finding No. 1152:

This proposed finding is based on nothing more than Neary's unsubstantiated opinion.

The record showed that neither of Complaint Counsel's Great West witnesses could identify a single customer that was lost during the period in which the relationship between Great West and ENH was terminated. (Neary, Tr. 635; Dorsey, Tr. 1481). Neary never saw any letter from any Great West customer complaining about the ENH termination. (Neary, Tr. 635). And Dorsey

could not identify any sales that were lost to any specific customer. (Dorsey, Tr. 1481). Nor could Neary quantify the revenue purportedly lost by Great West as a result of the termination. (Neary, Tr. 635). Neary could not even testify whether the purportedly lost customers were large or small. (Neary, Tr. 635). Neary's only knowledge of lost customers came from the sales manager, Don Manno, who Great West actually demoted in 2001 or 2002. (Neary, Tr. 636-37). Moreover, neither Neary nor Dorsey had direct sales or marketing responsibility for One Health. (Neary, Tr. 629-30; Dorsey, Tr. 1467, 1488).

1153. One Health "immediately started receiving complaints from our sales staff about the termination." (Neary, Tr. 617).

Response to Finding No. 1153:

This proposed finding is misleading because the "complaints" from the sales staff did not translate into any identifiable lost customers. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1152). Moreover, Neary never saw any complaint letters from any Great West customers. (Neary, Tr. 635).

1154. The sales staff tried to market its network to employer groups. However, Lake Forest, Condell, Northwest Community, Advocate Lutheran General, Holy Family, Rush North Shore, St. Francis, St. Therese and Victory Memorial – all hospitals in One Health's network at the time of the termination of ENH's contract – could not provide adequate access to the health plan's customers in the North Shore. (Neary, Tr. 611, 617, 618-19; Dorsey, Tr. 1459, 1467, 1479).

Response to Finding No. 1154:

This proposed finding is based on nothing more than speculation because One Health did not lose any identifiable customers as a result of termination. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1152). This proposed finding also is based on unreliable hearsay. The so-called complaints from One Health's sales staff are not corroborated by any documentary evidence, nor is there any evidence of any identifiable customer lost as a result of the termination. (RFF ¶ 802-803).

In addition, at the same time it was renegotiating with ENH, One Health was nearing termination with Lake Forest Hospital. (RFF ¶ 807-808). One Health acknowledged that it would have been "very problematic" for negotiations to break down with ENH and with Lake Forest Hospital at the same time. (RFF ¶ 808).

1155. The sales staff urged network development management to "try to re-open negotiations with ENH" because One Health was "losing membership" and "losing employer groups" without the three ENH facilities. (Neary, Tr. 617; Dorsey, Tr. 1452).

Response to Finding No. 1155:

This proposed finding is misleading and is based solely on unreliable hearsay. (Dorsey, Tr. 1451-52 (objection overruled to hearsay); Neary, Tr. 617 (same)). Neither of the witnesses Complaint Counsel called to the stand could name a single customer who was lost as a result of terminating with ENH. (RFF ¶ 802). Instead, the best Complaint Counsel can muster is unsubstantiated hearsay unsusceptible to cross-examination. (Neary, Tr. 617; Dorsey, Tr. 1452). This evidence is not reliable and should not be accorded any weight.

1156. In the months following the termination of the ENH contract, One Health's monthly membership reports also began to reflect a "loss of membership within [the] network." (Dorsey, Tr. 1488).

Response to Finding No. 1156:

This proposed finding is misleading and is not based on reliable evidence. Once again, One Health, could not identify any customers lost as a result of the termination. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1152, 1155). Instead, this Court is left only with rumor and hearsay. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1155).

1157. In response to declining membership figures and lost employer groups, One Health held a meeting with regional vice presidents and the president of the One Health Midwest region to reassess One Health's "ability to continue without ENH in our network." (Dorsey, Tr. 1455, 1488).

Response to Finding No. 1157:

This proposed finding is misleading because, once again, One Health could not identify any customers lost as a result of the termination. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1152).

1158. One Health management concluded that they "wanted a face-to-face" with ENH so that the health plan could establish a new contractual agreement. (Dorsey, Tr. 1455-57).

Response to Finding No. 1158:

Respondent has no specific response.

One Health Soon Re-Opened Negotiations with ENH and Came to an Agreement

1159. After only a few months of attempting to market a network without ENH, One Health requested a "face-to-face" with ENH and re-opened negotiations on November 15, 2000. (Neary, Tr. 617-18; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708; Dorsey, Tr. 1439, 1441-42, 1456-57; CX 266 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1159:

The above cited testimony is, at best, ambiguous as to whether One Health took the initiative to reopen negotiations with ENH. (CX 266 at 1 (noting that ENH contacted One Health to discuss re-opening negotiations)).

1160. One Health approached the negotiating table a second time knowing that they "were not in a strong negotiating position" because they "were going back to a . . . hospital system that had terminated with us, and . . . we are going there because our sales staff could not sell the network without having this hospital system in our network." (Neary, Tr. 618-19).

Response to Finding No. 1160:

This proposed finding is extremely misleading because there is no evidence ENH was aware of One Health's alleged attempts to sell a network without the ENH hospitals. This proposed finding is further misleading because One Health could not identify any customers lost as a result of the termination. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1152).

Moreover, One Health's alternative viable network was unraveling in the fall of 2000 for reasons wholly unrelated to the Merger. Before ENH reinitiated discussions in early October 2000, Great West received a written notice of termination, effective December 31, 2000, from Lake Forest and its medical group on September 28, 2000. (RX 949; RX 950; RFF ¶ 807). Since Lake Forest was the primary alternative to HPH, it would have been "very problematic" for Great West to have lost Lake Forest Hospital from the network at the same time Great West had no contract with ENH. (Dorsey, Tr. 1484; RFF ¶ 808). Therefore, One Health had a pressing need to deal with ENH in early October 2000 that had nothing to do with the Merger.

1161. One Health was vulnerable to ENH's price demands because "we knew that we had to get a contract with the hospital . . . essentially regardless of what the ultimate price was." (Neary, Tr. 619).

Response to Finding No. 1161:

This proposed finding is misleading. One Health needed a contract with ENH because of a fear by One Health that it could lose both ENH and Lake Forest, a situation that could have left One Heath without a viable network. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1160).

1162. One Health's meeting with ENH representatives resulted in a new agreement with an effective date of January 1st 2001. (Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42, 1457; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708, 1898; CX 5067 at 4, *in camera*; CX 266 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1162:.

Respondent has no specific response.

One Health Surrendered to ENH's Pricing Demands and Contract Terms

1163.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 763-64, in

camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1439-42; CX 2085 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1163:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to explain that Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger One Health contract had been in place since 1996 and was also less favorable than HPH's contract. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1150). This rate change is yet another reflection of Evanston Hospital/ENH finally realizing through the Merger integration process that it had long been under-compensated for its academic hospital services. (RFF ¶ 322, 681, 687, 707, 719, 732, 754, 796, 864, 1111-1112; RFF-Reply ¶ 853-854, 959-1312, 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397).

Specifically, Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger Great West contract had a per diem rate of \$1250 and \$1225 for inpatient medical/surgical services on the PPO and POS products. (CX 5065 at 17).

(Noether, Tr. 6103, in camera; RX 1912 at 34, in camera; RX 223 at GW 3988-89, in camera). And more important, pre-Merger HPH had a per diem rate of \$1375 for inpatient medical services and a per diem rate of \$1650 for surgical services. (CX 5059 at 17; RFF ¶ 794).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 765-66, in camera).

Neary thus candidly testified that he "agreed that it had been several years since the [ENH] contracts had been renegotiated and that it was appropriate to – to increase some of the rates." (Neary, Tr. 608; RFF ¶ 796).

1164. ENH achieved the same rates for all three facilities in the renegotiated One Health contracts. (Dorsey, Tr. 1447).

Response to Finding No. 1164:

This proposed finding is misleading. Since one of the principles of the Merger was to create an integrated health system, ENH decided to cover all three hospitals in the same contract for each MCO at the same prices. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 823, 908). As a consequence of having a single medical staff, there is no reason for ENH to negotiate different rates because a patient can see his or her doctor at any of the three hospitals – receiving the same product, so to speak. (RFF ¶ 12; RFF-Reply ¶ 907).

Even before the Merger, Evanston Hospital always had a single rate structure with One Health that included both Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital. (CX 5065 at 17-20). ENH simply proposed to extend the principle and efficiencies of a single rate. The trend in the Chicago area is for hospital systems to have one contract covering all of their hospitals. (RFF ¶¶ 187-189).

1165.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1947, in camera; compare CX 5067 at 15, in camera, CX 5059 at 17, and CX 5065 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1165:

This proposed finding is misleading because discount-off-charges are a very common reimbursement methodology. Generally, discount-off-charges are the standard methodology for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 82-85, in

camera). Since 2000, Chicago area hospitals have pressed more aggressively for discount-off-charges provisions for inpatient services. (RFF \P 86).

REDACTED

(RFF \P ¶ 87-89, in camera).

1166.

REDACTED

(CX 5067 at 15, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1166:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1163, 1165).

1167.

REDACTEE

(Neary, Tr. 765, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1167:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1163, 1165).

1168.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 765-66,

in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1944, in camera; CX 5064 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1168:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1163, 1165).

1169.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1944, in camera; CX 5064 at

17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1169:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1163, 1165). Moreover, had ENH truly had market power and "leverage" over One Health, it would have been able to keep its 90% of charges interim agreement for third trimester pregnant women in place, and not have had to accept a 10% increase in the discount on the final contract. (CCFF ¶ 1149; CX 5064 at 17, in camera). Finally, this proposed finding is misleading because it mischaracterizes Hillebrand's testimony.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr.

1944, in camera; CX 5064 at 17).

1170.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 765-66, in camera, Hillebrand, Tr. 1944, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1170:

This proposed finding is misleading because

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1163, in camera).

1171.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 767, in camera; compare CX 5064 at 17, in camera, and CX 5058 at 18).

Response to Finding No. 1171:

This proposed finding is extremely misleading. Pre-Merger HPH had a stop loss threshold of \$35,000. Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger contract, however, had <u>no</u> stop-loss provision in either the HMO or PPO contracts. (Neary, Tr. 632; RFF ¶ 792). Moreover, Evanston Hospital's contract contained a provision that capped Evanston Hospital's reimbursement: "In no event will Company or Payor pay more than the lesser of the Payment Rate or 80% of Hospital's usual billed charges."

REDACTED

(CX 5064 at 17, in camera; CX 5058 at 18). All of these

changes represent Evanston Hospital using HPH's contracts to negotiate rates that were far more appropriate for its academic reputation and services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1168).

1172.

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 767, in camera; CX 5058 at 18 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1172:

This proposed finding is incomplete because

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1171, in camera).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 766-67, in camera; compare CX 5064 at 17, in camera, and CX 5058 at 18 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1173:

This proposed finding is incomplete, vague and misleading. It again fails to explain that ENH's post-Merger stop-loss discounted rate was less favorable than pre-Merger HPH's. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1171).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 767, in camera).

REDACTED

(Neary, Tr. 767, in camera (emphasis

added)).

ENH Obtained a Significant Price Increase from One Health

1174.

REDACTED

(CX 6282 at 6, in camera;

Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2576-79, in camera. See CCFF 678-682, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1174:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 678-682).

1175. Over the course of the period in 2000 in which One Health had no contract with ENH (due to the contract termination), One Health learned through natural experiment that it could not market a network and maintain membership without the ENH system. (Dorsey, Tr. 1488; Neary, Tr. 617-19. See CCFF 1152-1158).

Response to Finding No. 1175:

This proposed finding is based on incomplete and unreliable information and, therefore, is extremely misleading. First, the One Health witnesses could not identify a single customer that was lost during the period in which the relationship between Great West and ENH was terminated. Nor could the One Health witnesses identify any sales that were lost to any specific customer, or quantify the revenue purportedly lost as a result of the termination. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1152). This proposed finding also fails to explain that Lake Forest threatened One Health with termination in the fall of 2000, thus putting at risk One Health's perfectly acceptable alternative network, which, in turn, created the need for One Health to come to terms with ENH for reasons unrelated to the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1160).

1176. Except for the short period of a few months when One Health had no contract with ENH, the hospital system lost no health plan customers over the course of the contract renegotiations in 2000. (Neary, Tr. 617-18; Dorsey, Tr. 1439, 1441-42, 1456; Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08).

Response to Finding No. 1176:

This proposed finding is vague. The fact that ENH lost no health plan customers other than One Health and, in turn, One Health lost no identifiable employer customers, confirms that

ENH's rates and negotiation tactics were not anticompetitive. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1135). That ENH did not lose any other contracts is further confirmation that ENH's 2000 rates were reasonable and proper for a hospital system of ENH's reputation and capability.

1177. One Health proved that ENH could "drop" a health plan's contract and that the termination would "serve as [a] good example to [the] market." (CX 75 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 1177:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and based on unsubstantiated speculation. There is no proof that the negotiations with One Health had any impact on any other negotiations.

H. ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Aetna

1. Pre-Merger Experience

1178.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 569, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1178:

The proposed finding is repetitive and not supported by reliable evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶ 297). This statement by Aetna's representative, Mendonsa, should be afforded no weight because he

(Mendonsa, Tr. 556, *in camera*). In fact, he was not involved in the Chicago area until May 1997, over six months after the last pre-Merger contracts with HPH and Evanston Hospital were executed. (Mendonsa, Tr. 475). Aetna's last pre-Merger contracts with Evanston Hospital and HPH became effective in November 1, 1996 and July 1, 1996, respectively. (CX 5007 at1-2; CX 5001 at 2; RFF ¶ 744).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 484; Mendonsa, Tr. 561-62, in

camera; RFF ¶ 455). Mendonsa also testified that Northwestern Memorial provides coverage for the North Shore. (Mendonsa, Tr. 530, in camera).

1179.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 529,

in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1179:

Respondent has no specific response other than to note that Aetna did not have insight into the financial and quality of care problems at HPH. (RFF ¶¶ 44-49).

1180.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 690, in camera; CX 30 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1180:

This proposed finding is not supported by any evidence and constitutes mere argument. The cited evidence in this proposed finding does not support the proposed finding. (Chan, Tr. 690 (acknowledging only that Evanston Hospital and HPH offered discounts to MCOs); CX 30 at 2 (listing discounts)).

1181. These substantial effective discounts ranged between 54% and 62% for Aetna's HMO and PPO products. (Chan, Tr. 688-89; CX 30 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1181:

Respondent has no specific response other than to note that discounts at this level were outdated and below market. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1220).

1182. Aetna was also able to get favorable compromises on contract terms from Evanston pre-merger, such as reductions in rates for services that "were of greatest concern" to Aetna. (RX 84 at ENHL JL 001097; CX 2045 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1182:

This proposed finding is incomplete, vague and misleading. (RFF ¶¶ 738-743).

Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger history was more complex than this proposed finding indicates.

Aetna was perceived in the market as "anti-provider" and negotiated aggressively. (RFF ¶¶ 738-742). On the other hand, Sirabian's negotiating style was aimed towards achieving a "win-win" situation. (RFF ¶ 743). Aetna took advantage of Sirabian's approach and negotiated many concessions on terms and rates. (RFF ¶¶ 740-743).

1183.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1183:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable or credible evidence and is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1178). Therefore, his testimony as to the mind-set of Aetna's negotiators during those negotiations should be disregarded.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 530, in camera).

2. Post-Merger Experience

2000 Negotiation Experience - ENH Demanded a Price Increase from Aetna

1184. In November 1999, Bain targeted the Aetna contract as one with "significant upside potential." (CX 75 at 10).

Response to Finding No. 1184:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 689, in camera). Evanston Hospital's Aetna contract was characterized by its "poor performance," "weak structure" and "weak terms." (CX 75 at 9). Evanston Hospital's contract with Aetna was also nearly four years old in November 1999. (CX 5001 at 2). As a result, Bain recommended renegotiation of the Aetna contract as a

priority. (CX 75 at 10). The quotation in this proposed finding is not found on the cited page. (CX 75 at 10).

1185.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 529-30, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1185:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that there were no other competitors in the market. Aetna recognized that there are a large number of competing hospitals on the North Shore region of Chicago – including, Rush North Shore, Advocate Lutheran General, St. Francis, Lake Forest Hospital and Condell. (RFF ¶ 455).

1186. In February 2000, having achieved an additional \$3.5 million per year on the United contract, Bain recommended that ENH give "immediate focus" to the "successful renegotiation" of the Aetna contract. (CX 67 at 2; CX 5 at 5; Hillebrand, Tr. 1820).

Response to Finding No. 1186:

This proposed finding is misleading because it suggests that ENH exercised market power as a result of the Merger. That was not the case. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365).

1187. Bain estimated that ENH would be able to extract \$1 million in additional net revenue per year from Aetna post-merger. (CX 67 at 32).

Response to Finding No. 1187:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 754, in camera).

1188.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1188:

The first sentence of this proposed finding is not supported by the record.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1178, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 530, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa,

Tr. 566, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1187, in camera).

1189.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 531, in camera; CX 123 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1189:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 749).

1190.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 547, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1190:

This proposed finding is not supported by reliable or credible evidence, incomplete and

misleading.

REDACTED

Mendonsa, Tr. 559, in camera;

RFF ¶ 184-186, in camera).

REDACTED (Mendonsa, Tr. 561, 573, *in camera*). Since Advocate Lutheran General is a close substitute in both product and geographic space, it is not surprising that a MCO like Aetna would not welcome termination of both Advocate Lutheran General and ENH. (RFF ¶ 411-416, 563-569).

Finally, Complaint Counsel failed to call as a witness any representative from any employer in Chicago.

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 999, 1009, 1013, 1080; Mendonsa, Tr. 547-48, in camera). Accordingly, the testimony relied on in this proposed finding should be given little or no weight.

1191.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 548, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1191:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable or credible evidence. Mendonsa lacked adequate foundation to testify as to how employers attract and retain employees. (Mendonsa, Tr. 475). Furthermore, Mendonsa was not qualified as an expert witness.

This proposed finding also relies upon hearsay evidence without sufficient foundation. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1190). As a result, the evidence upon which this finding is based should be given little or no weight.

1192.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 532-33, in camera; CX 123 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1192:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 532-33,

in camera). This proposed finding, therefore, constitutes unsubstantiated argument, not a proposed finding of fact.

1193.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 532-33, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1193:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 689, 745, in

camera).

1194.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1194:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, 565, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 565-66, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1184, in camera).

(RFF ¶¶ 1118-1119,

REDACTED

1151, in camera).

1195.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 531-34, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1195:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Aetna acknowledged that there are several hospitals that compete with the ENH hospitals. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1178, 1185). In addition, the Advocate hospitals, which include Advocate Lutheran General, were out of Aetna's network at the time. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1190). Therefore, Aetna's reluctance to terminate was unrelated to the Merger.

ENH Would Not Compromise with Aetna

1196.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 534, 536, in camera; CX 2447

at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1196:

This proposed finding is misleading and not supported by the record.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 535-36, in camera).

This proposed finding also mischaracterizes the record. The meeting between Aetna and ENH was very "friendly." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1895-96).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 539-40, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1895-96; CX 2447 at 1, in camera).

1197.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

535-36, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1197:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. During the meeting, Aetna presented its concerns and the parties came to a mutually acceptable agreement.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 535-36, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 750-751, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 753, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 539, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1188, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 750-753, in camera; Mendonsa,

Tr. 564, in camera).

1198.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 536, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1198:

This proposed finding is sensationalized and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 1197, in camera).

REDACTED.

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1197, in camera; CX 5008 at 1, in

camera).

1199.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 536, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1199:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197).

1200.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 536, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1200:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 1196-1197, in camera).

1201.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 536-37, in camera.

See Mendonsa, Tr. 537 (1

REDACTED

 $\dot{}$), in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1201:

This proposed finding is speculative and without foundation nor evidentiary support.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 536-37, 540, in camera; RFF-

Reply ¶ 1196-1197, in camera). The cited testimony is not based on reliable evidence.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

547-48, *in camera*). Accordingly, this proposed finding should be given no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1190).

1202. Knowing the futility of walking away from ENH when it might cause Aetna to lose business, health plan representatives did not tell Ms. Chan that Aetna would redirect patient flow to other hospitals as a result of the price increase. (Chan, Tr. 703).

Response to Finding No. 1202:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record and misleading. Selective contracting has never been prevalent in the Chicago area. (RFF ¶¶ 75-76). Therefore, it is not surprising that MCOs did not use the threat of redirection to other hospitals.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 562-63, in camera).

1203. Aetna's renegotiation meeting with ENH was "fairly brief." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1895-96).

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1895-97; Mendonsa, Tr. 539, in camera; CX 2447 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1203:

This proposed finding is inaccurate.

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197, in camera). The cited evidence does not support the text of the proposed finding. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1895-97; Mendonsa, Tr. 539, in camera; CX 2447, in camera).

Aetna Could Not Walk Away from ENH

1204.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 518, 520, 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1204:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable or credible evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1178, 1183).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1190, 1195, in camera).

1205.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 516-18, 520, 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1205:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1190, 1195, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 543-44,

568-69, in camera).

1206.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

516-18, 520, 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1206:

This proposed finding is repetitive, not supported by the record and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1190, 1201, 1204-1205).

1207.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 517-18, 530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1207:

This proposed finding is incomplete. In recent years, Chicago consumers have demanded broad provider networks. (RFF ¶ 58). Consequently, selective contracting is not prevalent. (RFF ¶¶ 75-76).

1208.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 543-44, 568-69, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1208:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197, in camera).

1209.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 541, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1209:

This proposed finding is false, misleading and not supported by the record.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 561, 573, in camera). This fact was clearly established at trial:

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 573, in camera).

Consequently, this proposed finding is not supported by the record and should be disregarded.

1210.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa,

Tr. 568, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1210:

This proposed finding lacks foundation and is misleading. The cited testimony reflects unreliable lay opinion from a non-expert witness. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1190).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 389(c), (e); 568, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1209, in camera).

Aetna Acquiesced to ENH's Price Increase

1211.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 539, in

camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1948, in camera; CX 2447 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1211:

Respondent has no specific response.

1212.

(Mendonsa,

REDACTED

Tr. 533-34, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1212:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1194, in

camera).

In addition, the 2000 contract was still in force through early 2005. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1897). Accordingly,

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 563-64,

in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1897). The increases discussed in this proposed finding should be viewed in this broader context.

1213.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 540, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1213:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 539-40, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-

Reply ¶¶ 1196-1197, in camera).

1214.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 538-39, 570-71, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1214:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 565, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 565-66, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

563-64, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1897).

REDACTED

(Noether, Tr. 6097, in camera).

1215.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 539-40, in camera;

Mendonsa, Tr. 478).

Response to Finding No. 1215:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. Mendonsa did not even come to the Chicago area for Aetna until May 1997. (Mendonsa, Tr. 475). Prior to that, he did not have any responsibility for contracting with hospitals. Mendonsa worked for Aetna's corporate offices in Connecticut selling the HMO product to national employers with over 3000 employees. (Mendonsa, Tr. 477). Prior to that, Mendonsa worked for Ernst & Young as a consultant, not as a contract negotiator. (Mendonsa, Tr. 478).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

475-77; Mendonsa, Tr. 556, in camera). As a result, this proposed finding is misleading because

although Mendonsa has been in the health care industry for some time, he had contract negotiation responsibilities for only a small fraction of that time.

1216.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 534, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1216:

This proposed finding is duplicative, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1212).

1217.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1952,

in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1217:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 869).

1218.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 545, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1218:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1194, 1212, in camera).

1219.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr.

546, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1219:

This proposed finding is repetitive, incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1194,

1212).

1220.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5001 at 8, CX 5007 at 10, and CX 5008 at 5, in camera. See CCFF 860-869, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1220:

This proposed finding is repetitive, illogical, speculative and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 863).

(RFF-Reply ¶ 860, *in camera*). This proposed finding, however, appears to suggest that ENH should have been locked into those outdated and under-market rates – a suggestion that makes no logical sense.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, 564, in camera).

1221.

REDACTED

(CX 5008 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1221:

Respondent has no specific response.

ENH Obtained a Significant Price Increase from Aetna

1222. In Mr. Neaman's October 2000 report to the board of directors, he estimated the annualized economic value of the renegotiation of the Aetna contract to be \$3 million. (CX 17 at 7).

Response to Finding No. 1222:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 754, in camera).

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 564, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 738-756, in camera).

1223. Mr. Neaman's figure of \$3 million was \$2 million more than even Bain's February 2000 prediction of the increase in annual net revenue per year from the Aetna contract. (CX 17 at 7; CX 67 at 32. See CCFF 1187).

Response to Finding No. 1223:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1187, 1222).

1224.

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 18, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2625, in camera. See CCFF 661-664, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1224:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 661-664).

1225.

REDACTED

} (CX 6279 at 18, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2565, 2625-26, 2612-13, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1225:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 661-664).

- I. ENH Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Unicare
 - 1. Pre-Merger Experience
- 1226. In 2000 Unicare acquired Rush Prudential, another health plan. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1413).

 REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1504-05, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1226:

Respondent has no specific response other than to note that the cited evidence does not support the text of the finding. (RFF ¶¶ 168, 856-57, 859-861; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1504-05, in camera).

1227.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1505-07, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1227:

This proposed finding is confusing and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1506, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Compare Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1506-07, in camera, with

RFF ¶ 77). In any event, properly defined, before the Merger, Evanston Hospital was an academic hospital with tertiary services and HPH was a community hospital. (RFF ¶¶ 30-33, 41-43).

1228.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1506-07, in camera),

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1506-07, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 128:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1227).

1229.

REDACTEE

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1509, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1229:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and confusing. Holt-Darcy did not work for Unicare before the Merger. She worked for Rush Prudential, a different company. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1412-13). After the Merger, Unicare acquired Rush Prudential. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1226).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1504, 1519, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1509, in

camera).

To the extent that this proposed finding is limited to Holt-Darcy's experience with Rush Prudential, Respondent has no further specific response. (RFF ¶ 30-32).

1230.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy,

Tr. 1603, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1230:

This proposed finding is unsubstantiated, incomplete and unreliable. This proposed finding relies wholly on Holt-Darcy's speculations as to the knowledge and strategy of hospitals, not Unicare.

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1593-94, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1594, in camera).

1231.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1602, in camera)

Response to Finding No. 1231:

This proposed finding is confusing and immaterial.

REDACTED

(RFF-

Reply ¶ 1230, in camera).

1232.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1232:

This proposed finding is unsubstantiated and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 620, in camera). Similarly, HPH's

last pre-Merger contract with Rush Prudential dated from 1994 as well. (RFF ¶ 859). The contract and rates at the time of the Merger were outdated.

1233.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1521, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1233:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 215 at 1; CX

216 at 15, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 215 at 1; CX 216 at 15, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RX 630 at AHC 1558, in camera).

1234.

REDACTED

camera; CX 75 at 6. See Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1597 (

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, in

), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1234:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 857-858, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1548, in

camera). Bain's analysis confirmed that Evanston Hospital's pre-Merger rates with Unicare were below market. (CX 75 at 6).

1235.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1519-20, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1235:

This proposed finding is unsubstantiated and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, *in camera*). Moreover, this proposed finding confirms the learning about demand theory.

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, 1590, 1592-93, in

camera).

1236.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, in camera; CX 5091 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1236:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Compare CX 5085 at 1; with CX 5075 at 17-18, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare

CX 5085 at 1; with CX 5075 at 17-18, in camera).

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

In the matter of)	
)	Docket No. 9315
Evanston Northwestern Healthcare)	
Corporation,)	Public Record
)	
)	

RESPONDENT'S REPLIES TO COMPLAINT COUNSEL'S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

VOLUME VI of XI

WINSTON & STRAWN LLP

35 West Wacker Dr. Chicago, IL 60601-9703 (312) 558-5764

1700 K Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20006 (202) 282-5000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOLUME I

Abbi	eviatio	ons of T	erms Used in Respondent's Reply Findings of Factxxxiv				
I.	INT	TRODUCTION1					
II.	THE	E MER	GING PARTIES 19				
	A.	Evai	nston Northwestern Healthcare19				
	В.	Lak	eland Health Services24				
	C.		North Shore29				
		1.	Location29				
		2.	Socio-Economic Demographics32				
		3.	Other Hospitals34				
III.	THE	E MER	GER44				
IV.			RAL HISTORY50				
	A. Investigation and Complaint						
		1.	Investigation50				
		2.	Counts of the Complaint				
			a. Count I				
	В.	The	02				
		1. 1.	Hearing63				
		1.	Schedule63				

		2.	Witnesses	63
		3.	Exhibits	64
v.	INT	ERSTA	TE COMMERCE	65
VI.	HEA	LTH (CARE INDUSTRY BACKGROUND	67
	A.	Qua	lifications of Deborah Haas-Wilson	67
	В.	Rela and	tionships Between Employee, Employer, Health Plan Hospital	69
	C.	Gove Ver	ernment Payment System Versus Commercial Insurance sus Uninsured	79
		1.	Differences and Similarities Among the Three Payment Systems	79
		2.	Hospital Prices Under the Three Payment Systems	81
	D.	Тур	es of Commercial Health Plan Products	85
		1.	НМО	85
		2.	PPO	86
		3.	Other Products Offered by Health Plans	86
		4.	Self Insurance	87
VII.	SEL	ECTIV	TE CONTRACTING	88
	A.	Com	petition in the Health Care Marketplace	88
		1.	Differences Between First and Second Stage Competition	88
		2.	The Process of Selective Contracting	88
		3.	Relative Bargaining Power in the Selective Contracting Process	90

		4.	Impact of Hospital Mergers on the Selective Contracting Dynamic	93
	В.	Healtl	h Plans' Perspectives on Selective Contracting	94
		1.	The Bases for Competition Between Health Plans	94
		2.	Health Plans' Criteria for Creating Hospital Networks	96
			VOLUME II	
	C.	Pre-M for Ne	Terger Competition By ENH and Highland Park etwork Inclusion	104
	D.	Impac Contr	ct of Evanston-Highland Park Merger on Selective acting Process	110
		1.	The Merger Reduced Viable Network Alternatives	110
		2.	Health Plans Were Unable to Exclude the Post-Merger ENH from Their Networks	113
VIII.	DIRE ELIM	CT EV	TDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: ON OF A DIRECT COMPETITOR	125
	A.	Evans Before	ston and Highland Park Were Direct Competitors e the Merger	125
	В.	Absen a Viab	nt the Merger, Highland Park Would Have Remained ole Competitor	137
		1.	Highland Park Could Have Continued As a Stand-Alone Competitor Without the Merger	137
			a. Respondents Dropped the Failing Firm Affirmative Defense	137
			b. Pre-Merger, HPH Had a Strong Balance Sheet and Was Backed by Its Foundation's Assets	137
			c. Foundation Assets Would Not Have Exited	

				HPH Without The Merger	147
			d.	HPH's Management and Board Believed	
				That HPH Was Financially Strong	
				Pre-Merger.	150
			e.	HPH's 1999 Operating Results Were	
			٠.	Distorted Due to Merger-Related Expenses	158
			e	_	
			f.	Highland Park Could Have Continued As	
				a Stand-Alone Competitor Without the	1.00
				Merger	160
		2.	Hig	hland Park Was an Attractive Candidate for	
				er Mergers	164
***	DID				
IX.				NCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:	
				F ENH TO HEALTH PLANS FOLLOWING	
				WITH HIGHLAND PARK PROVIDES DIRECT	
	EVL	DENCI	EOFA	NTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	168
	A.	Intr	oductio	on to the Data Relied Upon by Dr. Haas-Wilson	168
		1.	Dat	a from the IDPH Universal Dataset	169
		•	.		
		2.	Dat	a Submitted by the Economic Consulting Firm	
			NE	RA on Behalf of ENH.	171
		3.	Dat	a Submitted by ENH in Response to a Civil	
			Inv	estigative Demand Issued by the Federal Trade	
				nmission	172
		4.	Cla	ims Data Submitted by Health Plans	173
	В.	The	ra ic N	o Dispute That ENH Raised Prices to Health	
	17.			o Dispute That EATH Raised Frices to Health owing the Merger with Highland Park	174
		T 1041/	I VIIU	wing the heager with inghianu i ai k	1/4
		1.	The	Data from the IDPH Universal Dataset and	
			the	Data from the Medicare Cost Reports Show	
				nt ENH Raised Prices to Health Plans, Taken	
				a Whole, Following the Merger with Highland	
			Par	k	175

	2.	Raised Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the Merger with Highland Park
	3.	The Data Provided by ENH in Its Response to the Civil Investigative Demand Shows That ENH Raised Prices to Most Health Plans, Following the Merger with Highland Park
	4.	The Commercial Payer Claims Data Provided by Aetna, Blue Cross, Humana, and United Shows That ENH Raised Prices to Most Health Plans Following the Merger with Highland Park
		a. United
		b. Aetna
		c. Humana
		d. Blue Cross/Blue Shield209
	5.	Dr. Baker's Analysis Confirmed That Prices Went Up at ENH After the Merger with Highland Park210
		VOLUME III
		a. Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase When He Looked at Individual Payers
		b. Dr. Baker's Analysis Showed a Price Increase When He Combined All the Payers Examined by Him
C.	High Orga	re Is No Dispute That, Following the Merger with Iland Park, ENH Raised Prices to Managed Care anizations Relative to Other Hospitals in the Chicago
	1.	Relative Price Changes, Not Relative Prices, Is the Appropriate Methodology to Test for Market Power

.

2.		ther ENH's Prices Increased Faster Than Other	
		oitals Is Determined by Using a Methodology ed Difference in Differences	217
•			
3.		use Multiple Control Groups Assure That the	
		alts Are Not Dependent Upon the Choice of the	
		trol Group, Dr. Haas-Wilson Used Three Control	210
	Grot	ups	219
4.	Tests	s of Statistical Significance Allow the	
		ntification of the Amount of Confidence One	
	Hasi	in the Results	223
5.	The	IDPH Universal Dataset Shows That Prices to	
		th Plans Went Up Faster at ENH Than at Other	
		pitals After the Merger with Highland Park,	
		ardless of the Control Group Used and	
		ardless of the Patient Group Used	223
	a.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Hospitals,	
		Prices to Health Plans Went Up Faster at ENH	•
		Than at the Control Group Hospitals After	
		the Merger with Highland Park	224
	b.	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago PMSA	
		Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group	
		Hospitals After the Merger with Highland	÷
		Park	227
	c.	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Teaching	
		Hospitals, Prices to Health Plans Went Up	
	•	Faster at ENH Than at the Control Group	
		Hospitals After the Merger with Highland	
		Park	229
6.	The	Commercial Payer Claims Data Shows That,	
		ept for Blue Cross, Prices to Most Health Plans	
		at Up Faster at ENH Than at Other Hospitals	
		r the Merger with Highland Park, Regardless	
		e Control Group Used	231
	a.	The United Claims Data Shows That Prices	

	Othe	nited Went Up Faster at ENH Than at er Hospitals After the Merger with nland Park for All Control Groups	231
	(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
		Hospitals, Prices to United Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control	
		Group Hospitals After the Merger	221
		with Highland Park	231
	(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging	
0.	` '	Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to	
`		United Went Up Faster at ENH Than	
		at the Control Group Hospitals After	
		the Merger with Highland Park	234
	(3)	Compared to the Chicago DMSA	
	(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA Teaching Hospitals, Prices to United	
		Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the	
		Control Group Hospitals After the	
		Merger with Highland Park	235
ь.	to A	Aetna Claims Data Shows That Prices etna Went Up Faster at ENH Than at er Hospitals After the Merger with hland Park for All Control Groups	236
	(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
		Hospitals, Prices to Aetna Went Up	
		Faster at ENH Than at the Control	
		Group Hospitals After the Merger	
		with Highland Park	236
	(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging	
		Chicago PMSA Hospitals, Prices to	
		Aetna Went Up Faster at ENH Than	
5		at the Control Group Hospitals After	
	-	the Merger with Highland Park	238
	(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
	(3)	Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Aetna	
		Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the	
		Control Group Hospitals After the	
		Control Group Hospitals After the	

	Merger with Highland Park239
The	Humana Claims Data Shows That Prices
to H	umana Went Up Faster at ENH Than
at O	ther Hospitals After the Merger with
High	lland Park for All Control Groups240
(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Hospitals, Prices to Humana Went
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control
	Group Hospitals After the Merger
	with Highland Park240
(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago
	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to Humana
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger with Highland Park242
(3)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
	Teaching Hospitals, Prices to Humana
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger with Highland Park243
The	One Health Claims Data Shows That
	es to One Health Went Up Faster at ENH
Thai	at Other Hospitals After the Merger
with	Highland Park for All Control Groups244
(1)	Compared to the Chicago PMSA
(-)	Hospitals, Prices to One Health Went
	Up Faster at ENH Than at the Control
	Group Hospitals After the Merger
	with Highland Park245
(2)	Compared to the Non-Merging Chicago
(-)	PMSA Hospitals, Prices to One Health
	Went Up Faster at ENH Than at the
	Control Group Hospitals After the
	Merger With Highland Park247
	24/

			(3) Compared to the Chicago PMSA	
			Teaching Hospitals, Prices to One	•
			Health Went Up Faster at ENH T	
			at the Control Group Hospitals A	
			the Merger with Highland Park	247
		e.	The Blue Cross Claims Data Does Not Sl	h o wr
		•	That Prices to Blue Cross Went Up Faste	
			ENH Than at Other Hospitals After the	er at
			Merger with Highland Park	240
			Wieiger with Highland Lark	248
	7.	Profes	sor Baker's Analysis Confirms That Pric	es
		Went	Up at ENH Relative to Other Hospitals	248
		a.	Dr. Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	•
		42.	That Exceeded the Price Increases at ENF	
			Control Group for United, Aetna, and	
			Humana	249
		_		
		b.	Dr. Baker Found Price Increases at ENH	
			That Exceeded the Price Increases at His	
			Control Group for the Average Price of	the
			Four Payers Analyzed by Him	251
	8.	Sumn	ary	252
	•	Summ		233
D.	Dr.	Haas-Wi	son Considered Eight Alternative Explan	ations
			ncreases Besides Increases in Market Pow	
	Aris	ing from	the Merger and Learning About Demand.	253
	1.	Price	Increases Alone Do Not Establish the Exe	rai ga
		of Ma	rket Power, As Alternative Explanations	Must
		Be Re	ected	·····253
	_			
	2.	There	Were Eight Alternative Explanations for	the
			ncrease to Rule Out Besides Market Pow	
		and L	earning About Demand	254
	3.	Dr. H	nas-Wilson Was Able to Directly Rule Ou	•
		Five o	f the Eight Alternative Explanations of th	· •
		Price	ncrease at ENH))5/

	a.	Cost Increases	256
	b.	Changes in Regulations	257
	c.	Changes in Consumer Demand	258
Į.	d.	The Relative Price Increase at ENH,	
		Compared to Control Groups, Rules Out	
		Changes in Costs, Regulations, and Demand	
		As an Explanation of the Price Increase	259
	e.	The Increases in Prices at ENH Relative to	
		Other Hospitals Cannot Be Explained by	
		an Increase in Quality Relative to Other	
	-	Hospitals	261
	f.	Decreases in Prices of Outpatient Services	
		at ENH Cannot Explain the Increase In Prices	
		at ENH Relative to Control Group Hospitals	263
4.	Dr.	Haas-Wilson Was Not Able to Rule Out Three	
		he Eight Alternative Explanations of the Price	
		rease at ENH Without Additional Analysis	266
	a.	Changes in the Mix of Patients at ENH Cannot	
	•••	Be Ruled Out As a Potential Explanation for	
·		the Increase in Prices at ENH Without	
		Additional Analysis	267
		(1) Commercial Claims Data	268
		(2) The IDPH Universal Dataset	269
	b.	Changes in the Mix of Customers at ENH	
		Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
	-	Explanation for the Increase in Prices at	
		ENH Without Additional Analysis	269
	c.	Changes in the Teaching Intensity at ENH	
		Cannot Be Ruled Out As a Potential	
		Explanation for the Increase in Prices at	
		ENH Without Additional Analysis	270
		22. VII WILLIUM AUMINUMA AMAIYSIS	270

	5.	Her Eight A	Vilson Was Able to Eliminate Five of Alternative Causes of the Price Increase	272
E.	Mul	iple Regressio	on Analysis Ruled Out Changes in Patient	
			ustomer Mix, and Changes in Teaching	
			nations for the Relative Price Increase	
		_	After the Merger with Highland Park	272
	1.	Multiple Re	egression Analysis Allows the Researcher	
			Simultaneously the Impact of Multiple	
			nt Variables on a Dependent Variable	273
	2.	The IDPH I	Universal Dataset Shows That Changes	
			Mix, Changes in Customer Mix, and	
			Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain the	
			ice Increase at ENH Following the Merger	
		with Highla	and Park, Using Any Control Group and	
		274		
		a. For	All Patients in the IDPH Universal	
		Data	aset, Changes in Patient Mix, Customer	
		Mix,	, and Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
		the I	Relative Price Increase at ENH Following	
		the N	Merger with Highland Park	275
		b. For	Commercially Insured and Self Pay	
		Patie	ents in the IDPH Universal Dataset,	
		Cha	nges in Patient Mix, Customer Mix,	
		and	Teaching Intensity Cannot Explain	
		the l	Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		Follo	owing the Merger with Highland Park	277
		c. For	Commercially Insured, Self Pay, HMO,	
		and	Self-Administered Patients in the IDPH	
			versal Dataset, Changes in Patient Mix,	
			tomer Mix, and Teaching Intensity Cannot	
		Exp	lain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		Fall	owing the Merger with Highland Park	278

	3.	Con	umercial Payer Claims Data Shows That Changes	
		Con	atient Mix, Customer Mix, and Teaching Intensity	
		Tall	anot Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		ron	owing the Merger with Highland Park	280
		a.	Aetna	283
		b.	Blue Cross	284
		c.	Humana	284
		d.	United	286
		e.	One Health (Great-West)	288
	4.	Dr.	Baker's Regression Results Were Consistent with	
		Dr.	Haas-Wilson's Results Showing That Patient Mix	
		Can	not Explain the Relative Price Increase at ENH	
		Afte	er the Merger with Highland Park	289
	_			
	5.	Con	clusion	294
F.	The the I	295		
	1.	The	Pre-Merger Payment Rates in the Highland	
		Parl	k Contracts with Commercial Payers Would	
		Not	Teach ENH About the Demand by Payers for	
		Its S	Services	206
				296
	2.	The	Academic Control Group, Developed by Dr.	
		Noet	ther and Used by Both Dr. Noether and Dr.	
		Bak	er, Is an Inappropriate Control Group to	
		Com	pare with ENH.	300
		a.	ENH's Patient Mix Is Very Different from	
		•••	the Patient Mix of Loyola University,	
			Northwestern Memorial, Rush Presbyterian-	
			St Luke's and the University of Chicago	201
			St. Luke's, and the University of Chicago	301
		b.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group	
			Inappropriately Compares ENH to Hospitals	
			That Perform Quaternary Services	302
			₩ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

		c. Most of the Hospitals in Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Were Not Similar to ENH in Terms of the Overall Inpatient Services They Provide	304
		d. Teaching Intensity, Bed Size, and Public Perception Were All Factors That Cut Against Dr. Noether's Control Group Being an Appropriate Control Group	306
		e. The Testimony of ENH's Customers Undermines Dr. Noether's Control Group	308
		VOLUME IV	
	3.	Even If One Accepts Dr. Noether's Control Group, Dr. Baker's Analysis Shows That the Learning About Demand Claim Is Inconsistent with the Pricing Evidence	311
	4.	Changes in Information, One of the Potential Explanations for the Price Increase Observed at ENH After the Merger, Does Not Explain the Price Increase	320
G.	the I	nclusion - The Pricing of ENH to Health Plans Following Merger with Highland Park Provides Direct Evidence Anticompetitive Effects	321
	1.	Other Alternative Explanations Eliminated	323
	2.	Trial Testimony Supports This Conclusion	323
	3.	Contemporaneous Business Documents Support This Conclusion	325

X. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS:

EXP	EXPERIENCES OF HEALTH PLANS				
A.	Ove	rview o	of 2000 Contract Negotiations and Price Increases	327	
	1.	Chr Play	onology of Key Events and Identification of Key vers from ENH, Bain and Health Plans	327	
	2.		Diem Versus Per Case Versus Discount Off rges	336	
		a.	Definitions	336	
		b.	Pressure from Health Plans Generally Resulted in Fixed Rate Contracts in the Late 1990s in the Chicago Area	338	
		c.	Pre-Merger, Health Plans Successfully Pressured Evanston and Highland Park Hospital for Various Fixed Rate Contracts	340	
		d.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Fixed Rates Are Predictable	344	
		e.	Health Plans Lose Predictability Under a Discount off Charges Arrangement	347	
		f.	Health Plans Typically Prefer Fixed Rates, in Part Because Health Plans Achieve Lower Rates Through Such Arrangements	351	
		g.	Health Care Providers Prefer Discount off Charges Arrangements Because Such Arrangements Mean Less Risk and More Profit for the Providers	352	
		h.	With Regard to the Merger, ENH Strategized to Move All Health Plan Contracts to a Discount off Charges Arrangement	354	
		i.	ENH Achieved Discount off Charges Arrangements with Various Health Plans Through the Merger	356	

В.	With Hos	With the Merger, ENH Demanded One Price for All Three Hospitals359					
	1.	ENH Wanted All Three Hospitals to Be Put on Whichever Pre-Merger Contract for the Particular Health Plan Had Higher Rates, Evanston's or Highland Park's	359				
		a. ENH Moved All Three Hospitals to the Same Health Plan Contract	359				
		b. ENH Moved Health Plans to Whichever Contract Had Higher Rates, the Evanston Contract or the Highland Park Contract					
		c. Some Health Plans Disagreed with the Automatic Assignment of the Higher-Rate Contract to Cover All Three ENH Hospitals					
	2.	In Re-Negotiating Contracts, ENH Demanded the Higher of the Two Contract Rates Plus a Premium371					
		a. ENH Went With the More Favorable Contract and Then Added a Premium to the Higher Rate.	371				
		b. ENH Charged a Premium Over the Higher Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger Rate in Numerous Health Plan Contracts	378				
		(1) Aetna3					
		(2) Cigna	382				
		(3) Humana	384				
	3.	ENH Set up One Chargemaster for All Three Hospitals, with the Price for Each Product and Service Positioned at the Higher of the Two Pre-Merger Prices, Evanston's or Highland Park's	387				
		Chamman A. D. C. 11	87				

		b.	ENH Adopted the Higher of the Evanston or Highland Park Pre-Merger Chargemaster Rates Post-Merger	388
	•	c.	In Adopting the Higher of the Two Merging	
		C.	Parties' Chargemaster Rates, ENH Raised Its	
			Prices to Health Plans with Discount Off Charges	
			Arrangements	201
	4.	Othe	er Hospital Systems Have Separate Prices for	391
			Hospital Hospital	206
		23401	* 1105 Press	390
		a.	It Is Unusual For a Hospital System to Charge	
			the Same Rates for All Hospitals in the System	306
			Sume 101 111 1205 picels in the System	
		b.	The Advocate, Rush, Resurrection and Provena	
			Systems Charge Different Rates for Different	
			Hospitals in Their Systems	397
C.	ENE	I Institu	uted Major Chargemaster Price Increases in	
	2002	and 20	003	401
D.	The	First M	Iajor Chargemaster Increase in 2002 Is an	
			ENH's Ability to Increase Prices Dramatically	
			lans Without Needing to Re-Negotiate Their	
				404
				-
	1.	Cha	rgemaster Changes Directly Affect Only	
		Con	tracts Containing a Discount Off Charges	
			vision	405
				•
	2.		I, in Deciding to Increase Its Chargemaster	
		Price	es, Elected to Set the Prices at a Very High	
		Leve	el	408
	•			
	3.	The	First Major Chargemaster Increase in 2002	
		Rais	ed ENH's Net Revenue by \$20 Million to \$26	
		Milli	ion Annually	410
	4.		I Was Not Concerned That Health Plans	
		Wou	lld Switch to Other Hospitals Due to the 2002	
		Cha	rgemaster Price Increases	413
	5.	Beca	use of the Discount Off Charges Provisions	

		in Health Plan Contracts, ENH Can Unilaterally Institute Large Chargemaster Price Increases Without Fuon Civing Notice to Most of Market	
		Without Even Giving Notice to Most of Its Health Plan Customers	414
E.	ENH	I Extracted a Significant Price Increase from United	417
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	417
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	417
		VOLUME V	
F.	ENE	I Extracted a Significant Price Increase from PHCS	448
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	448
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	451
G.		HExtracted a Significant Price Increase from One htth/Great-West	479
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	479
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	481
Н.	ENH	I Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Aetna	508
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	508
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	510
I.	ENH	I Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Unicare	526
	1.	Pre-Merger Experience	526
		VOLUME VI	
	2.	Post-Merger Experience	531
J.		I Also Extracted a Significant Price Increase from	556

	K.	ENI to H	H's Price Increases Were Contrary to Market Trends Sold Pricing Flat or to Discount Further	559
	L.	Min	H Increased Its Net Revenues from Health Plans by a imum of \$18 Million Annually Due Just to the 2000 taged Care Contract Re-Negotiations	565
	М.	Whe	en Hospitals Increase Their Prices, Health Plans Pass Price Increases on to Their Customers	
XI.	DIR PAR	ECT E	VIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: DMISSIONS	
	A.	Part	y Documents Regarding Merger Creating Market er	•
		1.`	Evanston and Highland Park Sought Market Power Through the Merger	
		2.	ENH Employed the Market Power of the Combined Evanston and Highland Park After the Merger	
		3.	ENH Achieved Substantial Post-Merger Price Increases Through the Merger	592
	В.	Testi Crea	imony of Present ENH Executives Regarding Merger ting Market Power	603
		1.	Assessments in Contemporaneous Documents of the Anticompetitive Consequences of the Merger Are a Reliable and Accurate Reflection of Discussions	603
		2.	ENH Executives Testified That Pre-Merger There Were Significant Pricing Pressures and the Threat of Increased Competition from Highland Park	605
		3.	Merger-Related Negotiations Headed by Jeff Hillebrand Were Successful for ENH	613
		4.	ENH's Executives Affirmed Respondent's Documents' Assertions About Price Increases Related to Post-Merger Re-Negotiations with	

		Health Plans	618
	5.	ENH Executive After-the-Fact "Explanations" of Leverage Are Factually Implausible	621
C.	Test Cre	timony of Former ENH Executives Regarding Merger ating Market Power	625
	010	and varied tower	023
	1.	Background of the Two Former ENH Executives	627
	2.	Former ENH Executives Also Testified That	
		Highland Park and Evanston Faced Pricing	
		Pressures Before the Merger	628
	3.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That Market	
		Power and Leverage over Health Plans Were	
		Attributable to the Merger	636
	4.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That a Merger	
		Plan Was to Use Power Attributable to the Merger	
		to Increase Prices.	641
		VOLUME VII	
	5.	Former ENH Executives Admitted That ENH's	
		Plan to Use Power From the Merger to Increase	
		Prices Succeeded	646
D.	Test	timony and Documents from ENH Consultants Regarding	
	Mer	rger Creating Market Power	647
	1.	In 1999, ENH Engaged Bain to Provide Merger-	
		Related Contracting Strategy	648
	2.	Bain Advised ENH to Use in Contracting the	
		Increased Market Leverage Due to the Addition	
		of Highland Park	650
	3.	Following Bain's Advice, ENH Successfully Utilized	
	~ .	the Market Power Generated by the Merger to	
	1	Extract More Money from Health Plans	657
E.	Prin	or to the Highland Park Merger. Evanston and	
	4 1 10	/1 to the likeniana i air micryer. Nyynsian ara	

	IIIg.	uianu i	ark Sought Market Fower	659
	1.	Nor	thwestern Healthcare Network	659
		a.	A Central Purpose of the Northwestern	
			Healthcare Network Was to Negotiate	
			Collectively and Eliminate Competition	
			Between Member Hospitals to Obtain Better	
			Contract Terms	661
		b.	Bain Recommended Joint Bargaining by	
			Hospitals in the Northwestern Healthcare	
			Network	663
		c.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network	
		Ç.	Failed for a Number of Reasons	661
			rance for a reminer of Reasons	004
	2.	Nor	thwestern Healthcare-North Proposed Merger	
			lighland Park, Evanston and Northwest	
		Con	nmunity	669
		a.	Background of NH-North	670
		b.	Increasing Market Share and Joint	
			Negotiations Were Important Goals of	
			NH-North.	671
		c.	Bain Advised Anticompetitive Measures	
			for Contracting by NH-North	672
			tor contracting by MIP-MOITH	0/2
		d.	The Proposed NH-North Merger Ultimately	
			Failed to Occur	675
	3.	Eva	nston-Highland Park Merger	675
		a.	Viewpoint of Evanston	675
		b.	Viewpoint of Highland Park	679
XII.	THE STRI	ICTUR	E OF THE MARKET GIVES RISE TO THE	
			F ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS	407
				08/
	A. Intr	oductio	on to Market Structure Analysis	687

	1.	For a Consummated Merger Where Pricing Data	
		Exists, the Emphasis Is on Analysis of the Pricing	
		Data, Not on Elzinga-Hogarty Type Analysis	687
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test to Identify Smallest	
	•	Relevant Product and Geographic Markets	690
В.	Pro Qua	duct Market: In-Patient Hospital Services (Except nternary) Sold to Health Plans	601
	1.		
	1.	Documents and Testimony Support the Conclusion	
		That Inpatient Hospital Services (Except Quaternary)	
		Sold to Health Plans Is a Relevant Product Market	691
	2.	Application of the SSNIP Test Supports the	
		Conclusion That Inpatient Hospital Services	
		(Except Quaternary) Sold to Health Plans Is a	
		Relevant Product Market	695
	3.	Quaternary Services Are Not in the Product Market	698
	4.	Outpatient Services Are Not a Substitute for Inpatient Services	700
C.	Geo	graphic Market: Triangle Formed by Evanston,	
	Glei	nbrook and Highland Park	703
	1.	General Definition of the Triangle Area	705
	2.	SSNIP Test Supports the Conclusion That the	
		Triangle Is a Relevant Geographic Market	707
	3.		•
	٥.	Patient Flow Analysis and the Elzinga-Hogarty Test Are Inappropriate Tools for Defining	
		Geographic Markets for General, Inpatient Acute	
		Care Hospital Services	700
			709
	4.	Evidence from Dr. Haas-Wilson Regarding the	
		Triangle Geographic Market	718
	5.	Consistent Evidence from Current and Former	
		ENH Executives.	710

		6.	Consistent Evidence from Health Plans Regarding the Triangle Market	724
		7.	ENH's "Combined Core Service Area" As a Proxy for the Triangle Market	731
	D.	Mar	ket Shares and Concentration	733
		1.	Dr. Haas-Wilson's Calculations of Market Share and Concentration in the Triangle Market	733
		2.	Calculations Based on ENH Documents and Testimony for the Combined Core Service Area	733
		3.	Dr. Noether's Calculations for the Market As Defined by Her	
	E.	Com Guid	parison of ENH HHIs to HHIs in the Merger lelines and Prior Case Law	
		1.	HHIs for the Triangle Market	736
J		2.	HHIs from Noether	737
		3.	Comparison With Past Hospital Merger Cases in Seventh Circuit Where Enforcement Action Was Successful.	738
XIII.	ENH	'S PRI	CE INCREASES HAVE NOT BEEN CONSTRAINED	
	DIE	NIKX	VOLUME VIII	740
XIV.	DR. F	RAKEI	R LACKS CREDIBILITY	
, ,	A.			
			Baker's Compensation.	
	В.		Baker's First Report	
	C.		Ashenfelter's Rebuttal Report	
	D.	Dr. B	Baker's Second Report	752

	E.	Dr. 1	Baker's Testimony	756
XV.	THE	E LEAR RIT	RNING ABOUT DEMAND EXCUSE IS WITHOUT	750
	A.	Intro	oduction to What the Alleged Defense Is	759
	В.	ENH Con	I Repeatedly and Vigorously Attempted to Re-Negotiate tracts Throughout the 1990s	760
	C.	ENH	re Is No Contemporaneous Evidence Showing That I Changed Its Pricing Strategy to Price at the Level Academic" Hospitals	765
		1.	Absence of Contemporaneous Business Records	765
		2.	Testimony of Health Plans Regarding Learning About Demand	769
	D.	D. Evanston Could Not Have Learned Anything Significant About Demand from Highland Park		773
		1.	Evanston Could Have Learned Little About the Demand for Its Own Services by Learning About the Demand for Highland Park's Services Because They Were Not Identical Hospitals	773
		2.	Pre-Merger, Highland Park Charged Lower Actual Prices Than Evanston	776
	κ.	3.	Dr. Noether's Rate Comparisons Cannot Be Taken at Face Value	779
	E.	Resp Cont	oondent's Experts' Comparisons to Dr. Noether's trol Groups Are Biased and Inappropriate	780
		1.	Dr. Noether Began with an Arbitrary Group of 20 Hospitals	783
		2.	Dr. Noether's Division of Her Hospitals into an Academic Hospital Group and a Community Hospital	
			Group Is Arbitrary	700

3.	Dr. 1	Noether Left Hospitals off of Her List of 20						
	Hos	pitals That Met the Criteria for Inclusion in						
	Her The	Academic Control Group If She Had Included m in Her Original List	701					
	III	m in their Original List	791					
4.	Dr. 1	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group						
	of "A	Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her						
	List	of 20 Hospitals) That Are Considered Major						
	Teac	ching Hospitals and That Had Lower						
	Post	-Merger Prices Than Northwestern Memorial						
	Hos	pital, University of Chicago Hospital, Rush-						
	Pres	sbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola						
	Univ	versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	793					
	a.	Louis A Waiss Haspital	500					
	и.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	793					
	b.	St. Francis Hospital	794					
5.	Dr. I	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group						
	of "A	of "Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals (on Her						
	List	List of 20 Hospitals) That Treated, on Average,						
	Mor	More Complex Cases Than ENH and That Had						
	Low	Lower Post-Merger Prices Than Northwestern						
	Men	norial Hospital, University of Chicago Hospital,						
	Rusł	h-Presbyterian-St. Luke's Medical Center, Loyola						
	Univ	versity Medical Center, and ENH Itself	705					
		2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2						
	a.	Alexian Brothers Medical Center	796					
	b.	Louis A. Weiss Hospital	708					
	c.	Northwest Community Hospital	799					
	d.	Resurrection Medical Center	801					
	e.	Rush North Shore Medical Center	802					
	f.	St. Francis Hospital	804					
6.	Dr. N	Noether's Criteria Excluded from Her Group						
	of "A	of "Academic" Hospitals Some Hospitals That Were						
	Inclu	ided in Her 20 Hospital List and That Treated,						
	on A	verage. More Compley Cases Than Another						

		Hospital Included in Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group	805
	7.	Dr. Noether's Academic Control Group Is Not an	
		Appropriate Control Group	807
		a. Case Mix and Services Provided	807
		b. Teaching Intensity	811
		c. National Recognition	811
	8.	Health Plans Do Not Consider ENH to Be	
		Comparable to Northwestern Memorial Hospital,	
		Rush-Presbyterian-St. Luke's, or the University of	
		Chicago	812
		a. PHCS	812
		b. One Health	813
		c. United	816
	9.	ENH's Pricing History to Blue Cross Showed No	
	,	Trend Toward the Prices Charged by the Academic	
		Control Group	916
			010
	10.	Dr. Noether Treated Highland Park Hospital	
	•	Inappropriately in Her Comparisons	817
F.	ENH	I Flunked the Learning About Demand Test	821
	1.	United	829
	2.	Humana	830
	3.	Blue Cross	831
G.	The	Learning About Demand Excuse Is Implausible	833
	1.	There Is No Dispute That ENH Had Market Power	
		After the Merger with Highland Park	833

	2.	The Theory of Learning About Demand Is Just a Claim That ENH Did Not Know How Much Market	
		Power It Had Prior to the Merger	834
	3.	ENH Had Substantial Market Power Post-Merger	836
		a. Rush North Shore Medical Center	837
		b. St. Francis Hospital	838
		c. Advocate Lutheran General Hospital	839
		d. Resurrection Medical Center	841
		e. Lake Forest Hospital	842
		f. Condell Medical Center	843
		g. ENH Was Able to Raise Prices Without Losing Managed Care Business	844
	4.	The Learning About Demand Theory Implies That ENH Could Have Charged the Post-Merger Prices Pre-Merger, Which It Could Not	844
	5.	It Is Implausible That ENH Could Have Remained in Disequilibrium Pre-Merger Because Health Plans Would Have Known Their Own Demand for Evanston's Services Pre-Merger	847
		VOLUME IX	
XVI. The	Quality	y of Care Changes Do Not Excuse the Merger	849
A.		oondent Failed to Prove That Quality Improved	
	1.	Respondent Did Not Even Attempt to Show That ENH's Quality Improved Compared to Other Hospitals	
		a. No Analysis of Control Group or Other Hospitals Outside ENH	850

b.			Quality Improvements Limited to
			cts of One of Three Hospitals in
	ENH	l Syster	m 853
c.	Resp	onden	t Failed to Prove That Quality
	Chai	nges O	utweigh the Anticompetitive
			ne Merger and Even Failed to
			thodology for Making Such a
	Com	pariso	n855
Con	nplaint (Counse	el Presented the Only Quantitative
Ana	llysis of	Quality	y, and the Results Prove That
Qua	ality Did	Not In	nprove in All of the Areas Where
Obj	ective D	ata Wa	as Available858
a.	Dr. I	Roman	o Is Complaint Counsel's Expert
	Witn	ess for	Quality of Care Issues858
b.	Dr I	Roman	o's Analysis of Outcomes861
ν.	D1.1	хошан	o s Analysis of Outcomes801
	(1)		Romano Found No Discernible
			rovement in Quality of Care at
•		High	nland Park After the Merger864
		(a)	There Was No Improvement
			in Heart Attack Care After the
			Merger867
		(b)	ENH's Opening of a Cardiac
			Surgery Program at Highland
			Park Hospital May Have
			Worsened the Quality of Cardiac
•			Surgery at ENH879
		(c)	There Was No Improvement in
			Interventional Cardiology at
			Highland Park Hospital or at
			ENH As a Whole After the Merger887
		(d)	There Was No Improvement in
		(4)	the Quality of Obstetrics and
			Gynecology Care at Highland
			TITLE THE TABLE ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL A

		Park Hospital or at ENH As a Whole After the Merger889
	(e)	There Was No Significant
		Improvement in the Quality
		of Nursing Services at Highland
		Park Hospital or ENH After the Merger895
	(6)	
	(f)	Highland Park Hospital Does Not Perform As Well As
	*	Academic Hospitals in Key
		Outcome Measures898
(2)	The	Validity of Dr. Romano's Analysis900
(3)	Ехре	erts in the Field of Quality
		surement, As Well As ENH Itself,
		Principally on Outcome and
	Proc	ess Measures916
Dr. I	Romano	o's Analysis of Patient Satisfaction Data924
		2
		Romano's Findings Based on
	Dr. F	Romano's Findings Based on
	Dr. F	
	Dr. F Data	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey923
	Dr. F Data	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey
	Dr. F Data	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey
	Dr. F Data	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey
	Dr. F Data (a)	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey
	Dr. F Data (a)	Romano's Findings Based on from Press-Ganey
	Dr. F Data (a)	Patient Satisfaction with Nursing Services Declined at Highland Park and Evanston Hospitals After the Merger
	Dr. I Data (a) (b)	Patient Satisfaction with Nursing Services Declined at Highland Park and Evanston Hospitals After the Merger
(1)	Dr. F Data (a)	Patient Satisfaction with Nursing Services Declined at Highland Park and Evanston Hospitals After the Merger
	Dr. I Data (a) (b)	Patient Satisfaction with Nursing Services Declined at Highland Park and Evanston Hospitals After the Merger
	Dr. I Data (a) (b)	Patient Satisfaction with Nursing Services Declined at Highland Park and Evanston Hospitals After the Merger

				(d)	There Was No Improvement In Patient Satisfaction at Highland Park Hospital in Other Areas After the Merger	930
			(2)		I Uses Press-Ganey Data to sure Patient Satisfaction	931
В.	Qua	lity Ch	anges A	re Exag	ggerated	932
	1.	Dr. 0	Chassin	's Qual	litative Analysis Was Inadequate	932
				V	OLUME X	
	2.	Ther at H	re Was ighland	No Sign Park F	nificant Quality Improvement Hospital Due to the Merger	941
		a.	Impi	rovemer	No Significant Quality nt in Nursing Services at ark Hospital Due to the Merger	942
		b.	Impr	rovemer	No Significant Quality nt in Obstetrics and Gynecology Park Hospital Due to the Merger	957
		c.	High	land Pa	No Significant Improvement in ark Hospital's Quality Assurance ue to the Merger	972
		d.	High	land Pa	No Significant Improvement in ark Hospital's Quality nt Activities Due to the Merger	990
		e.	Impr	ovemen	No Significant Quality nt in Laboratory Medicine and ervices Due to the Merger	998
		f.	Impr	ovemen	No Significant Quality nt in Oncology at Highland Park e to the Merger	1000
		g.	There	e Was N	No Significant Quality	

			Park Hospital Due to the Merger1004
		h.	There Was No Significant Quality Improvement in Intensive Care at Highland
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger1007
			1
		i.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement in Pharmacy Services at
			Highland Park Hospital Due to the Merger1010
		j.	There Was No Significant Quality
;		•	Improvement in Psychiatric Care at Highland
			Park Hospital Due to the Merger1012
		k. .	
		М.	The Merger Did Not Significantly Improve
			the Quality of Care at Highland Park Hospital Because of the So-Called Clinical
			"Rationalization"1013
			1013
		l.	There Was No Significant Quality
			Improvement at Highland Park Hospital
			by Virtue of Academic Affiliation1016
C.	The	Quality	Changes Are Not Merger Specific Because
	High	land P	ark, on Its Own Or with Others, Could Have
	Achi	eved th	e Same Quality Changes1018
	1.	High	land Park Hospital Was Already a Good
		Host	oital Before the Merger1019
			1019
			VOLUME XI
		a.	Highland Park Hospital Offered Leading
			Edge and Innovative Clinical Programs
			Before the Merger1030
	•	b.	Highland Park Hospital Continually Added
			New Clinical Services and Made Improvements
			Before the Merger
	2.	High	land Park Hospital Already Had Plans to
	_•	Impl	ement Some of the Changes Before the Merger1041
			1041

	a.	Highland Park Hospital Had Decided to Develop a Cardiac Surgery Program Before the Merger104	.5
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Was Actively Pursuing a Joint Cancer Care Program with Other Hospitals, Including Evanston, Before the Merger	54
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Was Already Planning to Renovate and Expand Its Emergency Department Before the Merger105	57
3.		e of the Changes Were Part of a General onwide Trend of Improvement105	5 9
	a.	Subsequent to the Merger, There Has Been an Increase in the Use of Intensivists by Hospitals	4
	b.	There Has Been An Increase in the Use of Information Technology by Hospitals to Improve the Quality of Care	67
4.	Imp	nland Park Could Have Continued to rove and Expand Other Clinical Services nout the Merger107	72
	a.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have Implemented the Changes in Its Obstetrics and Gynecology Department Without the Merger	73
	b.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have Implemented the Changes in Its Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement Activities Without the Merger	76
	c.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have Improved Its Physical Plant Without the Merger107	77
	d.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	

				Implemented the Changes in Its Laboratory Without the Merger	1078
			e.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Pharmacy Services Without the Merger	1079
			f.	Highland Park Hospital Could Have	
				Implemented the Changes in Its Radiology Department Without the Merger	1000
		_	TT! _1		1000
		5.	Asse	nland Park Hospital Possessed the Financial ets to Implement Quality Changes on Its Own	1080
	D.	Virtu	ally A	ll of the Alleged Quality Improvements	
	•	Occu	rred A	After Health Care Contracts Were ted	1002
	102				1082
	E.	Plans	on th	ot Negotiate Price Increases with Health e Basis of Quality Improvements	1087
XVII.	ENH' EXEI	S NON	i-PRO OF M	FIT STATUS DID NOT RESTRAIN ITS ARKET POWER	1099
	A.	ENH ² to Pos	's Not- st-Mei	-For-Profit Status Did Not Affect Its Approach rger Price Increases	1099
	В.	The F	Hospita	al Boards Did Not Get Involved in Pricing Issues	1102
	C.	The I	nteres	ts of Evanston, Highland Park, and ENH	
		Mana in Te	gemei erms o	nt Did Not Align with the Interests of Consumers f Pricing and in Terms of Passing on Increased	
		Rever	iues R	Resulting from the Merger	1104
	D.	Econ	omic S	tudies Support the View That Non-Profit	
		Hospi	itals E	xercise Market Power	1108
XVIII	.ENH'	S MEN	/BER	SHIP IN THE NORTHWESTERN	
		HEA	LTHC	ARE NETWORK DOES NOT ELIMINATE	
		ENH'	S LIA YTON	BILITY UNDER SECTION 7 OF THE	1112

	A.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network Did Not Exercise Central Control					
	В.	Evanston and Highland Park Were Two Separate Entities Prior to the Merger	1114				
		1. Separate Administrations	1114				
		2. Separate Staffs	1116				
		3. Separate Services	1117				
		4. Financial Independence	1118				
	C.	The Northwestern Healthcare Network Disbanded Before the Evanston-Highland Park Merger Occurred	1120				
XIX.	REM	EDY	1122				
	A.	The Proposed Remedy Is Practicable and Will Restore Competition	1122				
	В.	Divestiture Would Not Have a Significant Impact on Quality at Highland Park Hospital	1124				

1237.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1520, in camera; CX 5091 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1237:

This proposed finding is immaterial, incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 215 at 1;

CX 216 at 15, in camera; CX 5076 at 10; CX 5085 at 1, in camera; CX 5091 at 1).

2. Post-Merger Experience

2000 Negotiation Experience - ENH Demanded a Price Increase from Unicare

1238. →

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1547-48, 1597, 1599-1600, in camera; CX 216 at 1,

Response to Finding No. 1238:

in camera).

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 833, in camera; RFF ¶ 857, in camera).

1239.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1548-49; compare CX 216 at 1, 15, in camera, and CX 5091 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1239:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1549, in camera).

Consequently, this proposed finding is also immaterial.

1240. In fact, Rush Prudential had been paying Evanston higher rates than many health plans prior to the merger. (CX 74 at 9). In 1999, Rush Prudential paid higher per diems for ICU, medical, and surgical services than Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Aetna, PHCS, United, Preferred, and Cigna. (CX 74 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 1240:

This proposed finding is misleading. This proposed finding ignores that comparing total inpatient revenue per day figures, the Rush Prudential contract reimbursed Evanston Hospital lower than several MCOs' pre-Merger rates, including HPH's rates with PHCS, Preferred Plan. United, Healthstar, Health Network, Cigna, Health Direct and Principal; as well as Evanston Hospital's rates with HMO Illinois and Health Network. (CX 75 at 6).

1241.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, 1535, in camera; CX 124 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1241:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 865, 869, 871-873,

in camera; RFF ¶ 866).

1242.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, in camera; CX 124 at

1-2, in camera. See Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1535 (

REDACTED

), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1242:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 184-186, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 665; RX 682, in camera).

1243.

REDACTED

(CX 124 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1243:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF ¶ 865).

1244.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1533, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1244:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1242).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1242, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 881, in

camera). '

REDACTED

(RX

881 at 1-2, in camera).

1245.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1533-35, in camera; CX 124 at 1-2,

in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1245:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1533-35, in camera; CX 124 at 1-2, in camera).

REDACTED

REDACTED (RX 682 at 1-2, in camera; RFF-Reply ¶ 1242, in camera (REDACTED

;).

1246.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1246:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5085 at 1-2; CX 5091 at 1-2; CX 216 at 1-2, 14-15, in camera; RFF ¶ 34 (explaining that "Evanston Hospital Corporation" is the same entity as "Evanston Northwestern Healthcare").

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1507-08, in camera).

1247.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528-29, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1528-29, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1247:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. The ENH's unique single-entity integration justifies unified pricing. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 824, 907-908).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1246, in camera).

1248.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, 1535-36, in camera; CX 124 at 2-3, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1248:

Respondent has no specific response except to note that

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 856, 859; RFF ¶¶ 857-858, in camera).

1249.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, 1535-36, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1944, in camera; CX 124 at 2-3, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1249:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 124 at 2-3, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527,

1535-36, in camera). This proposed finding implies that ENH had the intent or ability to unilaterally change the structure of that term of the contract.

REDACTED (CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

REDACTED

, (RX 881 at 2, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 881 at 2, in camera).

1250.

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1527, 1536, in camera; CX 124 at 2-3, in camera; CX 5091 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1250:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 215 at 1; CX 216 at 15, in

camera; CX 5076 at 10; CX 5085 at 1; CX 5091 at 1).

REDACTED

(CX 124 at 2-3, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1570-71, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1570-71, in camera).

Unicare's Analysis Showed a Significant Price Increase over Pre-Merger Contracts

1251.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1503-04, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1251:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1504, in camera (emphasis added)).

1252.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, 1543, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1252:

This proposed finding is misleading and irrelevant because

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, in

camera).

1253.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, 1539, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1253:

This proposed finding is misleading and irrelevant to the extent

REDACTED

; (Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1536, in camera).

1254.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1502-03, in camera. See

REDACTED

), in camera.

See CCFF 1238, in camera).

Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1503 (

Response to Finding No. 1254:

This proposed finding is confusing, vague and not supported by the cited evidence.

REDACTED

(CX 129 at 1, in camera).

Rates on the Rush Prudential contract were last negotiated in 1994. (CX 5085 at 1; CX 5091 at

1).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1502-03, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1502-03, in camera).

1255.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1503, 1597, 1599-1600, in camera. See CCFF 1238, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1255:

This proposed finding is incorrect and misleading. In 2000, ENH was, in fact, updating rates that had not been adjusted since 1994. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1254). This proposed finding mischaracterizes the evidence.

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1502-03, in camera; RFF-

Reply ¶ 1254, in camera).

1256.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536-37, 1542, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1256:

This proposed finding is blatantly false and contradicted by the evidence.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541, in

camera (emphasis added)).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1542, *in camera*). This proposed finding, therefore, should be completely disregarded.

1257.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1257:

This proposed finding is false and contradicted by the cited testimony.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541, in camera). After six years, the HMO fixed medical/surgical rate were increased only \$50. (RFF ¶ 871).

Unicare Felt It Necessary to Involve Senior Network Managers in the ENH Negotiations 1258.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1501-02, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1258:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶

1242, 1245, in camera).

1259.

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1259:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 867; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in

camera; RFF ¶ 162-163, 166; RFF ¶ 167-168, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in camera).

1260.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in camera)

Response to Finding No. 1260:

Respondent has no specific response.

1261.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1540, in camera)

Response to Finding No. 1261:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF $\P\P$ 867-868, 876, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1259, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 867, 876, in camera).

ENH Would Not Compromise with Unicare on Rates

1262.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1530, 1544, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1262:

Respondent has no specific response.

1263.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1545-46, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1263:

Respondent has no specific response.

1264.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1530, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1264:

This proposed finding is incorrect and not supported by reliable evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1265).

1265.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1529-30, 1544-45, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1265:

This proposed finding is incorrect and not supported by reliable evidence. The contract negotiated between Unicare and ENH proves that this was neither a "take it or leave it" negotiation nor that the result reflects market power from the Merger.

REDACTED

(RFF-

Reply ¶¶ 1256-57; RFF ¶ 870, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1541, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 871, in camera).

REDACTED

(Compare CX 124 at 2, in camera; CX 5075 at 17, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 872, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 872, in camera).

1266.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.1545, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1266:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record.

REDACTED

(RFF \P 459, in camera).

REDACTED

, (RFF \P 459, in camera). ENH also competes in a broad geographic market. In fact, Unicare's own definition of "sufficient access" includes any hospital within 30 miles. (RFF \P 560).

1267.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1546, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1267:

This proposed finding is not supported by reliable evidence and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 858, in

camera; CX 216 at 9, 12, in camera). Also, ENH's negotiating strategy, as advised by Bain, was to propose rates higher than what it might ultimately be satisfied with. (RFF ¶ 715).

1268.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1547, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1268:

This proposed finding is misleading. ENH did not anticipate that Unicare would accept its proposal. (RFF ¶ 713-714). Instead, it prepared for Unicare's counterproposal.

REDACTED

(RX 881, in camera). REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1267, in camera).

1269.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1547, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy,

Tr. 1547, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1269:

This proposed finding is contrived, sensationalized and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1267, in camera).

1270.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1546, in camera).

Responsive to Finding No. 1270:

This proposed finding is not based on credible evidence. Unicare is not a small player struggling to get by. Instead, it is a product marketed by its parent, Wellpoint. (RFF ¶ 162-163, 165-166). In 2003, Wellpoint held over \$14.7 billion in total assets and earned over \$935 million. (RFF ¶ 164). By contrast, in 2000, Wellpoint earned \$342 million in net income. (RFF ¶ 164). Therefore, ENH properly rejected Unicare's claim because Wellpoint (and its subsidiaries) could and would remain competitive in the marketplace. (RFF ¶ 164-165).

1271. Unicare representatives did not threaten to walk away from ENH's price demands and redirect patient flow to other facilities during the meeting. (Chan, Tr. 703).

Response to Finding No. 1271:

This proposed finding is misleading. Selective contracting simply has not played a role in the Chicago market. (RFF ¶¶ 75-76). Chicago consumers demand broad networks with few

restrictions from their managed care plans. (RFF ¶ 58).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1230-1231, in camera). Another contributing

factor was the contemporaneous Unicare merger with Rush Prudential. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1261).

1272.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1550, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1272:

Respondent has no specific response.

1273.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1550-51, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1273:

This proposed finding is misleading and contradicted by the evidence.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1265).

1274.

REDACTED

(CX 129 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1274:

Respondent has no specific response.

1275.

REDACTED

(CX 129 at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1560, in camera; CX 129 at

1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1275:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable or credible evidence.

REDACTED

(CX 129 at 1, in camera). As a result, this statement should

be given little weight. And Chan testified that, even without the Merger, Evanston Hospital was a "very desirable hospital that had a "lock" on the North Shore. (Chan, Tr. 705). She further testified that HPH "could not replace" Evanston Hospital, and that Evanston Hospital's true competitors were hospitals like Northwestern Memorial and Advocate Lutheran General. (Chan, Tr. 706). As a result, the Merger did not make a difference to MCOs, i.e., the importance of Evanston Hospital to a MCO did not differ from the importance of Evanston Hospital and HPH together to a MCO. (RX 2047 at 38 (Ogden Dep.)).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1588, in camera).

1276.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1551, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1276:

This proposed finding is inconsistent with the evidence and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶

1265, in camera).

1277.

REDACTED

in camera).

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1551, in camera; CX 5907 at 1,

REDACTED

(CX 5907 at 1; in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1525, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1277:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1265, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1265, 1278, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1579-80, in camera).

1278. In response to Unicare's counter-proposal, Mr. Gilbert recommended that Mr. Hillebrand send a termination letter to Unicare so that the health plan would "take [ENH's] proposals more seriously." (RX 885 at ENH JL 005396).

Response to Finding No. 1278:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Gilbert explained that the reason Unicare's proposal was unacceptable was because it attempted to eliminate a stop loss provision to protect ENH for PPO patients. (RX 885 at ENH JL 5396; RFF ¶ 93).

1279. On June 14, 2000, Mr. Hillebrand took Mr. Gilbert's advice and sent a letter to Unicare stating that the hospital system could not accept the rates as proposed and providing "written notice of termination for both hospital and physician agreements with Unicare effective September 15, 2000." (RX 885 at ENH JL 005396; CX 2063 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1279:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. ENH wanted to continue its relationship with Unicare. (CX 2063 at 1). ENH invited Unicare's negotiators to contact them immediately if they were willing to reconsider their unacceptable proposal. (CX 2063 at 1; RFF-Reply ¶ 1278).

1280. In the letter, Mr. Hillebrand told Ms. Stoll that ENH would only move forward with a Unicare contract only if the health plan was "willing to reconsider" its counter-proposal. (CX 2063 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1280:

Respondent has no specific response. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1278-1279).

Unicare Could Not Walk Away from ENH

1281.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552-53, 1568, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1281:

This proposed finding lacks foundation.

REDACTED

(Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1583, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1583, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1583, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552-53, 1568, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1553, in camera).

1282.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552, 1554, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1282:

This proposed finding lacks foundation and is not supported by the evidence. Complaint Counsel did not call a single employer in this case.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1281, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1552-54, in camera).

1283.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552-53, in camera. See

Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1602 (

REDACTED

), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1283:

This proposed finding is not based upon reliable or credible evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282). This proposed finding is based on nothing but unsupported and unreliable opinion and speculation. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282).

1284.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1284:

This proposed finding is not based on reliable or credible evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-

82).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1266, in camera).

1285.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552-53, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1285:

This proposed finding is not based upon reliable or credible evidence.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P ¶ 1281-1282, in camera).

1286.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1552-53, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1286:

This proposed finding is not based on any reliable or credible evidence. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282, 1284).

1287. →

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1554, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1287:

This proposed finding is not based on any reliable or credible evidence and is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282). REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1282, in camera).

1288.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1513-14, 1562, in camera; CX 5075 at 17, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1288:

This proposed finding is false and not supported by the record. **REDACTED**

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1265).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1265, in camera). The cited evidence does not even support the text of the proposed finding. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1513-14, 1562, in camera).

ENH Obtained a Significant Price Increase from Unicare

1289.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, 1539, 1563, in camera; CX 5075 at 17, in camera; CX 124 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1289:

This proposed finding is false and misleading.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1535-36, 1539, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶

1265, *in camera*). Therefore, the actual increase negotiated in the Unicare-ENH contract is below the figures relied on in this proposed finding.

1290.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536,

1543, 1563, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1290:

This proposed finding is not supported by reliable evidence.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P 1265, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1536, 1539, 1543, 1563, in camera).

1291.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1563, 1600, in camera; CX 5907 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1291:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(CX 5907 at 1,

in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-

Darcy, Tr. 1578-79, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1523, in camera).

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1257; RFF ¶ 870, in

camera).

1292.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1564-65, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1292:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1257).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶

103, in camera).

1293.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1565, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1293:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 867, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1282, in camera).

1294. ·

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr.

1565, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1294:

This proposed finding is incomplete, misleading and not based on any reliable evidence. Holt-Darcy had no direct dealings with any Unicare customer. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1583, *in camera*; RFF-Reply ¶ 1281; RFF ¶¶162-165).

(CX 6279 at 4, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2536 (citing DX 7009 at 1, in camera), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1295:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 426-427).

1296.

REDACTED

(Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2536, in camera).

REDACTED

(CX 6279 at 5, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1296:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 459-460).

The Merger Strengthened ENH's Negotiating Position in the North Shore with Health Plans

1297.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy,

Tr. 1518-19, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1297:

This proposed finding is incomplete. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1298).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 454, 458-460; RFF ¶¶

455-457, in camera).

1298.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1518-19, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1298:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 454, 458-460; RFF ¶¶ 455-

457, in camera).

REDACTED

1298, in camera).

REDACTED

(CCFF ¶ 1297, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 390 (a),

in camera).

REDACTED

Moreover, this proposed finding relies solely on the testimony of Holt-Darcy,

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1281-1282, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply \P ¶ 1281-1282, in camera).

1299.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1510, in

camera)

Response to Finding No. 1299:

This proposed finding is vague and not supported by the record.

REDACTED

, (RFF-Reply $\P\P$ 1281-1282, in camera). This

proposed finding also is contradicted by the testimony in this case. According to Holt-Darcy,
Unicare's standard for "sufficient access" is to have a hospital within 30 miles of where its

		·		
		·		
	*			
	,			

members live and work. (RFF ¶ 460).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 387, in camera).

1300.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1511, in camera.

See Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1510 (REDAC

), in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1300:

This proposed finding is vague, unsupported by the evidence and constitutes unsubstantiated opinion testimony by an unreliable witness. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1266, 1281-1282).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 397, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 397, in camera). The referral and patient travel patterns demonstrated that the North Shore is a competitive environment and that HPH was not Evanston Hospital's closest competitor. (RFF ¶ 397).

(RFF ¶

398, in camera).

1301.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1529, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1301:

This proposed finding is contradicted by the facts.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1265-1266). **REDACTED**

(RFF \P 871, in camera).

1302.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1561, in

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1302:

This proposed finding is exaggerated and misleading.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1266, in

camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1232, 1254, in camera).

1303.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528, 1560-61, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1303:

This proposed finding in not based on reliable or credible evidence.

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶

1246, *in camera*). As a fully integrated health care delivery system, ENH simply brought the same principles to bear when it synergized with HPH. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 824-825).

1304.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1560-61, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1304:

This proposed finding is false, not based on reliable evidence and misleading. REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1289-1290, in camera). REDACTED

(RFF \P 859, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 859, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-

Reply ¶¶ 1254-1255, 1264, in camera).

CX 121 at 1, in camera).

J. ENH Also Extracted a Significant Price Increase from Other Health Plans
That Did Not Testify at Trial

1305.

REDACTED

(See Chan, Tr. 697-98; CX 17 at 8; CX 24 at 8-10, in camera;

Response to Finding No. 1305:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence. This proposed finding cites the testimony of Chan that does not support the text of the proposed finding. (Chan, Tr. 697-98). Moreover, the rate increases negotiated between MCOs and ENH are not related to market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 373-745, 822-1337).

Complaint Counsel refused to call witnesses from many MCOs. However, while Complaint Counsel can only point to increases in revenue, it is clear that the evidence demonstrated that these renegotiations simply tracked the annual inflation of costs and/or ENH's learning about demand. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1306-1310; RFF ¶ 519).

1306. Cigna also did poorly in its 2000 contract renegotiations with ENH. (Chan, Tr. 697-8). In an October 2000 report to ENH's board of directors, Mr. Neaman estimated the June 2000 renegotiation of the Cigna contract to be worth \$3 million in annualized economic value. (CX 17 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 1306:

This proposed finding is misleading. Before the Merger, Evanston Hospital had not negotiated a new contract with Cigna since 1995. (RFF ¶ 778). HPH had not renegotiated its

rates since 1993. Yet, its contract was superior to Evanston Hospital's. (RFF ¶ 779-781). ENH negotiated a corrective adjustment to its rates with Cigna and the parties executed a new contract. (RFF ¶¶ 782-784).

1307. In that same report to the board, Mr. Neaman also noted that the Humana contract renegotiation had resulted in \$2 million of additional annualized economic value. (CX 17 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 1307:

This proposed finding is misleading. The evidence showed that Humana and ENH negotiated a rate increase in 2000 that had nothing to do with the Merger. (RFF ¶ 814-819, 822-825).

1308.

REDACTED

(CX 24 at 8, in camera; CX 121, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1308:

This proposed finding is misleading. Evanston Hospital's contract with CCN was outdated and under-market. HPH's contract rates with CCN were significantly higher than Evanston Hospital's rates. In 2000, ENH and CCN updated their rates to a fair market level. CCN negotiated rates with the ENH system that were actually more favorable than those that it had with HPH before the Merger. (RFF ¶ 785-789).

1309.

(CX 24 at 9, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1309:

This proposed finding is insufficient and misleading. There is no evidence to suggest that this revenue increase is not an increase to account for inflation of costs.

camera).

Response to Finding No. 1310:

This proposed finding is misleading. In 2000, ENH and Preferred Plan agreed to rates more favorable to Preferred Plan than what were in place at HPH before the Merger. (RFF ¶¶ 849-852). The new contract included a greater discount-off-charges than what was in place at HPH before the Merger. (RFF ¶ 852).

1311. In October 2000, Mr. Neaman reported to ENH's board of directors that the renegotiation of some other small PPO agreements in January 2000 alone had resulted in \$1 million in estimated annualized economic value. (CX 17 at 5).

Response to Finding No. 1311:

This proposed finding is misleading. Mere increases in revenue are not indicia of anticompetitive effects. (RFF ¶ 519).

1312. Mr. Neaman's October 2000 memo to the board of directors noted that, through the merger, "some \$24 million of revenue enhancements have been achieved – mostly via managed care renegotiations" (CX 17 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1312:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading because the cited revenue enhancements were not a result of market power but, instead, a result of ENH bringing its rates to market levels through the Merger integration process. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397).

K. ENH's Price Increases Were Contrary to Market Trends to Hold Pricing Flat or to Discount Further

1313. ENH's price increases occurred in an environment where the price trend for hospitals has been flat at best. Before the merger, Evanston and Highland Park leadership believed that health plans would increase pricing pressures on hospitals. (Neaman, Tr. 1042; CX 442. See CCFF 778-789).

Response to Finding No. 1313:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 778-789).

Complaint Counsel's reliance upon the phrase "pricing pressure" is vague. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 778-789).

18 x 45 x

1314.

REDACTED
(Chan, Tr. 688-90, 716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 824-26, in REDACTED

camera).

(Chan, Tr. 824-26, in camera; Chan, Tr.

716-20; CX 30 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1314:

This proposed finding is vague, misleading and mischaracterizes the cited evidence. Neither Chan nor Complaint Counsel gave any indication of what "substantial" means. As a general matter, HPH's discounts were smaller than those negotiated by Evanston Hospital, thus leading to the discrepancies learned by ENH during the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 656-733). Even the most cursory comparison reveals that HPH offered lower discounts to MCOs than Evanston Hospital. (CX 30 at 2). For example, for PHCS, Evanston Hospital had a 51.98% discount as compared to HPH's 17%. (CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 718-19). Similarly, for United, Evanston Hospital's discount was over 60% compared to HPH's 15%. (CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 719-20).

1315. For example, as early as the beginning of 1998, Mr. Hillebrand lamented to Evanston's board of directors that the hospital was experiencing "significant reductions in reimbursement" from both Blue Cross and Humana. (CX 2037 at 2-3; Neaman, Tr. 1151-52).

Response to Finding No. 1315:

Respondent has no specific response.

1316.

REDACTED (Chan, Tr. 688-90, 716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 824-26, in

camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 688-90, 716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 824-26, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1316:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 688-90, 716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 824-26, *in camera*). There is no evidence that rates at Evanston Hospital depended on, or related to, the rates negotiated at HPH before the Merger. In fact, every MCO witness competent to so testify on the issue conceded that they never played HPH off Evanston Hospital (or vice versa) when negotiating rates. (RFF 974-981).

1317.

REDACTE

(Chan, Tr. 688-90, 716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan,

Tr. 824-26, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 688-90,

716-20; CX 30 at 2; Chan, Tr. 824-26, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1317:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

RFF-Reply ¶ 1178, in camera)

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 102-103).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶¶

1178, 1184, 1194, 1212, 1220, 1222, in camera).

1318.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 823-24, in camera. See also Chan, Tr. 782-83, in camera; CX 1095 at 6; CX 439 at 8. See CCFF 778-789).

Response to Finding No. 1318:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence.

REDACTED

(CCFF ¶ 1316-1317, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF-Reply ¶ 1317, in camera). The evidence

showed that rates should have increased as a result of cost increases, the Balanced Budget Act and other economic causes. (RFF ¶¶ 105-115).

1319.

REDACTED

(CX 1095 at 6; Chan, Tr. 673; Chan, Tr. 787, in camera. See CX 439 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 1319:

This proposed finding is incomplete and vague. This proposed finding does not relate to any "pressure" on prices, as the title of this subheading suggests. Instead, the cited evidence relates only to the possibility that MCOs would seek to change payment methodology (i.e., discount-off-charges to fixed rates). (RFF-Reply ¶ 781-784). To that end, this proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 781-784). In any event, before the Merger, HPH maintained discount-off-charges contracts for inpatient services with several MCOs. (RFF ¶¶ 85, 94, 666, 785, 851, 882).

1320.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 794, in camera; See CX 439 at 8 (June, 1998 presentation to the Highland Park board of directors finance committee showing Highland Park's projected 1998 effective discount to health plans increasing from 34.3% to 34.9%).

Response to Finding No. 1320:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence and is very misleading. Under per diem contracts, even as costs increase, reimbursement stays the same. (RFF ¶ 92). As a result, every year as costs inflate, the per diem rates stay the same – which results in an incremental increase in effective discount. (CX 439 at 8).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 794, *in camera*; CX 439 at 8). The evidence relied on in this proposed finding does not support the proposition that "pre-merger health plan pressure" for lower rates caused this increase.

1321.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr.

819-20, in camera; CX 1099 at 1-67, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1321:

Respondent has no specific response.

1322. Highland Park's own executives admitted that Highland Park could not have achieved price increases with health plans prior to the merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2201-02, 2172-73).

Response to Finding No. 1322:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited evidence and is misleading. Before the Merger, HPH's rates were largely better than even some academic hospitals in Chicago, namely, Evanston Hospital. (RFF ¶ 658, 679). Whereas Evanston Hospital's rates were far below their appropriate value, HPH's rates were closer to fair market value. Moreover, Spaeth only speculated that although HPH could have tried to renegotiate contracts higher, he did not know whether such an attempt would be successful. (Spaeth, Tr. 2172-73). In addition, Spaeth was never personally involved in managed care negotiations. (Spaeth, Tr. 2298-99).

1323. Highland Park executives knew that the hospital could not sustain a strategy in which it would lose contracts or be eliminated from a health plan's network. Such a strategy would have proved very difficult for the hospital to stick to. (Spaeth, Tr. 2172-73, 2178).

Response to Finding No. 1323:

This proposed finding is not supported by the record. The cited pages of testimony do not support the text of this finding.

1324. ·

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1704-07. See CCFF 817-821, 822-842, 848-859, 884-903, 918-924, 936-951).

Response to Finding No. 1324:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. There was no distinct downward trend in rates paid by MCOs during the pre-Merger period. To the contrary, the MCO witnesses agreed that contract renegotiations resulted in annual increases. (Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1502-03, in camera (REDACTED); Mendonsa,

Tr. 533-34, in camera (

REDACTED

). Moreover, the contracts negotiated and mutually agreed to by MCOs in the negotiations after the Merger were not above fair market levels.

1325. Mr. Spaeth does not believe that the downward trend in pricing before the merger has changed after the merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2201-02).

Response to Finding No. 1325:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. Spaeth merely recognized that MCOs, by their nature, seek to pay less for more services. (Spaeth, Tr. 2201-02). As a result, the relationship between hospitals and MCOs is always "strained." (Spaeth, Tr. 2297-98). The cited testimony is unrelated to the Merger. Moreover, Spaeth was not personally involved in managed care negotiations. (Spaeth, Tr. 2298-99).

1326. Similarly, both Mr. Neaman and Mr. Hillebrand claimed that health plans' bargaining positions have *increased* since the merger. (Neaman, Tr. 1269-71; Hillebrand, Tr. 1725-26 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1326:

This proposed finding is misleading. MCO bargaining power is increasing in the Chicago area. ENH is, and always has been, at a disadvantage against the sophistication and wealth of MCOs. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1725-26). MCOs in the Chicago area continue to amass volume and consolidate. In the mid-nineties, United acquired several other health plans. (RFF ¶ 177; Neaman, Tr. 1269-71). Wellpoint, a major national firm, acquired Rush Prudential in 2000. (RFF ¶ 163, 168).

1327.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1704-07.

See CCFF 652-692).

Response to Finding No. 1327:

This proposed finding is misleading. ENH was able to negotiate one-time corrective adjustments for several MCOs after it learned that its rates and contracts were under-market. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 652-692; RFF ¶¶ 656-923, 1110-1155). Moreover, this proposed finding concedes that other hospitals were negotiating increases, not decreases as Complaint Counsel asserts was the "trend." (Compare CCFF ¶ 1327 with CCFF ¶¶ 1324-25).

1328.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1708-09 (admitting that health plan attempts to take away post-merger price increases obtained in 2000 failed); Chan, Tr. 710 (Ms. Chan testified that ENH had more "leverage" after the merger); Chan, Tr. at 839 (

REDACTED

), in camera. See CCFF 652-692, 817-842, 848-859, 884-903, 918-924, 936-951, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1328:

This proposed finding is false. In 2000, ENH learned that it had undervalued its hospitals in rate negotiations in the past. (RFF ¶¶ 656-923, 1110-1155). Through renegotiations, ENH brought its prices up to fair market levels. (RFF ¶¶ 734-923). Since these prices were at fair market levels, MCOs have not been able to take advantage of ENH and reduce them to below-market levels. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1709; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 652-692, 817-842, 848-859, 884-903, 918-924, 936-951).

- L. ENH Increased Its Net Revenues from Health Plans by a Minimum of \$18 Million Annually Due Just to the 2000 Managed Care Contract Re-Negotiations
- 1329. With the exception of losing One Health for a short period of time, ENH did not lose a single health plan over the course of the 2000 contract renegotiations. (Neary, Tr. 617-18; Dorsey, Tr. 1438-39, 1441-42, 1456; Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08).

Response to Finding No. 1329:

Respondent has no specific response.

1330. In October 2000, Mr. Neaman sent a memorandum to the board of directors with an attached "Sequential Listing of Accomplishments" of the merger. (CX 17 at 1, 5). Mr. Neaman reported that the re-negotiation of the United, PHCS, Aetna, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, and Cigna contracts had resulted in an annualized economic value of \$15 million (\$3 million per health plan). (CX 17 at 5-8). ENH realized an additional \$3 million annually from the re-negotiation of the Humana contract and from the re-negotiation of other smaller PPO contracts (\$2 million for Humana and \$1 million for some smaller contracts combined). (CX 17 at 5, 8). As of October, ENH's had achieved this additional \$18 million per year through the managed care contract renegotiations. (CX 17 at 5-8; Hillebrand 1708-09. See CX 13 at 1 (In July 2000, Mr. Neaman reported an additional \$16 million/year in total managed care re-negotiation benefits to the board); CX 17 at 8 (September 2000 Humana contract re-negotiation resulted in \$2 million annualized economic revenue)).

Response to Finding No. 1330:

This proposed finding is misleading because the above-listed contract improvements are a direct result of ENH using the knowledge of pre-Merger HPH's rates to reach the appropriate

level of reimbursement in the competitive marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 853-854, 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397). This proposed finding also refers to the \$3 million enhancement from the Blue Cross renegotiation, yet Complaint Counsel has not asserted that this \$3 million enhancement was the result of ENH's market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1375). Moreover, this proposed finding includes \$3 million from Cigna and \$2 million from Humana. Complaint Counsel did not call any representatives from these MCOs. Nor did Complaint Counsel call any representatives from the "Other (smaller)" PPOs, which constituted another \$1 million in contract improvements.

1331. Using Mr. Hillebrand's January 2000 report of a \$3.5 million annualized economic benefit from the United contract instead of Mr. Neaman's \$3 million figure, ENH's total annualized economic revenue from the re-negotiation of managed care contracts increases from \$18 million to \$18.5 million. (CX 5 at 5; Hillebrand, Tr. 1820. See CX 17 at 5-8 (1/00 "Other (smaller) PPO agreement re-negotiations" (\$1 million), 3/00 "Private Healthcare re-negotiation" (\$3 million), 5/00 "Renegotiated Aetna contract" (\$3 million), 6/00 "Blue Cross Contract re-negotiation" (\$3 million), 6/00 "Cigna Contract re-negotiation" (\$3 million), and 9/00 "Humana Contract Re-negotiations" (\$2 million)).

Response to Finding No. 1331:

Whether ENH's annualized economic revenue was \$18 million or \$18.5 million, this proposed finding is still misleading for the same reasons previously detailed. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1330). Nevertheless, the \$18 million figure is the more accurate of the two figures because it was calculated in October 2000, giving ENH ten months to better analyze the impact of the United contract.

1332. Evanston alone "had never achieved" a price increase as high as \$18 million before the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1722).

Response to Finding No. 1332:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies ENH exercised market power to achieve this \$18 million. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1330). ENH achieved this \$18 million because most

of pre-Merger Evanston Hospital's contracts were significantly outdated and under-market. (RFF ¶¶ 694-703; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 856, 1434, 1786).

1333

REDACTED

(Dorsey, 1r.

1439-42, 1457; Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08, 1898; Sirabian, Tr. 5717; CX 5067 at 4, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1333:

This proposed finding is not supported by the evidence and misleading. The additional revenue derived from these renegotiations is a direct result of ENH using the knowledge of pre-Merger HPH's rates to bring outdated, under-market contracts to market levels. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 857, 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397). Moreover, the \$18 million figure includes at least \$8 million from contracts that were not placed at issue during trial. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 854, 1330; RFF ¶¶ 757-784, 814-826 (explaining that Blue Cross, Humana, and Cigna negotiations were not anticompetitive)).

1334. This \$18 - \$18.5 million in additional annualized net revenue does not include any additional revenue achieved through the shifting of health plans to the higher (in terms of rates) of the Evanston or Highland Park pre-merger contracts. (CX 17 at 5-8; CX 5 at 5; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1334:

This proposed finding is false and is completely unsupported by any evidence. Nothing suggests that the adoption of the higher contract was ignored in CX 17, CX 5 or CX 13. (RFF-Reply ¶ 858).

1335. This \$18 - \$18.5 million in additional annualized net revenue does not include any additional revenue achieved through ENH's adoption in 2000 of the higher of the Highland Park or Evanston pre-merger chargemaster rates. (CX 17 at 5-8; CX 5 at 5; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1335:

The additional revenue achieved through the 2000 chargemaster consolidation is easily identifiable in the documents listing Merger-related accomplishments. For example, CX 17 specifically enumerates "Unified Pricing Structure – 12,000 items" (CX 17 at 5; CX 13 at 4). Logically, the additional \$5 million from the "unified pricing structure" is not included in the \$18-18.5 million increase from *contract* renegotiations. Like the *contract* renegotiations, the \$5 million was just another aspect of the overall Merger integration process and part of the (successful) attempt to standardize care and promote cost efficiency across the entire ENH system. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1481; RFF ¶¶ 928-931).

1336. This \$18 - \$18.5 million in additional annualized net revenue does not include any additional revenue achieved through ENH's chargemaster increases in 2002 and later. (CX 17 at 5-8; CX 5 at 5; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1336:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies a connection between ENH's 2002 chargemaster increases and the 2000 contract renegotiations. There is no such connection. (RFF-Reply ¶ 858, 1393; RFF ¶ 847, 942-943, 963).

ENH's chargemaster, like those of other providers, is a fluid document, changing roughly 100 times every month as Medicare issues new codes for new services and changes the terminology for existing services, and as ENH initiates its own new clinical services. (RFF ¶¶ 927, 941). Therefore, price changes are to be expected. More importantly, the increases cited by Complaint Counsel came about as part of ENH's attempts to bring its prices to market and to streamline and harmonize its chargemaster, tasks it failed to fully accomplish back in 2000. (RFF ¶¶ 932-964). Moreover, Evanston Hospital would have made these very same price increases had the Merger not taken place. (RFF ¶¶ 935, 939, 947-948, 964).

1337. None of ENH's annualized revenue increases "could have been achieved by either Evanston or Highland Park alone." (CX 17 at 2. See CX 13 at 1 ("Neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results.")).

Response to Finding No. 1337:

This proposed finding is misleading. Reading CX 17 in context makes it clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman, as CEO, to thank everyone who participated in the Merger integration for their "leadership, support, and encouragement with our collective merger integration efforts." (CX 17 at 2). The accomplishments of the Merger that could not have been done "alone" included ten major goals, including, among other things: (1) the "full functional merger of Board, Management, Employees, and Medical Staff"; (2) the full integration of all business functions; (3) "[r]edevelopment of HPH site," including the addition of new services and facilities; (4) cost improvements; (5) expanding the academic base to HPH; and (6) numerous other activities that were done as part of a team – rather than "alone." (CX 17 at 4; CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶¶ 291-294). None of the referenced accomplishments referred to market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1379).

Indeed CX 13 and 17 are just additional reflections of how Evanston Hospital learned about its value in the marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376). Evanston Hospital alone could not have secured appropriate rates from MCOs without the Merger because Evanston Hospital would have never learned that its contract rates were lower than those of a local community hospital.

M. When Hospitals Increase Their Prices, Health Plans Pass the Price Increases on to Their Customers

1338. REDACTED

(Ballengee, Tr.

239, in camera; Mendonsa, Tr. 483; Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1338:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it suggests that MCOs must pass any cost increases on to consumers. Complaint Counsel did not call a single employer to testify in this matter. Instead, it relies on the self-serving testimony of unreliable MCO witnesses.

REDACTED

(RX 1346 at BCBSI-ENH

5536; RX 1393 at ENHL BW 3691, in camera).

Second, the MCOs themselves are making millions of dollars in profits, while their customers purportedly are absorbing any price increases. For instance, Health Care Service Corporation, the parent of Blue Cross, posted net gains of over \$624 million in 2003, \$387 million in 2001 and \$173 million in 2000. (RX 1587 at 7; RX 1198 at 6). Humana is one of the nation's largest publicly traded health benefits companies, based on 2003 revenues of \$12.2 billion. (RX 1743 at 4, 27). In 2003, PHCS reported that its net revenue climbed to \$153 million, an increase of 6% over 2002. (RX 1615 at 3). Further, PHCS's earnings exploded by "an astounding 50%" in 2003. (RX 1615 at 3). As of February 2005, United Health Group was worth over \$30 billion. (Foucre, Tr. 939). Cigna posted net income of \$668 million in its 2003 financial statements. (RX 1742 at 54). Even the smaller, MCOs are making millions. For instance, First Health, which acquired CCN in August 2001 had net income of \$152,734,000 in 2003, up from \$132,938,000 in 2002, \$102,920,000 in 2001, and \$82,619,000 in 2000. (RX 1661 at 50; RX 1469 at 104).

Finally, this proposed finding is not based on reliable evidence. PHCS's direct customers are insurance companies and third party administrators, not employers. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1057). The testimony of Dorsey and Mendonsa on this topic should be limited to their knowledge and experience at One Health and Aetna, respectively. Even then, this testimony is speculative and based on hearsay. (Mendonsa, Tr. 483; Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

1339. Unexpected price increases adversely affect the profitability of the self-insured's business because these price increases have a "direct impact" the business' "bottom line." (Mendonsa, Tr. 483).

Response to Finding No. 1339:

This proposed finding is misleading. Insurance companies are in the business of accounting for so-called "unexpected" possibilities. MCOs can and do negotiate terms into contracts that are designed to control for any cost increases. (RFF-Reply ¶ 925). Similarly, hospitals attempt to negotiate terms that protect the providers of health care from absorbing all of the risk associated with providing medical care to patients. (RFF ¶¶ 81, 93).

Hospitals, in general, seek discount-off-charges or other methodologies that protect them from risk. (RFF ¶¶ 81, 86). MCOs react to those proposals by negotiating escalator clauses or fixed rates. (RFF ¶¶ 87-90, 750-751, 846-847, 870-872). In the end, the parties reach mutually-acceptable arrangements.

1340.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 483-84; Mendonsa, Tr. 549, in camera; Ballengee, Tr. 239, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1450).

Response to Finding No. 1340:

This proposed finding is misleading and based on speculation. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1338-1339). Insurance companies are in the business of preparing for the "unforeseen." Contract renegotiations are not unforeseeable. Many contracts have termination dates, after which they

would have to be renegotiated. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1267; RFF ¶ 858). Others are evergreen, where both the MCO and hospital can initiate renegotiation as they see fit. (RFF ¶¶ 598, 613, 648).

1341.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 549, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1341:

This proposed finding is based on speculation and reflects an improper and unreliable lay opinion. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1338-1339).

1342. In response to ENH's rate increases to PHCS in 2000, PHCS's customers "had to raise their rates significantly in – the premiums to accommodate the increased rates at Evanston." (Ballengee, Tr. 196-97).

Response to Finding No. 1342:

This proposed finding is not based on any reliable evidence. Complaint Counsel did not call a single employer witness. Instead, it relied on hearsay, admitted over Respondent's objection, with little indicia of reliability. Such testimony is entitled to little or no weight.

(Ballengee, Tr. 180, 183). The cited MCO, PHCS, is not even an insurance company. (RFF ¶¶ 156-158).

1343.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 483-84; Mendonsa, Tr. 549, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1343:

This proposed finding is misleading and constitutes an improper lay opinion. Whereas once an employer drops its health plan, the MCO can ignore the patient, hospitals do not have that luxury. Once a patient loses his or her insurance, ENH still must treat that patient even if it is unlikely to be paid for its services. (RFF ¶ 15). According to federal regulations, hospitals must provide emergency care to all who require it, regardless of their ability to pay. (RFF ¶

106). As a result, hospitals must protect themselves by assuring that they are receiving fair market rates from its paying customers.

1344.

REDACTED

(Newton, Tr. 365; CX 17 at 5-8; CX 5 at 5; CX 13 at 1; Hillebrand, Tr. 1704-09; Chan, Tr. 709-10, in camera. See CCFF 652-692, 817-842, 848-859, 884-859, 884-903, 918-924, 936-951).

Response to Finding No. 1344:

This proposed finding is false. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 652-92, 817-842, 848-859, 884, 903, 918-24, 936-951). The evidence cited does not support this proposed finding. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 854, 1365, 1374-1376, 1379, 1387).

1345. ENH would not have possessed the leverage needed to extract these terms absent the merger. (See CX 13 at 1 (In referring to managed care renegotiations, Mark Neaman told the ENH board of directors that "neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results.)).

Response to Finding No. 1345:

This proposed finding is misleading and false. The evidence cited mistakenly implies that Neaman was referring to market power gained from the Merger. CX 13 is just another reflection of how Evanston Hospital learned about its value in the marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374, 1375). Evanston Hospital alone could not have secured appropriate rates from MCOs without the Merger because Evanston Hospital would have never learned that its contract rates were under-market. Moreover, Evanston Hospital and HPH alone could not have achieved many of the other benefits of Merger integration – such as expanding and enhancing services at HPH, generating significant cost savings, expanding Evanston Hospital's academic base to HPH and clinical rationalization. (CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶¶ 291-294).

Finally, when the statement cited by Complaint Counsel is read within the context of the entire document, it is clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman, as the CEO of the organization, to boost morale and emphasize team-building by thanking everyone who participated in the Merger integration. (CX 13 at 1).

XI. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS: PARTY ADMISSIONS

A. Party Documents Regarding Merger Creating Market Power

1346.

REDACTED

(CX 3 at 2; CX 1879 at

3-4; CX 1 at 3; CX 2 at 7; CX 4 at 1-2, 9; CX 1566 at 9; Neaman, Tr. 1138, in camera),

REDACTED

(CX 5 at 5; CX 6 at 7; CX 2070 at 3; CX 12 at 2; CX 13 at 1;

CX 16 at 1; CX 17 at 2),

REDACTED (CX 1519 at 1-2; CX 30 at 1; CX 23 at 2; CX 24 at 2, in camera; CX 26 at 1; CX 25 at 9; CX 31 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1346:

This proposed finding is incorrect. The cited ENH documents do not illustrate that Evanston Hospital and HPH sought market power through the Merger. Instead, these documents emphasize that the primary goals of the Merger were to improve the quality of care for the Evanston Hospital and HPH communities, to bolster the financial health of HPH and to generate much needed cost savings. (RFF ¶ 259-297).

Neither do the cited ENH documents somehow reveal that ENH used market power after the Merger. The documents, instead, confirm that, as a result of the Merger, ENH learned about its true value in the market as an academic hospital. (RFF ¶ 656-703, 726-737, 1002).

Respondent addresses below the documents at issue as they are used by Complaint Counsel in the following proposed findings of fact.

1. Evanston and Highland Park Sought Market Power Through the Merger

Response to Finding No. 1347:

This proposed finding is incorrect. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1346).

Highland Park Sought Market Power Through the Merger

1348. As early as the fall of 1998, Highland Park leadership "had been approached and approached again by [Evanston]" to discuss the possibility of a relationship between the two institutions. (CX 3 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1348:

This proposed finding is misleading. First, Evanston Hospital did not approach HPH in the manner suggested by this proposed finding. Rather, the parties approached each other in an equal fashion, with HPH at times initiating the discussions. (Spaeth, Tr. 2206; RFF ¶ 275). Second, both parties approached each other primarily to improve the quality of care for the Evanston Hospital and HPH communities, to bolster the financial health of HPH and to generate much needed cost savings. (RFF ¶ 259-297).

1349. Transcript remarks from a fall 1998 meeting of Highland Park leadership lament that no hospital "is able to apply or assemble enough power to deal with managed care areas." (CX 3 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1349:

This proposed finding is misleading. Complaint Counsel's selective quoting from the Fall 1998 meeting transcript misses the focus of the discussion recorded in that transcript. At that meeting, HPH Chairman Neele Stearns stated: "Our focus and this we have communicated to ENH through Ron [Spaeth] is – our initial concerns are: what benefit some sort of relationship would accrue to our community as a relationship of some sort of relationship to enhance programs so forth – what would be the implication." (CX 3 at 1). The need to improve HPH's quality was also confirmed by Mark (presumably Newton) at this same meeting. (CX 3 at 3-4).

In fact, enhancing quality was one of the means HPH's leadership sought to use to "apply or assemble enough power to deal" with MCOs. Improving the quality of care at HPH and at both Evanston and Glenbrook Hospitals would make the new ENH system more valuable to patients, employers and, ultimately, employees. (Spaeth, Tr. 2303; CX 3 at 2).

1350. Highland Park recognized the potential "power" that could be gained from an affiliation with Evanston. The affiliation "would enable [Highland Park] to exploit an area of the market in a meaningful way – Evanston has a large effect." (CX 3 at 1-2; Spaeth Tr. at 2207).

Response to Finding No. 1350:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1349). Although Complaint Counsel asserts that HPH believed that the Merger would create "power," neither Complaint Counsel nor the cited materials describes this purported "power." The cited document demonstrates that the Merger was designed to give the new ENH more "power" in the sense that the Merger would make ENH more desirable to the market by enhancing quality at all three hospital campuses. (Spaeth, Tr. 2303; CX 3 at 1-2).

1351. In November 1998, Highland Park Hospital responded to Evanston's merger proposal. (CX 1879 at 1; CX 3 at 2). With respect to "competition and signals," Neele Stearns, Highland Park Hospital's board chairman, recognized that a merger would allow the two health care providers to "[s]top competing with each other." (CX 1879 at 3-4).

Response to Finding No. 1351:

This proposed finding is incorrect. HPH and Evanston Hospital were not close competitors and certainly were not each other's closest substitutes in the market. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 47, 48, 57, 58, 61). Moreover, a natural reading of CX 1879 reveals that Stearns was not interested in ending competition for hospitals services but, instead, was more interested in ending competition between physicians and medical offices – an issue not addressed in the Complaint. (Spaeth, Tr. 2209, 2213-2214). This reading is confirmed by other documents cited by

Complaint Counsel and by the fact that HPH physicians had to refer large numbers of their patients to Evanston Hospital for tertiary services. (CX 1 at 3; CX 2 at 7; Spaeth, Tr. 2302-03). Once HPH became part of the ENH system, HPH physicians no longer had to refer their patients to other providers for the advanced services HPH lacked.

1352. Sometime between April 16, 1999 and January 1, 2000 (after a "Notice of Intent to Merge" had been established and before the merger), Highland Park board members and doctors met to discuss the possible merger. During this meeting, Ronald Spaeth, the president of Highland Park, stated: "[T]here are ways to at least I think to push back on the managed care phenomenon and get the rates back where they ought to be if you are a big enough concerted enough entity which is important enough to the employers in the community." (CX 4 at 1-2; Spaeth, Tr. 2210-11 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1352:

This proposed finding is misleading. At trial, Spaeth testified that he hoped to "push back" on the MCOs by using the Merger to present to the market a better and higher quality healthcare provider. (Spaeth, Tr. 2303; CX 4 at 1-2). Enhanced quality would make the merged entity "important enough to the employers in the community." (Spaeth, Tr. 2303; CX 4 at 1-2). A more thorough reading of Spaeth's comments in CX 4 confirms that his testimony accurately reflected his state of mind in 1999. (CX 4 at 2 ("As I look down the road 3-5-7 years from now I think that community hospitals whatever this one is are going to be a dime dozen in contracting opportunities. Something has to be distinctly different to assure yourself the volumes for your doctors and volumes that doctors can go get themselves....").

This proposed finding also is misleading to the extent it implies that Spaeth's desire to "get the [managed care] rates back to where they ought to be" is evidence of a desire to obtain market power. This vague comment conveys nothing of the sort. At most, it reflects the reality that, at the time, MCOs were viewed as difficult negotiators. (Neaman, Tr. 960-61).

Finally, Complaint Counsel contends that the referenced meeting occurred after a "Notice of Intent to Merge" had been established. However, CX 4 itself states that the Letter of Intent had yet to be "agree[d] upon." (CX 4 at 1).

1353. At that same meeting, another Highland Park representative echoed Mr. Spaeth's concerns regarding the "the relative negotiating power of the payers," which had become an "economic issue" for the hospital. (CX 4 at 9; Spaeth, Tr. 2211-12).

Response to Finding No. 1353:

This proposed finding is irrelevant. The referenced opinion concerning "relative negotiating power of the payors" does not accurately reflect the driving force for the Merger. (RFF ¶ 259-297).

1354. This same Highland Park representative went on to distinguish the unique market concentration opportunities associated with a Highland Park/Evanston merger. "What Evanston does is provide total concentration. . . If one of your key objectives is to get geographic leverage on the employers in this area getting Northwestern [Memorial] doesn't do much for you." (CX 4 at 9; Spaeth, Tr. 2211-12. See also CX 4 at 9 (The transcript entry also shows that the board member stated that a merger with Northwestern Memorial would not provide "critical mass in the same area.")).

Response to Finding No. 1354:

This proposed finding is irrelevant because this representative's opinion concerning "geographic leverage on the employers" or obtaining a "critical mass" was not one of HPH's or Evanston Hospital's "key objectives" concerning the Merger. In fact, outside of CX 3 and CX 4, no other document in this case uses similar terms. The vast majority of relevant documents, instead, confirm the testimony of the various ENH and HPH executives that both sides initially approached each other and eventually decided to merge to improve the quality of care for their communities. (RFF ¶ 259-297).

1355. According to Mr. Spaeth, "everybody" perceived that the merged hospitals would reap the "economic benefit of not being out there doing battle with one another in what will be a common battle ground." (CX 4 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1355:

This proposed finding is incomplete, inaccurate and misleading. First, the entire sentence cited above actually reads: "Everybody progresses [sic] to see the *community benefit* that would be derived as well as the economic benefit of not being out there doing battle with one another in what will be a common battle ground." (CX 4 at 1 (emphasis added)). Complaint Counsel cannot ignore, downplay, or mischaracterize the real reason for the Merger – *i.e.*, to benefit the community by improving quality – through selective quotations.

From an economic perspective, HPH was understandably concerned that, absent the Merger, it likely would have been forced to spend all of its reserves on capital improvements in a risky attempt to transform itself into a high quality tertiary facility like Evanston Hospital.

Spaeth makes this point clear in CX 4, stating "we are not looking at a rosie [sic] future economically on this site." (CX 4 at 1; RFF ¶ 2365-2370, 2376-2386).

1356. With the merger, Evanston and Highland Park would no longer have to "d[o] battle" with each other against health plans. At the post "Notice of Intent to Merge" meeting, Mr. Spaeth concluded that "it would be real tough for any of the Fortune 40 companies in this area whose CEOs use either this place or that place to walk from Evanston, Highland Park, Glenbrook, and 1700 of their doctors." (CX 4 at 1-2; Spaeth, Tr. 2210-11 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1356:

This proposed finding is misleading for many of the same reasons spelled out above. Above all, CX 4 does not mention any competition between HPH and Evanston Hospital pertaining to MCO networks. Again, the references to limiting competition involve physician issues, and HPH leadership's desire to assure the survival of the hospital. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1351, 1355).

Complaint Counsel also fails to mention why it would be "real tough" for any of the Fortune 40 to "walk away." As Spaeth explained at trial, he felt that the quality enhancements

generated by the Merger would make the combined entity much more valuable to employees and, therefore, make it "real tough" for the employers to "walk away" from the hospitals. (Spaeth, Tr. 2303).

Evanston Sought Market Power Through the Merger

1357. At a January 4, 1999, meeting between Evanston and Highland Park board members and medical staff leaders, Evanston suggested "do not compete with self' in covered zip codes (e.g., 60-70% market share) such as Evanston, Glenview, Highland Park, and Deerfield." (CX 1 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1357:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. The text Complaint Counsel quotes above actually is a subheading of a point titled "Implement in coordinated fashion 'major medical office' expansion strategy throughout north/northwestern suburban combined service area. Particular emphasis on 'north' expansion." (CX 1 at 3 (emphasis in original)). As this subheading indicates, the referenced discussion, which involved the medical staff leaders, confirms that all references to ending competition between the two parties related only to physicians and not to hospital services. (CX 1 at 1; RFF-Reply ¶ 47, 48, 57, 58, 61, 1351, 1355). This point is further confirmed by the fact that neither Evanston Hospital nor HPH had a hospital campus in Deerfield.

1358. At that same January 4, 1999, meeting, Evanston representatives identified the opportunity to "strengthen negotiation capability with managed care companies through merged entities." (CX 1 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1358:

This proposed finding is misleading because it implies that managed care negotiations were the focus of and driving force behind the Merger. Such a conclusion is not supported by CX 1. Point 5 is the only point referencing managed care and is placed well behind points 1 and 2, which refer to bringing advanced oncology and cardiac surgery to HPH through the Merger.

(CX 1 at 3). Once again, quality, not MCO negotiations, was the focus of the Merger negotiations and the ultimate reason Evanston Hospital and HPH decided to merge. (RFF ¶ 259-297).

1359. At an April 5, 1999, meeting of the medical staff executive committee at Highland Park, Mr. Neaman commented on the "geographic advantages" of a merger between Evanston and Highland Park. (Spaeth, Tr. 2213-14; CX 2 at 7).

Response to Finding No. 1359:

This proposed finding is misleading. Complaint Counsel does not even attempt to explain what Neaman meant by the vague term "geographic advantages." The use of this term did not relate to market power. The referenced meeting involved the HPH Medical Executive Committee and thus focused on important clinical and quality opportunities presented by the relatively close geography of the two hospitals. At trial, Neaman confirmed this plain reading of the document, explaining that because HPH is located in fast growing Lake County, the Merger provided Evanston Hospital the opportunity to capture some of that population growth and expand its volume of services. (RFF ¶ 288). As Neaman further explained at trial, physicians and staff need a high volume of patients to maintain their skills and keep their quality of care up to date. (RFF ¶ 289). Increasing volume of services also promotes efficiency because more scale means better costs per admission, better costs per case and better costs per procedures. (RFF ¶ 290).

Physicians testifying for Respondent further confirmed that such geographic proximity is crucial to supporting certain clinical services. For example, the State of Illinois required that at least one cardiothoracic surgeon reside within 30 minutes travel time of HPH before it would approve the cardiac surgery program ENH committed to implement at HPH as part of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 1597). Because Evanston Hospital is within 30 minutes travel time (27)

minutes), this "geographic advantage" became a very important part of bringing cardiac surgery to HPH through the Merger. (RFF ¶ 388, 1593, 1596). Overall, the relatively close proximity of Evanston Hospital and HPH enabled physicians to rotate and specialists to move between the two campuses. (RFF ¶ 2471). Had HPH merged with a hospital further away than Evanston Hospital, HPH would not have been able to achieve the quality improvements resulting from the Merger. (RFF ¶ 2470). In short, there were numerous "geographic advantages" of the Merger, none of which related to MCO negotiations or market power.

1360. Like Highland Park, Evanston representatives also perceived the potential benefits of eliminating a competitor through the merger. The minutes of the April 5, 1999, meeting record another Evanston representative as saying that the merger "would be an opportunity to join forces and grow together rather than compete with each other." (CX 2 at 7).

Response to Finding No. 1360:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. HPH hardly posed a competitive threat to Evanston Hospital. Evanston Hospital representatives thus never had reason to believe that the Merger would eliminate a competitor. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 47, 48, 57, 58, 61; Neaman, Tr. 1306).

The above-cited passage from CX 2 does not refer to hospital services but, rather, to physicians and medical offices. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 47, 48, 57, 58, 61, 1351, 1355, 1357). The fact that the referenced statement was made at a meeting of the HPH Medical Executive Committee further confirms that it did not relate to hospital services. (CX 2 at 1; RFF-Reply ¶ 1357, 1588). 1361.

REDACTED

(CX 1566 at 9:

Neaman, Tr. 1138, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1361:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Complaint Counsel selectively quoted Neaman, leaving out a crucial portion of his statement. Neaman's statement, when viewed in context and not selectively quoted, reveals his state of mind at the time that the MCOs were aggressive negotiators: "The addition of Highland Park helps us to: Increase our leverage, limited as it might be, with the managed care players and help our negotiating posture." (CX 1566 at 9 (emphasis added)). Neaman's comment merely reiterates what Spaeth stated back in April 1999 in CX 4 – both sides hoped that the Merger would make the combined entity more valuable because of enhanced and increased clinical services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1352; Neaman, Tr. 1375).

Once again, Complaint Counsel omits from this proposed finding all references to the ultimate goal of the Merger – namely, to improve the quality of care at HPH and across the entire ENH system. For example, at the referenced September 1999 meeting, Neaman stated that the addition of HPH would help to: (1) "Improve the system of care for our respective communities with the advent of capital infusion and medical expertise, particularly the expertise vested in our physician leadership"; and (2) "Create additional opportunities for our academic mission including clinical research trials, and teaching programs." (CX 1566 at 9).

1362. Mr. Neaman's November 18, 1999, speech to the board of directors emphasized the same potential to increase leverage and enhance the negotiating posture with managed care players through the merged entity. (Compare RX 2015 at ENHL MO 003485, and CX 1566 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 1362:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361).

- 2. ENH Employed the Market Power of the Combined Evanston and Highland Park After the Merger
- 1363. Numerous ENH documents illustrate that ENH employed the market power of the combined Evanston and Highland Park after the merger. (CX 5 at 5; CX 6 at 7; CX 2070 at 3; CX 12 at 2; CX 13 at 1; CX 16 at 1; CX 17 at 1-2).

Response to Finding No. 1363:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. The cited ENH documents do not illustrate that ENH used market power after the Merger. Instead, as explained below, these documents confirm that, as a result of the Merger, ENH learned about its true value in the market as an academic hospital. (RFF ¶ 656-703, 726-737, 1002).

1364. At a January 6, 2000, ENH board of directors executive committee meeting, Mr. Neaman asked Mr. Hillebrand "to comment on the recent renegotiation of managed care contracts, one of the tactics of system integration." (CX 5 at 5).

Response to Finding No. 1364:

Respondent has no specific response.

1365. In his January 6, 2000, update to the ENH executive committee, Mr. Hillebrand reported that "as a result of combining the medical staffs and Hospitals of the merger, [ENH] was able to renegotiate a managed care contract that resulted in an additional \$3.5 million benefit." (CX 5 at 5).

Response to Finding No. 1365:

This proposed finding is misleading because it implies that the above-statement suggests an exercise of market power as a result of the Merger. The referenced statement merely confirms that, because of the Merger, Evanston Hospital learned about HPH's rates and, with Bain's assistance, used that knowledge to renegotiate a better contract with a MCO, in this case United. (RFF ¶¶ 684, 707, 883-893)

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF ¶ 884, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 885, 888).

It is also significant that Hillebrand's report on the United contract falls under the title "Status Report: Merger/Integration" because the "Merger integration" process involved a vast number of activities that included the analysis of HPH managed care rates and renegotiation with MCOs as part of the need to operate on a single contract for the combined post-Merger entity. (RFF ¶¶ 303-309, 656-673, 677-693, 701-703, 733). As explained by Hillebrand, ENH achieved the price increases noted in documents like CX 5 precisely because, in 1999-2000, ENH realized it was not being fairly compensated by many purchasers of care for its clinical services. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2026).

1366. Mr. Hillebrand further informed the ENH executive committee at the January 6, 2000, meeting that "other managed care contracts will be renegotiated over the next 100 days." (CX 5 at 5).

Response to Finding No. 1366:

Respondent has no specific response.

1367. One month later, at a February 3, 2000, ENH board meeting, Mr. Neaman highlighted accomplishments related to the system integration of Highland Park and Evanston. (CX 6 at 6).

Response to Finding No. 1367:

Respondent has no specific response.

1368. Mr. Hillebrand gave another update at the February 3, 2000, ENH board meeting. He "commented on the recent re-renegotiation of managed care contracts and the 'added value' as a result of combining the medical staffs and hospitals." (CX 6 at 7). Mr. Hillebrand again reported to the board (as he had the month before) that other managed care contracts were in the process of being renegotiated. (Compare CX 6 at 7 and CX 5 at 5).

Response to Finding No. 1368:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies that "added value" is a synonym for market power. The truth is that the term "added value" refers to the fact that the quality improvements resulting from the Merger were already having a positive impact on managed care contracting. (RFF ¶ 706). Homer Livingston, ENH's then-Chairman of the Board and head of the Oversight Committee on System Integration, emphasized this very point when he stated at the February 2000 meeting that: "To date the vast majority of [system integration] goals have been accomplished on the targeted timetables with significant 'value added." (CX 6 at 6). The report from HPH's Healthcare Services Committee likewise confirmed at this February 2000 meeting that "the [Merger] integration process is off to a good start." (CX 6 at 7).

1369. One month later, on March 14, 2000, Mr. Hillebrand drafted ENH's 2001-2003 Strategic Plan. In the Strategic Plan, Mr. Hillebrand stated that ENH's growth initiatives, including the merger with Highland Park, would be used to "provide leverage to [ENH's] market position as it negotiates with the purchasers of care." (CX 2070 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1369:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and therefore misleading. It is irrelevant because the cited strategic plan was merely a draft that was later rejected by Neaman and never adopted as ENH's official strategic plan. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1813).

More importantly, Evanston Hospital and HPH hoped to generate leverage through system-wide enhancements, primarily improved services and cost savings. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361). Even one of Complaint Counsel's lead witnesses, Mark Newton, recognized that hospitals had to be cost-effective and had to present a high quality product to the market in order to negotiate better rates with MCOs. (Newton, Tr. 408). Like Neaman and Newton, Hillebrand's strategic document expressed the hope that ENH would be able to capitalize on quality improvements and cost savings, not market power, to get better rates from MCOs.

1370. According to Mr. Hillebrand's March 2000 ENH Strategic Plan draft, ENH's "goal" in gaining leverage would be "to receive superior pricing" from purchasers of care. (CX 2070 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1370:

This proposed finding is irrelevant. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1369). It is also inaccurate and misleading because Complaint Counsel selectively quotes from the referenced document. The full sentence from the draft reads: "Our goal will be to receive superior pricing for our services and to become indispensable to the purchaser of care as they sell their product in our marketplace." (CX 2070 at 3). Specifically, ENH hoped to become the patient's system of choice as a reflection of its quality and its physicians' abilities. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2022).

1371. At a June 16, 2000, meeting of the health care services committee at Highland Park, "Mr. Neaman reviewed the list of merger accomplishments," including the "important successes [that] have been accomplished in managed care contracting." (CX 12 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1371:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to explain that Neaman's review of managed care contracting successes was part of his report on the Merger "Integration." (CX 12 at 2). This proposed finding highlights that discussions of managed care contract negotiations during ENH meetings were part of the greater discussions on Merger integration, specifically the process of discovering pre-Merger HPH's rates and integrating that knowledge into the post-Merger negotiations. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365, 1367).

1372. At that same meeting, Mr. Neaman reported to the Highland Park health care services committee that "[t]here has been a \$12 million improvement on the Hospital side and \$8 million to physicians' practices to date. The total improvements as a result of the merger are \$29.5 million." (CX 12 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1372:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367). Here, the \$12 million and \$8 million in improvements are a direct result of ENH using the knowledge of pre-Merger

HPH's rates to reach the appropriate level of reimbursement in the competitive marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365, 1367).

Complaint Counsel's proposed finding is further misleading because it fails to acknowledge that a significant portion of the \$29.5 million in total improvements is directly attributable to Merger-related cost savings. (CX 13 at 7 (stating that, as of July 1, 2000, the Merger achieved \$10.6 million in cost savings)); RFF ¶¶ 2538-2541).

1373. The \$29.5 million total revenue improvement reported by Mr. Neaman at the June 16, 2000, meeting "greatly exceed[ed] the Board approved \$19 million goal over three years." (CX 12 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1373:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1372). Specifically, this proposed finding fails to mention that \$9 million of the Board's approved \$19 million goal related to Merger-related cost savings. (CX 13 at 1).

Moreover, because the Board's \$19 million goal was approved on October 7, 1999, well before the Merger integration process revealed on November 29, 1999 that HPH had superior contracts, it is not surprising that post-Merger actual revenue improvements exceeded \$10 million. (RX 636 at ENH GW 5702, ENH GW 5709; RX 684 at BAIN 43). This is just further proof that Evanston Hospital had no idea that its contracts were under-market until it actually looked at HPH's contracts. (RFF ¶ 677-693).

1374. In a July 3, 2000, "Interdependence Day" memorandum to the ENH board, Mr. Neaman updated the board on the status of merger integration activities, including contract renegotiations with managed care plans. (Neaman, Tr. 1200; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1374:

This proposed finding shows that the contract negotiations were an important part of Merger integration activities, but it is still misleading because it fails to mention the many other Merger integration activities. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365, 1367, 1372). CX 13 itself detailed the many

different Merger integration activities all designed to take the best aspects of each of the merging hospitals and thereby make the merged entity more efficient and better suited to provide a higher level of healthcare. (CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶ 303-309, 656-673, 677-693, 701-703, 733).

1375. While only one month earlier, Mr. Neaman had reported \$12 million in revenue improvement from managed care renegotiations to the health care services committee at Highland Park, Mr. Neaman's July 3, 2000, "Interdependence Day" memorandum to the board reported that additional benefits from managed care renegotiations to that date totaled \$16 million on an annualized basis. (CX 13 at 1; CX 12 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1375:

This proposed finding is misleading. It fails to explain that the extra revenue reported in July 2000 was due to contract renegotiations with Blue Cross and Cigna, neither of which were represented by a witness at trial. (CX 13 at 1)

REDACTED

(CCFF ¶¶ 566-68, 576, 579, 665, *in camera*). Having affirmatively denied that ENH exercised its supposed market power over Blue Cross, Complaint Counsel cannot now use ENH's revenue enhancements on the 2000 Blue Cross contract as proof of market power.

Further, these revenue enhancements were just another part of the Merger integration process and, therefore, part of ENH discovering and applying the knowledge of HPH's rates. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374).

1376. In that July 2000 memorandum, Mr. Neaman reported the successes in the merger integration efforts were the result of Evanston's and Highland Park's "interdependence." Mr. Neaman stressed that "neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results." (CX 13 at 1 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1376:

This proposed finding is misleading because, again, it mistakenly implies that Neaman was referring to market power gained from the Merger. CX 13 is just another reflection of how Evanston Hospital learned about its value in the marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372,

1374, 1375). Evanston Hospital alone could not have secured appropriate rates from MCOs without the Merger because Evanston Hospital would have never learned its true market value as an academic hospital. Moreover, Evanston Hospital and HPH alone could not have achieved many of the other benefits of Merger integration – such as expanding and enhancing services at HPH, generating significant cost savings, expanding Evanston Hospital's academic base to HPH and clinical rationalization. (CX 13 at 3; RFF ¶ 291-294).

Moreover, when the statement cited by Complaint Counsel is read within the context of the entire document, it is clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman to boost morale and emphasize team-building by thanking everyone who participated in the then ongoing Merger integration process. (CX 13 at 1).

1377. At a September 27, 2000, meeting of the ENH board's finance committee, Mr. Neaman emphasized the link between the merger and the managed care renegotiations. Mr. Neaman stressed that "the larger market share created by adding Highland Park Hospital has translated to better managed care contracts." (CX 16 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1377:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to explain that HPH's added market share and, by definition, its added volume translated into a bigger base from which ENH could generate revenue on its MCO contracts. (Neaman, Tr. 1370-71; Hillebrand, Tr. 1709).

1378. Mr. Neaman's October 2, 2000, "Final Report – Merger Integration Activities" memorandum to the ENH board reported that "some \$24 million of revenue enhancements have been achieved – mostly via managed care renegotiations." Mr. Neaman further reported that ENH's "net income from operations will go from a budgeted \$4 million to in excess of \$20 million for Fiscal Year 2000." (CX 17 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1378:

This proposed finding is misleading, as detailed in Respondent's previous replies to similar proposed findings. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376).

1379. In his October 2, 2000, "Final Report," Mr. Neaman repeated his "Interdependence Day" message to the board, concluding that "[a]s stated previously, none of this could have been achieved by either Evanston or Highland Park alone. The 'fighting unit' of our three hospitals and 1600 physicians was instrumental in achieving these ends." (Compare CX 17 at 2, and CX 13 at 1 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1379:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1376). Moreover, reading CX 17 in context makes it clear that the memo was an effort by Neaman to thank everyone who participated in the Merger integration for their "leadership, support, and encouragement with our collective merger integration efforts." (CX 17 at 2). The accomplishments of the Merger that could not have been done "alone" included ten major goals – including, among others: (1) "full functional merger of Board, Management, Employees, and Medical Staff"; (2) full integration of all business functions; (3) "[r]edevelopment of HPH site," including the addition of new services and facilities, cost improvements; and (4) numerous other activities that were done as part of a team – rather than "alone." (CX 17 at 2, 4). None of the referenced accomplishments refer to market power.

3. ENH Achieved Substantial Post-Merger Price Increases Through the Merger

1380. The record shows that ENH exercised its market power, attained through the merger, to raise prices. At least five mechanisms were employed to raise prices, including: (1) moving health plans to one contract for all three ENH facilities, i.e., the Evanston or Highland Park pre-merger contract, whichever had the higher rates; (2) adding a premium to the higher of the Evanston or Highland Park contract rates; (3) moving health plans from a fixed price contract to a discount off charges contract or to a contract that contained more discount off charges provisions than the pre-merger contract; (4) adopting in 2000 the higher of the Evanston or Highland Park chargemaster list prices; and (5) increasing ENH's chargemaster list prices on numerous occasions following the merger. (See, e.g., CX 30 at 1, 3; CX 23 at 2; CX 26 at 1; CX 25 at 9; CX 31 at 1. See also CCFF 822-842, 848-880, 813-821, 881-903, 918-927, 942-958).

Response to Finding No. 1380:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. The record reveals that ENH did not obtain or exercise market power through the Merger. Respondent addresses below the documents at issue as they are used by Complaint Counsel in the following proposed findings of fact.

ENH Moved Health Plans to One Contract for All Three ENH Facilities

1381. During the winter of 1999, ENH senior management decided that the merged entity would put the three ENH facilities on the same contract and charge the same rate for all three facilities. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1703; Newton, Tr. 363-65).

Response to Finding No. 1381:

This proposed finding is misleading because it implies that harmonizing the contracts and rates across all ENH facilities was improper. To the contrary, harmonizing contracts and rates was an important part of improving quality of care and promoting efficiencies across the ENH system. (RFF ¶ 303-309). Evanston Hospital and HPH determined that the merged entity "[m]ust have same managed care contracts, pricing, technical/professional fees, etc. so patients/physicians can go to any site." (RFF ¶ 309). This system required that any physician with clinical privileges at ENH have privileges at any ENH hospital or site. (RFF ¶ 306). Allowing all ENH physicians to have privileges at any ENH hospital or campus made ENH's twelve full-time clinical department chairmen responsible for quality of care regardless of where it was rendered in the ENH system. No other hospital system in Chicago has a similar system. (RFF ¶ 307). This arrangement also helped ENH achieve maximum cost savings because it required the consolidation of all corporate activities at the Evanston Hospital campus and elimination of all corporate functions at HPH – including human resources, purchasing, managed care contracting, the business office and information systems. (RFF ¶ 303-304).

Evanston Hospital and HPH had no reason to expect that consolidating all contracts, chargemasters and Medicare IDs would cause problems with any MCO because Evanston Hospital followed this same practice when it opened Glenbrook Hospital in 1977. From 1977 to the start of trial, no MCO complained about this practice. (RFF ¶ 308).

1382.

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1528, 1560-61, in camera; Foucre, Tr. 890; Ballengee, Tr. 176; Neary, Tr. 602; Neary, Tr. 756, in camera; Dorsey, Tr. 1447; CX 262 at 2, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1382:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. ENH never demanded anything of the MCOs but, instead, freely and fairly negotiated its rates. ENH did secure better rates, but it did so only because it learned more about the demand for its services and, with the assistance of Bain, employed the negotiation tactics necessary to secure appropriate rates. (RFF ¶ 726-923).

This proposed finding is also misleading because ENH negotiated uniform contracts for all facilities to improve quality and generate efficiencies across the ENH system. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1381). Going into these negotiations, MCOs were well aware that Evanston Hospital had committed to bringing HPH's services up to Evanston Hospital's high level of quality. (RFF ¶ 268).

ENH Moved Health Plans to the Higher (in Terms of Rates) of the Evanston or Highland Park Contracts

1383. In a September 24, 1999, memorandum, Terry Chan of Highland Park compared ENH and HPH inpatient rates, and observed that "there could be great potentials [sic] in improving payment rates for both hospitals and physicians." (CX 30 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1383:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. When the entire document is examined, it is clear that Chan recognized that HPH likely had better rates than Evanston

Hospital and that if HPH's rates were applied to the merged entity, reimbursements obviously would be improved. (CX 30 at 3). This document thus confirms the learning about demand theory in that it reveals that Evanston Hospital's rates were under-market at the time of the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1363, 1365). Chan's pre-Merger reports and trial testimony both recognized that had Evanston Hospital's rates been applied to HPH, HPH would have received significantly smaller reimbursements. (RFF ¶ 656-666).

1384. Ms. Chan reported that ENH's "potentia[l]" rate improvements could be achieved if the merged entity renegotiated "rates that are more favorable than the current Highland Park or ENH rates, (whichever is higher)." (CX 30 at 3 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1384:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1383).

1385. During the post-merger contract renegotiations, ENH successfully moved health plans to the higher of the Evanston or Highland Park contracts, which resulted in at least \$10 million in revenue enhancements for the merged entity. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705; CX 23 at 2. See CCFF 833-842).

Response to Finding No. 1385:

This proposed finding is misleading. The referenced \$10 million was the result of Evanston Hospital learning about the demand for its services, not market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1383; RFF ¶ 735-736, 888).

ENH Added a Premium in Addition to Adopting the Higher of the Evanston or Highland Park Contract Rates

1386. Moving health plans to the higher of the Evanston or Highland Park contract rates was only the "starting point" for ENH's health plan renegotiations after the merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1856, 1705).

Response to Finding No. 1386:

This proposed finding is misleading because it erroneously implies that ENH was always able to get rates more favorable than the higher of Evanston Hospital's and HPH's rates. As the

above-cited testimony confirms, however, the pre-Merger rates were merely the "starting point" and, in most cases, ENH was unable to secure anything more favorable. (RFF ¶ 735-736; Hillebrand, Tr. 1705). And if ENH were able to secure rates more favorable than those of either hospital, this increase was merely a consequence of an academic hospital system renegotiating old, expired and under-market contracts and appropriately receiving higher prices than a community hospital. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1363, 1365).

1387. Recognizing ENH's "additional negotiating power and leverage with the payors"— one of the "benefits of the merger"—during the winter of 1999, ENH senior management decided that "the combined entity would use the better of the Highland Park or Evanston [contract rate] and then add a premium to that." (Newton, Tr. 364-65; Hillebrand, Tr. 1705; Chan, Tr. 709-10 (emphasis added)).

Response to Finding No. 1387:

This proposed finding is misleading and false. As an initial matter, the testimony of both Newton and Chan related to the reasons for the Merger should be disregarded. Newton was never more than a vice president of "business affairs" at HPH, left ENH soon after the Merger and is now Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor to ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83, Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29, Newton, Tr. 279, 434; RFF-Reply ¶ 1465). Moreover, Newton did not have responsibility for financial matters, did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, was excluded from most Merger discussions, and was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283-84, Newton, Tr. 436, 452-53, 512-13; Hillebrand 2028-29). Chan's involvement with Merger discussions was even more limited, consisting merely of attending a "couple of [Merger] integration meetings." (Chan, Tr. 659).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 840, in camera).

Complaint Counsel's reliance on Hillebrand's testimony is misplaced. Hillebrand never testified that a "benefit" of the Merger would be "additional negotiating power and leverage with the payors." The testimony cited above from Hillebrand's merely confirms that, after the Merger, ENH asked for rates no worse than those of pre-Merger HPH (a community hospital) or those of Evanston Hospital's outdated contracts. In some cases, but certainly not in all cases, ENH was fortunate enough to achieve this goal. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1363, 1365, 1386; RFF ¶ 735-36).

1388. The merged entity successfully negotiated prices above the pre-merger rates of either Evanston or Highland Park for numerous payors. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1705. See CCFF 848-880).

Response to Finding No. 1388:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387).

ENH Moved Health Plans from Fixed Rates to Discount Off Charges Arrangements

1389.

REDACTED

(RX 663 at ENHL TC 016939, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1389:

This proposed finding is misleading. As an initial matter,

REDACTED

(RX 663 at ENHL TC 16939, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 663 at ENHL TC 16939,

in camera). In general, discount-off-charges contracts are more favorable from a hospital's perspective because such contracts are simple to administer and result in timely payments to hospitals. (RFF ¶ 81).

(RFF ¶¶ 83-86, in camera; RFF ¶ 91).

REDACTED

(RFF \P 87-89, 847, in camera).

1390.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1706;

Chan, Tr. 795-96, in camera. See CCFF 813-821).

Response to Finding No. 1390:

This proposed finding is misleading. The cited Hillebrand testimony does not remotely support the allegation that the market trended toward per diem rates. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 795-96, in camera). Moreover, it was not uncommon for hospitals, including pre-Merger HPH, to seek and successfully secure discount-off-charges rates during the general period at issue in which ENH renegotiated its rates. (RFF ¶ 83-84). And since 2000, Chicago area hospitals have negotiated even more aggressively for discount-off-charges on inpatient services. (RFF ¶ 86).

ENH Adopted the Higher of the Evanston or Highland Park Chargemaster Rates

1391. {According to Ms. Chan's November 1999 memorandum, a discount off charges arrangement would be even more favorable to the merged entity if "Highland Park Hospital is adopting ENH's charge master which is expected to generate higher gross charges than gross charges generated by Highland Park Hospital's current charge master."} (RX 663 at ENHL TC 016939, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1391:

This proposed finding is misleading. Consolidating the merging hospitals' chargemasters was just one part of the overall plan to harmonize quality and promote efficiency, not an attempted, or actual, exercise of market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1381).

REDACTED

87-89, 847, in camera).

1392. During the post-merger contract renegotiations, ENH consolidated the Highland Park and Evanston chargemaster by selecting the higher of the Evanston or Highland Park rate for each gross charge listing, resulting in at least an additional \$5 million in annualized economic value for Evanston. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1711, 1714-15; CX 17 at 5; CX 2240 at 11. See CCFF 881-903).

Response to Finding No. 1392:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies that this action had anything to do with exercising market power. The chargemaster consolidation project was simply another part of the overall Merger integration process and, therefore, part of the (successful) attempt to standardize care and promote cost efficiency across the entire ENH system. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1381).

ENH Increased Its Chargemaster Rates in the Years Following the Merger

1393.

REDACTED

(RX

1687 at ENH BW 027653, in camera).

REDACTED

(RX 1687 at ENHL BW

027653, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1393:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies a connection between ENH's chargemaster increases and ENH's alleged exercise of market power. There is no such connection.

ENH's chargemaster, like those of other providers, is a fluid document, changing roughly 100 times every month as Medicare issues new codes for new services and changes the terminology for existing services, and as ENH initiates its own new clinical services. (RFF ¶¶ 927, 941). Therefore, price changes are to be expected. More importantly, the rate increases cited by Complaint Counsel came about as part of ENH's attempts to bring its prices to market

level and streamline and harmonize its chargemaster, tasks it failed to fully accomplish back in 2000. (RFF ¶ 932-964). Evanston Hospital would have made these very same price increases had the Merger not taken place. (RFF ¶ 935, 939, 947-948, 964). Accordingly, there is no connection between the chargemaster increases and ENH's 2000 contract renegotiations. (RFF

¶¶ 942-943, 963). ·

REDACTED

(RFF \P 847, in camera).

1394.

REDACTED

(See RX 1687 at ENHL BW 027653:

REDACTED

in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1394:

This proposed finding is misleading because these chargemaster increases had nothing to do with the Merger or market power. The increases were designed to bring ENH's prices up to competitive market levels. (RFF-Reply 1393).

ENH Attributed Its Successes in Raising Prices to Health Plans to the Merger Itself

1395. Despite Mr. Neaman and Mr. Hillebrand's claims that health plans' bargaining positions have actually *increased* since the merger, ENH was able to increase its prices post-merger to health plans and achieve at least \$18 million in increased annual revenues. None of the initial post-merger price increases obtained by ENH from health plans were taken away in subsequent years, with the exception of a partial price decrease to Humana. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1709-10, 1725-26; Neaman, Tr. 960-61, 1269-71).

Response to Finding No. 1395:

This proposed finding is misleading and false. The \$18 million in increased annual revenues merely reflects the fact that ENH brought its contracts up to market in the months immediately following the Merger. (RFF ¶¶ 656-703, 726-737, 1002).

Moreover, in addition to the Humana price decrease referred to in this proposed finding,

REDACTED

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 917-921, in camera; RFF ¶¶ 922-923).

1396. A worksheet entitled "Economic Measures of Success: ENH/HPH Merger/FY 2000," dated August 31, 2000, shows that ENH's initial forecast of income from operations for fiscal year 2000 was just \$4 million, but that the fiscal year 2000 actual income from operations was \$24 million, which is \$20 million more than projected. (CX 31 at 1; CX 2382 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1396:

This proposed finding is misleading for two reasons. First, this proposed finding improperly implies that all \$24 million in enhancements was the result of contract renegotiations. A significant portion of this figure is directly attributable to the addition of new services and growth in patient volume at ENH. (Neaman, Tr. 1370-71; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708-09). Second, the revenue enhancements that were a product of contract negotiations merely relate to bringing ENH's prices to market level based on the learning about demand theory. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378).

1397. On October 2, 2000, Mr. Neaman issued a "Final Report" to ENH's board of directors on "Merger Integration Activities." (CX 17 at 1). In it, Mr. Neaman reports that "[S]ome \$24 million of revenue enhancements have been achieved - mostly via managed care renegotiations." (CX 17 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1397:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1396).

1398. Mr. Neaman's October 2, 2000, memorandum to the board of directors included an attached "Sequential Listing of Accomplishments" of the merger. (CX 17 at 1, 5). Mr. Neaman reported that the re-negotiation of payor contracts had resulted in an annualized economic value of \$18 million. (CX 17 at 5-8 (\$3 million each for the United, PHCS, Aetna, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, and Cigna contracts, \$2 million for the Humana contract, and \$1 million from the renegotiation of other smaller PPO contracts combined)). (CX 17 at 5-8; Hillebrand, Tr. 1708-09. See CX 13 at 1 (In July 2000, Mr. Neaman reported an additional \$16 million/year in total managed care re-negotiation benefits to the board);

See also CX 25 at 9, 11 (September 13, 2000 memo reporting the same "Merger Accomplishments" in the form of increased revenue through renegotiated contracts).

Response to Finding No. 1398:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1397). Moreover, this proposed finding refers to the \$3 million enhancement from the Blue Cross renegotiation, yet Complaint Counsel has not asserted that this \$3 million enhancement was the result of ENH's market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1375). 1399.

REDACTED

820, in camera; CX 1099, in camera).

(Chan, Tr.

Response to Finding No. 1399:

This proposed finding is misleading because it mischaracterizes the cited Chan testimony.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 819-20, in camera; CX 1099, in camera).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 590-593; RFF ¶ 594, in camera).

1400. Mr. Spaeth also testified that at the time of the merger Highland Park would not have been successful in raising its rates because the hospital could not sustain a strategy where it kept losing contracts. (Spaeth, Tr. 2178-79). He did not see an opportunity to raise the rates before the merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2172-73).

Response to Finding No. 1400:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1399).

- B. Testimony of Present ENH Executives Regarding Merger Creating Market Power
 - 1. Assessments in Contemporaneous Documents of the Anticompetitive Consequences of the Merger Are a Reliable and Accurate Reflection of Discussions
- 1401. Present and former ENH executives testified that the contemporaneous assessment of the consequences of the merger found in ENH documents is an accurate reflection of contemporaneous discussions in the pre- and post-merger period. (Neaman, Tr. 1192-95, 1196-97, 1200, 1203-05, 1207, 1209; Hillebrand, Tr. 1811-12; Spaeth, Tr. 2210-11; Newton, Tr. 369-70; Newton, Tr. 372-73). This testimony confirms that ENH's documents provide trustworthy and reliable evidence that ENH's post-merger price increases are the product of anticompetitive behavior and market power.

Response to Finding No. 1401:

This proposed finding is both misleading and false. ENH documents are, indeed, an accurate reflection of contemporaneous discussions in the pre- and post-Merger periods. But a full and fair reading of these documents – free of Complaint Counsel's selective quotations and manipulation of phrases – shows no anticompetitive behavior or market power. The documents, instead, confirm that the primary purpose of the Merger was to improve quality, and the reason for post-Merger price increases is explained by the learning about demand theory. (RFF-Reply 1346-1400).

1402. ENH's board meeting minutes were reviewed by key personnel, including Mr. Neaman, and accurately represented what occurred at the meetings. Attendees were free to speak candidly and honestly. (Neaman, Tr. 1192-95).

Response to Finding No. 1402:

This proposed finding is incomplete. It fails to explain that Board meeting minutes do not include detailed reports of discussions, such as those relating to the managed care renegotiation process. (Neaman, Tr. 1389).

1403. Consistent with the language of the merger documents, Mr. Neaman admitted that one of the goals of the merger with Highland Park was to get better prices and terms from health plans for ENH. (Neaman, Tr. 1036). In the late 1990's health plans were decreasing

rates for hospital services. (Neaman, Tr. 1037-38). ENH and Highland Park hoped that the merged entity could strengthen the negotiating position of the hospitals with health plans. (Neaman, Tr. 1039; CX 19).

Response to Finding No. 1403:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. Improving MCO contracts was not a primary goal of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 259-297). But to the extent that it was a goal, both Evanston Hospital and HPH hoped that the Merger would create a better, more cost effective and, therefore, more valuable product to present to the marketplace. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361; Newton, Tr. 408).

Moreover, because the Balanced Budget Act had an especially significant negative impact on pre-Merger Evanston Hospital in the late 1990s, and because the hospital's investment income declined during this same period, the hospital's leadership became particularly concerned about finding new revenue sources for the future. (RFF ¶ 105, 110-112, 624, 627-630, 633-634, 643-645). The combined forces of these financial pressures forced Evanston Hospital to look to the only untapped source of revenue: the wealthy MCOs. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2013-14; RX 652 at BAIN 12). The pricing pressures showed no signs of letting up. Accordingly, Evanston Hospital planned to aggressively renegotiate its contracts – with or without the Merger. (RFF ¶ 705).

1404. Mark Newton, a former Highland Park and ENH executive, attended the January 6, 2000, board meeting at which Jeff Hillebrand reported on renegotiations with health plans. The minutes from that meeting (CX 5 at 5) accurately reflect the statements made by Mr. Hillebrand at that meeting. (Newton, Tr. 369-70).

Response to Finding No. 1404:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365; Hillebrand, Tr. 2026).

1405. Mark Newton also attended the February 2000 board meeting at which Jeff Hillebrand reported on renegotiations with health plans. The minutes from that meeting (CX 809)

accurately reflect the statements made by Mr. Hillebrand at that meeting. (Newton, Tr. 372-73).

Response to Finding No. 1405:

This proposed finding is misleading (RFF-Reply ¶1368 (addressing CX 6, an exact copy of CX 809)).

- 2. ENH Executives Testified That Pre-Merger There Were Significant Pricing Pressures and the Threat of Increased Competition from Highland Park
- 1406. Before the merger, ENH leadership believed that the government and health plans would increase pricing pressures on hospitals. (Neaman, Tr. 1042; CX 442 at 4).

Response to Finding No. 1406:

This proposed finding is vague, incomplete and not placed in any context. (RFF-Reply \P 1403).

1407

REDACTED

(Neaman, Tr. 1134-35, in camera; CX 1566 at 3-4). **REDACTED**(Neaman, Tr. 1138, in camera; CX 1566 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 1407:

This proposed finding confirms the significant financial pressures pre-Merger Evanston Hospital faced in the late 1990s and its pressing need to renegotiate managed care contracts during that time frame. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1403). Nonetheless, this proposed finding is misleading to the extent it equates "leverage" with market power. Evanston Hospital, its consultants (Bain) and HPH all viewed the Merger as an opportunity to present a better and higher-quality product to consumers. (RFF ¶¶ 259-297, 707). ENH planned to use this improved product as "leverage, limited as it might be," to seek better rates from MCOs. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361).

1408. In December 1997, Mr. Neaman authored the ENH strategic plan, "Achieving our Strategic Goals: The Financial Roadmap for Our Future, 1998-2002." ENH management

also authored a 1996 to 2000 strategic plan. Mr. Neaman forwarded excerpts from these plans to Bain in February 1998. (Neaman, Tr. 1149-51; CX 2037).

Response to Finding No. 1408:

Respondent has no specific response.

1409. As he wrote in the December 1997 Financial Roadmap, Mr. Neaman believed that "[p]ricing pressures, as anticipated five years ago, have continued to grow." (Neaman, Tr. 1151; CX 2037 at 2). Thus, ENH management recognized from the early 1990s that declining managed care prices would continue to exert pressure on ENH's bottom line.

Response to Finding No. 1409:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. As an initial matter, CX 2037 does not state or hint what pricing pressures Evanston Hospital faced five years before December 1997. (CX 2037 at 2). CX 2037 only lists the new and significant pressures that appeared in late 1997, specifically the Balanced Budget Act and reimbursement reductions from Blue Cross and Humana. (CX 2037 at 2-3). CX 2037 also does not indicate that Evanston Hospital anticipated significant reductions from major payors, especially Medicare, five years before December 1997. In any event, Evanston Hospital was much better equipped before 1997 to deal with threats to the bottom line because its investment income provided a more than adequate capital cushion. (CX 2037 at 2; RFF ¶ 641-643). As this cushion started to disappear in December 1997, however, Evanston Hospital faced more financial pressures. (RFF ¶ 643-645).

1410. As early as the beginning of 1998, ENH experienced "significant reductions in reimbursement" from both Blue Cross and Humana. (CX 2037 at 2-3; Neaman, Tr. 1151-52).

Response to Finding No. 1410:

Respondent has no specific response.

1411. In December 1998, ENH viewed the pricing pressures as a "significant threat" to Evanston. (CX 2037 at 3; Neaman, Tr. 1152).

Response to Finding No. 1411:

Respondent has no specific response.

1412. In its 1996 to 2000 Strategic Plan, ENH sought to increase market share for each segment of its business, including inpatient services. (CX 2037 at 9; Neaman, Tr. 1153). Part of that growth strategy included the strategy of acquiring other hospitals. (Neaman, Tr. 1154; CX 2037 at 9).

Response to Finding No. 1412:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. Evanston Hospital focused on growth to become the "best integrated healthcare delivery system." (CX 2037 at 8). Growing volume is vitally important for hospitals to maintain high quality healthcare and to be cost effective in delivering that care. (RFF ¶ 289-290). Because Evanston Hospital realized it could not rely on the shrinking inpatient market to grow its volume, it looked to other means of sustaining growth, such as broadening its portfolio of various services and enhancing its "brand name and product differentiation." (CX 2037 at 9). Acquiring a hospital was one of several means to expand Evanston Hospital's portfolio of services. (CX 2037 at 9).

1413. According to Mr. Hillebrand, Mark Neaman believes that the reason Evanston's prices pre-merger were lower than those at Highland Park was because Evanston had a much greater volume of business for commercial payers. Neaman believes that "since Highland Park was so much smaller than Evanston, the managed care companies weren't as particular about what they paid them." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706-07).

Response to Finding No. 1413:

This proposed finding is false. Complaint Counsel has mischaracterized Hillebrand's testimony concerning Neaman's purported beliefs by changing the tense of some verbs and by selectively quoting from the transcript. A fair and more complete reading of Hillebrand's cited testimony reveals two things: (1) Hillebrand believed that Neaman "thought that [differences in volume] might be" the reason behind the price differences (emphasis added); and (2) Hillebrand, the man most involved and familiar with the 2000 negotiations and to whom Neaman deferred

on these issues, never believed that volume explained the difference between Evanston Hospital's and HPH's rates. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1706-07; Neaman, Tr. 956-57, 1220-21). Once Bain explained to Neaman the real reasons behind the difference in rates (*i.e.*, that Evanston Hospital was under-market), Neaman directed Hillebrand to use aggressive negotiation tactics, with Bain's counsel, to bring ENH up to market with the other Chicago academic hospital systems. (RFF ¶ 683; Neaman, Tr. 1343-45)

1414. Prior to the merger, United, which had recently purchased a number of other health plans, was attempting to exert market power on ENH. Mr. Hillebrand believes that in the 1990s ENH was at a disadvantage in negotiations with Blue Cross, Aetna, and United because of the substantial collective market share of these three payers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1725).

Response to Finding No. 1414:

The proposed finding is misleading and is not supported by the cited evidence. Although United did purchase a number of other MCOs in the 1990s, Hillebrand could not testify as to United's state of mind in its negotiations with ENH. Nor could Hillebrand testify about United's actual market power. At most, the first sentence of this proposed finding stands for the proposition that Hillebrand viewed United as attempting to exert market power on ENH. But this view, as well as Hillebrand's "belie[f]" as reflected in the second sentence of this proposed finding, were not necessarily based on reality because they were formed before Bain taught Evanston Hospital/ENH how to negotiate aggressively with MCOs. In short, Evanston Hospital perceived itself to be disadvantaged in MCO negotiations before the Merger, at least in part, because it had not yet learned how to negotiate effectively. (RFF ¶ 710-725).

1415. At the time of the merger, Blue Cross, United, Aetna, and Humana collectively comprised 75% of the managed care market in Chicago. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1725).

Response to Finding No. 1415:

This proposed finding is inaccurate. Hillebrand testified that Blue Cross, United, Humana, and Cigna (not Aetna) comprised 75% of the Chicago managed care market at the time of Merger. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1725).

1416. One of the ways that Highland Park competed with other hospitals was to negotiate contracts with health plans. Mr. Spaeth of Highland Park testified that health plans were looking for hospitals that would take care of the patient volume for the lowest possible rate. (Spaeth, Tr. 2185-86).

Response to Finding No. 1416:

This proposed finding is misleading because Spaeth testified that HPH competed for managed care contracts only to the extent that these contracts helped to bring patients to the hospital. (Spaeth, Tr. 2185-86). In reality, the presence of any hospital, including Evanston Hospital, in a MCO's network did not make it more difficult for pre-merger HPH to obtain price increases from that MCO. (Spaeth, Tr. 2176). Moreover, while MCOs no doubt looked for the lowest possible rates with hospitals, they obviously were willing to pay different rates to hospitals of different reputations and capabilities. (RFF ¶ 103).

1417. Mr. Spaeth testified that, before the merger, Evanston and Highland Park were competitors of each other, and health plans might have gotten a better deal from one hospital over the other or contracted with only one hospital and not the other. (Spaeth, Tr. 2188-89).

Response to Finding No. 1417:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. There is no evidence that MCOs played Evanston Hospital and HPH off one another before the Merger. Complaint Counsel, therefore, has resorted to selective quotations from Spaeth's testimony amounting to pure conjecture. Spaeth, in fact, testified that Evanston Hospital and HPH were not viable substitutes for one another. (Spaeth, Tr. 2241, 2244, 2285). And with the exception of Humana's Staff

Model Product, HPH never felt it was excluded from managed care contracts because of Evanston Hospital's presence in the market. (Newton, Tr. 457). In fact, Evanston Hospital's presence, or the presence of any other hospital in a MCO's network, did not make it more difficult for pre-merger HPH to obtain price increases from that MCO. (Spaeth, Tr. 2176). Therefore, while it is true MCOs theoretically could have contracted with HPH but not Evanston Hospital, and vice versa, this fact played no meaningful role in either hospital's pre-Merger negotiations with MCOs. (RFF ¶ 974-983).

1418. During the period 1994 forward, Mr. Spaeth had heard that every major insurer in the Chicago area had threatened to or had actually left hospitals out of its network contracts. (Spaeth, Tr. 2193).

Response to Finding No. 1418:

This proposed finding should be afforded little to no weight because it is based solely on unreliable hearsay. (Spaeth, Tr. 2192-93).

1419. The price trend before the merger was down, and in Mr. Spaeth's view that has not changed. (Spaeth, Tr. 2201-02).

Response to Finding No. 1419:

This proposed finding is misleading because, after the Merger, Spaeth had no involvement with managed care contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2299).

1420. Before the merger, Highland Park would sometimes propose a rate to a health plan that the health plan would say was too high. Sometimes health plans would not contract with Highland Park. That included both small HMOs and at least one large health plan like Aetna or Humana. (Spaeth, Tr. 2170-71).

Response to Finding No. 1420:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 559, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1588-89, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1587-88, *in camera*). Accordingly, it is hardly surprising that MCOs claimed HPH's rates were too high.

Moreover, Complaint Counsel fails to explain the reasons for which these MCOs, big and small, would not contract with HPH. Having already established that MCOs did not play HPH and Evanston Hospital off one another or exclude one to the other's detriment, Complaint Counsel is left with no relevant explanation for why MCOs "[s]ometimes would not contract with [HPH]." (RFF ¶¶ 974-983; Newton, Tr. 457; Spaeth, Tr. 2170-71, 2176; RFF-Reply ¶ 1417).

1421. Mr. Spaeth testified that, before the merger, health plans sometimes walked away from hospitals. Mr. Spaeth did not believe that Highland Park was an absolute necessity in any health plan contract. He testified that health plans walk when they have the opportunity to go down the street and contract with another hospital at a better rate. Consequently, Highland Park was afraid that it would lose patients if health plans did not contract with the hospital. (Spaeth, Tr. 2171-72).

Response to Finding No. 1421:

To the extent that this proposed finding should be afforded any weight given that it is based on pure speculation, it is misleading. While no hospital has ever been an "absolute necessity" to a network, MCOs in the Chicago area – both before and after the Merger – have desired to have as large a network as possible. (RFF ¶¶ 58-60, 76, 989-994). Therefore, only in the rarest circumstances would MCOs actually "walk[] away" from a hospital in the Chicago area. (Noether, Tr. 5981-82).

1422. Mr. Spaeth testified that when Highland Park turned down a contract, this would reduce Highland Park's patient volume, and that Highland Park would begin to reduce its bottom line. (Spaeth, Tr. 2172).

Response to Finding No. 1422:

This proposed finding is incomplete because accepting a managed care contract at a rate below the hospital's cost will also reduce its bottom line – perhaps even to a greater extent.

Therefore, there can be a time when turning down a contract will in fact help a bottom line.

1423. Mr. Spaeth believed that at the time of the merger Highland Park would not have been successful in raising its rates. He did not see an opportunity to raise the rates before the merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2172-73). The hospital could not sustain a strategy where it kept losing contracts, as such a strategy would have proved very difficult to stick to. (Spaeth, Tr. 2178-79).

Response to Finding No. 1423:

This proposed finding is misleading because HPH put its renegotiations on hold in anticipation of the Merger and also based on speculation. Moreover, given HPH's historically aggressive and successful contract negotiations, no one has never asserted that HPH was undermarket. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1399).

Additionally, this proposed finding is irrelevant because it is based on the testimony of Spaeth, who freely admitted at trial that he did not have a clear recollection of pre-Merger HPH contracts, which were handled directly by Chan. (Spaeth, Tr. 2183).

1424. Before the merger, normally it was very difficult for Highland Park to get an increase from a health plan in its contract rates. (Spaeth, Tr. 2180-82).

Response to Finding No. 1424:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1423).

1425. Before the merger, Highland Park had some contracts with prices that rolled over and others that had "a stipulated end at which then it was agreed to that there would be renegotiation." When the contract was "evergreen" and rolled over, the parties sometimes did not seek an adjustment of the current contract rates, and it was understood that the rate would continue to the following year. Highland Park had staff negotiating with the payers and trying to maximize the reimbursement from them, but in the pre-merger period, "every time we tried to negotiate for a higher rate, it was very difficult to achieve." (Spaeth, Tr. 2182-85).

Response to Finding No. 1425:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1423).

1426. Mr. Spaeth viewed the merger of Highland Park and Evanston as providing a unified face to managed care. Evanston now has the final say for all three hospitals in matters of contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2188).

Response to Finding No. 1426:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies that ENH exercised market power after the Merger. By definition, the Merger unified all contracting functions into a single office, but this was never the ultimate goal of the Merger. (RFF ¶ 259-297; RFF-Reply ¶ 1346-1350, 1352-1356, 1358-1359). Rather, unified contracting was just one part of the Merger integration effort to standardize clinical and business practices across the entire ENH system. (RFF ¶ 303-309).

3. Merger-Related Negotiations Headed by Jeff Hillebrand Were Successful for ENH

1427. Mr. Hillebrand agreed that "\$36 million in economic value on an annualized basis" achieved by October 2, 2000, by ENH could not "have been achieved by Evanston and Highland Park alone." This \$36 million included \$24 million derived mostly from managed care renegotiations. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1817-18; CX 17 at 2).

Response to Finding No. 1427:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1379). It is further misleading because it fails to explain that \$12 million of the \$36 million in economic value was the product of Merger-related cost savings. (H. Jones, Tr. 4131; RFF ¶ 2539). Moreover, a meaningful portion of the remaining \$24 million was directly attributable to the addition of new services and growth in patient volume at ENH, not just simply price increases. (Neaman, Tr. 1370-71; Hillebrand, Tr. 1709).

1428. On an "annualized basis," Mr. Hillebrand testified that the ENH post-merger price increases from the health plan contract re-negotiation alone yielded \$18 million in

increased revenues. None of the initial post-merger price increases ENH obtained from health plans were taken away in subsequent years, with the exception of a partial price decrease with Humana. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1709-10).

Response to Finding No. 1428:

This proposed finding is misleading and false. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1395).

1429. The 2000 negotiations led to a termination of the hospital contract between ENH and One Health on August 31, 2000. A number of months later, ENH and One Health came to terms on a new hospital contract. Other than One Health's termination period, ENH lost no other health plan customers. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1707-08).

Response to Finding No. 1429:

This proposed finding is vague. The fact that ENH lost no health plan customers other than One Health and, in turn, One Health lost no identifiable employer customers, confirms the that ENH's rates and negotiation tactics were not anticompetitive. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1135). That ENH did not lose any other contracts is consistent with the reality that ENH's 2000 rates were reasonable and proper for a hospital system of ENH's reputation and capability. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1176).

1430. In the process of setting its prices for the 2000 negotiations with health plans, and the 2002 increases to its chargemaster, ENH did not factor in whether patients or the health plans would switch to other hospitals in response to the increases. In his 26 years of experience, Mr. Hillebrand has never seen steerage by health plans work effectively in the Chicago area. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1765).

Response to Finding No. 1430:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it implies that the rate and price changes resulted from the exercise of market power. (RFF-Reply ¶ 261, 1391-93). Moreover, the lack of steerage only helps to show that MCOs do not play one hospital, including pre-Merger Evanston Hospital and HPH, off one another when negotiating contracts. (RFF ¶ 989-994; RFF-Reply ¶ 1421).

1431. In the process of setting its prices for the 2000 negotiations with health plans, and the 2002 increases to its chargemaster, ENH did not consider what actions other hospitals would take in response. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1764-65).

Response to Finding No. 1431:

This proposed finding is not supported by the cited portion of Hillebrand's testimony. In any event, this proposed finding is vague. It is unclear whether any other hospital was aware of the 2000 ENH contract renegotiations or, for that matter, the 2002 chargemaster increases. This proposed finding is also misleading because negotiated rates are confidential. Other hospitals do not know ENH's rates, and ENH does not know other hospitals' rates. (Newton, Tr. 373-74; Neaman, Tr. 1344; Ballengee, Tr. 193-94). Accordingly, this proposed finding makes no sense.

1432. When setting its prices in 2000, ENH was not concerned with and did not factor in whether Lutheran General, Rush North Shore, St. Francis, Lake Forest or any other hospital raised or lowered their prices in response. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1753-55).

Response to Finding No. 1432:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1431).

1433. Mr. Hillebrand did not write and does not recall seeing any analysis of the possibility that ENH's 2000 price increases would lead to ENH losing health plans to other hospitals. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1757-58).

Response to Finding No. 1433:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to mention that Neaman was concerned that ENH's 2000 negotiation plan risked losing contracts with MCOs and that Neaman expressed these concerns to Bain and ENH's own negotiators. (Neaman, Tr. 1348). In response to these concerns, Bain prepared a plan to deal with the possible loss of MCO contracts. (Neaman, Tr. 1349; RFF ¶ 725).

1434. Mr. Hillebrand does not recall anyone at ENH recommending against the 2000 ENH price increases on the ground that they would lead to ENH losing health plans to other hospitals. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1758).

Response to Finding No. 1434:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1433). Moreover, no one at ENH recommended against the 2000 negotiation plan because financial pressures bearing down on ENH made the possibility of securing extra revenue worth the risk of losing managed care contracts. (Neaman, Tr. 1343-44, 1346-47). And any concerns that ENH would lose contracts were no doubt mitigated by the fact that the MCOs would understand that ENH needed a one-time catch-up because its contracts were outdated and its rates under-market. (RFF ¶ 322, 707, 719, 732, 796; RFF ¶ 681, 687, 754, 864).

1435. Mr. Hillebrand believes that employers with insurance access to the three ENH hospitals would balk at the idea of a health plan telling the employer's enrollees that they have to go to another hospital system, instead of ENH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1764).

Response to Finding No. 1435:

This proposed finding, which constitutes pure speculation, is misleading to the extent it purports to constitute proof of improper conduct. As a general matter, employers do not like to limit their employees' health care options. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1761-63; Noether, Tr. 5936-37; RFF ¶ 56, 58-60). Therefore, any employer would "balk" at the idea of any MCO telling the employer's enrollees they could no longer go to any hospital, not only ENH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1761-64).

This proposed finding is irrelevant because it does not define the term "balk." Hillebrand did not speculate as to what specific conduct the employer would take under these circumstances.

1436. According to ENH, Evanston and Highland Park could not have achieved the increased revenues from the post-merger health plan negotiations if they had been independent hospitals. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1816-17; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1436:

This finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply \P 1374-1376, 1379)

1437. With the exception of capitation contracts, health plans in Chicago have not successfully engaged in steering their enrollees from one hospital to another in exchange for better rates. Mr. Hillebrand testified that it would be difficult for health plans to steer patients away from ENH. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1760-63).

Response to Finding No. 1437:

This finding is incomplete and misleading because Hillebrand also testified that it would be difficult for MCOs to steer their patients *to* ENH in exchange for better rates, again because steerage does not work in Chicago. Indeed, this proposed finding belies Complaint Counsel's "bargaining theory," which turns on the notion that MCOs will play one hospital off another hospital through steerage of patients. (RFF ¶¶ 989-994; RFF-Reply ¶ 1421, 1430).

1438.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1927, in camera; CX 20).

Response to Finding No. 1438:

Respondent has no specific response.

1439.

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1923-24, in camera; CX 57 at 1, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1439:

This proposed finding is inaccurate, misleading and false.

REDACTED

1923-24, in camera; CX 57 at 1, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1878). United's proposal was demeaning and did not recognize the services and level of care ENH delivered to its patients.

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1878). Hillebrand had never before, and has never since, been presented with a demand of that type. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1878-79).

This proposed finding is further misleading by suggesting that ENH resisted all attempts by United to change the terms of the new contract. In reality, ENH agreed to a non-standard managed care contract **REDACTED** (Foucre, Tr. 1106, *in camera*).

REDACTED

(Hillebrand, Tr. 1890, 2028; RFF ¶¶ 918-921, in camera). In the end, United negotiated a new contract very much to its liking. (RFF ¶ 922).

- 4. ENH's Executives Affirmed Respondent's Documents' Assertions
 About Price Increases Related to Post-Merger Re-Negotiations with
 Health Plans
- 1440. Mr. Neaman admitted that one of the goals of the merger with Highland Park was to get better prices and terms from health plans for ENH. (Neaman, Tr. 1036). In the late 1990s health plans were decreasing rates for hospital services. (Neaman, Tr. 1037-38). ENH and Highland Park hoped that the merged entity could strengthen the negotiating position of the hospitals with health plans. (Neaman, Tr. 1039; CX 19).

Response to Finding No. 1440:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1403).

1441. Mr. Neaman affirmed that, according to the January 2000 board meeting minutes, Mr. Hillebrand reported that ENH was able to gain an additional \$3.5 million benefit from a managed care contract renegotiation "as a result of combining the medical staffs and Hospitals of the merger." (CX 5 at 5). This was the United renegotiation. (Neaman, Tr. 1196-97).

Response to Finding No. 1441:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1365; Hillebrand, Tr. 2026).

1442. Mr. Hillebrand confirmed that a March 14, 2000, draft Evanston Northwestern Healthcare, 2001-2003 Strategic Plan, which he wrote, states that ENH's growth initiatives, including the merger with Highland Park, would be used to provide leverage to ENH's market position as it negotiates with managed care and to receive superior pricing. (CX 2070 at 3, Hillebrand, Tr. 1811-12).

Response to Finding No. 1442:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1369).

1443. Mr. Neaman testified that in his July 3, 2000, "Interdependence Day" memorandum to the ENH board, he reported to the board on the status of merger integration activities. Mr. Neaman reported that the successes in the merger integration efforts were the result of Evanston's and Highland Park's "interdependence." Mr. Neaman noted, "Neither Evanston nor Highland Park alone could achieve these results." (Neaman, Tr. 1201-02; CX 13 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1443:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1376).

1444. Mr. Neaman testified that at the September 27, 2000, finance committee meeting of the board, he noted that the "larger market share created by adding Highland Park Hospital has translated to better managed care contracts." (CX 16 at 1; Neaman, Tr. 1202-03).

Response to Finding No. 1444:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply 1377).

1445. Mr. Neaman testified that in an October 2, 2000, memorandum, he provided the board with his final report on the merger integration activities for the Highland Park merger. (CX 17; Neaman, Tr. 1203).

Response to Finding No. 1445:

Respondent has no specific response.

1446. Mr. Neaman testified that in his October 2, 2000, memorandum he reported that all of ENH's managed care contracts "have been successfully renegotiated." To that date, ENH had achieved, since the merger, \$24 million in "revenue enhancements," the majority of which came from contract renegotiations. This \$24 million figure was a "big number" relative to prior years. (CX 17 at 1; Neaman, Tr. 1203-04).

Response to Finding No. 1446:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1330, 1365, 1367, 1372, 1374-1376, 1378, 1395-1396, 1398, 1427).

1447. Mr. Neaman acknowledged that in his October 2, 2000, report he reiterated that "none of [the revenue enhancements and cost improvements] could have been achieved by either Evanston or Highland Park alone." (CX 17 at 2; Neaman, Tr. 1205-06).

Response to Finding No. 1447:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1337, 1378-1379).

1448. Mr. Neaman admitted that he was the primary drafter of the 2001-2003 Corporate Strategy presentation made to the board in approximately late 2000 or early 2001. (CX 68; Neaman, Tr. at 1206-07).

Response to Finding No. 1448:

Respondent has no specific response.

1449. Mr. Neaman admitted that one of ENH's strategic goals was to "protect the 'core.'" In the zip codes immediately surrounding its facilities, ENH wanted to increase its market share from 55 to 60% market share in the zip codes immediately surrounding its facilities. (CX 68 at 11; Neaman, Tr. 1208-09).

Response to Finding No. 1449:

This proposed finding is misleading, vague and irrelevant. This proposed finding does not explain the phrase "protect the 'core.'" The facts do show, however, that Evanston Hospital and ENH have always sought to increase market share by improving quality and promoting its brand name. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2022; RFF ¶ 233-236).

The facts further show that the "core" has never been Evanston Hospital's or ENH's market share focus. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 49, 57). This is confirmed by the strategic document Complaint Counsel cites above. Indeed, this document also expressed ENH's hope to succeed in the areas to the northwest, south, and north and also at the regional level in services such as

oncology and cardiology. (CX 68 at 11). ENH cannot survive on the "core" alone and, therefore, must look to its broader service area and beyond. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 49, 57).

1450. Mr. Neaman acknowledged that another of ENH's strategic goals was "market place leadership," partly through "leverage with payors." (CX 68 at 13; Neaman, Tr. 1209).

Response to Finding No. 1450:

This proposed finding is misleading to the extent it equates the term "leverage" with market power. These terms are not synonyms. As Complaint Counsel concedes, "leverage with payors" was only one way to help achieve marketplace leadership. The other ways included "physician recruitment/retention" and "consumers" – which Neaman explained was shorthand for making ENH well regarded by its consumer, the patient. (CX 68 at 13; Neaman, Tr. 1371). Without the respect of its consumers, ENH would not be able to "leverage" its reputation and service offerings with the MCOs. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361, 1369, 1407; Newton, Tr. 408).

- 5. ENH Executive After-the-Fact "Explanations" of Leverage Are Factually Implausible
- 1451. ENH executives do not deny that they made various key statements concerning leverage. However, several of them claim that the statements in the documents concerning "leverage" do not reflect admissions of market power or are not connected to the merger with Highland Park. Such assertions are not credible and are contradicted by certain record admissions in light of numerous documents and supporting testimony. (Neaman, Tr. 1036-39; Hillebrand, Tr. 1790, 1801-02, 1811-12; Spaeth, Tr. 2188; 2211-14; CX 2 at 7; CX 86 at 2; CX 69 at 1; CX 19 at 1; CX 4 at 1, 2, 9; CX 394 at 3; CX 2070 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1451:

This proposed finding is false because the above-cited statements are not admissions of market power. Respondent addresses below the documents at issue as they are used by Complaint Counsel in the following proposed findings of fact.

1452.

REDACTED

(CX 1566 at 9; Neaman, Tr. 1138, in camera); see also, RX 2015 at 3487 ("leverage with managed care")).

Response to Finding No. 1452:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361, 1407).

1453. Mr. Neaman admitted that one of the goals of the merger with Highland Park was to get better prices and terms from health plans for ENH. (Neaman, Tr. 1036). In the late 1990s health plans were decreasing rates for hospital services. (Neaman, Tr. 1037). ENH and Highland Park hoped that the merged entity could strengthen the negotiating position of the hospitals with health plans. (Neaman, Tr. 1039; CX 19 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1453:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1403).

1454. Mr. Hillebrand admitted that the phrase "increase market leverage," includes the potential to get higher prices from health plans and to increase bargaining power. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1790-91, 1801-02, 1811-12; CX 394 at 3; CX 2070 at 3).

Response to Finding No. 1454:

This proposed finding is misleading because ·

REDACTED

(Baker, Tr.

4702, 4644, 4649-50, 4653, in camera; Haas-Wilson, Tr. 2677 in camera; Noether, Tr. 5904).

This proposed finding is also misleading because Hillebrand never testified that "increased market leverage" was the product of increased market share or the geography of ENH's three hospitals. Instead, as shown by one of Complaint Counsel's documents cited above, "market influence" was thought to be the product of high quality service, cost savings, and a strong brand name. (CX 394 at 13). These were the same qualities Evanston Hospital and HPH hoped to promote with their Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361; Newton, Tr. 408).

1455. Mr. Spaeth viewed the merger of Highland Park and Evanston as providing a unified face to managed care. Evanston now has the final say for all three hospitals in matters of contracting. (Spaeth, Tr. 2188).

Response to Finding No. 1455:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1426).

1456. Mr. Spaeth admitted that on April 5, 1999, at a meeting of the medical staff executive committee at Highland Park, Mr. Neaman of Evanston made a presentation related to the hospital merger. Mr. Spaeth understood that in the presentation Mr. Neaman "refers to the geographic advantages of two institutions" through the merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2213-14; CX 2 at 7). The minutes also state that "[t]his would be an opportunity to join forces and grow together rather than compete with each other." (CX 2 at 7).

Response to Finding No. 1456:

This proposed finding is misleading and false to the extent it implies that Neaman made the latter comment on competition. Rather, the minutes do not attribute that comment to any particular person, but a natural reading suggests it was made by a physician. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1359-1360, 1607).

1457. Mr. Spaeth further admitted to making statements about gaining leverage over large employers after the merger. He testified that sometime after April 16, 1999, when a letter of intent was signed by Highland Park and Evanston regarding the merger, Mr. Spaeth told his board members that "it would be real tough for any of the Fortune 40 companies in this area whose CEOs either use this place or that place to walk from Evanston, Highland Park, Glenbrook and 1700 of their doctors." (CX 4 at 2; Spaeth, Tr. 2210-11). When Mr. Spaeth referred to "this place," he was referring to the three hospitals. (Spaeth, Tr. 2211).

Response to Finding No. 1457:

This proposed finding is misleading and inaccurate. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1352).

1458. Mr. Spaeth admitted that at the same meeting where he made his comment about gaining leverage over large employers, Mr. Patience, a board member of Highland Park Hospital, expressed the view that the economic issue being dealt with was the relative negotiating power of the health plans versus the hospitals and that, if one of the objectives was to get geographic leverage on the employers in the area, Northwestern Memorial would not help much. (CX 4 at 9; Spaeth, Tr. 2211-12).

Response to Finding No. 1458:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and, therefore, misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1353-54).

1459. The leadership of both Evanston and Highland Park wanted to make ENH "indispensable" to the market. (CX 19 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1459:

This proposed finding is misleading because there is no relationship between being "indispensable" and market power. In the period prior to the Merger, both Evanston Hospital and HPH documents explained that being "indispensable" was a function of quality, brand and cost efficiency. (CX 394 at 13; RX 367 at ENH DR 4205; RFF ¶ 1001). Hillebrand similarly testified that achieving "indispensability" would be the result of having the best outcomes, the best service, the best physicians and the highest brand. (Hillebrand, Tr. 2021).

1460. In a May 2000 planning document, ENH recognized that achieving "a leadership position (#1 or #2) and significant market share (>30%)" even in small market areas, "increases contracting leverage with health plans and employers." (CX 86 at 2-3).

Response to Finding No. 1460:

This proposed finding is misleading. Specifically, this proposed finding cites to a document, CX 86, which confirms that use of the term "leverage" is not related to market power. Instead, like the term "indispensability," the term "leverage" is a function of ENH's positive reputation. The entire sentence cited by Complaint Counsel reads: "Being #1 or #2 in a market increases contracting leverage with health plans and employers and *supports consumer preference*." (CX 86 at 3 (emphasis added)). This document thus confirms that a large market share is the result of "consumer preference," and any "leverage" derived from that large share is not the result of market power but, instead, the result of quality improvements resulting from the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1454, 1459).

1461. In a document with a time period January 1, 2000 – December 31, 2000, titled "Effective Communications During a Hospital Merger," ENH stated that the boards of Evanston and Highland Park Hospital decided to merge to obtain, among other things, "increased leverage in the managed care marketplace." (CX 69 at 1).

Response to Finding No. 1461:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1361-1362).

- C. Testimony of Former ENH Executives Regarding Merger Creating Market Power
- 1462. Two former executives of ENH testified that ENH officials were aware that the merger created leverage and market power with health plans. Those two executives are Mark Newton and Terry Chan, and each held management positions with the merging hospitals. (Newton, Tr. 279, 295, 363-64; Chan, Tr. 652-62).

Response to Finding No. 1462:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and, therefore, misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387).

Additionally, the cited testimony does not support the assertion that "ENH officials were aware that the merger created leverage and market power with health plans." These cites merely list Newton and Chan's qualifications, qualifications that are not adequate enough to make either person an appropriate source to speak credibly on behalf of ENH. Moreover, Newton's testimony should be afforded little weight because he was biased – he is the CEO of a major competitor to ENH, Swedish Covenant Hospital. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1465).

1463.

REDACTED

(Newton, Tr. 351-53, 54, 59-60, 61-62; Chan, Tr. 839, in camera; Chan, Tr. 709-10); REDACTED (Newton, Tr. 363-64, 365, 66-67; Chan, Tr. 705-06; Chan, Tr. 839-41, in camera); REDACTED (Newton, Tr. 369-70; Chan, Tr. 696-97; 703).

Response to Finding No. 1463:

This proposed finding is irrelevant and, therefore, misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1387, 1462, 1465). Moreover, Newton and Chan's "understanding" is not relevant because it is merely an expression of their personal opinion. For example, Newton testified that "in [his] mind" one of the alleged "benefits" of the Merger was "additional negotiating power and leverage" and he

was not was "personally" concerned that ENH's 2000 negotiations would lose contracts because he "felt" MCOs needed ENH. Newton did not purport to speak on behalf of ENH. (Newton, Tr. 365, 367; Newton, Tr. 354, 359, 361, 363 ("in your own mind," "in your view," and "Perhaps, in my opinion" used to qualify Newton's testimony)). Likewise, Chan testified that she "believed" ENH management knew ENH had more "power" after the Merger and it was "just [her] intuition" that the Merger gave ENH that "power." (Chan, Tr. 709-10). 1464.

REDACTED

(CX

129 at 1, in camera).

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy Tr. at 1559-60 in camera.). ENH indicated to PHCS that ENH was an "entity controlling all of these communities." (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77 ("they indicated that they already had the market share for these communities.")).

Response to Finding No. 1464:

This proposed finding is misleading because

REDACTED

(Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1579, in camera; CX 129 at 1).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 869-875, in camera).

Moreover, Ballengee's "recollection" of conversations from five years ago should be afforded no weight. As discussed in RFF-Reply ¶ 1080, this Court should view with suspicion all testimony by MCO representatives that is not reflected in contemporaneous documents since they have a plain interest in this litigation. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1080). In fact, at trial, Hillebrand testified that he never told Ballengee that ENH had a 60% market share, the claim on which Complaint Counsel partially bases the allegation that ENH was an "entity controlling all of these communities." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1894). Ballengee's characterizations of ENH comments (to the extent they have any independent relevance – which they do not) are clearly self-serving, uncorroborated and subject to dispute. Therefore, such testimony should be disregarded.

REDACTED

(Mendonsa, Tr. 559, in camera; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1588, in camera).

1. Background of the Two Former ENH Executives

1465. During the period 1988 to April 2000, Mark Newton was employed at Highland Park and post-merger at ENH. (Newton, Tr. 279, 295). Mr. Newton's first position at Highland Park Hospital was vice president of planning and marketing. He subsequently took over the duties of senior vice president of business development. (Newton, Tr. 279). Mr. Newton also was involved in meetings on post-merger contract renegotiations between ENH and health plans. Specifically, he participated in several meetings with Bain and senior management of the former Highland Park. (Newton, Tr. 295). Mark Newton was involved in contract renegotiation strategy discussions in the winter of 2000. At least three meetings occurred during this time period. (Newton, Tr. 363-64).

Response to Finding No. 1465:

This proposed finding fails to establish that Newton had the proper experience, responsibilities and foundation to credibly support his testimony about the purposes and effects of the Merger. Specifically, Newton was never more than a vice president of "business affairs" at HPH, he left ENH soon after the Merger and he is now Chief Executive Officer of Swedish Covenant Hospital, an admitted competitor to ENH. (Spaeth, Tr. 2282-83, Hillebrand, Tr. 2028-29, Newton, Tr. 279, 434). Moreover, Newton did not have primary responsibility for Merger strategy, he was excluded from most Merger discussions, he was not primarily responsible for managed care contracting and he never worked for an MCO. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283-84, Newton, Tr. 436, 452-53, 512-13). Newton's credibility is further undermined by his exaggerated and

fanciful testimony, including calling pre-Merger HPH one of the "finest community hospitals in the country," even though the hospital suffered from numerous financial and quality problems.

(Newton, Tr. 301; CCFF ¶ 42; RFF-Reply ¶ 42).

REDACTED

(Newton, Tr. 320, 384, 427, 436; Newton, Tr.

512-13, *in camera*). And Newton frequently offered his lay opinion on such subjects as market concentration, market power, and the effect of the Merger on MCO negotiations, all areas properly reserved for experts. (Newton, Tr. 352-55, 361-62). In short, Newton's testimony should be disregarded in its entirety or at the very least treated with extreme caution.

1466. From January 1, 2000, to September 1, 2000, Teresa Chan worked for ENH as assistant vice-president for finance. In this role, Ms. Chan was a member of the managed care contracting team that conducted post-merger negotiations with commercial payers. (Chan, Tr. 651-52). Ms. Chan's involvement during the 2000 post-merger negotiations included contacting health plans, drafting proposals, and analyzing the impact of every contract proposal and negotiation. (Chan, Tr. 663).

Response to Finding No. 1466:

This proposed finding fails to establish that Chan had the proper experience, responsibilities and foundation to credibly support her testimony about the purposes and effects of the Merger. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462).

- 2. Former ENH Executives Also Testified That Highland Park and Evanston Faced Pricing Pressures Before the Merger
- 1467. Pre-merger, Highland Park management was "routinely concerned" about being excluded from a health plan's network. (Newton, Tr. 303).

Response to Finding No. 1467:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1463, 1465). Newton's "concerns" apparently did not reflect reality because, as he testified at trial, pre-Merger HPH had contracts with virtually all MCOs, with perhaps one or two exceptions. (Newton, Tr. 457).

Moreover, Newton testified that he never felt excluded from MCO contracts because of Evanston Hospital, other than Humana's staff model product. (Newton, Tr. 457; Spaeth, Tr. 2170-71). Spaeth, Newton's superior, confirmed that Evanston Hospital's presence, or the presence of any other hospital in a MCO's network, did not make it more difficult for pre-Merger HPH to gain price increases from that MCO. (Spaeth, Tr. 2176).

1468. MCOs would continually inform Highland Park during negotiations that "other hospitals will fill that bill." (Newton, Tr. 303).

Response to Finding No. 1468:

This proposed finding is vague, unintelligible, misleading and based on unsupported and unreliable hearsay. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1467).

1469. Highland Park management's "fundamental business tenet" was that Highland Park needed to be included in all products for all payors. Exclusion would "diminish [Highland Park's] ability to be successful in the market, would diminish [Highland Park's] ability for patients to come to [Highland Park]." (Newton, Tr. 303-04).

Response to Finding No. 1469:

This proposed finding is misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1465). Pre-Merger HPH was rarely excluded from MCO networks and the presence or absence of other hospitals, including Evanston Hospital, did not make it more difficult for pre-Merger HPH to gain price increases from those MCOs. (Newton, Tr. 457; Spaeth, Tr. 2170-71, 2176).

1470. In order to avoid exclusion, Highland Park management had to be "constrained" in its pricing negotiations. (Newton, Tr. 304).

Response to Finding No. 1470:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1465, 1469). This proposed finding is meaningless without a definition of the term "constrained." Moreover, pre-Merger HPH employed especially aggressive tactics, such as commencing negotiations by asking

for discount-off-charges rates and frequently threatening MCOs with termination. (RFF \P 590-593).

1471. Highland Park management believed that one benefit of growing via merger was that such a strategy "builds negotiating strength with payers." (CX 1869). "[B]y being part of a larger entity, a larger contracting entity, [the merged entity] would collectively have strength with payors." (Newton, Tr. 349).

Response to Finding No. 1471:

This proposed finding is inaccurate, incomplete and misleading. Newton's testimony merely reflects his own opinion. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1387, 1463, 1465).

1472. In the mid to late 1990s, Highland Park generally received single digit price increases from health plans. These price increases were less than what Highland Park had requested in negotiations. (Newton, Tr. 356-57).

Response to Finding No. 1472:

This proposed finding is misleading because it ignores the reality of negotiations with MCOs. Since there is a fair amount of bluffing and posturing by both sides, hospitals often do not receive the rate increases they first request. (RFF ¶ 182).

1473. In the mid to late 1990s, Highland Park could not obtain higher price increases because health plans could substitute other hospitals for Highland Park in their networks. These substitute hospitals included Evanston, Rush North Shore, and Lutheran General, among others. (Newton, Tr. 358).

Response to Finding No. 1473:

This proposed finding is false. This proposed finding is based entirely on pure speculation by Newton, who never worked for a MCO and who never had primary responsibility for MCO contracting at HPH. (Newton, Tr. 358; RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1387, 1463, 1465). Indeed, such speculation directly conflicts with testimony from the MCOs themselves and other fact and expert witnesses who testified that: (1) Evanston Hospital and HPH were not each other's closest substitutes because of their very different sizes and services; and (2) MCOs did not play

Evanston Hospital and HPH off one another in pre-Merger negotiations. (RFF ¶ 538-587). Newton himself testified that he never felt excluded from managed care contracts because of Evanston Hospital, other than Humana's Staff model product. (Newton, Tr. 457; Spaeth, Tr. 2170-71). Spaeth further confirmed that Evanston Hospital's presence, or the presence of any other hospital in a MCO's network, did not make it more difficult for pre-merger HPH to gain price increases from that MCO. (Spaeth, Tr. 2176).

1474. Prior to the merger, health plans indicated to Ms. Chan that Evanston was a nearby option if they were unsatisfied during rate negotiations with Highland Park Hospital. Before the merger, Evanston was a competitor of Highland Park Hospital. (Chan, Tr. 745).

Response to Finding No. 1474:

This proposed finding is false and based on unreliable evidence. The evidence clearly demonstrated that MCOs did not view Evanston Hospital and HPH as each other's closest substitutes and did not play one off of the other in pre-Merger negotiations. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 47, 57-58, 1417, 1473). In fact, Chan herself testified that Lake Forest Hospital, not Evanston Hospital, was HPH's closest competitor. (Chan, Tr. 730). Moreover, this proposed finding is based on purported out-of-court statements by third parties who were not subject to cross-examination and, therefore, these statements should be afforded little or no weight.

1475. Before the merger, Highland Park perceived health plans to have greater leverage than Highland Park Hospital. (CX 1908 at 4).

Response to Finding No. 1475:

Respondent has no specific response.

1476. In the late 1990s there was a trend of health plans to "convert any discount off charge contract to per diems." (Chan, Tr. 671).

Response to Finding No. 1476:

This proposed finding is inaccurate and misleading. Chan did not testify that there was a trend from discount-off-charges to per diems. She only testified that MCOs were "trying" to convert to per diems, and did not further testify as to whether MCOs were successful in these attempts as to HPH. This proposed finding also is inaccurate and misleading because Chan did not to testify as to any late 1990s "trend" pertaining to MCO negotiations with hospitals other than HPH because she was not privy to those confidential negotiations. (Chan, Tr. 671).

This proposed finding is further misleading because discount-off-charges continue to be a very common reimbursement methodology. Generally, discount-off-charges are the standard methodology for outpatient services. (RFF-Reply ¶ 799).

REDACTED

(RFF ¶¶ 82-85, *in camera*). Since 2000, Chicago area hospitals have pressed more aggressively for discount-off-charges provisions for inpatient services. (RFF ¶ 86).

REDACTED

(RFF \P ¶ 87-89, in camera).

1477. Ms. Chan believes that the higher a hospital increased its rates, the less likely a health plan was to desire that hospital to remain in its network. (Chan, Tr. 699-700).

Response to Finding No. 1477:

This proposed finding concerning Chan's belief should be given no weight. Chan did not work for a MCO and, therefore, this belief is based on pure speculation. (Chan, Tr. 647-48, 650-54).

1478.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 823-24, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1478:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading because it fails to explain that a "higher effective discount" does not necessarily mean a reduction in overall reimbursements.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 783,

790, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan,

Tr. 791, in camera). Therefore, an overall higher "effective discount" could simply be an indication of HPH raising its prices and not an indication of reduced overall reimbursements.

1479.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 782-83, in camera;

CX 1095 at 6, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1479:

This proposed finding is incomplete (RFF-Reply ¶ 1478).

1480.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785-87, in camera; CX 1095 at 6, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1480:

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785, in camera; CX 1095 at 6, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785-86, in camera; see also

RFF ¶ 93).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 785-86, in camera; RFF ¶ 92).

REDACTED

(CX 5068 at 27, in camera; Chan, Tr. 785-786, in camera; RX 278 at ENH JL 5335, 5338; RFF ¶ 94).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 786, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 787-88, in camera).

Finally, this proposed finding is facially overbroad in that it purports to address contract rates and negotiations involving hospitals other than HPH, where Chan worked before the

Merger. Chan did not testify as to other hospital negotiations with MCOs because she had no foundation to so testify. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1477).

1481.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr.

791-92, in camera; CX 439 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 1481:

This proposed finding is incomplete.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 792, in

camera).

1482.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 794, in camera; CX 439 at 8).

Response to Finding No. 1482:

This proposed finding is incomplete and, therefore, misleading because a higher "effective discount" does not necessarily mean a reduction in overall reimbursements. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1478).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 794, in camera; CX 439 at 8).

1483.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 795-96, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1483:

This proposed finding is misleading. First, Chan could not, and did not, testify as to general MCO trends because she did not have an adequate foundation to so testify and because she was not qualified to testify as a managed care expert. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1477, 1480).

REDACTED

796, in camera).

1484.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr.

820, in camera; CX 1099 at 1-67, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1484:

This proposed finding is misleading because it mischaracterizes Chan's testimony. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1399).

1485. Before the merger, Highland Park felt that a merger or acquisition with another hospital could increase Highland Park's "negotiating strength" with health plans. (CX 1869 at 7 (LHS Strategic Planning Retreat, 9/2/98)).

Response to Finding No. 1485:

The proposed finding is misleading because the cited Strategic Planning Retreat document was authored by Newton. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1387, 1463, 1465). Newton was tasked with assisting the development of Merger strategy and options, but he was not primarily responsible for their development or implementation. (Spaeth, Tr. 2283). Spaeth and HPH Chairman Neele Stearns had that responsibility and both confirmed that building "negotiating strength" with MCOs was not a make-or-break reason for the Merger. (Spaeth, Tr. 2187, 2283; CX 6305 at 13-14 (Stearns, Dep.)).

- 3. Former ENH Executives Admitted That Market Power and Leverage over Health Plans Were Attributable to the Merger
- 1486. At the time of the merger, the merging parties' executives believed that the proposed Evanston merger would increase the merged entity's negotiating leverage with the health plans. (Newton, Tr. 359-60). The merging parties' executives believed that the merged entity's negotiating leverage would increase despite the existence of non-ENH facilities relatively nearby. Employers with employees in the merged entity's communities would find it "very difficult" to notify their employees that the ENH facilities were not in the network. (Newton, Tr. 362).

Response to Finding No. 1486:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. This proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. First, Newton has an obvious interest in this litigation as the CEO of a major competitor to ENH. And second, Newton's testimony speaks only for Newton, not HPH management or employers. Such testimony should be given no weight because it is pure speculation. Finally, this proposed finding and the cited testimony is overly vague and thus meaningless. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463, 1465).

1487. From Highland Park's perspective, Evanston presented the best combination to generate negotiating strength. Evanston's two hospitals and Highland Park "form a triangle... within this market of these really affluent communities... These organizations together would have a significant market penetration in these very affluent, attractive communities." (Newton, Tr. 351-52). Highland Park believed this would lead to increased prices from health plans. (Newton, Tr. 359-60).

Response to Finding No. 1487:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. This proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. Newton's testimony, especially the testimony concerning the purported relevance of the "triangle," is supported by no contemporaneous documents, and no witness testified that this term was ever used before the Complaint in this action was filed. To be sure, the concept of this "triangle" was made up by Complaint Counsel for purposes of this litigation, and Newton clearly was prepared by Complaint Counsel to use this term at trial. Such testimony, therefore, should be given no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463, 1465).

1488. The combination of Highland Park and Evanston would have more bargaining strength as compared to combinations of Highland Park and other institutions. The factors pushing in this direction include proximity of institutions, cultural relationships existing in the community, and placement of medical staffs, among others. (Newton, Tr. 354).

Response to Finding No. 1488:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. This proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. Newton's testimony reflects improper lay opinion; he was not qualified as an expert witness. Newton had no foundation to testify about "bargaining strength," and his testimony concerning hypothetical combinations of HPH and other institutions amounts to pure speculation. He also had no foundation to testify about "cultural relationships" and the "placement of medical staffs." Such testimony, therefore, should be given no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463).

1489. According to Mr. Newton, "essentially, what we were looking for here is how concentrated could this market be for us." (Newton, Tr. 353-54).

Response to Finding No. 1489:

This proposed finding is vague and misleading. This proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. Newton's testimony is vague because he does not explain who he is referring to as "we," nor does he define what he means by "concentrated." Moreover, Newton does not have the proper foundation or credentials to testify on behalf of HPH. Such testimony, therefore, should be given very little, if any, weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463, 1465).

1490. The geographic placement of ENH's three hospitals, which are concentrated in the North Shore's extremely affluent communities, gave ENH immense influence and power with the health plans. (Newton, Tr. 361-62). The merger between Evanston and Highland Park gave ENH "more power than it had before the merger." (Chan, Tr. 705-06).

Response to Finding No. 1490:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. The first sentence of this proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. Newton's testimony reflects improper lay opinion; he was not qualified as an expert witness. In particular,

Newton had no foundation to testify about how the Merger purportedly "gave ENH immense influence and power with health plans." He never worked for a MCO and he was not primarily responsible for HPH's managed care negotiations. Such testimony, therefore, should be given no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 1387, 1462-1463, 1465).

Moreover, this proposed finding mischaracterizes Chan's testimony. She testified that Evanston Hospital had a "lock" on the North Shore before the Merger because it was a very "desirable" hospital. (Chan, Tr. 705). She further testified that HPH "could not replace" Evanston Hospital, and that Evanston Hospital's true competitors were hospitals like Northwestern Memorial and Advocate Lutheran General. (Chan, Tr. 706; RFF-Reply ¶ 1491).

1491. Terry Chan testified that ENH insisted on certain rates after the merger, because it increased its negotiation power through the merger, and had more leverage. (Chan, Tr. 710). She believes that ENH had "more leverage" to insist on certain rates from health plans because of the merger. (Chan, Tr. 709-10).

Response to Finding No. 1491:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463). Again, Chan testified, and Complaint Counsel acknowledges in this proposed finding, that she was purely speculating and thus testified only as to her personal "belie[fs]" concerning the effect of the Merger. She clarified that it was "just [her] intuition" that the Merger gave ENH more "leverage." (Chan, Tr. 709-10). She did not hear anyone say anything along these lines during her meetings with ENH's negotiating team. (Chan, Tr. 710). Nor did she make any such statements to MCOs. (Chan, Tr. 709). Finally, she testified that whatever "power" or "leverage" the Merger generated was minimal. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1490).

1492.

REDACTED

(CX 1607 at 5, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 839-40, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1492:

This proposed finding is misleading.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 839, *in camera*). Bain likely calculated ENH's rough share of its "core," a sub-market that is too small to sustain ENH's business and, therefore, is of little relevance to the hospital. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 49, 57).

REDACTED

(RX

1331 at ENHE DL 11883, in camera; RFF-Reply ¶ 65, in camera).

1493.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 839, in camera).

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 840-41, in camera;

CX 1607 at 5, in camera)

Response to Finding No. 1493:

This proposed finding is incomplete and misleading.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr. 840, in

camera). This proposed finding is further misleading because it incorrectly presupposes that the "core" market at issue has any relevance to this litigation. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 49, 57, 1492).

1494. Ms. Chan did not hear any health plans say during negotiations that they would not pay the ENH post-merger increase, or that they would move patients to St. Francis or Rush North Shore hospitals. (Chan, Tr. 703).

Response to Finding No. 1494:

This proposed finding is irrelevant because it is based on testimony that was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (Chan, Tr. 703). This proposed finding is also misleading. The MCOs were more willing to accept many of ENH's proposals because they acknowledged that ENH was under-market and required a catch-up. (Mendonsa, Tr. 533-34, 564, *in camera*; Holt-Darcy, Tr. 1579, *in camera*; CX 129 at 1; RFF ¶ 884). Moreover, because MCOs rarely employ selective contracting in Chicago, they were not likely to have threatened ENH with promises to move patients to competing hospitals. (RFF-Reply ¶¶ 9, 195-283).

REDACTED

(CX 129 at 1, in camera). **REDACTED**Holt-Darcy, Tr.1559-60, in camera).

Response to Finding No. 1495:

This proposed finding is incomplete, inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1464).

1496. ENH indicated to PHCS that ENH was an "entity controlling all of these communities." (Ballengee, Tr. 176-77 ("they indicated that they already had the market share for these communities.")).

Response to Finding No. 1496:

This proposed finding is incomplete, inaccurate and misleading. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1464).

4. Former ENH Executives Admitted That a Merger Plan Was to Use Power Attributable to the Merger to Increase Prices

1497.

REDACTED

(Chan, Tr.

834, in camera; Hillebrand, Tr. 1868).

Response to Finding No. 1497:

This proposed finding is misleading because it fails to explain fully why Evanston Hospital/ENH decided to concentrate first on United negotiations. After the due diligence revealed that HPH had much better rates in its United contract than did Evanston Hospital, and Bain determined that Evanston Hospital was losing money on its United contract, the parties determined that they should ask United for a one-time corrective catch-up and then use that negotiation as the benchmark for future MCO negotiations. (RFF ¶ 707-708, 884-885).

Evanston Hospital/ENH also concentrated first on United renegotiations because the then-existing United contract suffered from claims issues that made reimbursement a "mess." (Hillebrand, Tr. 1870-71). Evanston Hospital was commonly paid under the wrong contract terms, by the wrong system, and for the wrong product. (Hillebrand, Tr. 1871).

1498. The pricing strategy was based on the "additional negotiating power and leverage with the payors" due to the ENH-Highland Park merger. (Newton, Tr. 365).

Response to Finding No. 1498:

This proposed finding is false and misleading. This proposed finding is supported solely by the testimony of Newton, who was not a credible witness. Newton's testimony reflects improper lay opinion; he was not qualified as an expert witness. Newton had no foundation to testify about "additional negotiating power and leverage with the payors" allegedly resulting from the Merger. Such testimony, therefore, should be given no weight. (RFF-Reply ¶ 1387, 1462-1463, 1465).

Finally, Newton's testimony is irrelevant because it merely reflects what he purportedly thought "in [his] mind" and, therefore, does not purport to represent the contemporaneous "pricing strategy" of ENH. (Newton, Tr. 365).